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Loans to clients
(KB Group, gross loans, CZK billion)*

2020 691.

|;

2021 738.9

CZK 738.9 billion +6.9%

* Excluding Other amounts due from customers and repo operation with
clients, but including debt securities issued by KB corporate clients.

Client deposits
(KB Group, CZK billion)*

2020

2021

CZK 948.6 billion +6.2%

* Excluding repo operations with clients.

Net profit attributable to KB’s equity holders
(KB Group, CZK billion)

2020 8.2

2021 12.7

CZK 12.7 billion +56.0%

Number of standalone Bank clients

2020 1,641,000

2021 1,625,000

1,625,000 clients (1.0%)
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| Survey of Results 2017-2021

According to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

2018 2017
Consolidated data (CZK million) restated? restated?

Financial results

Net operating income 31,346 29,664 32,573 32,203 31,060
of which Net interest income 21,795 21,360 23,591 22,704 20,985
of which Net fees and commissions 5,711 5,210 5,983 6,025 6,284
of which Net profit on financial operations 3,630 2,884 2,804 3,209 3,576

Total operating expenses (15,099) (14,995) (14,932) (14,635) (14,510)

Profit attributable to the Group’s equity holders 12,727 8,156 14,901 14,846 14,930

Earnings per share (CZK) 67.39 43.19 78.90 78.61 79.05

Balance sheet

Total assets 1,244,353 1,167,131 1,077,334 1,059,932 1,001,652

Loans and advances to customers, net 724,587 679,956 647,259 624,954 593,639

Amounts due to customers 956,929 906,217 821,507 812,451 762,043

Total shareholders’ equity® 123,509 113,816 105,540 99,931 94,450

Ratios (%)%

Return on average equity (ROAE)? 10.73 7.44 14.50 15.28 15.07

Return on average assets (ROAA)® 1.06 0.73 1.39 1.44 1.55

Net interest margin® 1.93 2.03 2.03 2.33 2.33

Cost/income ratio 48.17 50.55 45.84 45.45 46.72

Capital®

Capital adequacy (%) 21.31 22.34 19.72 18.48 18.63

Tier 1 ratio (%) 20.87 21.73 19.14 17.91 18.02

Tier 1 101,072 97,906 84,062 80,788 76,525

Tier 2 2,136 2,784 2,546 2,578 2,560

Total regulatory capital 103,209 100,690 86,608 83,366 79,084

Total risk-weighted assets 484,372 450,628 439,237 451,052 424,566

Other data

Number of employees, average 7,687 8,061 8,167 8,413 8,492

Notes

" As from 1 January 2019, Komeréni banka reclassified charges for reservation of funds (commitment fees) from ‘Net fee and commission income’ to
‘Net interest income’. The data for 2018 were restated.

Comparative data has been restated to reflect the presentation of the year 2018 and reclassifications in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Balance sheet items presented as of 1 January 2018 including effect of IFRS 9 implementation.

Excluding Non-controlling interest.

According to the Komeréni banka methodology.

Ratios for 2018-2020 based on figures according to IFRS 9; ratios for 2017 based on figures according to IAS 39.

According to Basel lll.

Definitions of the Alternative Performance Measures mentioned in this annual report are provided in the respective section herein.

2)

3)
F)

5)
6)

Credit ratings (as of end of February 2022)" Short-term Long-term
Standard & Poor’s A-1 A
Moody’s Prime-1 Al
Fitch F1 A

" KB was assigned a credit rating by rating agencies registered under Regulation of the European Parliament and Council Regulation (EC) No. 462/2013.
KB has considered appointment of rating agencies in accordance with Article 8d of this Regulation and decided not to appoint a rating agency whose market share
is smaller than 10%.



2018 2017
restated? restated?

Separate data (CZK million)
Financial results

Net operating income 28,996 26,288 30,599 30,707 29,216
of which Net interest income 19,100 18,611 20,550 19,694 17,756
of which Net fees and commissions 4,924 4,536 5,313 5,390 5,702
of which Net profit on financial operations 3,629 2,878 2,802 3,181 3,570
Total operating expenses (13,581) (18,573) (18,428) (13,155) (13,058)
Net profit 12,353 6,929 14,816 15,238 14,914
Balance sheet

Total assets 1,169,147 1,093,508 1,011,519 1,001,504 944,230
Loans and advances to customers, net 622,178 589,741 567,805 553,888 531,085
Amounts due to customers 899,654 849,029 762,157 755,039 702,053
Total shareholders’ equity 115,418 105,196 98,218 92,721 87,004
Ratios (%)

Return on average equity (ROAE)? 11.20 6.81 15.52 16.96 16.42
Return on average assets (ROAA)? 1.09 0.66 1.47 1.57 1.64
Net interest margin® 1.83 1.91 2.20 217 2.13
Cost/income ratio 46.84 51.63 43.88 42.84 44.69
Capital®

Capital adequacy (%) 23.02 23.82 21.10 19.60 19.41
Tier 1 ratio (%) 22.50 23.13 20.46 18.97 18.75
Tier 1 97,182 93,360 80,982 77,769 72,622
Tier 2 2,236 2,775 2,546 2,578 2,560
Total regulatory capital 99,419 96,135 83,528 80,347 75,181
Total risk-weighted assets 431,973 403,622 395,828 409,958 387,330
Other data

Number of employees, average 6,736 7,104 7,210 7,458 7,551
Number of points of sale® 243 243 343 365 387
Number of clients (thousands) 1,625 1,641 1,664 1,668 1,664
Number of ATMs 860 809 796 776 764
Notes

" As from 1 January 2019, Komeréni banka reclassified charges for reservation of funds (commitment fees) from ‘Net fee and commission income’ to ‘Net interest income’.
The data for 2018 were restated.

2 Comparative data has been restated to reflect the presentation of the year 2018 and reclassifications in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Balance sheet items

presented as of 1 January 2018 including effect of IFRS 9 implementation.

According to the Komeréni banka methodology.

Ratios for 2018-2021 based on figures according to IFRS 9; ratios for 2017 based on figures according to IAS 39.

According to Basel Ill.

Including one branch in Slovakia.

Definitions of the Alternative Performance Measures mentioned in this annual report are provided in the respective section herein.

3)

4)

5)

6)

Further information Contacts

Detailed financial and operational information about
Komeréni banka Group is available in other publications
on KB’s website for shareholders and investors
www.kb.cz/investors. Additional information on
corporate social responsibility and ethics at KB is
available in the ‘About KB’ section

at https://www.kb.cz/en/about-the-bank/about-kb.
Information about KB’s products and services is
accessible from the homepage www.kb.cz/en.

This document contains a number of forward-looking
statements relating to the targets and strategies of
Komeréni banka Group. These statements are based

on numerous assumptions, both general and specific.

As a result, there is a risk that these projections will not be
fulfilled. Forward-looking statements are valid only as of the
date they are made, and it should not be assumed that they
will be revised or updated in the light of new information

or future events. Readers are therefore advised not to rely
on this information more than is justified, as the Group’s
future results are liable to be affected by a number of
factors and may therefore differ from current estimates.

Readers are advised to take into account factors of
uncertainty and risk when basing their investment decisions
on information provided in this document.

Komercéni banka, a.s.

Na Prikopé 33, 114 07 Prague 1
Telephone: (+420) 485 262 800
Email: mojebanka@kb.cz
Internet: www.kb.cz

Contact for shareholders and investors:
Investor Relations
Telephone: (+420) 955 532 155,
955 532 156,
955 532 734
Internet: www.kb.cz/investors
E-mail: investor_relations@kb.cz


http://www.kb.cz/investors
https://www.kb.cz/en/about-the-bank/about-kb
http://www.kb.cz/en
http://www.kb.cz
http://www.kb.cz/investors
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The full legal names of KB Group companies mentioned in
simplified form throughout this annual report are listed in the
section “Komeréni banka Group”.

History

Komeréni banka was established in 1990 as a state institution,
and in 1992 it was transformed into a joint-stock company.
KB’s shares have been listed on the Prague Stock Exchange
since its inception in 1993, as well as within the RM-SYSTEM
Czech Stock Exchange.

In 2001, the state’s 60% holding in Komeréni banka was
purchased by Société Générale. Following privatisation,

KB began significantly to develop its activities for individual
customers and entrepreneurs while continuing to build on its
traditionally strong position in the enterprises and municipalities
market.

The development of the Bank was based not only on organic
growth but also on optimising the Bank’s and Group’s presence
on the market in the form of acquisitions. Therefore, in 2004,

a short-lived subsidiary of KB and SG, FRANFINANCE
CONSUMER CREDIT, was merged with ESSOX and focused on
consumer finance. In 2005, Komeréni banka sold 100% of its
stake in the asset management company Investi¢ni kapitalova
spole¢nost KB, a.s. to SG Asset Management and a 51% stake
in Komeréni pojistovna to SOGECAP S.A., whereby it retained

a 49% minority interest. In 2006, it completed the acquisition of
Modra pyramida by buying the remaining 60% stake, through
which the Bank gained full control over the third-largest building
savings bank in the Czech Republic. Another significant step

in extending the offer to clients was the acquisition of a 50.1%
share in SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o., the leading
provider of asset-backed financing in the Czech Republic, in
May 2011. Through a branch, SGEF also is active in Slovakia.

In 2016, KB established a business alliance for credit and debit
card acceptance whereby it transferred a share of its Cataps
subsidiary to Worldline SA/NV. In July 2016, then, ESSOX’s
subsidiary completed takeover of a 100% stake in PSA FINANCE
CESKA REPUBLIKA, s.r.0. and PSA FINANCE SLOVAKIA,

s.r.o. In 2019, KB established a fully owned subsidiary, KB
SmartSolutions s.r.o., as a platform facilitating introduction of
new services to the clients. This subsidiary has acquired several
stakes in start-up fintech companies. In 2020, KB established
Bankovni identita, a.s., a joint venture with Ceska spofitelna
and Ceskoslovenska obchodni banka, for providing electronic
identification and electronic signature services based upon the
digital identities of bank clients.

Komeréni banka has been operating in Slovakia since 1995,
originally in the form of a subsidiary. Komer¢ni banka Bratislava
successfully implemented changes connected with the adoption
of the euro (EUR) on 1 January 2009. Since 1 January 2011, it has
operated as a foreign branch of the Bank.

In 2018, the Bank launched a transformation programme, KB
Change, which comprised, among other things, simplification
of the management and distribution structures and switching of
important central functions to agile working methodology.

| Profile of KB

Komeréni banka followed upon full implementation of the
transformation steps from that plan by announcing in 2020 a
further KB Change 2025 strategic programme, which will assure
KB’s leading position in the new era of digital banking.

ESG ratings

Komeréni banka is a constituent company in the FTSE4Good
Index Series of companies demonstrating strong environmental,
social, and governance (ESG) practices, and it is rated BBB in
MSCI ESG ratings measuring companies’ resilience to long-term,
industry material ESG risks.

Société Générale Group

Komeréni banka has been an important part of Société Générale
Group’s international retail banking since October 2001. Société
Générale is one of the leading European financial services
groups. Based on a diversified and integrated banking model, the
SG Group combines financial strength and proven expertise in
innovation with a strategy of sustainable and responsible growth.
Committed to the positive transformations of the world’s societies
and economies, Société Générale and its teams seek to build,
day after day, together with its clients, a better and sustainable
future through responsible and innovative financial solutions.

Active in the real economy for over 150 years, with a solid
position in Europe and connected to the rest of the world, Société
Générale has over 133,000 staff members in 61 countries and
supports on a daily basis 30 million individual clients, businesses
and institutional investors around the world by offering a wide
range of advisory services and tailored financial solutions. The
Group is built on three complementary core businesses:

e French Retail Banking, which encompasses the Société
Générale, Crédit du Nord, and Boursorama brands. Each
offers a full range of financial services with omnichannel
products at the cutting edge of digital innovation;

¢ International Retail Banking, Insurance, and Financial Services
to Corporates, which include Komeréni banka, with networks
in Africa, Russia, Central and Eastern Europe, and specialised
businesses that are leaders in their markets;

e Global Banking and Investor Solutions, which offers
recognised expertise, key international locations, and
integrated solutions.

Société Générale is included in the principal socially responsible
investment indices DJSI (World and Europe), FTSE4Good
(Global and Europe), Bloomberg Gender-Equality Index, Refinitiv
Diversity and Inclusion index, Euronext Vigeo (Europe and
Eurozone), STOXX Global ESG Leaders indices, and MSCI Low
Carbon Leaders Index (World and Europe).
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Company profile

Komeréni banka, a.s. (hereinafter also “KB” or the “Bank”) is services, such as pension savings and building society schemes,
the parent company of KB Group (hereinafter also the “Group”) leasing, factoring, consumer lending, and insurance. These are
and a member of the Société Générale international financial accessible through KB’s branch network, its direct banking
group. KB ranks among the leading banking institutions in the channels, and the subsidiaries’ own sales networks. The Bank
Czech Republic, as well as in Central and Eastern Europe. It also provides services in the Slovak Republic through its branch
is a universal bank providing a wide range of services in retalil, focused on serving corporate clients as well as through selected
corporate, and investment banking. Member companies of subsidiaries.

Komeréni banka Group provide additional specialised financial

Loans to clients - gross loans* Amounts due to customers**

CZK billion 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
KB Group 738.9 691.4 948.6 893.0
KB (including KB Slovakia) 635.4 599.6 890.2 835.1
- Individuals 289.2 271.7 354.9 322.0

- Businesses and other 346.2 327.9 535.3 513.2

- Small businesses 41.3 39.8 234.9 218.9

- Medium corporates and municipalities 116.8 110.2 196.1 190.9

- Top corporates and other (including KB Slovakia) 188.1 178.0 104.3 103.3
Modra pyramida 76.0 63.9 60.9 60.8
ESSOX (including PSA FINANCE) 17.3 17.7 0.2 0.2
Factoring KB 11.4 8.3 0.7 0.8
SGEF 30.7 30.3 n.a. n.a.
BASTION 2.2 2.5 n.a. n.a.
Consolidation and other adjustments (34.2) (31.0) (8.3 (3.9

* IFRS numbers entering into consolidation, excluding Other amounts due from customers and repo operations, but including debt securities issued by KB corporate clients.
** IFRS numbers entering into consolidation, excluding repo operations with clients.

° Komer¢ni banka, a.s. | Annual Report 2021



The Bank’s identification details
as of 31 December 2021

Komeréni banka, a.s., entered in the Commercial Register
maintained with the Municipal Court in Prague, Section B,
File No. 1360

Date of registration:
5 March 1992

Registered office:
Prague 1, Na Pfikopé 33, building identification number 969,
postal code 114 07

Identification number:
45317054

Legal entity identifier (LEI):
[YKCAVNFR8QGFO0HV840

Legal form:
Public limited company

Business activities:
I.  The Bank shall carry on business pursuant to

Act No. 21/1992 Coll., the Banking Act, as amended.

The business activities of the Bank shall include:
acceptance of deposits from the public;
granting of loans;
investing in securities on the Bank’s own account;
financial leasing;
making and receiving payments and administration of
a clearing system;

f) issuing of payment instruments, such as payment cards
and traveller’s cheques;

g) provision of guarantees;

h) issuing of letters of credit;

i) provision of collection services;

j) provision of investment services including:

e main investment services of reception and transmission,
on behalf of investors, of orders in relation to investment
instruments,
main investment services of execution of orders on
behalf of investors in relation to investment instruments,
main investment services of dealing in investment
instruments for the Bank’s own account in relation to
investment instruments,
main investment services of managing portfolios of
investments in accordance with mandates given by
investors on a discriminatory, client-by-client basis
where such portfolios include one or more investment
instruments,
main investment services of underwriting in respect of
issues of investment instruments and/or the placing of
such issues in relation to investment instruments,
ancillary services of safekeeping and administration in
relation to investment instruments,
ancillary services of safe custody,
ancillary services of granting credits or loans to an
investor for the purpose of allowing the investor to carry
out a transaction in one or more investment instruments
wherein the firm granting the credit or loan is involved in
the transaction in relation to the investment instrument,

cL

oo
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ancillary services of advice to undertakings on capital
structure, industrial strategy and related matters, and
advice and service relating to mergers and the purchase
of undertakings,
ancillary services of services related to underwriting in
relation to investment instruments,
ancillary services of investment advice concerning
investment instruments in relation to investment
instruments, and

¢ ancillary services of foreign-exchange service where

these are connected with the provision of investment
services;

k) dealing on the Bank’s own account or on the client’s

account in foreign currencies and gold;
I) financial brokerage;
m) foreign exchange operations
(purchase of foreign currency);
provision of depository services;
provision of banking information;
renting of safe-deposit boxes;
issuing of mortgage bonds; and
activities directly related to those mentioned in
paragraphs a) — q).

asos3
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Il. Furthermore, the business activities comprise activities
carried out for another as long as these activities relate
to the operation of the Bank and to the operation of other
banks controlled by it, of saving and credit unions,
investment companies, insurance and reinsurance
companies, financial institutions, and businesses which
provide ancillary banking services in the scope specified
below:

a) accounting consultancy activities, book-keeping,
tax record-keeping;

b) intermediating of trades and services;

c) advisory and consulting activities, preparation of
expert studies and reports;

d) administration and maintenance of real property;

e) organisation of specialised courses, training, and
other educational programmes, including teaching;

f) provision of software, advisory in information
technologies, data processing, hosting and relating
activities, and web portals; and

g) administration and organisational services.

Registered capital:
CZK 19,004,926,000; of which paid up: 100%

Method of the Company’s establishment:

In accordance with the privatisation project of the state financial
institution Komeréni banka, with its registered office at Prague,
Na ptikopech 28, approved by resolution of the Government of
the Czechoslovak Federative Republic No. 1 of 9 January 1992
and No. 109 of 20 February 1992, the National Property Fund

of the Czech Republic, as the sole founder, established the
public limited company Komer&ni banka, a.s., based on a Deed
of Incorporation of 3 March 1992 under Section 172 of the
Commercial Code.

Foreign branch:

Name: Komeréni banka, a.s., pobocka zahrani¢nej banky
Registered office: Bratislava, HodZovo namestie 1A, postal
code 811 06, Slovak Republic
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Report of the Board of Directors

on the Bank’s and Group’s business activities
and financial position

Purpose of Komerc¢ni banka

Building together with our clients a better and sustainable future
through responsible and innovative financial solutions

Mission

Be a leader in the new era of banking for 2 million active clients

Strategic pillars

Growth, helpfulness, responsibility

Principles of activity

The principles of Komeréni banka’s activities constitute a part of
KB’s governance. KB shall respect legal regulations, inclusive of
international conventions to which it adheres. In its operations,

KB shall respect, among others, the following general principles:

e KB’s activities shall be conducted with respect for
fundamental human rights and the rights of workers. No
discrimination of any kind with regard to employees, job
seekers, customers, business partners, or suppliers shall be
permitted.

e KB shall respect intellectual property rights, and special
emphasis shall be placed upon the honouring of software
product licences.

e KB shall respect the rules of economic competition
in its activities and, especially, in its contacts with the
representatives and employees of other banks and financial
institutions.

e KB shall comply with the rules for disclosure of information
to the shareholders, investors in financial markets, and
the general public. KB shall publish the information
regarding its current situation and expected development
in a timely manner, in an accessible form, sufficiently, and
proportionally.

e KB shall be active in performing its duties with respect to
fighting corruption, money laundering, and the financing of
terrorism.

e KB shall respect the privacy of its customers, business
partners, and employees. Therefore, it shall request and
use only such information about its customers, business
partners, and employees as is needed to serve these, to

enhance the quality of KB’s services, to manage KB’s human
resources, and to comply with the obligations specified by
legal regulations.

e KB applies recognised and proven principles and procedures
of corporate governance that it has chosen as well as
policies that the controlling company, Société Générale,
requires to be applied in its subsidiaries. On a standalone
basis, KB applies the Code of Corporate Governance that
is based upon principles of the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development (OECD)" and the Guidelines
on internal governance of credit institutions issued by the
European Banking Authority (EBA Guidelines).

e KB shall co-operate with the Czech National Bank and other
regulatory bodies responsible for supervising KB’s activities.
It shall provide correct, complete, current, and transparent
information about its activities.

e KB supports the principle of social responsibility. It shall seek
to minimise the impact of its activities on the environment
and use natural resources and energy in a conservative
manner. KB is governed by international conventions to
which it has acceded or which were acceded to by the SG

group.

e KB shall maintain political neutrality. It shall not back any
political party or political movement through donations or
any other kind of support.

e KB continuously strives for long-term creation of value for its
shareholders.

Moreover, KB respects a range of principles relating to specific
areas, including principles regarding business conduct,
dealing with clients, the management and control system, and
remuneration.

Environmental, social, and governance (ESG)
principles

Komeréni banka and its subsidiaries act responsibly in their
relationships with clients, employees, shareholders, and other
stakeholders and partners. KB perceives that such behaviour
is in accordance with the interests and expectations of the
main stakeholders, as well as with applicable regulations.
Responsibility is the basis of every partnership, and it is also
a precondition for long-term successful business.

" https://www.mfcr.cz/cs/o-ministerstvu/odborne-studie-a-vyzkumy/2019/kodex-
spravy-a-rizeni-spolecnosti-cr-201-34812
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KB Group's environmental, social, and governance (ESG) strategy
is based on a materiality assessment that identifies the ESG
factors most important to the Group’s stakeholders, as well as
for the Group’s growth and risk outlook. KB’s ESG strategy is
fully aligned with the purpose, mission, and overall strategy of KB
as formulated in the KB Change 2025 plan. The ESG strategy is
under review at the time of publishing this annual report and an
updated document will be released during 2022.

KB Group is prepared to apply in future a holistic approach to
ESG regulations and to further embed ESG impacts into its core
operations and policies. KB Group is gradually increasing its
ability to collect, measure, and disclose ESG data.

KB develops responsible business in economic, environmental,
and societal areas through a variety of activities at all levels and
as an integral aspect of the entire organisation. KB Group has
very little to no appetite to develop business with the following
sectors: political parties, economic sectors that are prohibited
under the CSR policy, or any activities likely to create compliance
or reputational risks.

Detailed non-financial information on Komeréni banka’s
environmental, social, and governance activities and results

is provided in KB’s 2021 Sustainability Report, which will be
issued along with this annual financial report. In accordance
with Sec. 32g (7) of the Act 563/1991 Coll., on accounting, KB

is not disclosing certain non-financial information provided by
Société Générale as a consolidating entity". Information on
Komeréni banka’s activities in the areas of respect for human
rights and social and employment relations is provided in the
Employee Relationships chapter of this annual financial report.
Information on improving clients’ satisfaction and introducing
service improvements and innovations is provided in the chapter
on KB Group Clients and Their Service within this annual report.
Information about fighting against corruption and bribery is
presented in the Risk Management chapter of this annual report.

Sustainable development

KB’s strategic ambition is to be a leader in sustainable banking
on the Czech financial market and within the SG Group, as well
as to be perceived as a green bank in the Czech Republic.

Komeréni banka is aware of the influence that its activities

have on the surroundings wherein it operates, and it considers
responsible behaviour to be important. Therefore, it adopts
adequate measures that on the one hand should eliminate
negative influences on the environment and on the other
contribute to its protection and improvement. KB monitors the
impact of its activities on the environment and identifies those
areas upon which it needs to focus. Komeréni banka then adopts
measures directed towards effectively reducing its environmental
impact.

Corporate culture

KB’s strategic vision in managing human resources is to build
professional relationships with employees based upon trust,
respect, mutual communication, equal opportunities, and the
offer of interesting professional and career growth. KB strives

" https://www.societegenerale.com/en/publications-documents
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to create an inspiring and supportive environment where people
want to work, succeed, and become ambassadors of the KB
brand. Mutual co-operation among employees is then based
upon four basic values or principles of behaviour, which are team
spirit, innovation, commitment, and responsibility. Together, these
form the basis of the corporate culture upon which KB is building
its future.

Corporate governance

Komeréni banka acceded to and upholds all the principal
standards of the Code of Corporate Governance of the Czech
Republic (2018)? issued by the Institute of Administrative Bodies
on the basis of international standards of corporate governance,
in particular the G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance
from 2015. Komeréni banka’s Board of Directors applies and
develops the aforementioned principles of corporate governance
in a spirit of transparency, accountability, and with a view to the
long term, and it translates these best practices into its internal
procedures and regulations.

Code of conduct

Only by taking an ethical approach to doing business and
providing financial services can Komer¢ni banka hope to
maintain and even strengthen its market position over the long
term. A fundamental prerequisite to successfully developing the
company consists in professional conduct and behaviour on the
part of its employees, as exemplified in particular by fostering
and preserving direct and open relationships with clients and by
fortifying mutual trust. Komeréni banka expects all its employees
to be fully aware of and committed to their obligation to act in
accordance with the ethical standards set forth in its Code of
Ethics and to endeavour always to adhere to those standards.

Tax policy

Komeréni banka ensures that all KB Group companies fully
respect the tax rules of all countries wherein the Group operates.
Within its tax policy, Komeréni banka complies with all applicable
reporting obligations. Komeréni banka does not encourage or
promote tax evasion for itself or its clients and refrains from
operations whose main purpose is tax-motivated unless this is
consistent with the intention of the law.

Komeréni banka strictly respects correct tax procedures and
maintains open and transparent relations with tax authorities
while guarding its good reputation. KB adheres to the SG Group
Tax Code of Conduct,? and all of KB’s employees are obliged to
comply with this Code. Tax policy is internally supervised by the
Internal Audit arm. External oversight in relation to Czech tax law
is performed by the Specialised Tax Office.

2 https://www.mfcr.cz/cs/o-ministerstvu/odborne-studie-a-vyzkumy/2019/kodex-
spravy-a-rizeni-spolecnosti-cr-201-34812

3 https://www.kb.cz/getmedia/7ba00421-a9c9-420f-9041-7727aba5973b/sg-tax-
code-of-conduct.pdf.aspx
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Major events of 2021

January

From January 2021, ESSOX became the exclusive partner for
financing of Hyundai and Kia cars. Alongside its partnership
with PSA Group (Peugeot, Citroen), existing already since 2016,
this significantly reinforces ESSOX’s position on the market for
financing new cars.

Komeréni banka successfully sold the inaugural issue of
mortgage bonds in the amount of EUR 500,000,000 issued under
its newly established EUR 5 billion mortgage bonds programme.
The bonds are rated AAA (Fitch), have a maturity of 5 years with
the possibility for extension by 1 year (so-called soft bullet), and
are traded on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

KB selected Transact, an innovative core banking platform,

from Temenos, the world’s leading supplier of banking software,
for the processing of banking transactions. The simplified and
consolidated internal IT environment will help Komeréni banka to
bring innovative products and services to the Czech market at a
quicker pace.

In co-operation with Direct Fidoo a.s., KB offered its corporate
clients a modern application for digitising the processing and
billing of all corporate outlays, including to use Fidoo prepaid
cards to simplify accounting for cash advances, card payments,
and travel orders.

Komeréni banka launched a new generation of its digital Open
Banking platform, which makes KB’s and its partners’ products
available in the ‘Bank-as-a-Platform’ and ‘Bank-as-a-Service’
modes. This additionally expanded services using banking
identities.

The Bank started providing complete assistance in processing
subsidies from the EU Modernisation Fund, which helps national
energy companies in transitioning to clean resources.

February

It became possible to arrange a personal loan in a fully digital
manner via mobile banking (Mobilni banka) or internet banking.
This means clients can have money in their accounts within just
minutes. This product was awarded 1st place in the unsecured
consumer loan category of the Financial Product of the Year
awards organised by the specialised web portal Finparada.cz.

ESSOX offered a new cash loan, the closing of which takes place
completely online at www.CashShop.cz.

KB’s MojeBanka internet banking was enabled with full-text
search capabilities.

To owners of G2 student accounts, the Bank began issuing
ecological payment cards produced from 85% recycled
materials.

Komeréni banka Group received a number of other awards,
including 1st place recognition in the banking and investment
category in the “Best Employer” survey of university students,
organised by the Association of Students and Alumni and
conducted by the public opinion research agency GfK. KB
Mobilni banka ranked 1st in the TOP APP Award’s independent

evaluation of mobile applications on the Czech and Slovak
banking market.

Harvard Business School published a case study entitled
Enterprise Agility at Komer¢ni banka.”

March

Building upon the KB Key tool, the Bank launched electronic
authentication based upon banking identity for clients to access
public services.

KB inaugurated a new Sustainably Together (Spole¢né udrzitelné)
web portal that provides examples of good practice and advice
on transition to more sustainable business models.

With a focus on developing the circular economy, KB Jistota
Foundation started new long-term co-operation with INCIEN
(Institute for the Circular Economy). The Foundation also
launched a campaign of support for single parents in difficult life
and health situations.

A new service, ‘Investment Specialist via Skype for the Living
Room’, was launched. It will help the clients with investments
while at the same time saving them the trip to the branch.

KB SmartSolutions established Finbricks, s.r.o., a wholly owned
subsidiary with registered capital of CZK 1.5 million. Finbricks
operates an aggregation platform for financial services offered
under the PSD 2 directive.

April

The General Meeting approved the Board of Directors’ report on
the Bank’s business activities and the state of its assets for the
year 2020, as well as the individual and consolidated financial
statements for 2020. It also decided to transfer the entire profit
to the account of retained earnings of previous years. On the
proposal of the Nomination Committee, the General Meeting
elected Mr Petr Dvorak, Mr Alvaro Huete Gomez, Mr Giovanni
Luc Somo, and Mrs Jarmila épﬁrové as members of the
Supervisory Board. Mr Somo was also elected a member of the
Audit Committee. The General Meeting furthermore approved an
amendment to the Articles of Association and the Remuneration
Report.

Komeréni banka became the first bank in the Czech Republic
to join the Covered Bond Label, an international designation
emphasising the security, transparency, and quality of covered
bond programmes.

In accordance with its initial strategy, Komeréni banka reduced its
ownership stake in Bankovni identita, a.s. to 17%, thus enabling
other banks to enter this national platform for the provision of
digital identification services.

May

Komeréni banka started accepting applications for new Covid
Invest investment loans with guarantee of the Bohemian-
Moravian Guarantee and Development Bank (CMZRB) from
companies with up to 500 employees.

" https://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Pages/item.aspx?num=59771
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In addition to its strategic steps with a view to reaching carbon
neutrality in its own operations by 2026, Komeréni banka has
committed to progressively reduce to zero by 2030 its exposure
to projects actively associated with the coal sector.

June

Within the Société Générale Group, KB committed itself to an
action plan contributing to gender diversity. The Group strives to
achieve the fundamental goal of having at least a 30% share of
women in the Group’s governing bodies by 2023.

KB SmartSolutions s.r.o. increased its stake in upvest s.r.o. from
the previous 18.9% to 31.06%.

With respect to the discontinuation of LIBOR and EONIA, KB
implemented successor risk-free rates for relevant currencies and
introduced interest rate hedging products linked to these rates.

July

KB deployed a new OLEG omnichannel lead generation
technology that supports consistent and clear communication
with clients across channels, improved reactivity to client
demands, and more effective targeting of the Bank’s offer.

For its inaugural issue in January of euro-denominated mortgage
bonds, Komeréni banka received a prestigious international
award in the Pioneer category of The Covered Bond Report
Awards for Excellence 2021.

August
Michael Pupala became the new Chairman of the Board and CEO
of Modra pyramida from the beginning of August.

KB established via its KB Smart Solutions platform a partnership
with the iU¢&to cloud-based system, which makes accounting, tax
and management reporting, invoicing, and inventories record-
keeping easier for small businesses.

September
The Bank began offering authentication services via banking
identity for commercial service providers.

Komeréni banka became the main partner for both the ice hockey
Extraliga and the national hockey team.

The Expert Jury Prize for Reporting in the SDG Awards of the
Czech Social Responsibility Association was awarded to KB for
its Sustainability Report in 2020.

October

The first 500 clients from among KB employees began testing
services of the new digital bank, a key project of the KB Change
2025 strategic plan.

KB launched pilot operation of the Remote Service Centre,
whereby clients meet with their bankers online or by telephone.

Modra pyramida opened the possibility for arranging a Quick

Loan (Rychlouvér) for housing via the MP Home mobile
application.

| Strategy and results

KB concluded with CEZ a strategic partnership supporting
sustainability. They will co-operate in reducing their own carbon
footprints as well as the emissions produced by clients. A first
step was to offer photovoltaic rooftop installations as a service
and Komeréni banka’s purchase of renewable energy from CEZ
ESCO.

November
Komer¢éni banka introduced the BankID Sign service for
guaranteed signing of documents using banking identity.

ESSOX launched an online deferred payment service for e-shop
customers.

KB, together with Visa, Heureka, and the Association of Social
Responsibility, presented the “Sustainable e-shop” project to
support and motivate sustainable e-shop business.

ESSOX selected Unicorn and SAP for its transition to a new-
generation enterprise IT system (SAP S / 4HANA).

Among the MasterCard Bank of the Year awards for 2021,
Komeréni banka won first place in the Corporate Bank of the Year
and Sustainable Bank of the Year categories.

Komer¢ni pojistovna was named Best Life Insurance Company in
Hospodarské noviny’s Best Insurance Company of the Year 2021
competition.

The Best Performing Private Bank in Central and Eastern Europe
award went to Komeréni banka’s private banking. The recognition
was among the Global Private Banking Awards from the Financial
Times media group’s magazines The Banker and Professional
Wealth Management.

Jan Juchelka, CEO and Chairman of the Board of Directors, was
named Best Manager in the Czech Republic by the National
Evaluation Committee of the Czech Management Association. He
also was recognised by the Business for Society alliance as Top
Responsible Leader of the Year in the sustainability category.

Komeréni banka and its subsidiaries Modra pyramida and ESSOX
voluntarily joined the legislative initiative called Merciful Summer,
which aims to help people in distraint as a result of non-payment
of their loans. Thus, by the end of January 2022, their clients
could repay their defaulted obligations without additional penalty
and execution costs.

December

The prestigious magazine The Banker named Komeréni banka
Bank of the Year 2021 in the Czech Republic. The jury had
focused upon how banks had helped their customers and the
economy in the past year, their ability to innovate continuously,
and also the sustainability of their approaches to business.
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Economic and monetary environment in 2021

The development of the Czech economy in 2021 was very
volatile. The first months of the year were marked by another
pandemic wave, accompanied by strong limitations on economic
life. The second quarter, by contrast, brought significant
improvement in the pandemic situation, and thus, contrary

to expectations, a rapid easing of restrictive measures. This

led to a reversal in the development of the real economy, and
the resumption of economic activity began to yield very good
economic data. In addition, it was technically supported by the
base effect, which was extremely low due to anti-pandemic
measures in 2020. The optimism did not last long, however, and
in the second half of the year the Czech economy was hit hard
by a shortage of production components, especially microchips,
which made it impossible to complete the production of cars,

in particular. Even with the beginning of 2021’s final quarter the
situation did not improve - quite the opposite. Outages in the
automotive industry continued in mid-October. A lack of chips
was only part of the problem, however, as raw materials were

in short supply for most industries and in construction. Labour
shortages were also a problem. Indications that these problems
might subside did not begin to appear until the end of last year.

According to a preliminary estimate by the Czech Statistical
Office, the Czech economy grew by 3.3% in 2021. Growth

was supported by final consumption spending and change

in inventories, while net exports played a negative role. The
growth of gross value added was most significantly influenced
by developments in industry, in the segment including trade,
transport, accommodation, and hospitality, and in the group of
general government, education, and health and social work."

The situation of Czech industry in 2021 was not the most rosy.
Although plant closures were no longer being applied due to the
pandemic situation, companies reduced production due to a lack
of production components. While industrial production still grew
decently during March, in April and May there was significant
deterioration in its performance. For the rest of the year, the
results were variable, depending upon the current sufficiency or
shortage of components. For the whole of last year, industrial
production increased by 6.4%. Revenues from industrial activity
at current prices were 20% higher year on year in 2021, and new
orders rose by 14.9%.2

Household consumption grew rapidly after the easing of anti-
pandemic measures in the spring of 2021. Its quarter-on-quarter
real growth was 7.4% in the second quarter and 4.0% in the third
quarter. However, a drop in consumer confidence in the autumn
of last year in connection with a sharp rise in energy prices and,
in part, increased pandemic risks cause consumption to slow.
Retail sales (excluding motor vehicles) adjusted for calendar
effects for the whole of 2021 increased by 4.5% year on year

at constant prices, and without adjustment for these effects by
4.4%.% Sales grew across all categories of non-food goods, with
sales via the internet or by mail order growing the most.

" https://www.czso.cz/csu/czso/ari/gdp-preliminary-estimate-4th-quarter-of-2020
2 https://www.czso.cz/csu/czso/ari/industry-december-2021
9 https://www.czso.cz/csu/czso/ari/retail-trade-december-2021

The economic recovery led to a further reduction in the
unemployment rate last year. Seasonally adjusted unemployment
rate reached its peak in April (at 4.2%) and has been gradually
declining since then. The seasonally adjusted unemployment
rate in the MLSA methodology was 3.5% in December. In a
year-on-year comparison, it was a half percentage point lower.
This was due to recovery of the domestic economy and strong
workforce demand. The number of job vacancies reached a local
low in October 2020 and thereafter rose to a record 360,000 in
September 2021. Its subsequent decline was due only to the
onset of winter and the associated end of seasonal work. On the
contrary, after seasonal adjustment, the number of vacancies
increased slightly.*

However, the slowdown in economic activity and stronger
demand stemming from savings stimulated when households
could not spend met with crippled supply, magnified by the
shortage of raw materials. A special category was energy and
gas prices, which joined the factors negatively affecting supply
(unfavourable weather in Germany, lower gas supplies from
Russia) with structural changes caused by the transition to
greener energy. The result was a sharp rise in inflation, which
reached 6.6% at the end of last year.” The average inflation rate
reached 3.8% in 2021, which was 0.6 percentage points more
than in 2020. Throughout the year, the annual inflation growth
rate gradually increased in individual quarters (from 2.2% in Q1 to
6.2% in Q4). The development of inflation was mainly influenced
by rising prices in the categories of transport, housing, alcoholic
beverages, and tobacco, but prices grew in most categories

of the consumer basket.® Prices in the primary sector of the
economy also jumped upwards. Those at industrial producers
rose by an average 7.1% in 2021, which was the most since 1995.
Agricultural producer prices were on average 6.9% higher. Prices
of construction work also rose (5.1% year on year), while prices
of materials and products used in construction increased on
average by 10.9% for the whole of 2021."

The Czech National Bank did not take long to react. It first
tightened monetary conditions in June of last year, raising its
base repo rate from 0.25% to 0.5%. It continued to tighten
monetary policy in a series of five steps at each monetary policy
meeting. At its last meeting of the year, in December, it raised
the base repo rate by a full percentage point to a final 3.75%. At
the same time, it decided to increase by the same amount the
discount rate (to 2.75%) and the Lombard rate (to 4.75%). Last
year, interest rates thus rose by a total of 350 basis points.?

Like the development of the Czech economy, that of the crown’s
exchange rate was quite turbulent. The first quarter in the regional
financial markets was marked by the peak of the pandemic, and
this was reflected also in the development of exchange rates. In
March, the crown weakened to 26.4 CZK per euro. The second
quarter brought a post-pandemic calm, with the Czech National
Bank raising interest rates for the first time. This helped the
domestic currency to strengthen to a CZK 1 stronger level (25.4

4 https://www.mpsv.cz/web/cz/mesicni
9 https://www.czso.cz/csu/czso/ari/consumer-price-indices-inflation-december-2021

9 https://www.czso.cz/csu/czso/ari/analysis-consumer-price-indices-4th-quarter-
of-2020

" https://www.czso.cz/csu/czso/ari/producer-price-indices-december-2021

8 https://www.cnb.cz/en/monetary-policy/bank-board-decisions/CNB-Board-
decisions-1640188080000/
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CZK/EUR). The beginning of summer holidays broke this trend,
however, and the combination of traditionally low liquidity, global
concerns about further coronavirus mutations, and strengthening
of the US dollar prevented the crown from making further gains.
The rest of the year was marked by surprisingly rapidly rising
inflation accompanied by an unexpectedly aggressive tightening
of domestic monetary policy on the one hand and a weakening
euro against the US dollar on the other. Nonetheless, the record-
breaking interest rate differential still prevailed and the crown
thus fought its way below the level of 25.00 CZK / EUR at the
close of 20219

The pandemic situation was also reflected in the government’s
budget, which ended last year with a deficit of CZK 419.7 billion
(6.9% of GDP). Total revenues increased by 0.8% year on year,
but outlays by 3.5%. On the revenue side, the collection of
corporate and VAT taxes improved, but this was largely offset by
lower personal income taxes due to abolition of the super-gross
wage and an increase in the taxpayer’s rebate. Growth on the
expenditure side was mainly due to social benefits. Transfers

to health insurance companies also grew significantly, and the
impact of support programs related to the pandemic was also
significant.?

" Bloomberg
2 https://www.mfcr.cz/cs/aktualne/tiskove-zpravy/2022/pokladni-pineni-sr-44160

| Strategy and results

KB Change 2025 strategic plan

Komeréni banka had presented on 5 November 2020 its KB
Change 2025 plan updating strategic directions and addressing
the emerging challenges and opportunities for creating a strong,
client-focused bank.® Komerc¢ni banka aims to build together with
its clients a better and sustainable future through responsible and
innovative financial solutions. KB aspires to be a leader in a new
era of banking for 2 million active clients.

The strategy builds upon the pillars of helpfulness, growth, and
responsibility, with specific objectives established in ten thematic
areas.

KB will build a new digital bank founded on new technological
and process infrastructure, introducing new services and new
partners, and supported by smart innovations. As a data-driven
company, KB will maximise the business value extracted from
data in the digital world even as it assures the privacy of the client
data. The Bank will develop a new advisory model supported

by data analytics. To evolve its agile, adaptive, and effective
organisation, the Bank will implement DevOps (develop—operate)
practices as well as the Smart Office concept of workplace
organisation. Both methodologies are expected also to support
employee engagement at high levels. The new digital KB will
rebalance its organisation towards fully digital sales and services.
Its position on the housing finance market will be reinforced

by creating a single mortgage factory delivering solutions for
clients of both KB and Modra pyramida. KB will aim to protect

its already best-in-market level of client satisfaction in corporate
and investment banking by focusing on speed, predictability, and
efficiency of corporate customer journeys. With digitisation and
automation incorporating artificial intelligence and data science
components as well as advanced fraud prevention, KB’s risk
management will aim to identify emerging risks and contain risk
losses in the new world of digital banking and within a volatile
environment. The overall productivity increase, centralisation of
support functions, services and premises across KB Group, as
well as branch network and sourcing optimisation will enable the
Group to reaffirm its leading position in operational efficiency
within the CEE region. Komer&ni banka will furthermore position
itself as a green bank and a sustainability leader in the Czech
financial market and within Société Générale Group.

The strategy’s financial targets have been set on a KB Group
basis, and the management is confident about at least reaching
these targets. Based upon organic growth, and after bottoming
out due to the pandemic in 2021, the Group’s revenues should
record a dynamic average growth rate up to the 2025 horizon.
Revenue growth will be driven mainly by rising business volumes,
digital sales, the advisory model supported by data analytics,
and new sources of revenues. The normalisation of interest

rates — faster than initially assumed — should contribute positively
towards fulfilment of the revenue target. Operating expenses

will grow at a much slower pace than that for revenues, and

also slower than inflation. These positive operating jaws will be
powered by savings from simplification and decommissioning of
old technologies and decrease in the numbers of branches and
employees. The cost-to-income ratio is targeted to move below
40%, with significant improvement during 2024-2025 driven by

3 Komer¢ni banka's Consolidated Annual Report 2020, pages 10 and following.

Profile of KB

0
o
3
0
2
)
i=
[
>
)
2
©
o
S
(7]

Corporate social responsibility Corporate governance

Risk management


https://www.mfcr.cz/cs/aktualne/tiskove-zpravy/2022/pokladni-plneni-sr-44160

new revenues and savings from rolling out the new digital bank.
With a view to reinforcing the scale of KB’s existing business

and thus optimising efficiency and competitiveness in high-
potential business segments within the 2025 planning horizon,
KB will consider to enhance its performance with non-organic
growth elements. Implementation of any such ambition will be
subject to further careful assessments and validations. The
minimum ambition for the number of bank clients inclusive of

the non-organic growth component has been set at 2,000,000.
The targeted cost-to-income ratio below 40% is valid also for the
scenario of non-organic growth. Upon successful implementation
of non-organic growth components, and assuming normalisation
in the cost of risk levels at 25 basis points, KB Group targets ROE
above 15% for 2025.

Progress in implementing the KB Change 2025
strategic plan during 2021

By the end of 2021, the Bank had already delivered tangible
progress in the ten areas covered by KB Change 2025.

The building of a new digital bank with the Temenos Transact
system at its core has already achieved a Drop 1 phase, wherein
a functional bank with basic features is being tested by 500
clients from among KB employees. KB and Modra pyramida
together are also building a new joint infrastructure and front-
end system for housing finance. Because the branch remains an
important building block of KB’s omnichannel strategy, a new
design concept was created that is appropriate for advisory and
effectively serving clients’ various financial needs. The first new
outlet was opened in July 2021 in Prague—Dejvice. Moreover,
clients can newly obtain several additional products in their
mobile banking application, such as a consumer loan, property
insurance, savings account, overdraft, or wallet insurance.

The share of consumer loans sales made completely through
digital channels rose to 29% in 2021 compared to 11% in 2019.
Moreover, 19% of M(jjUget accounts were opened digitally, up
from 4% in 2019, and some 15% of frameworks for investments in
mutual funds were agreed fully online during 2021.

In order to procure new revenue sources, KB has been

building an ecosystem of complementary financial services

by a combination of internal development, co-operation with
start-up as well as established providers, and even acquiring
participations in fintech companies via its fully owned platform
KB Smart Solutions. Among many examples, these include
establishment of Finbricks, s.r.0., an aggregation platform for
financial services under the PSD 2 Directive; increasing KB’s
stake in Upvest s.r.0., a crowdfunding platform for real estate
projects; launch of digital identification services for government
services by Bankovni identita, a.s.; and a joint offering with
CEZ ESCO for installation of photovoltaic plants on the roofs of
residential houses as well as industrial factories.

KB is striving to reinforce its market leadership position in
services for corporate clients. It has introduced spolecne-
udrzitelne.cz (Sustainably Together), an advisory portal for
sustainable development and transformation of businesses.
Business clients have also appreciated a new Trade & Finance
Online platform for administration of documentary payments,
guarantees, and other services. In a year-over-year comparison,

KB’s market share in lending to businesses improved by some
0.5 percentage points to 17.6% as of December 2021.

Komeréni banka intends to do its part to protect the climate by
supporting a fair, environmentally friendly, and inclusive energy
transition, even as it acknowledges that not all sources of energy
are equivalent in their costs to consumers and that the energy
sector represents thousands of jobs. The Bank is committed

to limiting global warming and to reducing its direct emissions
(scopes 1 and 2) in accordance with a 1.5°C scenario from the
Paris Agreement. KB will contribute to carbon removal projects
with a view to reaching carbon neutrality by 2026. In 2020, total
emissions decreased by 35% year on year to 25,050 tonnes

of CO, equivalent, 15.2 kilograms per client. Measurement is
audited on a yearly basis by the non-profit Preferred by Nature.
The audited volume of greenhouse gases emitted during 2021
will be disclosed in April 2022. During 2021, the Bank contracted
CZK 21.9 billion in financing of projects with sustainable

positive impact, and it has unveiled new products compatible
with environmental and social targets, such as mutual funds
investing in companies compliant with environmental, social, and
governance (ESG) standards; advisory and financing of projects
for energy savings and renewable energy sources; and payment
cards made of recycled plastics. Furthermore, Komeréni banka
has committed to progressively reducing to zero by 2030 its
exposure to projects actively associated with the coal sector. On
this basis, the Bank is no longer providing new financial products
to clients having more than 50% of their revenues linked to coal.
For current clients who have more than 25% of their revenues
linked to the thermal coal sector, KB refrains from providing

new products or services unless there is a public, time-bound
transition plan to exit this sector.

As part of its risk management framework, KB has completed a
review and update of its client data in order to ensure compliance
with the latest regulations. KB has also further enhanced its
capabilities in the areas of cyber security and fraud prevention.

In the credit risk area, tools utilising machine learning algorithms
have been implemented for identifying and assessing early
warning signals regarding corporate exposures, thereby allowing
analysts to save time on routine monitoring and to focus on more
complicated cases. Deployment of new risk modules supports
automation and digitisation of loan granting activities.

The capacity to introduce product innovations and
responsiveness to client requirements or alerts was supported by
increase in the average frequency of software releases to 11 per
year per product. Agile and effective collaboration and consistent
target-setting were reinforced by implementation across the Bank
of the Objectives and Key Results (OKR) methodology. In order

to improve efficiency and strengthen its internal know-how, KB
has also created several dozen new job positions for tasks that
previously had been procured from external suppliers.

Along with centralisation of main support functions across
KB Group, the head offices of all remaining subsidiaries were
moved to the Group’s headquarters in Prague-Stodulky,

with the exception of ESSOX, which remains managed from
Ceské Budéjovice. The average number of employees in 2021
decreased by 4.6% compared to a year earlier.
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The plan’s operational targets, which are formulated for the
standalone bank, have been affirmed. KB aims to increase the
level of client satisfaction as measured by Net Promoter Score
in the retail clients and small and medium-sized enterprises
segments while stabilising that satisfaction at the already

very high level (above 50 points) within the large corporations
segment. The measurements in retail segments during 2021
showed a gain in NPS among individual clients to 39 points from
32 in 2019, among small businesses to 41 from 32, and among
the clients of corporate and investment banking to 45 points.
Based upon organic growth, the clients’ seamless omnichannel
experience should help the Bank to achieve its target of
1,850,000 clients by 2025. As of 31 December 2021, KB was
serving 1,625,000 clients and the whole KB Group had 2,251,000
clients. The development in the past year was influenced by
cancellation of several tens of thousands of client accounts when
clients did not provide sufficient information to meet upgraded
know-your-customer requirements.

The branch will remain an important contact point for clients, but,
as the trend in providing services increasingly involves migration
to digital channels, the Bank aims to have just 200 branches

by the strategy’s horizon. KB accelerated planned reduction of
branch network to reflect the shift of client traffic from branches
to digital channels during the pandemic. As of 31 December 2021,
the number of branches stood at 242, down from 342 as of 31
December 2019. Optimisation of operations through digitalisation,
branch reduction and switching to cashless banking, automation
of middle- and back-office and support functions, and robotics
deployment will mean that the standalone bank’s full operations
and services will be handled by approximately 5,500 employees.
This compares to 7,210 employees in the Bank in 2019, and 6,736
employees in 2021." The upgraded working and management
methods will lead to employee empowerment and effective
teamwork across the entity. Motivation, sense of importance,

and recognition will improve, and effective leadership should

help to achieve further gains in employee engagement levels as
measured by a proprietary blended index to the level of 83 points
from a strong 78 points in 2019. KB has introduced the Smart
Office concept of hybrid work from office and home, launched
the Mojevitalita programme promoting and supporting healthy life
style, is offering legal and life counselling for all colleagues, and
has implemented support measures for those populations most
vulnerable to the pandemic threat. The employee engagement
index’s 2021 measurement stood at 77 points.

KB believes that pursuing sustainability in business and
operations generates long-term benefits in delivering new
business and value for shareholders as well as compliance with
future Czech and European regulations. As a measure of maturity
in the environmental, social, and governance areas, KB has
selected the globally recognised FTSE4Good index of sustainably
managed companies. Its target will be to exceed the level of 4
points. In June, KB’s membership in the FTSE4Good index was
affirmed, with a score of 3.3, the same level as a year earlier.
Moreover, in November 2021, KB ranked in the 73rd percentile
(among the 27% best-ranked banks) in the S&P Global ESG
Score - Corporate Sustainability Assessment.

" Average recalculated number of employees.

| Strategy and results

Perceived by Komer¢ni banka as attesting to the right direction of
its strategy, the prestigious magazine The Banker has named KB
the best bank in the Czech Republic for 2021. The jury focused
on the Bank’s help to customers and the economy in the past
year, its ability to innovate continuously, and also its sustainability
approach. The Banker’s award was the crown among those
recognitions received by KB Group companies in 2021, which
included, among others, the titles MasterCard Corporate Bank of
the Year and Sustainable Bank of the Year for Komercéni banka,
and The Best Life Insurer for Komeréni pojistovna in a contest
held by Hospodarské noviny daily.

Fulfilment of business and financial targets set
for 2021

The development of the economic environment in the Czech
Republic during 2021 differed somewhat from the initial
assumptions for KB’s business conditions as discussed in the
presentation of the outlook for 2021 on 10 February 2021. The
main differences were due to repeating waves of the Covid-19
pandemic, which have exacerbated disruptions in global supply
chains and been reflected in shortages of various input materials
and components even as demand was being supported by
governmental anti-crisis programmes. Producer price as well
as consumer price inflation thus rose much faster than the
financial markets had expected. Consequently, the CNB began
normalising its monetary policy rates sooner than expected.

KB Group achieved good business results

Growth in KB Group’s loan portfolio reached the level assumed
in the published outlook. In comparison with expectations,
housing loans grew faster (across the whole market) but this
was offset by a slower-than-expected increase in the portfolio of
consumer loans. Retail lending by KB Group expanded slightly
more slowly than did the Czech retail loans market. Lending to
corporate clients matched the ambition set for 2021, despite the
still cautious sentiment of businesses towards new investment
projects and the negative effect of Czech crown appreciation
on the CZK value of the portfolio of business loans, often
denominated in EUR. KB grew its market share year on year in
lending to businesses.

Deposit volumes grew even slightly above expectations,
particularly in the individual clients segment, where KB even
gained further market share in 2021. The Group also managed to
accelerate growth in clients’ non-banking assets (mutual funds,
pension funds, life insurance), and expansion in mutual funds
volumes was accompanied by a gradual shift to equity-linked
products, in accordance with KB’s strategy.

Financial performance significantly better than planned
The consolidated revenues improved more than planned for

the year 2021, essentially on all lines. Net interest income was
up slightly, driven by volume growth and the earlier beginning

of interest rates normalisation. Net fees and commissions
benefitted from the successful development of mutual funds
sales and assistance provided to corporate clients on the very
active debt capital markets. Ability to offer relevant and thus
highly demanded hedging solutions in an uncertain environment
and KB’s helping clients with several large DCM transactions
were additional reasons for the outperformance in net profit from
financial operations.

Profile of KB
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The Group reported total operating expenditures in line with the
initial guidance, as higher-than-expected regulatory contribution
to the Resolution Fund was offset mainly by savings in general
administrative expenses, even despite high inflation.

Cost of risk guidance was progressively lowered during the
year, as the Group recorded satisfactory performance of its
assets, including of portfolios previously in credit moratoria and
exposures in sectors sensitive to the Covid-19 pandemic.

KB achieved in 2021 a healthy level of profitability and maintained
its robust capital adequacy and strong liquidity.

Expected development and main risks to that
development in 2022

Note: This outlook was first presented on 10 February 2022 upon
release of Komeréni banka'’s results for the full year 2021. On 24
February 2022, the risk of military escalation in Eastern Europe
materialised as the Russian Federation invaded Ukraine. The
Group is aware that the sharply deteriorating geopolitical situation
will have a significant impact on the economies of European
countries. Nevertheless, due to heightened global uncertainty
and the turbulent development, it is impossible to fully assess
and quantify the impacts at the current stage. The Group is
continuously monitoring and evaluating potential influences of
the current crisis on its activities and on its clients. Although the
Group’s direct exposure to Russia and Ukraine is limited, the
Group is also evaluating indirect impacts (e.g. dependency on
raw materials, supply chain disruption). As may be necessary and
appropriate, the Group will respond to the changing situation by
adjusting its policies (e.g. risk, operational, accounting), including
possible adjustments to provisions and reserves in accordance
with the IFRS 9 standard.

The following outlook is based on assumptions valid at the time
of its first publication on 10 February 2022. As of the date of this
annual report’s release, KB Group has not elaborated another
outlook fully factoring in consequences of the war in Ukraine

on the economic situation in Europe and the Czech Republic.

In comparison to the expectations described below, growth of
the Czech economy may be slower and inflation faster. Societal
changes triggered by the conflict may also influence demand

for some financial products and services, as well as the levels

of certain parameters in financial markets. The geopolitical
developments were very dynamic in the days preceding release
of this report, and this situation did not allow for reliable and
comprehensive review of the assumptions and expectations for
the rest of 2022. Nevertheless, the management still believes that
the outlook described below provides the best available estimate
as to the main trends in development of the Group’s business and
financial performance, including, in particular, faster growth of
revenues compared to operating expenses and a maintaining of
cost of risk under control.

Given the high level of uncertainty surrounding the conflict in
Ukraine and the pandemic situation that are in addition to the
usual risks related to projecting future business results, investors
should exercise caution and judgement before making their
investment decisions while considering these forward-looking
estimates and targets.

In its baseline macroeconomic scenario for 2022, KB expects
that the Czech economy should accelerate its growth to 4.9% in
anticipation of an easing of supply chain disruptions as well as
of pandemic restrictions and self-restraint affecting mainly parts
of the service sector. The growth should be driven by recovery in
net exports and fixed investments; household consumption, too,
should continue to contribute positively. The lack of free labour in
the economy will remain a factor limiting the growth potential.

The average inflation rate in 2022 is expected to reach almost
9%, with year-on-year inflation rates probably peaking in the
first half of the year in double-digit territory. The growth in prices
is being driven by a combination of global as well as domestic
factors, mostly related at least indirectly to the pandemic
situation. Unemployment will remain very low, also fuelling
inflation via wage demands.

In order to fight these inflation pressures, the Czech National Bank
will probably continue in sharply raising monetary policy rates, as it
had commenced to do in the middle of 2021. The two-week repo rate
will likely peak visibly above 4% during 2022, and a reversal of this
rate course (i.e. a first cut) could come as soon as the turn of 2022
and 2023. Short-term CZK interest rates, such as 3-month PRIBOR,
will mirror closely the CNB’s policy rate while long-term rates will rise
more modestly, thereby resulting in an inverted yield curve.

The regulatory environment will see the effects of a reversal of
some measures adopted in reaction to the coronavirus crisis.
The CNB has returned to stricter regulation of mortgage lending,
reinstating with effect from 1 April 2022 the limits on the ratios of
debt-to-income and debt service-to-income as well as lowering
the maximum loan-to-value ratio.” It decided, too, on increasing
the counter-cyclical capital buffer rate in two steps during 2022
and an additional step as of 1 January 2023, which will take this
rate to 2.0%. The national bank also announced in September
2021 that it would no longer restrict the amount of bank dividends
across the board.? KB aims to begin gradually taking loans from
Société Générale in order to meet the regulatory requirements
for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) from the EU’s banks
recovery and resolution directive (as the concept of Single

Point of Entry is applied within the SG Group) once the situation
of surplus capital accumulated during pandemic dividend
restrictions is resolved. Banks will also be subject to some new
reporting requirements, particularly in the field of sustainability.

The banking market will be positively influenced by the recovering
economy. Total lending on the market should rise at a mid-
single-digit percentage rate. The production of new housing
loans will diminish in comparison with 2021 due to higher costs
and regulatory limitations, but the outstanding volume of these
loans should nevertheless expand modestly. Consumer credit
expansion should accelerate to a mid-single-digit pace as the
pandemic subsides. Loans to corporations should rise once
companies gain more confidence and visibility into the future.
Clients’ bank deposits should grow still faster than lending, in
both retail and corporate segments, supported by higher nominal
incomes.

" https://www.cnb.cz/en/cnb-news/press-releases/CNB-to-reintroduce-LTV-DTI-
and-DSTI-limits-on-mortgage-loans-and-increase-countercyclical-capital-buffer-
rate-to-2/

2 https://www.cnb.cz/en/cnb-news/press-releases/CNB-comments-on-banks-
dividend-payout-plans/
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Komeréni banka will continue implementing the changes in
accordance with its KB Change 2025 programme that had been
announced in November 2020. The new digital bank will be

developed in order to reach a marketable level of maturity in 2023.

In this context, KB management expects that the Group’s loan
portfolio will record an upper-to-mid-single-digit growth rate for
2022 in both retail and corporate lending. Outstanding volume of
housing loans should continue to record gains, even though the
new sales of these loans are expected to diminish in comparison
with the record level achieved in 2021. Growth in total deposit
balances should reach a mid-single-digit pace, except that
there will be slower development at Modra pyramida. Clients are
expected to be shifting their deposits to term accounts.

KB Group’s total net operating income for 2022 should expand
at a double-digit pace in comparison with 2021. Net interest
income will grow at a double-digit pace, reflecting increase in
market rates and business volumes. Net fees and commissions

should improve by low-single digits, driven again by cross-selling.

The net profit from financial operations will probably decrease
somewhat after having reached an extraordinary level in the past
year.

In spite of the elevated inflation and expectation for another
significant increase in regulatory charges for the Resolution
Fund, operating expenses will remain under tight control and

will rise by less than the rate of inflation. The Group will continue
its transformation, which consists in investing into building the
new digital infrastructure, overall simplification, and decreasing
the numbers of employees and premises in use. Average salary
growth will not exceed 3%. KB management also has decided
on further steps in optimising the branch network during 2022.
As of 1 April 2022, 25 branches will be closed and at another 19
branches cash services will be provided only via ATMs. As of

1 July 2022, KB will simplify the management structure of the
branch network, including to replace regional retail divisions with
joint segment and line management of all distribution channels
at headquarters level. The selection of branches for closing was
based upon a long-term analysis of branch traffic, coverage

and potential of locations, and changing clients behaviour with
growing preference for remote sales and assisted services in the
digital environment.

Cost of risk will be influenced by a mix of factors, including the
economic recovery, higher interest rates, appreciation of the
Czech crown, and the beginning of fiscal consolidation. In KB’s
central scenario, the cost of risk in 2022 should remain visibly
below the estimated normalised level of 30-40 basis points
across the whole business cycle.

The key risks to the expectations described above consist in
further prolongation of the pandemic situation, with recurring
lockdowns and shortages of key input materials for Czech
industry, a sudden and sharp shift from the government’s
previously expansionary fiscal policy, and a military escalation
of the conflict in Eastern Europe. Generally, the open Czech
economy would be sensitive to a worsening external economic
environment, such as, in particular, further recession in the euro
zone.

| Strategy and results

Management expects that KB'’s operations will generate sufficient
profit in 2022 to cover the Group’s capital needs ensuing from its
growing volume of assets as well as to pay out dividends.

Profile of KB
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| KB Group clients and their service

Business model

KB is a universal bank with a multi-channel distribution model. Its
business model is founded upon building long-term relationships
with customers and offering relevant solutions for situations
occurring during clients’ lives. The business strategy focuses on
reinforcing or achieving market-leading customer satisfaction
status in the target client segments throughout each client’s
entire lifespan. KB differentiates itself in the market by best-
in-class advisory, a relevant and comprehensive product offer
leveraging the global scale of the Komeréni banka and Société
Générale groups, and its ability to provide better service in

a simple and efficient way with tailored financial solutions.

Komeréni banka proactively seeks options for improving the
experience and value it delivers to customers, including through
partnerships with external providers of services that may enrich
KB’s offer. The development of client and internal solutions is
organised in cross-functional teams applying the agile@KB
working method.

KB perceives its competitive advantage on the banking market
as consisting in the value of partnerships with clients, the

ability of its banking advisors to provide high-quality advisory,

a wide range of relevant and advantageous financial products,
proximity to clients via the branch network and advanced, secure
direct banking, and its ability to provide services efficiently in
accordance with clients’ needs and preferences.

Digital banking is an integral part of the multi-channel distribution
model, and the Bank aims to reinforce its leadership position on
the Czech market in mobile banking.

The service model in KB’s retail banking is focused on assisting
clients by providing them professional advisory, preferably at
appointments agreed with the client in advance. In creating their
recommendations to clients, the relationship managers refer to an
analysis of each client’s needs based upon the Bank’s data about
that client. This enables the relationship managers to propose a
solution most convenient for each client’s circumstances. Rapid
service spots have been created in branches for addressing basic
service requests, and the relationship managers assist clients so
that they are able to execute simple transactions and administer
their services by themselves in their mobile banking application
or internet banking.

The service approach in corporate banking reflects clients’
potential as well as their actual needs for financial services

in order to create optimum value for clients and allocate KB's
resources effectively. The relationships with economically
interconnected clients are usually managed by the Bank at the
level of the whole group.

KB’s own distribution network is further complemented by the
subsidiaries’ distribution capacities (especially those of Modra
pyramida) and, in the cases of selected products, also by
business partners’ networks. Services and products of other
KB Group companies are available within their own distribution
networks, in the KB branch network and digital channels, and
potentially through the business partners.

KB is organised into arms, tribes, and separate independent
departments. The arms are managed directly by members of
the Board of Directors or by executive directors, themselves
reporting to the Chairman or members of the Board. The tribes,
whose aim is to enable faster and better identification and
fulfilment of client needs through implementing changes, are
managed by tribe leaders. Executive directors and tribe leaders
report to the Chairman or members of the Board.

Tribes are structured in such a way that they cover holistic,
end-to-end views of specific customer journeys or segment
needs, rather than focusing on features of individual products.
Following initial implementation of the agile@KB method, people
responsible for business implementation and IT development
work together within the tribes. In a next phase, KB is developing
the BizDevOps concept, wherein employees in charge of
operations for specific IT applications are also included into the
tribes alongside their selling and IT development colleagues.

Komeréni banka adheres strictly to regulatory requirements in all
areas of its activities, and it is developing the “know your client”
concept. In KB’s view, knowing the client and the client’s needs
is an integral part of the business relationship with the customers
and a process reflecting the respect, responsibility, and trust

the Bank has in relation to its clients. Knowledge of its clients
also provides a basis for the Bank to offer appropriate advisory
services and services corresponding to clients’ actual needs. In
this sense, the concept is a selling activity directly influencing the
customer experience. In this area, Komer¢ni banka is dedicating
increased attention to employee training and continuous updates
of business processes so that they adequately serve to maximise
business efficiency while ensuring compliance with evolving
regulatory demands.

Komeréni banka is developing a system for detailed segmentation
of customer relationships. The highest-level segments in the Bank
are the following:

e |ndividuals,

e Small Businesses (the indicative criterion being annual
turnover up to CZK 60 million),

e Corporates and Municipalities (annual turnover between
CZK 60 million and CZK 1.5 billion), and

e Global Banking (covering clients with annual turnover greater
than CZK 1.5 billion).
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A set of additional thresholds and sub-segments within these
segments is elaborated.

New Digital Bank

KB’s New Digital Bank (NDB) is a programme for building a
new banking infrastructure and complete overhaul of banking
processes. It was started in 2020 as a part of the KB Change
2025 transformation strategy.

The NDB comprises building of a flexible modular infrastructure
including the core banking platform, card management system,
payment hub, and customer management. On this basis, KB will
introduce new simple digital products and customer relationship
management around a single source of information across all
channels and systems and supported by elements of artificial
intelligence. The uniform sources of operational, business, and
financial data will enable highly efficient reporting and analytics.
At the same time, KB is building a new omnichannel front-end
system for clients and relationship managers, employing a
mobile-first approach. The personal contact with clients and the
branch network remain pillars of the service model focused on
providing professional advisory to the customers.

The New Digital Bank will allow for continuous 24/7 real-time
processing of transactions, analytics, and lead generation. The
innovation cycle will be shortened considerably by an ability

for daily releases of software updates. The NDB will serve

more effectively the needs of the clients as well as of the Bank,
including regulatory duties, reporting, and customer relationship
management. The subsequent decommissioning of certain parts
of the original banking infrastructure will lead to material savings
in operating expenses.

With launch of the NDB, the Bank aims for increase in client
satisfaction as measured by the Net Promotor Score along with
rising customer numbers and average revenues per user. The
share of sales via digital channels should exceed 50%. The
communication with clients will be completely paperless and
productivity of relationship managers will improve.

At the beginning of 2021, Komeréni banka selected Temenos
Transacta as its future core banking platform. Syncordis will
deliver and implement the system. In accordance with the agile
development method, the NDB is being built in pre-defined
increments. In the initial phase, which began in October 2021,

the basic features of the NDB are available to some 500 clients
from among the Bank’s employees. This should provide relevant
feedback for developing useful characteristics into the system
and assuring an excellent future user experience. In 2023, the
NDB will reach a maturity level to allow introducing the New
Digital Bank onto the Czech market, onboarding of new clients,
and the start of a gradual migration of clients from the old
system. The migration will commence in the Individuals segment,
to be followed by small businesses and completed with corporate
clients. This schedule is in accordance, too, with the development
of new products and services for the NDB. Completion of the
migration is planned for 2026, which will enable decommissioning
components of the existing KB infrastructure.

| Strategy and results

Client satisfaction

Development and growth of Komeréni banka’s customers (private
and business), helpfulness towards the clients, and responsibility
are the three value pillars of the KB brand. These express how
the Bank wants to be perceived on the market and what values it
professes. The pillars of the KB brand are its essence. Komeréni
banka wants to be perceived by its clients as a Bank which, with
its helpfulness, responsibility, and emphasis on sustainability,
makes a significant contribution to their personal and business
development. Client satisfaction is thus one of KB’s main
priorities.

KB’s customers are regularly interviewed, the individual phases
of the customer journey are also monitored, and, based upon
the feedback, the Bank adjusts and sets its offers so that they
are as user-friendly as possible. Interviews with clients (so-called
user testing) are part of the development of new products and
services. The Bank asks customers about their satisfaction

after purchasing a product with regard to whether the client

got everything he or she wanted at the right time, understands
everything, or needs any help with setup. KB also monitors the
evaluation of individual service channels, such as branch, contact
centre, and mobile or internet banking. All these measurements
take place continuously throughout the year. In addition to these
individual interactions with Komercéni banka, the Net Promoter
Score (NPS) value also is measured, determining whether the
client would recommend KB to friends or family. Over time, this
indicator shows the affinity of clients for the Komeréni banka
brand.

In this way, more than 200,000 pieces of feedback are

collected annually. In addition to time series and individual
indices, satisfaction surveys generate a huge number of very
valuable comments on what clients value or what is not set up
optimally for them. This feedback is processed in two ways.
First, clients who have expressed dissatisfaction are contacted
by branches or the contact centre and KB employees deal

with the situation directly within 48 hours of completing the
questionnaire. The solution to this situation usually involves
reconfiguring the product, explaining its use, or recommending
another, more advantageous service. If the situation cannot be
resolved immediately and requires a comprehensive adjustment
of services, the customer experience team gathers these
suggestions and requests improvements across the Bank. As a
result of such suggestions, almost 100 specific adjustments to
the existing offers were prepared last year. Based upon feedback
from clients, in 2021, for example, KB unified and expanded the
opening hours of branches.

It is key for the Bank to bring added value to clients and alleviate
their daily worries. KB’s key competitive advantages exist
across many areas: from everyday banking, through financing to
investing. For example, clients can use a student account with
KB for as long as 30 years and with no administration fee. Instant
payments are offered to all clients at no extra charge. Security is
extremely important, so the Bank monitors clients’ payments for
suspicious or unusual transactions. In case a suspicious activity
in an account or by card occurs, a Bank employee immediately
calls the client and resolves the situation. KB wants to help its
clients reduce costs, so the credit card for entrepreneurs returns
1% of each payment to their current accounts. There exist a
number of such benefits that clients appreciate and consider
attractive.

Profile of KB
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KB’s efforts to measure, analyse, and follow up on its client
offerings are reflecting in continuous growth of the NPS index.

A main driver of this improvement is the high satisfaction with
staff at branches and contact points. Clients value the Bank’s
employees for their professionalism, helpfulness, and efforts to
find appropriate solutions. Very important aspects of why clients
recommend KB are a sense of security and the quality of digital
channels, especially of mobile banking.

Customer satisfaction is significantly influenced, too, by
perception as to the value of Komeréni banka’s services. KB has
long strived to ensure that clients get the best value for the price
they pay for the service. Prices are fair, transparent, and very
competitive compared to those of other banks on the market.

Pricing at KB gives consideration also to sustainability. In setting
price levels for services, KB motivates clients to use electronic
and digital services, which are more environmentally friendly and
at the same time more affordable for clients. If, despite all efforts,
a client is not satisfied with any Komer&ni banka service, the
client can request that the service fees be refunded through the
Satisfaction Guarantee offer.

Komeréni banka has established a complaints resolution
mechanism that is in line with regulatory requirements and
industry standards. Complaints resolution is conducted in line
with the Claim Settlement Rules of KB, which are available to
clients both in branches and online via KB’s web page.”

There are three levels of complaints resolution in KB: at the
branch, by the customer experience team, and via the Group
Ombudsman.

An independent ombudsman resolves claims of KB Group’s
clients in Czechia and Slovakia. The ombudsman’s activities

are governed and defined by the Ombudsman’s Charter. Clients
can contact the ombudsman in case of dissatisfaction with

the resolution of their complaints or complaints in the second
instance (in the case of KB clients, the Customer Experience
Department). Although the ombudsman’s decision is not legally
binding on either party, within the conciliation procedure, the
companies of the Komeréni banka Group undertake to respect it.

Since 5 January 2022, the post of KB Group’s ombudsman

has been held by Prof. JUDr. Marie Karfikova, CSc. She is an
expert in financial, tax, and insurance law, a long-time attorney,
and a lecturer and head of the Department of Financial Law

and Financial Science at the Faculty of Law of the Charles
University in Prague. Professor Karfikova replaced in this
position Mr Joseph Franciscus Vedlich, LLM, who had been KB’s
ombudsman since December 2009.

Internal policy sets forth the obligation of the complaints
resolution administrator to inform compliance, operational risk,
or data protection officers in case a complaint is related to their
respective areas. An annual report on complaints resolution is
provided to the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board.

" https://www.kb.cz/en/fag-and-support/relationships-with-customers/complaints-
and-claims

Selected business indicators

Distribution network 31 December 2021 | 31 December 2020

KB branches (C2) 242 242
Modra pyramida points of sale 202 201
SGEF branches 9 9
ESSOX group - points of sale” 1,943 1,843
ATMs 860 809
of which: deposit taking 502 429

contactless 604 304

" Number of partners with a valid contract

Number of clients 31 December 2021 | 31 December 2020

KB Group's clients" 2,251,000 2,293,000
Komeréni banka 1,625,000 1,641,000
- individual clients 1,383,000 1,389,000
- internet banking clients 1,465,000 1,443,000
— mobile banking clients 1,034,000 932,000
Modra pyramida 485,000 485,000
KB Penzijni spole¢nost 520,000 525,000
ESSOX (incl. PSA FINANCE)? 137,000 151,000

" Year-on-year decline affected by termination of accounts as a result of know-your-
client remediation process.

2 Year-on-year decline influenced by termination of non-active credit card
relationships.

Cards and wallets 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

KB Payment cards — active 1,604,000 1,588,000

— debit cards 1,420,000 1,407,000

- credit cards 184,000 181,000

ESSOX credit cards — active 55,000 61,000

Number of cards virtualised into

payment apps 390,000 283,000

KB Key — number of clients with

active authentication app 963,000 812,000
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Loans to clients - gross loans

(CZK billion)"
KB Group
KB - total loan portfolio
— Loans to individuals
— Volume of KB’s mortgages

— Volume of KB’s consumer and
other loans

- Loans to small businesses

— Loans to medium corporates and
municipalities

- Loans to top corporates and
other loans?

Modra pyramida - total loan
portfolio

ESSOX - total loan portfolio
(including PSA FINANCE)

Factoring KB - total loan portfolio
SGEF - total loan portfolio
BASTION - total loan portfolio

Consolidation and other
adjustments

31 December 2021

738.9
635.4
289.2
262.7

26.6
41.3

116.8
188.1
76.0

17.3
11.4
30.7

2.2

(34.2)

31 December 2020

New products and services

January 2021

691.4
599.6
271.7
245.5

26.2
39.8

110.2

178.0

February 2021
63.9

17.7
8.3
30.3
2.5

(31.0)

" Excluding Other amounts due from customers and repo operations, but including
debt securities issued by KB corporate clients.
2 Including loans provided by KB Slovakia.

Amounts due to customers and as-
sets under management (CZK billion)

KB Group deposits?
KB deposits

— individuals

— small business

— MEM corporates

— top corporates and other
deposits?

Modra pyramida - building savings
ESSOX

Factoring KB

Consolidation and other
adjustments

Non-bank assets under
management

Assets under management in
mutual funds®

Clients’assets managed by KB
Penzijni spole¢nost

KP life insurance technical
reserves?

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

948.6
890.2
354.9
234.9
196.1

104.3
60.9
0.2
0.7

3.3)
204.3
83.0
72.1

49.2

893.0
835.1
322.0
218.9
190.9

103.3
60.8
0.2
0.8

3.9) May 2021
191.8
73.4
68.6

49.8

1

@ N

)
) Including deposits in KB Slovakia.
)
4

| Strategy and results

Excluding repo operations with clients.

Assets of KB Group clients managed by third-party asset managers.
Komer¢éni pojistovna is consolidated by the equity method.

June 2021

In co-operation with Direct Fidoo a.s. — modern
applications for digitising the processing and billing
of all corporate outlays, including a pre-paid Fidoo
card to simplify administration of cash advances, card
payments, and travel orders.

KB — a new generation of its digital Open Banking
platform, which makes products of the Bank and its
partners available in ‘Bank-as-a-Platform’ and ‘Bank-
as-a-Service’ modes. This additionally expanded
services using banking identities.

KB — Savings Account Bonus Invest. This savings
account motivates clients to protect their savings from
inflation by investing. Clients invest half of the funds
and the other half earns an attractive rate of interest (in
2021 it was 3%).

ESSOX - a new cash loan, the closing of which takes
place completely online at www.CashShop.cz.

KB - MojeBanka Internet Banking enabled full-text
search.

KB - a fully digital process for granting consumer loans
to existing clients in mobile banking. Funds appear

in the client’s current account within 5 minutes from
signing the credit contract.

KB — an electronic authentication based on banking
identity for access to public services.

KB Factoring and Roger — a new supply chain financing
(SCF) product. Reverse factoring helps customers
optimise working capital without the need to modify
their internal processes and limit external financing.
Using the SCF platform that is connected to existing
ERP systems, the customers can help strengthen the
financial stability of their suppliers by shortening the
maturity of their receivables and ensuring immediate
payment through factoring financing.

KB in co-operation with partners (Innogy, CEZ,

and others) — a consumer loan for investments in
sustainable technologies, with benefits for individual
solutions provided by their suppliers, who are KB
partners. In line with KB’s Green retail strategy.

KB - a new network of insurance specialists. They
offer free insurance optimisation and arranging of new
insurance protections in the areas of life and non-

life insurance, both physically at KB branches and
remotely.

Modra pyramida — drawing a Quick Loan (Rychlouvér)
and Hypo Loan (Hypuvér) for housing via the MP Home
mobile application.

KB and the National Development Bank — COVID Invest
investment loans with support of the Czech-Moravian
Guarantee and Development Bank (now the National
Development Bank) for companies with up to 500
employees.

KB - Online portfolio, an application newly enabling
trading on Prague Stock Exchange (PSE).

KB — New Risk-Free Rates for individual currencies and
interest rate hedging products linked to these rates,
replacing the discontinuing LIBOR and EONIA rates.

KB - Investi¢ni portal, a new branch front-end
application for the offer of investment funds and
investment advice.
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KB - Financial guide (Finan¢ni priivodce), a form

of financial advice based on detailed diagnosis of

the client’s financial situation. It simplifies bankers’
preparation for sales meetings and helps to conduct
advisory session in a structured way while assisting
the client to better orient oneself in his or her finances.

KB and iU&to — a tool for entrepreneur clients for online
accounting and invoicing, as well as processing of tax
records, payments, reporting, and inventory records.

September 2021

KB - authentication services for commercial service
providers through banking identity.

October 2021

Modra pyramida — online arrangement of the
Quick Loan (Rychlouvér) product.

KB - a new interest rate hedging product wherein one
component of the price is based upon fulfillment of
objectives in the area of environmental, social, and
corporate responsibility.

SGEF, KB, and CEZ ESCO - Fotovoltaika za korunu
(Photovoltaics for 1 crown), makes it significantly easier
for companies and municipalities to acquire rooftop
photovoltaic power plants. SGEF finances a solution
that CEZ ESCO designs exactly according to the needs
of the individual client.

November 2021

KB together with other banks — BankID Sign,
guaranteed signature of a contract or document in
PDF format based on the bank identity.

ESSOX - Rozlozena platba (Divided payment), allows
e-shop customers to spread the payment of a purchase
price across as many as four instalments. Arrangement
of the transaction takes place online.

December 2021

ESSOX - Carolina, a new version of the popular
motoring application. In addition to other improvements,
it creates the possibility for arranging an online cash
loan of up to CZK 500,000 or insurance directly in the
application.

Selected awards

January 2021

February 2021

May 2021

September 2021

November 2021

Magazine Global Banking & Finance:

— Factoring KB named best factoring company in the
Czech Republic in 2020

— Komeréni banka, among World’s Best Treasury &
Cash Management Banks and Providers 2021 in the
Czech Republic

Finparada.cz — Financial Product of the Year awards:

— Komeréni banka awarded 1st place for KB’s Personal
Loan in the unsecured consumer loan category

— Modra pyramida recognised with 3rd place for Wise
Savings (Moudré sporeni) product in the building
savings category

Top Employer survey among university students

organised by the Students and Graduates Association

and conducted by GfK:

— Komeréni banka ranked in 1st place as an employer
in the banking and investments category

TOP APP Award - an independent award for the best

mobile applications in the Czech Republic and Slovakia

given by Byzkids company:

— Komeréni banka awarded 1st place for KB Mobilni
banka in the banking category within the Czech
Republic

MasterCard Awards 2020 for the Czech Republic:

— Komeréni banka’s 4U credit card named
The Fastest Growing Card

— Worldline and KB SmartPay recognised with
Special Mention for the ‘Czechia pays by card’
project during the pandemic

FocusEconomics:

— Komeréni banka awarded 2nd place in category
Best Overall Forecaster — Czech Republic

— Komeréni banka awarded 2nd place in category
Exchange Rate Forecaster — Czech Republic

— Komeréni banka awarded 3rd place in category
Fiscal Balance Forecaster — Slovakia

The Covered Bond Report, a publication dedicated to

the covered bond market:

— Komeréni banka recognised with a prestigious
international award in the Pioneer category of The
Covered Bond Report Awards for Excellence 2021 for
its inaugural issue in January of euro-denominated
mortgage bonds

Association of Social Responsibility:
— Komer€ni banka, for its Sustainability Report 2020,
honoured with Expert Jury Award for Reporting

Sodexo Employer of the Year:
— Komeréni banka awarded 3rd place in the category of
companies employing more than 5,000 employees

Global Private Banking Awards of The Banker and

Professional Wealth Management magazines:

— KB Private Banking named Best Performing Private
Bank in CEE

National Evaluation Committee of the Czech

Management Association:

— CEO and Chairman of the Board of Directors of KB
Jan Juchelka recognised as Best Manager in the
Czech Republic

Business for Society:

— CEO and Chairman of the Board of Directors of KB,
Jan Juchelka named Top Responsible Leader of the
Year for Sustainability
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December 2021

Hospodarské noviny Best Insurer award:

— Komer¢ni pojiStovna ranked in 1st place in the
Best Life Insurance Company category

— Komer¢ni pojistovna ranked in 2nd place in the
category Client-friendly life insurance company

Hospodarské noviny Competition — Banking Innovator

2021:

— Komeréni banka awarded 2nd place for Dashboard
Security in Mobilni banka

MasterCard Bank of the Year 2021:

— Komeréni banka awarded 1st place in the
Corporate Bank of the Year category

— Komeréni banka awarded 1st place in the
Sustainable Bank of the Year category

— Komeré€ni banka awarded 3rd place in the Mortgage
of the Year and Private Bank of the Year categories

Results of annual Responsible Lending Index

announced by the non-profit organization People in

Need:

— ESSOX recognised as repetitive leader in the area of
credit costs and cash loan

Euromoney magazine:

— Komeréni banka named 1st among banks in the field
of cash management within the Czech Republic,
receiving the title of Euromoney Market Leader

Flema Media Awards — media campaigns competition

on the Czech and Slovak market:

— Komeréni banka and its advertising agencies PHD
and PUSE recognised with award for the show Cesty
z dluhll (Journey from Indebtedness) in the Best Use
of television category

The Banker magazine — Bank of the Year:
— Komer¢ni banka named Bank of the Year in the
Czech Republic

Top Innovations — research by the agency IPSOS:
— Komer¢ni banka ranked in 1st place for the eco card
made of recycled plastic

Strategy and results

Indicators of business performance

Loans to customers
Total gross volume of lending to clients rose by 6.9% year on
year to CZK 738.9 billion.”

In lending to individuals, the overall volume of housing loans grew
by 9.5% from the year earlier. Within this total, the portfolio of
mortgages to individuals expanded by 7.0% to CZK 262.7 billion.
Modra pyramida’s loan portfolio grew by a strong 18.9% to

CZK 76.0 billion. Sales of housing loans moderated at the end

of the year as mortgage pricing was on the rise and reflected
sharp growth in market interest rates. The volume of KB Group’s
consumer lending (provided by the Bank and ESSOX Group in the
Czech Republic and Slovakia) was up 1.9%, at CZK 33.3 billion.

The total volume of loans to businesses and other lending
provided by KB Group was higher by 5.0% year on year, at

CZK 366.9 billion. Lending to small businesses increased by
4.3% to CZK 47.9 billion. The overall CZK volume of credit
granted by KB to medium-sized, large corporate, and other
clients in the Czech Republic and Slovakia? improved by 5.6%
year on year to CZK 288.3 billion. At CZK 30.7 billion, the total
credit and leasing amounts outstanding at SGEF were up by 1.1%
year over year.

Amounts due to customers and assets under management
The volume of standard client deposits within KB Group

rose by 6.2% year on year to CZK 948.6 billion.® Deposits at
Komeréni banka from individual clients grew by 10.2% from the
year earlier to CZK 354.9 billion. The deposit book at Modra
pyramida expanded by 0.2% to CZK 60.9 billion. Total deposits
from businesses and other corporations climbed by 4.3% to
CZK 535.3 billion.

Client assets managed by KB Penzijni spole€nost were 5.1%
greater, at CZK 72.1 billion. Technical reserves in life insurance
at Komeréni pojistovna were down by (1.3%) year on year, at
CZK 49.2 billion. The volumes in mutual funds held by KB Group
clients grew by 13.0% to CZK 83.0 billion, and this growth
predominantly occurred in equity and balanced funds.

The Group’s liquidity as measured by the ratio of net loans® to
deposits (excluding repo operations with clients but including
debt securities held by KB and issued by the Bank’s clients)
stood at 76.4%. The Group’s liquidity coverage ratio was 148%,
well above the regulatory limit of 100%.

 Excluding volatile reverse repo operations with clients but including debt securities
issued by KB’s clients and held by the Bank. Because the volume of reverse repo
operations was nil as of both 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021, the
figures remain unchanged inclusive of reverse repo operations.

2 Inclusive of factor finance outstanding at Factoring KB and merchant and car
dealers’ financing from ESSOX Group.

3 Excluding volatile repo operations with clients. The total volume of ‘Amounts due to
customers’ rose by 5.6% to CZK 956.9 billion.

4 Gross volume of loans reduced by the volume of provisions for loan losses.
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Retail banking

Retail banking is an operating segment of the Komeréni banka
Group that includes the provision of such products and services
to individuals, small businesses, and entrepreneurs as current
and savings accounts, term deposits, building savings, pension
insurance, overdrafts, credit card loans, personal loans and
mortgages, as well as private banking services. Retail banking
services are provided primarily through direct banking channels,
including contact centres, within a network of branches, or
through partnerships with third-party independent sales agents.

Sustainable retail banking

KB strives to reduce direct environmental impacts of its activities.
It wants to support and positively motivate its clients on the way
to a sustainable future. The Bank aims to be a partner to clients
who helps them to orient themselves even better in sustainability
areas, including to minimise environmental impact; in matters

of economic rates of return and savings; and, as appropriate, in
the potential for public support in this area. KB Group’s product
offering includes sustainable investment opportunities as well as
financing of sustainable technologies.

In the area of day-to-day banking, KB strives towards maximising
digitisation of its services. The Bank wants to save clients’ time
and money, but also the environment. Clients can also use KB’s
banking identity free of charge for easier communication with
government agencies and companies.

Disclosure of sustainability information in the advisory and
distribution of financial products

Komeréni banka has also implemented Regulation of the
European Parliament and of the Council of the EU on Disclosure
of Sustainability-Related Information in the Financial Services
Sector (SFDR) and publishes specific information on its approach
to integrating sustainability risks and taking into account adverse
sustainability impacts in its financial advisory activities, portfolio
management, and distribution of financial products.” A link to
these statements is included in the pre-contractual product
information documents. Sustainability risks are also taken into
account in the Bank’s remuneration policy. The Bank will update
this information in accordance with regulatory developments.

Responsible investing

Clients can contribute to a sustainable future by investing with
a view to the environmental and social impacts of specific
companies. Clients can choose from several ESG funds and
invest in selected areas, such as water resources, nutrition for
future generations, or climate protection. In 2021, KB’s retail
clients invested almost CZK 2.5 billion in sustainable funds, which
were included into the autumn offer with zero entry fees and
represent more than 16% of total new investments into mutual
funds. The offer of ESG sustainable funds will be constantly
expanded.

" https://www.kb.cz/en/about-the-bank/everything-about-kb/we-do-business-br-
sustainably/economic-br-sustainability#sfdr

Sustainable Technology Loan

Households can benefit from an advantageous financing offer
for sustainable technologies, such as photovoltaic power plants,
heat pumps, heat recovery units, grey water recycling and
rainwater harvesting units, constructed wetlands, as well as
green roofs and facades.

Together with proven partners, KB has prepared turnkey projects
for clients planning to purchase new technologies for more
economical living and greater self-sufficiency. The partners will
ensure full implementation, from project design to installation,
including settlement of the subsidy, and KB will provide
advantageous financing for these projects. This means the Bank’s
clients are able not only to reduce their dependence on external
water and energy supplies, but also significantly to reduce
energy costs. In 2021, KB co-operated with CEZ and Innogy in
assisting clients to acquire photovoltaic power plants, as well as
with ASIO and Kofenovky in the area of sustainable water and
wastewater management. From March 2021, KB began offering
an advantageous loan for sustainable technologies. It was used
by 147 clients in a total volume of more than CZK 35.5 million. The
average loan amount was approximately CZK 240,000.

Individuals

Komeréni banka ranks among the three largest banks in the
Czech Republic by number of individual clients.? KB newly
acquired nearly 72,000 clients in this segment last year, an
increase by 44% from the previous year. That brought the
total number of individual clients to 1,383,000. The Bank also
maintains a leading position in the segment for children and
young people, with more than 352,000 child and student
accounts plus scores more of young people with standard
accounts.

During 2021, KB concluded its thorough review of the client
portfolio in terms of obtaining all information about clients
needed to prevent misuse of the Bank for illegal activities (“know
your customer”, KYC) in accordance with applicable regulations.
Some clients were not able to meet the Bank’s stricter
requirements. As a consequence, the business relationships
with such clients were terminated. At the same time, the Bank
ended contractual relationships with some clients whose non-
performing receivables were sold.

In lending to individuals, the overall volume of housing loans grew
by 9.5% from the year earlier. Within this total, the portfolio of
mortgages to individuals expanded by 7.0% to CZK 262.7 billion.
Modra pyramida’s loan portfolio grew by a strong 18.9% to

CZK 76.0 billion. The volume of KB Group’s consumer lending
(provided by the Bank and ESSOX Group in the Czech Republic
and Slovakia) was up 1.9%, at CZK 33.3 billion.

Deposits at Komeréni banka from individual clients grew by
10.2% from the year earlier to CZK 354.9 billion. The deposit
book at Modra pyramida increased by 0.2% to CZK 60.9 billion.
Total deposits from businesses and other corporations climbed
by 4.4% to CZK 527.1 billion.

2 Source: Statements of individual Czech banks.
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Client assets managed by KB Penzijni spole€nost were 5.1%
greater, at CZK 72.1 billion. Technical reserves in life insurance

at Komeréni pojistovna were down by 3.9% year on year, at

CZK 49.2 billion. The volumes in mutual funds held by KB Group
clients increased by 13.0% to CZK 83.0 billion, as sales of mutual
funds recovered in 2021 from the pandemic drop.

According to an independent client satisfaction survey based
upon a representative sample of the entire Czech population,

the Net Promoter Score in the individuals segment improved in
2021 to 39 points. Clients continue to appreciate the quality of
service provided by relationship managers in branches and from
the contact centres. Clients also reported better satisfaction with
stability of the digital banking channels.

Unfortunately, the year 2021 was again affected by the pandemic
situation. The Bank further developed its remote servicing tools
and it focused upon continuous improvements in the quality

of service provided by relationship managers in branches or
remotely. KB implemented a new service model leading to a
better customer experience and at the same time increased
utilisation of digital channels. During meetings, the bankers
review with clients their financial circumstances while assisted
by a new tool, Financial Guide, which helps to find the most
effective solutions to the clients’ needs.

During 2021, Komeréni banka succeeded in increasing the
number of clients communicating with their bank through online
channels. By the end of 2021, some 963,000 individual clients
had acquired KB Kli¢, which facilitates secure access to the
Bank, confirming 3DSecure payments on the internet, but also
identity authentication in relation to government institutions and
business service providers.

Entrepreneurs and small businesses

Many entrepreneurs and small businesses were hit in 2021

by impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic, shortages of materials
and other inputs for their production, constraints upon their
customers and business partners, and, during the year, also

by growing costs and rising inflation, both locally as well as on
foreign markets. As a consequence, many business owners have
terminated or suspended their operations, and that reflected
negatively in development of the client portfolio. Even though
more than 12,000 small businesses newly opened accounts with
KB (up by 11% year on year), their total number declined by (4%)
to 230,000.

Client account balances of entrepreneurs and small businesses
grew by 7.3% to CZK 234.9 billion. The total volume of financing
provided by KB to small businesses increased by 3.8% year on
year to CZK 41.3 billion.

KB continued in developing and improving its online services,
which led to an improvement in the NPS for the segment to 41
points despite decreasing the number of branches. Contributing
particularly to the higher score were reliability of the banking
systems, KB’s ability to provide relevant advisory, and improved
responsiveness. The clients appreciated continuous access to
financing options for working capital as well as investment needs,
including credit limits through credit cards for entrepreneurs
just starting up, authorised overdrafts to cover extraordinary
expenditures, as well as standard business loans. Through

the whole year, KB assisted clients in utilising guarantee

| Strategy and results

programmes of the National Development Bank (NDB, formerly
the CMZRB Bohemian—Moravian Guarantee and Development
Bank) or European Investment Fund (EIF). KB granted 39% of
the total volume of loans in NDB'’s largest, COVID lll, guarantee
programme.

In addition to the Bank’s offer, clients actively took advantage

of financing possibilities at other KB Group companies, such

as loans and leasing from SGEF and ESSOX or receivables
factoring from Factoring KB. Over CZK 200 million was financed
by the new Roger Platba factoring service. For e-shop operators,
a simple and fast online financing offer from Lemonero was
introduced.

More than 3,000 companies benefitted from the preferential offer
in the Czechia Pay by Card campaign and began accepting card
payments from their customers. Businesses can optimise and
digitise expenses management with an advantageous solution
from the partner company Fidoo that includes integration with
the current account and payment cards from KB. A solution for
online accounting and related needs of KB's clients is available at
preferential conditions from iU&to.

Along with using KB’s dedicated services, companies just starting
up could join the Nastartujte se! (Start up!) grant programme,
already in its ninth year. During 2021, projects from 43 companies
in various sectors were enrolled.

In 2022, the Bank will focus on improving accessibility of its
services and advisory at the branches, in Business Centres,

as well as online. Expanded options to use the banking digital
identity will bring greater convenience and efficiency to the
clients’ enterprises. With a new campaign system, KB will be able
to better identify the individual needs of clients and communicate
proactively. Preparation will continue for switching to simpler
digital services by small businesses in the New Digital Bank.
Already at the beginning of 2022, KB introduced a new service
called PayPhone, a payment terminal in a mobile device, which
will facilitate acceptance of card payments by artisans and
smaller providers of various services.

Private Banking

Komeréni banka offers comprehensive Private Banking services
to clients with financial assets exceeding CZK 30 million at its
branches in Prague, Brno, and Ostrava. Clients with assets in
excess of CZK 3 million have access to selected Private Banking
products.

The services provided include mainly portfolio management
under mandates, a wide range of investment instruments,
complete banking services, real estate and lombard loans

to finance the private needs of clients, investments in funds

for qualified investors (real estate funds and private equity),
investments in corporate bonds, assistance in selling companies,
trust fund services, and other instruments for intergenerational
transfer of assets.

Investment products and underlying assets taking into account
environmental, social, and governance (ESG) criteria are gaining
in importance in the Private Banking offer. In 2021, KB adopted
the so-called ESG Universe, which is being prepared by SG
Private Banking, for the managed portfolios. It narrows the list of
eligible equity investments only to companies that meet defined
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ESG criteria. Direct equity investments already are made only

in listed companies having a minimum required ESG rating and
no serious negative controversy. Sustainability factors in the
managed portfolios are also taken into account in the evaluation
itself and setting of target share prices by SG Cross Asset
Research. KB Private banking clients can thus benefit even more
from the extensive analytical apparatus and expertise of the

SG Group, which significantly supports sustainable investment.
In 2021, partnerships were deepened with renowned global
asset managers and a number of sustainable funds classified
according to Article 9 SFDR (Sustainable Finance Disclosure
Regulation) were included into KB Private Banking’s offer.

For the first time in its history, Komer¢ni banka’s Private Banking
received the award for the Best Performing Private bank in
Central and Eastern Europe, given as part of the Global Private
Banking Awards. The international jury awarding this price

was appointed by representatives of the renowned financial
magazines The Banker and Professional Wealth Management,
which belong to the Financial Times media group. The Bank puts
great on value on these awards, which confirm Komeréni banka’s
strong position and the quality of its private banking services.
Already in the past 4 years, KB has been at the forefront as a
leading private bank in the Czech Republic, and this year the jury
selected KB as the winner also in the regional context.

Among the priorities for 2022 will continue to be further
development of portfolio management services, investment
advice in open architecture, and the continued development of
digital services. In addition, private banking will focus on the
development of private services for large and medium-sized
business owners in connection with the sale of a company,
intergenerational asset structuring, trust fund manager
services, building a portfolio of financial assets and deposits,
and structured financing of private projects. A key topic the
aspects of which will continue to be developed in KB’s private
banking concerns sustainability and responsible investment
and strengthening the importance of ESG criteria within the
investment process. At the same time, the forthcoming initiatives
will significantly exceed the new EU regulatory requirements.

Corporate and investment banking

Corporate banking is an organisational part of Komer¢ni banka
that includes the provision to corporate customers (with turnover
exceeding CZK 60 million), various types of public institutions,
the non-profit sector, and public institutions of such products
and services as current and savings accounts, term deposits,
operating or investment loans, other types of loans, specialised
foreign trade or investment banking services, cash circulation
services, as well as other specialised services provided by KB
itself or in co-operation with other partners or Société Générale.
Corporate banking services are provided through direct banking
channels, a network of Corporate Centres, and banking advisors.

Support to business clients affected by the Covid-19
pandemic

Since March 2020, Komeréni banka has been supporting
entrepreneurs and small businesses affected by the Covid-19
pandemic. The first two government support programmes,
COVID Il and COVID Prague, were dedicated to financing of
operational expenditures, such as wages, rents, and energy
costs. These programmes were later extended to investments,
and thus companies could finance their purchases of machines,
technologies, licences, and other needs.

KB provided the largest support, however, within the COVID

Ill programme, running from 2 June 2020 until 31 December
2021. Through this programme, KB granted financing to 2,619
companies amounting to CZK 17.8 billion. That was the largest
volume among all participating banks. By the end of 2021, KB
had granted under five COVID programmes credit to 3,636 clients
in total volume of CZK 25.5 billion.

Overview of loans provided by KB between April 2020 and
December 2021 in COVID programmes with guarantees of the
National Development Bank or EGAP state insurance company.

Number of con-

Programme tracts Loan volume
Covid Il 920 CZK 4.0 bil.
Covid Prague 64 CZK 0.4 bil.
Covid Plus 20 CZK 3.1 bil.
Covid Invest 13 CZK 0.2 bil.
Covid Il 2,619 CZK 17.8 bil.

KB also intermediated other sources of support. Through its
long-time co-operation with European Investment Fund it granted
new financing under the EIF COSME programme (3,002 loans in
total amount of CZK 4.1 billion) and, specifically for the culture
sector, within the EIF Eurocreative programme (28 loans totalling
CZK 123 million).

Sustainable corporate banking
A framework for sustainable strategy defines the main areas upon
which KB will give priority focus within corporate banking:

e decarbonisation of industry (transformation of the coal sector,
energy savings in companies and the public sector, transition
to renewable energy sources, clean mobility);

e circular economy;
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e water savings in industry and water retention in the landscape.
projects with positive social consequences (modernisation
of health care facilities, health care, social care, supporting
employment).

In order to support the interest of companies and the public
sector in the area of sustainable finance, the Bank has expanded
the package of services supporting clients’ sustainable
investments. In addition to comprehensive financial and subsidy
advisory, KB now offers clients:

e consultancy in establishing companies’ ESG strategies;

e carbon footprint determination;

e consultancy in the fields of energy and renewable sources,
including the preparation of energy assessments, audits, and
energy performance certification of buildings;

e consultancy in the field of projects’ economic and technical
specifics;

e preparation and implementation of tenders for private and
public entities (including so-called sustainable and circular
public procurement).

Komeréni banky supports financing of environmentally and
socially beneficial project. Since April 2021, investment loans
provided by the Bank are described in terms of whether they have
value added in terms of ESG. This ESG description is based upon
EU taxonomy and categorisation used by Société Générale. If a
loan is described as ESG, the Bank uses support in the form of a
preferential interest rate subsidised from a special ESG envelope.

In 2019, Société Générale became a signatory to the Principles
of Responsible Banking, committing itself and its whole group
to sustainable financing in all its activities, and adopted its own
goals in support of the Paris Climate Agreement. In this context,
and in order to build a long-term sustainable business and its
own reputation, Komeréni banka has implemented the ensuing
principles into its activities.

KB contributes to meeting ESG goals of the Société Générale
Group in the area of environmental and social risks linked with the
clients’ projects that KB finances. At the beginning of 2020, KB
implemented in its corporate banking a system for management
of environmental and social risks (ESRM) that also takes into
account requirements of the Equator Principles, which consist

of a set of voluntary regulations for evaluation of larger industrial
and infrastructure projects, and it ensures compliance with the
sectoral policies of SG Group. In 2020, the Bank began evaluating
the so-called Climate Vulnerability Indicators for larger corporate
clients operating in sectors potentially generating climate risks
(e.g. energy, transport, metallurgy, mining, oil and gas).

The assessment of environmental and social (E&S) aspects in
KB’s corporate banking has become part of the due diligence
for all new transactions and in screening new clients as part

of the KYC process. The assessment of E&S aspects includes
checking against the list of excluded entities and the list of
sensitive activities and projects, checking against the exclusion
criteria of E&S sector policies (e.g. non-financing of clients

and transactions related to the coal mining and coal energy
sector, non-financing of certain arms exports), and verification
of reputational client risks related to E&S aspects. For clients in
sectors with increased E&S risk, they and their transactions are

| Strategy and results

assessed by a KB E&S risk expert. Through banking advisors,
the Bank communicates its E&S standards to clients, especially
in sensitive sectors, and seeks to support clients in complying
with these rules. This relates mostly to energy transformation
and the Bank’s climate commitments. ESG risk categorisation
is performed for all clients in corporate, municipal, and global
banking. For clients with annual turnover exceeding a certain
limit, who operate in sensitive sectors, and who are categorised
as clients with increased E&S risk, KB’s E&S experts perform
detailed ESG reviews. The results of an ESG check indicating

a client to have high risk or requiring corrective action from the
client are validated by staff of the Compliance Department or
they are escalated to the headquarters of Société Générale. In
cases wWhere ESG risk poses both potential and credit risk, the
ESG review is always validated.

In 2021, 24% of actively financed clients in the Global Banking
segment were subjects of detailed ESG risk assessment.

During implementation of the ESRM system in 2020, all bank
advisors and credit analysts in the Corporate and Municipality
segments were given mandatory training in the ESRM system and
such training will take place at least every 2 years. In addition,
employees of the Corporate and Municipal banking and Global
banking divisions were required during 2021 to complete an
online course in environmental and social risk management
prepared by Société Générale.

In 2021, KB provided financing to two projects subject to
assessment according to the Equator Principles rules. Both
projects were category C — logistics centre projects.

KB has been actively involved in financing projects closely
related to climate change mitigation. In 2021, the Bank provided
financing to ten renewable energy projects and a project to
modernise municipal heating plants and their transition from coal
fuels to biomass and gas.

KB has set up a special advisory team within KB Advisory
to provide consulting services in the areas of subsidies,
energy, renewable resources, circular economics, and waste
management.

With the aim of supporting sustainable growth among clients
and Czech industry, KB has launched a new website, Spole¢né
udrzitelné (Sustainable together; spolecne-udrzitelne.cz). This
website includes information from fields encompassing the
environment, circular economy, the broader economy, and

the social domain. Articles and real-life examples offer ESG
inspiration, particularly for corporates. Once per two weeks a
newsletter is sent out with selections of the most interesting
news. The web content is provided in joint co-operation between
the Bank and experts from CIRA Advisory.

Komercéni banka, Visa, Heureka, and the Association of Social
Responsibility together introduced the project of Sustainable
e-shop. Its goal is to identify and label e-shops aiming to achieve
sustainable operations and are attentive about the impacts of
their operations. This enables clients for whom the sustainable
criterion is important to make easier choices while shopping. This
project should motivate and support sellers in transition towards
sustainable business models.
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Digital corporate banking

New products or services are prepared by KB in co-operation
with fintech companies on the platform of its KB Smart Solutions
subsidiary. In 2021, KB Smart Solutions also established a
start-up project called Finbricks, which is being further tested
on the market. It is an open banking service that helps clients
obtain access to basic banking operations at all their banking
institutions through a single and simple interface. In the past

12 months, the company has grown significantly and currently
covers the services of 11 key Czech banks. It is working to cover
Slovakia, where it already has connected 5 banks.

The fintech Roger, into which KB entered at the end of 2020
and began providing services to companies in 2021, started
preparations for expanding digital tools for corporate clients
(supply chain financing).

Last year, the connection between KB and Direct Fidoo, which
brings clients digitisation and subsequent automation of internal
processes through the Fidoo application, was further improved
by KB in 2021. KB is the only bank in the Czech Republic
offering the connection of corporate bank cards directly to

this application, which further simplifies internal accounting
processes in companies.

During 2021, the Bank continued along the trend of digitised
exchange of documents between the Bank and clients. Using
not only KB methods but also a qualified signature, almost
44,000 documents were exchanged in the field of corporate
banking between the Bank and its clients. In January, KB
expanded the possibilities for clients to send a Bank Report for
audit purposes, as the electronic Application for a Bank Report
was modified, newly made available in electronic banking, and
included electronic signatures of the Bank. In April, after a year
in development, the Bank launched a new FINSTA application
into pilot and subsequently into live operation. In future, this will
become the only entry point for the management of financial
statements. The application has implemented robotic processing
of delivered documents, which allows most reports to be
processed without the need for manual typing.

A turning point not only within KB but in the entire banking
market was launch of BanklD, a unified platform for electronic
identity. From March 2021, KB made it possible to use BankID
for its individual clients, who have the opportunity to log into the
Citizen’s Portal (includes various public services or information)
via the KB key. Last year, BankID could be used for tax returns
and the national population census. At the end of September
2021, KB also launched BankID services for its corporate
clients. That means BankID can now be used for the services of
commercial entities.

Economic environment for Czech corporations

The whole of 2021 was marked by the pandemic situation,
which was exacerbated by the disruption of global production
and supply chains. The rapid spring easing of anti-pandemic
measures boosted the economy for a while, but the first
complications in the form of raw materials and other input
shortages (especially of chips) came already in summer for
most industries. Additionally, rapid rise in prices, driven mainly
by energy, appeared at the end of the year. Uncertainty and
constraints stemming from the conflict in Ukraine, growing

inflation, and rising CNB interest rates are factors that will affect
the corporate economic environment in 2022. These factors
combine with volatility in financial markets may continue to
dampen investment activity, which has been affected since the
pandemic began in 2020.

Corporates and Municipalities

Competition in corporate banking remained very intense in 2021.
KB nevertheless maintained its leading position in this segment,
with approximately 45% of small and medium-sized enterprises
using its services.” Komer¢ni banka remains one of the two
largest banks in public sector financing and is on a growth trend.
KB now serves 52% of clients in this sector.? The number of
clients increased by 6% year on year to 10,900, which was due
also to growth of companies that were previously served within
the network for small businesses and entrepreneurs.

In 2021, deposits strengthened further, with their volume
expanding by 2.7% year on year to CZK 196.1 billion. Despite

the pandemic situation, the market for loans to companies and
corporations grew and KB also benefited from this thanks to

its initiative and support in distributing state aid in the form

of guaranteed loans. The volume of financing provided by

the Bank increased by 6% compared to the previous year to

CZK 116.8 billion. Public sector funding is also growing, with EU
national structural funds contributing to infrastructure investment.

Client satisfaction in the segment as expressed by the Net
Promoter Score rose to 44. The situation was similar in
municipalities, where it achieved 43 on a scale from —100 to
100. Clients appreciated, in particular, the Bank’s transparency,
honouring of its commitments, its ability to respond to their
needs, and the offer of suitable products and services. Finally,
the relationship with bank advisors was also highly valued.

A product through which the Bank responded to the growing
interest of companies in commercial installations of photovoltaic
power plants within their business operations was the launch

of “Photovoltaics for 1 crown”. This was prepared jointly by

KB, SGEF, and CEZ ESCO and was launched in October 2021.
Through this product, companies can install PV panels, on the
roofs of their industrial or warehouse facilities, for example, with
no initial investment and no worries about operation of the power
plant inclusive of related administrative and technical matters.
The company then repays the investment costs in the revenues
from electricity taken from their photovoltaic power plants, which
become their property after 15 years for a price of CZK 1.

Global banking®

Komeréni banka maintains a strong position in servicing

and financing large companies with turnover exceeding

CZK 1.5 billion. The portfolio and number of clients in the large
corporate segment is relatively stable. KB’s clients include about
56% of large companies in the Czech Republic with turnover
exceeding CZK 1.5 billion.?

" Sources: The Business Register of the Czech Statistical Office, KB’s client database.
2 Sources: The Business Register of the Czech Statistical Office, KB’s client database.

3 This part covers servicing of clients in the Czech Republic. Activities of KB in
Slovakia are discussed in the following part.

4 Sources: The Business Register of the Czech Statistical Office, KB’s client database.
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The Bank provides to clients in this segment the full range of
banking products and services, including highly specialised
ones, and especially in the areas of investment banking, as well
as export, structured, and syndicated financing. At the same
time, it brings solutions for unique transactions on the banking
market, including in the areas of primary issue of bonds, M&A
consulting, and real estate services. The offer is complemented
by the services of subsidiaries and sister companies providing
leasing or factoring services. Clients can rely on the professional
approach and knowledge of KB’s stable team of bank advisors
as well as experience and contacts in the Société Générale
Group’s international network, especially in the areas of foreign
trade financing, cross-border payments, international cash
pooling structures, and investment banking. Membership in a
truly global banking group is a significant competitive advantage
for KB in this segment, as the Bank is able to provide corporate
clients access to the services of all major global financial centres
through SG.

Satisfaction of large corporate clients with KB remains high. The
NPS indicator in this segment increased in 2021, reaching the
value of 60. That represents a gain of 8 points compared to 2020.
Services and the breadth of their offer, as well as the advice of
bank advisors continue to be rated highest.

Deposits increased by 0.5% year over year in 2021, reaching
CZK 94.5 billion. The total volume of loans (excluding reverse
repo operations) in the Top Corporations segment rose by 8.1%
year over year to CZK 158.0 billion.

Komeréni banka, a.s., pobo¢ka zahraniénej banky (KB SK)
KB SK is Komer¢ni banka’s sole foreign branch. It operates in
Slovakia on the basis of a single banking licence issued by CNB.
KB SK is a trusted financial partner for top corporations within
Slovakia, as well as for those corporate clients of the KB and SG
groups operating there.

The year 2021 continued to pose challenges associated with
impacts of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, but the economy had
recovered in 2021 in comparison to 2020. GDP growth turned
positive for 2021 and further improvement is expected for 2022.
Nevertheless, economic confidence remains shaken in Slovakia
and investors hesitant, and such sentiments probably will be only
strengthened by the ongoing war in Ukraine.

The performance of KB SK in 2021 reflects the situation on the
Slovak market, and shaken investors’ confidence translated

into lower total loan volumes provided to clients in comparison
with previous years. A gradual shift of KB SK’s focus towards
more structured client transactions has been ongoing already
for a couple of years. This has helped to mitigate the impact of
narrowing margins on standard corporate financing in Slovakia
and allowed KB SK to report a year-over-year increase in net
interest income generated. Disciplined management of operating
outlays remained essential and reconfirmed a leading cost-to-
income ratio relative to other banks operating in Slovakia. The
cost of risk during 2021 remained affected by the pandemic and
its impact on the overall economy, as well as by cyclicality of
certain sectors and surging energy prices that were impacting
businesses of the Bank’s clients. Their year-over-year decrease
nevertheless confirms the better state of the economy and
brighter outlook for coming months and years. Even though KB

| Strategy and results

SK clients went through another challenging year, the branch
experienced very good payment discipline in its portfolio,
thereby confirming the prudence of KB SK’s internal approval
processes and very close relationship with its clients. KB SK
delivered improved net profitability with notable contribution of
fee revenues from one-off transactions.

Being at the forefront in financing green transformation, KB SK
is proud to have extended together with another four local and
international banks its co-operation with U.S. Steel KoSice via an
unsecured sustainability-linked revolving credit facility in 2021.

KB SK’s team remained stable, and its professionals delivered
services to clients at a high quality standard. Client satisfaction
was reconfirmed on very high level, as 78% of business clients
would promote the Bank to their counterparts or colleagues.
KB SK regularly collects feedback from clients using objective
external channels, then evaluates and prioritises that data while
implementing it into its tailor-made client solutions. For 2021,
KB SK further strengthened its image as a bank that keeps its
promises and values partnership. It was praised for the strong
involvement of its advisors in the business success of clients.
The Bank achieved excellent promoters score results across the
board (keeps promises, transparency, support, and solutions).
Clients’ satisfaction and the effort to exceed their expectations
remain central to KB SK’s efforts.

KB SK’s investments into its systems and processes during 2021
addressed regulatory requirements and group internal standards
in order to remain a secure financial partner to its clients. At

the same time, the Bank’s spending plans prioritised solutions
increasing comfort for clients in remote communication with

KB SK. Staff safety also remained a priority, and thus the Bank
operated in a hybrid mode during the whole year while focusing
on uninterrupted service for clients without posing health risks to
its employees.

Investment banking

Developments on financial markets in 2021 were strongly
affected by the recurring waves of the Covid-19 pandemic. These
waves were consequently reflected in an alternation between
optimism and pessimism on financial markets, and especially

in emerging markets. These include the Czech crown market,
which thus recorded unusually high volatility in 2021. It was the
weakest in March, when the economy felt the strongest level of
restrictions relating to the pandemic, and at one point the crown
traded at EUR/CZK 26.40. After that, however, the currency
gradually strengthened, albeit with short breaks, to below EUR/
CZK 25 at the end of 2021. Appreciation to stronger levels was
supported by economic recovery, as Czech GDP grew at a
decent quarter-on-quarter rate of around 1% from 2Q through
4Q. The strengthening of the crown against the euro, however,
was mostly due to a significant increase in Czech interest rates
and the related widening of the interest rate differential against
the euro. The Czech National Bank raised its key interest rate by
3.5 percentage points from the end of June to reach 3.75% at
the end of 2021. The unprecedented speed and size of rate hikes
had been prompted by an unexpectedly strong rise in inflation,
which already had been reflected in rising inflation expectations.
According to the data for December 2021, consumer prices grew
6.6% year on year.
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All stocks traded on the Prague Stock Exchange saw price
growth last year, and the main PX Index knew practically no other
direction but up. For the year as a whole, it corrected slightly

in only two months (January and June). In total, it strengthened
38.8% (if dividends are included, by 45.3%) after a loss of 7.9% in
2020). The markets in Europe and America performed very well,
repeatedly surpassing all-time highs. The STOXX Europe 600
index rose by 22.2% last year (total return was 25.8%) and the
world’s most watched stock indicator, the S&P 500, closed the
year 26.9% stronger (total return was 28.7%), marking its third
annual gain in a row. The best stock on the PSE in the last year
was a relative newcomer, Ceska zbrojovka. In the first complete
year of trading, its share price increased by 72.8%. The reasons
for this growth relate to its acquisition of the legendary company
Colt and massive demand for its products, especially on the
overseas market, which is crucial for the company. CEZ finished
in second place, as high electricity prices pulled its share price up
by 60.6%. The financial sector also performed very well, gaining
more than 50% in 2021. A significant corporate action among the
banks was the approval of a merger between Moneta and the

Air Bank Group, which will take place this year. The total volume
of trade on the Prague Stock Exchange increased by 12.1% to
CZK 140.5 billion last year. Unfortunately, in the past year the
shares of PF Nonwovens (formerly Pegas, +7.5% in 2021) and also
Stock Spirits (+42.3% in 2021) were delisted from the PSE. This
year will see O2 CR meet a similar fate, as the majority owner,

the PPF group, will squeeze out minority shareholders. Moreover,
shares of Avast, which will merge with NortonLifeLock, also will
cease to be traded.

In the context of volatile fixed income and currency markets,
gradual reopening of the economy, and economic recovery,
clients’ activity on financial markets recovered strongly, and
especially in the second half of the year. These opportunities
allowed KB Investment Banking to achieve extraordinary results
for 2021 in both trading and sales activities.

The trading performance came from establishing portfolios in
anticipation of tightening monetary policy and thereby benefiting
from the strengthening currency and appreciating stocks in the
context of rising interest rates as well as execution of increased
client flow and market making on Czech government bonds.

In the large corporate segment, the performance came mainly
from extraordinary Czech rates hedging activity linked to capital
markets transactions of KB’s clients and renewed business flow.

In the SME segment, use of digital platforms for foreign exchange
transactions and term deposits in combination with a focus on
value-added products led to an outstanding performance in this
client segment.

As for the Financial Institutions Sales Desk, despite lower market
activities in comparison to 2020 and intensified competition from
large international banking groups entering the Czech market, the
desk managed to deliver a better performance in 2021, thanks
mainly to several significant debt capital markets transactions.

In addition to these business results, diminished tensions
observed in the credit markets resulted in release of reserves for
counterparty risk (Credit Value Adjustment).

The year 2021 confirmed that the trend of customers’ growing
appetite for digital channels was not a one-off event boosted by
the COVID situations. Rather, this trend is here to stay.

Again in 2021, a rising number of clients were actively using KB’s
elrading platform for foreign exchange transactions and term
deposits. That translated into a significant increase of revenue
generated through this channel.

In addition, in May 2021, KB launched its new digital platform,
Online Portfolio, enabling clients to place orders online for
securities listed on the Prague Stock Exchange. After half a year
of operations, this digital platform already has become the main
channel through which KB’s clients use the Bank’s securities
brokerage services on the Prague Stock Exchange. KB will
continue in the years to come to promote and invest in expanding
the offering and functionalities of digital platforms for market
activities.

KB Investment Banking has embarked on a multi-year journey of
modernising and digitising its technological platform to improve
the customer experience, expand its product offering, and

boost the quality of its services. As such, a major project for
replacement of its core trading and risk management system was
launched in 2021. From 2022, KB Investment Banking will work on
integrating its products and services into KB’s New Digital Bank.

Transaction and payment services

Cash payment operations

Compared to the previous year, cash payments were slightly
less affected by the ongoing pandemic situation, as there was
a certain easing and recovery of the economy in the business
sector, especially in the middle of the year. The most critical
period from the viewpoint of securing money circulation was
during March, which was in the lockdown period when the
population was restricted from moving between districts.

Due to the leap upward in the inflation rate, and especially

in comparison to the Czech National Bank’s 2% target rate,

the volume of currency in circulation continued to grow (by

CZK 19.2 billion in 2021 to more than CZK 731 billion as of 31
December 2021), yet KB’s total cash operations did not yet reach
2019 levels.

In the course of 2021, the KB Change 2025 strategic plan began
to be fulfilled in the area of increasing the automation of cash
payments. In the middle of the year, a newly reconstructed
branch in Prague-Dejvicka was opened with a newly designed
service concept for clients, the so-called “New Digital Bank”. It
includes a self-service client cash zone accessible 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week. In pilot mode, the zone was newly equipped
not only with two recycling ATMs but also with three new types of
devices for automated client service — the coin deposit terminal
for coin deposits, payboxes enabling cash withdrawals via
closed packages, and fully automated machine processing for
exchanging banknotes for coins.

Within the Czech Republic, KB operated a total of 242 branches
(as in the previous year), of which 139 were branches with cash
and currency exchange services and 63 were non-cash branches
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(from a total 202 branches) authorised to accept cash deposits
via closed packages.

KB continued to strengthen its ATM network, increasing its
number to 860 in 2021, in comparison with 809 in the previous
year. The number of deposit ATMs has already exceeded 500,
and KB has confirmed its role as a leader within the entire Czech
Republic in this area. Compared to in 2020, there are 73 more
devices enabling the deposit of Czech currency banknotes,

and, out of the total number of deposit ATMs at the end of 2021,
32 devices were equipped with so-called banknote recycling
functions, which allow KB to ensure even higher efficiency of ATM
operations.

KB operates ATMs from two suppliers. In 2021, KB began
migrating some of its devices so that the entire ATM network
was managed by a single company. In 2022, the migration will
be completed. The benefit of this step is greater efficiency in
implementing changes applied to the entire network, as well as
better services for clients.

The average deposit made via KB’s ATM network increased
year on year and was at the level of CZK 28,000. Compared
to 2020, that marks an increase by CZK 3,000. The number of
deposit transactions at the end of 2021 exceeded 3 million.
By comparison with 2020, the number of deposit transactions
increased by almost 170,000.

KB has already realised 56% of the volume and 93% of the
number of all client cash transactions (withdrawals + deposits)
from 2021 through its ATMs.

The importance of cash in case of an unprecedented natural
disaster was proven in the affected area of South Moravia at

the end of June, especially in the regions Bfeclav and Hodonin.
Within a matter of moments, a tornado devastated several
thousand residents, who lost not only shelter but in many cases
also their personal property, documents, and means of payment.
Komeréni banka fulfilled here its role as part of the state’s critical
infrastructure, when, based upon a requirement by government
authorities to provide cash subsidies for the payment of material
assistance to citizens affected by the tornado, it ensured
extraordinary cash transport to the affected region, specifically
for the KB Hodonin branch and the relevant regional labour office.

In the area of foreign exchange services, KB continued as a
traditional and trustworthy institution providing this service to

our citizens and was thus able to provide, for example, Croatian
kunas on holiday to a popular Adriatic destination. Although

total numbers and volumes were not at the level from before the
pandemic (e.g. as in 2019), the service remained profitable for KB.

Non-cash payment operations

The Bank recorded a significant 6.3% year-on-year increase in
the number of domestic payments, an even greater 10% gain
in the number of foreign payments (12.8% increase in outgoing
foreign payments), and a rapid 17% rise in the number of SEPA
payments (outgoing SEPA payments by 20.3%). The share

of SEPA payments in euro within the total number of foreign
payments remained slightly greater than 87% last year. The
number of clients sending SEPA or foreign payments also grew
significantly.

| Strategy and results

In 2021, the share of domestic interbank payments, which

are processed in real time as an immediate payment, further
increased. For incoming payments, more than every fifth payment
is credited to KB’s clients’ accounts as an immediate payment.
Similarly, in Mobilni banka, almost every fifth outgoing payment
is made from KB clients’ accounts as an immediate payment,
although the client still has to choose to process the payment in
the form of an immediate payment. During the first half of 2022,
KB plans to process automatically outgoing payments to other
domestic banks that support the receipt of immediate payments
without the client having to choose this type himself.

Since the autumn of 2021, Komeréni banka has been enabling
clients to use the “Pay me” function, which generates a QR
code that simplifies initiation of an immediate payment order by
downloading it onto a mobile phone, where the order is filled
out. At the same time, KB can read and process these QR codes
containing the flag of immediate payment not only in mobile
phones but also via internet banking, as required.

The share of SEPA and foreign payments in euro, US dollars,
Czech crowns, British pounds, Swiss francs, Danish, Norwegian
and Swedish crowns and Canadian dollars, which KB will credit to
the beneficiary’s bank account on the same day the client enters
the payment, has increased. Komer&ni banka thus processed
39.1% of SEPA payments and 30.4% of foreign payments in
selected currencies in the faster mode during 2021.

In addition to displaying the amount of fees for making domestic
conversion, foreign currency, foreign, or SEPA payments, KB also
displays to our payers information on how much they will pay for
the exchange rate margin when entering an online payment via
mobile and internet banking.

KB clients can now import batches in XML format not only for
SEPA, but also for foreign and domestic payments in MojeBanka
Business and Profibanka internet banking.

As part of the transformation and digitisation, we have switched
the processing of all outgoing and incoming interbank payments
handled via the CERTIS payment system of the Czech National
Bank from our original accounting system to a new central
payment processing (i.e. in the internal Payment Hub application,
which provides centralised payment processing in KB).

Through Payment Hub, we also were able to connect payment
processing to the MultiCore solution application, which ensures
the correct posting of payments to one of the Bank’s two existing
core accounting systems within which the client’s account is
maintained.

In 2021, the Payment Hub application began processing outgoing
and incoming domestic payments for the New Digital Bank.

We also laid the foundations for processing standing orders
there. In 2022, KB plans to integrate all client standing orders
into the Payment Hub application, as well as processing of card
transactions.

In the area of payments and open banking, Komeréni banka
continued in 2021 to further develop the platform under the EU
Payment Services Directive (PSD2) and to prepare other Open
Banking API payment services, specifically Batch Payment
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Initiation Service via API, which was launched as a nonpublic
pilot. KB also provided PSD2 services for the NDB (the New
Digital Bank) and underwent a professional external audit of PSD2
security methods based on strong (2-factor) authentication. In
2021, Komeréni banka actively provided PSD2 services through a
total of 27 licensed entities, of which 14 were payment institutions
(fintech companies) and 13 banks. In 2021, KB processed more
than 28 million requests sent via the PSD2 API interface from KB’s
client payment accounts and it processed payments with a total
value exceeding CZK 50.6 million.

By the end of 2022, the Czech banks and Czech National Bank
will implement the “Mobile Payment” project, which will make

it easier for clients to enter payments using the beneficiary’s
mobile phone number instead of having to know the beneficiary’s
account number directly.

Payment cards

Even in 2021, there was a significant rise in the number and
volume of card transactions — by almost 20%. The largest
increase is again seen in online purchases, where the volume
expanded by 39% and the number by 33%. This time, there is
significant growth in card transactions also at brick-and-mortar
shops, where the volume increased by 15% and the number

by 16%. Contactless payments were made in 92% of these
transactions. The share of mobile payments via smartphones
and watches continued to grow, their number reaching 26% last
year and volume reaching 22%. Most mobile payments are still
made through Apple Pay, followed by Google Pay. Even in 2021,
the Bank ensured the smooth processing of all card transactions,
despite their extreme increase.

KB in 2021 launched an exclusive League of Legend edition

of designer payment cards associated with a unique event of
searching for statues of heroes from this most popular e-sports
game. The Bank received an award from the Dobry den Pelhfimov
Agency for creating Greatest Encryption Game and Greatest
Encryption Online game. Within this edition, KB is the only bank
on the Czech market to offer card designs featuring five selected
heroes: Senna, Aatrox, Orianna, Aphelios, and Nidalee. The
Bank continues also to offer other unique payment card designs,
including with such of its partners as Prague Zoo, Ostrava Zoo,
National Gallery in Prague, and PKF - Prague Philharmonia. The
Bank also offers totally new card designs aiming to support
Czech hockey.

In August 2021, the Bank began issuing a card for the ECO
student account made with 85% recycled material. This trend will
continue in 2022.

In the credit cards area, the 4U card with a revolutionary low
interest rate and a specific proposition remains completely unique
in the Czech Republic.

Under the KB SmartPay brand, KB continues to successfully
develop a business alliance with Worldline in the payment cards
area. In the Czechia Pays by Card project, KB SmartPay’s offers
are among the most successful in terms of acquisition; in 2021,
over 5,000 new merchants were contracted. Thanks to the
development in the field of e-commerce, this alliance achieved
a 32% year-on-year increase in the number of processed card
transactions. At the end of 2021, the PayPhone service was

launched, enabling the acceptance of cards by a certified mobile
application (i.e. without the need to use a payment terminal).

Trade finance and cash management

The Bank confirmed its traditionally strong position in providing
financing services to corporate clients. Trade finance sales
volumes increased by more than half. The Bank recorded gains
across all segments, the highest growth being in the segment
of large corporates. Despite continuing unfavourable external
economic conditions, the Bank returned to the growth trend in
terms of net banking income from trade finance transactions,
which increased by almost 10%.

Investments in further digitisation of processes, both within the
Bank and in relation to clients, contributed to the excellent results.
A brand new modern application for online communication with
the Bank brings clients a complete digital solution, especially

in the area of bank guarantees. Simultaneously, with the new
client trade finance portal, KB replaced the internal system, thus
enabling the optimisation of processes, and, since the second
half of the year, the process of issuing bank guarantees has been
almost paperless.

Komeréni banka’s cash management services and products
maintain a high standard in comparison to the competition on the
domestic market. This was confirmed by the Cash Management
Market Leader 2021 Award from Euromoney Magazine for the
third time already. On an international scale, KB gained additional
valuable experience in servicing international groups, where the
Bank had a major organisational and communication role within
the Société Générale Group in the case of Czech multinational
clients.

Selected indicators on payment services

31 December 31 December Year-on-year

Komeréni banka (Bank only) 2021 2020 change (%)
Number of payment cards in

circulation 1,604,000 1,588,000 1.0%
— debit cards 1,420,000 1,407,000 0.9%
- credit cards 184,000 181,000 1.7%
Volume of payments using KB

cards (CZKm) 163,000 136,000 19.9%
Number of payments using KB

cards 229,606,000 193,682,000 18.5%
Volume of cash withdrawals

(CZKm) 196,000 199,000 (1.5%)
—-via ATM 132,000 126,000 4.8%
—via non-ATM 64,000 72,000 (11.1%)
Volume of cash deposits

(CZKm) 201,000 204,000 (1.5%)
—-via ATM 89,000 75,000 18.7%
- via non-ATM 112,000 129,000 (13.2%)
Number of cash withdrawals 19,892,000 20,584,000 (3.4%)
- via ATM 19,345,000 19,907,000 (2.8%)
- via non-ATM 547,000 677,000 (19.2%)
Number of cash deposits 4,399,000 4,697,000 (6.3%)
—-via ATM 3,100,000 2,934,000 5.7%
- via non-ATM 1,299,000 1,763,000 (26.3%)
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| Komercéni banka Group

As of 31 December 2021, Komercéni banka had 11 subsidiaries,
where KB had majority shareholdings, and 1 associate where

it held minority interest: (i) Komeréni pojistovna (49% share). In
addition to these ownership interests, KB held strategic interests
of 20% or less in the following companies: (i) Czech Banking
Credit Bureau, a.s. (20%), (ii) Worldline Czech Repubilic, s.r.o.
(1%), and (iii) Bankovni identita, a.s. (17%).

Again in 2021, the Group continued in deepening co-operation
among individual companies in both business and operational
areas. Since the end of 2021, for example, the Prague
headquarters of KB and other Group companies in Prague
share common office spaces owned by the Group. The Bank
further strengthened business co-operation with start-up

and fintech companies, specifically through its subsidiary KB
SmartSolutions, s.r.0. and that company’s own subsidiaries.

In March 2021, KB SmartSolutions established Finbricks, s.r.o.,
funding it with CZK 1.5 million of equity. Finbricks develops
payment solutions based on PSD2.

In April, the Bank sold 490 shares of Bankovni identita, a.s. to
seven other banks (Air Bank a.s., Equa bank a.s., Fio banka, a.s.,
mBank S.A., MONETA Money Bank, a.s., Raiffeisenbank a.s.,

and UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, a.s.). The Bank
currently holds a 17% share in Bankovni identita.

In June, KB SmartSolutions increased shareholder’s equity of
upvest s.r.0. by CZK 14 million and grew its ownership share from
the previous 18.9% to the current 31.06%.

Information on values and changes in equity investments is
provided in the Separate Financial Statements according to IFRS,
Note 24 ‘Investments in subsidiaries and associates’.

Summary of the results of major companies in Komercéni banka Group

Group
Holding
(%)*

CZK million, IFRS
Domestic participations

Total assets

Shareholders’ equity Net profit

Consolidation

2020 2021 2020 2020 method

Modra pyramida stavebni spofitelna, a.s. 100.00 96,412 89,284 6,182 6,228 466 327 Full
Komeréni pojistovna, a.s. 49.00 54,656 56,667 1,362 3,048 453 510 Equity
KB Penzijni spole¢nost, a.s. 100.00 3,344 2,865 2,648 2,343 305 249 Full
SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o. 50.10 32,648 32,518 3,228 2,919 308 91 Full
ESSOX s.r.o. 50.93 16,786 16,745 3,379 3,638 206 186 Full
Factoring KB, a.s. 100.00 12,271 9,206 1,650 1,671 45 70 Full
Protos, uzavreny investi¢ni fond, a.s. 100.00 6,333 6,270 6,327 6,269 72 90 Full
KB Real Estate, s.r.o. 100.00 865 896 529 530 18 15 Full
VN 42, s.r.o. 100.00 1,862 1,867 1,804 1,828 7) 19 Full
STD2, s.r.o. 100.00 536 561 219 217 18 16 Full
KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o. 100.00 168 129 165 125 (7) (48) Full
My Smart Living, s.r.0.** 100.00 2 2 2 26 0 (24) B
KB Advisory, s.r.o.** 100.00 1 1 2 2 1) 1) B
upvest s.r.o0.** 31.06 23 n.a. 22 n.a. ) n.a. =
Platebni instituce Roger, a.s.* 24.83 53 66 27 27 0 - i
Finbricks, s. r. 0.** 100.00 10 n.a. 12 n.a. 2 n.a B
Foreign participations

BASTION EUROPEAN INVESTMENT S.A. 99.98 2,797 3,130 559 626 0 - Full
ESSOX FINANCE, s.r.o.

(100% subsidiary of ESSOX s.r.o0.) 50.93 1,529 2,245 268 261 21 13 Full

Note: The data on consolidated entities are after consolidation adjustments.
* KB direct and indirect holding.

** Figures for the year 2020 were corrected according to the final audited financial statements. Amounts for the years 2021 represents unaudited amounts.
*** My Smart Living, s.r.o., KB Advisory, s.r.o., Platebni instituce Roger, a.s., upvest, s.r.o., a Finbricks, s.r.o. are currently not consolidated due to insignificant impact on the

financial statements.
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KB Group companies conduct their business in the Czech Republic, except for ESSOX FINANCE, which operates in the Slovak Repubilic,
and BASTION, which is financing an EU project in Belgium. Komeréni banka is also active in Slovakia through a branch. SGEF operates in
Czechia as well as Slovakia. Detailed information on the activities of KB Group companies is provided in the following text of this chapter.

Basic information on Komercni banka Group’s major companies

m KB

Komerc¢ni banka, a.s.,
pobocka zahrani¢nej banky

In Slovakia, Komeréni banka serves
corporate clients through its branch,
Komeréni banka, a.s., poboc¢ka zahrani¢nej
banky (KB SK). KB’s branch in the Slovak
Republic serves large and medium-sized
enterprises with turnover of EUR 40 million
or more. The position of KB SK in its market
niche is a strong one, underpinned by
know-how of the parent KB and utilising
the synergies of the KB and SG groups

to provide its clients with comprehensive
financial solutions. KB SK offers standard
banking services, including cash
management, direct banking, payment
cards, financing, and investment banking
products, as well as trade finance solutions.

Financial summary

2 Modra pyramida

Modra pyramida stavebni
sporitelna, a.s.

Modréa pyramida is a fully owned
subsidiary of KB. This second-largest
building savings bank in the Czech
Republic as measured by loan volume
has a 23% market share.” Main products
offered by Modra pyramida include
state-subsidised savings accounts,
bridging loans, and building savings
loans. With its 618 advisors, Modra
pyramida’s distribution network provides
such additional products of KB Group
as mortgages and KB bank services,
supplementary pension saving, mutual
funds, as well as life and non-life
insurance.

Financial summary

KB

~1 Penzijni spolecnost

KB Penzijni spole¢nost, a.s.

A fully owned subsidiary of Komeré&ni
banka, KB Penzijni spole¢nost’s core
business is to collect contributions and
manage them in pension funds pursuant
to the Supplementary Pension Savings Act
and as supplementary pension insurance
in the Transformed Fund.

By number of participants, this pension
company has a 13% share in the
supplementary pension savings market
(3rd pillar) and an 11% share in the pension
insurance market (Transformed Fund).?

Financial summary

31 Dec
2021

31 Dec

(CAS*, CZK thousand) 2020***

31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec Assets under

(IFRS, CZK thousand) 2021 2020 (IFRS*, CZK thousand) 2021 2020 management** 72,053,247 68,551,091
Total assets 30,716,289 30,163,621 Total assets 96,436,904 89,311,435 of which

Shareholder’s equity 194,785 151,315 Shareholder’s equity 6,206,829 6,256,374 in Transformed Fund 59,567,307 58,856,537
Loans to clients Loans to clients Shareholder's equity 2,542,121 2,128,243
(grOSS) 19,734,560 22,594,756 (grOSS) 76,982,213 64,371 ,840 Net operating income 51 7’193 436,660
Volume of deposits 4,719,284 4,180,152 Volume of deposits 60,843,861 60,718,392 Tax (74,509) (58,391)
Net operating income 507,104 451,455 Net operating income 1,149,714 1,161,474 Net profit 311.709 249 545
Tax (82,072) (69,254) Tax (73,522) (13,235) Average number

Net profit 221,291 145,828 Net profit 463,388 323,238 of FTEs 49 47
Average number Average number State support 0 0
of FTEs 42 42 of FTEs 323 327

Number of points Number of points :* CAS: Czech Accogntlng Standards, not audited.

f sale of sale 202 201 Total volume on client accounts.
orsa *** Based on the amendment to Decree No. 501/2002
State support 0 0 State support 0 0 Coll. the company has been complying with
international financial reporting standards since 1
* Not audited. January 2021 for the purpose of reporting financial

Contact: instruments

Hodzovo namestie 1A Contact:

P. 0. BOX 137 Modra pyramida stavebni spofitelna, a.s. Contact:
811 06 Bratislava Bélehradska 128, ¢&. p. 222 KB Penzijni spole¢nost, a.s.

ID: 47231564 120 21 Prague 2 nameésti Junkovych 2772/1
Phone: +421 259 277 328, 329 ID: 60192852 155 00 Prague 5
Fax: +421 252 961 959 Phone: +420 222 824 111 ID: 61860018
E-mail: koba@koba.sk E-mail: info@modrapyramida.cz Phone: +420 955 525 999
Internet: www.modrapyramida.cz E-mail: kbps@kbps.cz

Internet: www.kbps.cz

" Source: comparison of internal data with reporting of
other building societies and CNB ARAD statistics at
https://www.cnb.cz/docs/ARADY/HTML/index_en.htm

2 Source: Association of Pension Funds
of the Czech Republic, data as of 31 December 2021,
https://www.apscr.cz/ctvrtletni-vysledky-2021/
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SOCIETE GENERALE

Equipment Finance

SG Equipment Finance Czech
Republic s.r.o.

SGEF is owned by Komeréni banka (50.1%)
and SGEF SA (49.9%). Through KB and

its own network of seven branches in the
Czech Republic and two in Slovakia, this
company provides financing of equipment,
agricultural and forestry technology,
vehicles for transportation of goods and
passengers, high-technology, real estate,
and special projects by leasing and
lending.

SGEF has a 12% market share in the
non-bank financing market in the Czech
Republic as measured by the financed
amount (excluding consumer loans).”

Financial summary

B ESSOX

ESSOX s.r.o.

Owned by Komeréni banka (50.93%) and
SG FINANCIAL SERVICES HOLDING
(49.07%), ESSOX is a non-bank provider
of consumer loans and financial leasing
for consumers and performs activities of
payment institutions within the scope of
payment services under a licence from
CNB.

ESSOX has a 20% market share in
consumer lending provided to households
by companies associated in the Czech
Leasing and Finance Association.? Main
products include financing of consumer
goods and automobiles, general purpose
loans, and revolving credit (credit cards).

Financial summary

ESSOX

Finance

ESSOX FINANCE s.r.o.

ESSOX FINANCE (formerly PSA FINANCE
SLOVAKIA, s.r.0.), a fully owned subsidiary
of ESSOX, providing its services through
the Peugeot and Citroén brands. Financial
and insurance services include financial
leasing, consumer credit, accident
insurance for motor vehicles, liability
insurance for motor vehicles, loss
insurance, and operational leasing (the last
of which is outsourced). The company also
provides inventory financing to authorised
dealers selling new Peugeot and Citroén
cars.

Financial summary

31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec
(CAS’, CZK thousand) 2021 2020 (CAS’, CZK thousand) 2021 2020 (SAS’, EUR thousand) 2021 2020
Total assets 34,825,744 33,459,590 Total assets 16,635,935 16,580,213 Total assets 61,541 85,280
Shareholders’ equity 3,547,217 2,879,221 Shareholders’ equity 3,238,350 3,497,535 Shareholder’s equity 10,457 9,757
Volume of new Amounts due from Amounts due from
financing 14,937,400 12,413,392 clients (gross) 15,798,990 15,476,280 clients (gross) 60,757 84,234
Net operating income 1,221,428 144,798 Net operating income 837,912 885,311 Net operating income 3,294 3,349
Tax (159,297) (19,660) Tax (41,874) (58,107) Tax (43) (69)
Net profit 668,059 15,960 Net profit 205,761 185,545 Net profit 701 312
Average number Average number Average number
of FTEs 142 142 of FTEs 356 359 of FTEs 34 32
State support 0 0 State support 0 0 State support 0 0

* CAS: Czech Accounting Standards, not audited.

Contact:

SG Equipment Finance
Czech Republic s.r.o.
namésti Junkovych 2772/1,
155 00 Prague 5

ID: 61061344
Phone: +420 955 526 700
E-mail: info@sgef.cz

Internet: https://equipmentfinance.
societegenerale.cz/

* CAS: Czech Accounting Standards, not audited.

Contact:

ESSOX s.r.o.

F. A. Gerstnera 52

370 01 Ceské Budgjovice
ID: 26764652
Phone: +420 389 010 111
E-mail: essox@essox.cz
Internet: www.essox.cz

" Source: Czech Leasing and Finance Association, data
as of 31 December 2021, https://www.clfa.cz/data/
dokumenty/1451-rok2021produktykomodityfix.xls

| Strategy and results

2 Source: Czech Leasing and Finance Association, data
as of 31 December 2021, https://www.clfa.cz/data/
dokumenty/1451-rok2021produktykomodityfix.xls

* SAS: Slovak Accounting Standards, not audited.

Contact:

ESSOX FINANCE, s.r.o.
Karadzi¢ova 16

821 08 Bratislava, Slovakia

ID: 35846968

Phone: +421 5348 37 50
Internet: http://www.essoxfin.sk
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KB

~1 Factoring

Factoring KB, a.s.

Factoring KB is a fully owned subsidiary
of Komeréni banka and is the largest
factoring company in the Czech Repubilic.
It has a 27% share on the Czech factoring
market according to the volume of
receivables transferred.”

Through its own and KB’s networks, the
company provides the following products:
domestic factoring, export factoring,
import factoring, modified factoring, and
receivables management.

Financial summary

31 Dec 31 Dec
(CAS’, CZK thousand) 2021 2020
Total assets 19,874,006 15,022,150
Shareholder’s equity 1,650,368 1,671,510

Factoring turnover

Amounts due from
clients (gross)

63,276,526 49,849,164

19,010,120 14,141,255

Net operating income 162,720 153,064
Tax (12,695) (17,819)
Net profit 45,319 70,623
Average number

of FTEs 42 42
State support 0 932

* CAS: Czech Accounting Standards, not audited.

Contact:

Factoring KB, a.s.

nameésti Junkovych 2772/1
155 00 Prague 5

ID: 25148290

Phone: +420 955 526 906
E-mail: info@factoringkb.cz
Internet: www.factoringkb.cz

" Source: Czech Leasing and Finance Association,
data as of 31 December 2021, https://www.clfa.
cz/statistiky/informace-o-trhu/statistiky-asociace-
factoringovych-spolecnosti-cr

KB

~1 Pojistovna
Komercni pojistovna a.s.

The shareholders of Komeréni pojistovna
are SOGECAP (51%) and Komer&ni banka
(49%). This insurance company has

a 3% share in the life insurance market
(according to the methodology of the
Czech Insurers Association, measured by
premiums written).?

Main products include: savings life
insurance, risk life insurance, capital life
insurance, investment life insurance,
accident insurance, payment card
insurance, travel insurance, travel
insurance for payment cards, risk life
insurance for credit cards, risk life
insurance for consumer loans, and non-life
insurance for residential real estate and
households.

Financial summary

31 Dec 31 Dec
2021 2020
51,964,002 53,867,941
1,297,999 3,279,419

(CAS’, CZK thousand)
Total assets
Shareholders’ equity
Technical reserves

(gross) 50,246,951 51,065,226
Gross premium

written 7,343,262 7,500,425
Tax (154,980) (90,030)
Net profit 654,114 392,693
Average number

of FTEs 234 232
State support 0 0

* CAS: Czech Accounting Standards, not audited.

Contact:

Komer¢éni pojistovna a.s.

namésti Junkovych 2772/1, Stodllky,
155 00 Prague 5

ID: 63998017

Phone: +420 222 095 999

E-mail: servis@komercpoj.cz
Internet: www.kb-pojistovna.cz/

2 Source: Czech Insurance Association, data as of 31
December 2021, https://www.cap.cz/en/statistics/
insurance-market-development

BASTION EUROPEAN
INVESTMENTS S.A.

The ownership share of Komeréni banka
a.s. in BASTION was 99.98% as of 31
December 2021. BASTION is a special
purpose vehicle, based in Belgium,
intended for financing a long-term
transaction of the European Union. Given
the long-term profile of this transaction,
BASTION was financed by both a long-
term loan and KB’s own capital. This
transaction helps to diversify the KB
portfolio by adding a financial asset with
a very low-risk profile.

Financial summary

31 Dec 31 Dec
(IFRS*, EUR thousand) 2021 2020
Total assets 112,517 119,273
Shareholders’ equity 22,487 23,887
Loans to clients
(gross) 90,028 95,385
Volume of deposits 0 0
Net operating income 31 34
Tax 0 )
Net profit 0 13
Average number
of FTEs 0 0
State support 0 0

* Not audited.

Contact:

BASTION EUROPEAN INVESTMENTS S.A.
Rue des Colonies 11

1000 Brussels

Belgium
ID: BE 0877.881.474
E-mail: operations@bastion-ei.be
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VN 42 s.r.o.

VN 42 s.r.o. was fully owned by Komeréni
banka as of 31 December 2021.

VN 42 s.r.0. was established in 2013 to
provide administration and maintenance
for real property and real estate services.
In 2013, KB placed into this company KB’s
headquarters at Wenceslas Square 42,
which VN 42 s.r.o. subsequently leased to
Komeréni banka.

Financial summary

KB Real Estate s.r.o.

KB Real Estate s.r.o was fully owned by
Komeréni banka as of 31 December 2021.

KB Real Estate s.r.o. was established

in 2011 to provide administration and
maintenance of real property and real
estate services. In 2012, KB Real Estate
acquired the office building in Stoddlky,
which was subsequently leased to KB.

Financial summary

STD2 s.r.o.

STD2 s.r.0. was fully owned by Komer&ni
banka as of 31 December 2021.

The company STD2 s.r.o. (originally
named Office Center Stodulky a.s.) was
purchased in 2017 and owns the office
building in Stodulky, whose construction
was completed in 2018. The company
STD2 s.r.o. rents office space to KB.

Financial summary

31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec
(CAS’, CZK thousand) 2021 2020 (CAS’, CZK thousand) 2021 2020 (CAS’, CZK thousand) 2021 2020
Total assets 1,862,470 1,867,068 Total assets 864,709 896,400 Total assets 535,968 561,397
Shareholder’s equity 1,804,241 1,828,239 Shareholder’s equity 529,167 530,370 Shareholder’s equity 218,870 216,866
Net operating income 160,873 185,046 Net operating income 68,709 67,662 Net operating income 45,694 43,444
Tax (16,320) (22,794) Tax (4,335) (3,476) Tax (4,234) (8,752)
Net profit (7,222) 19,081 Net profit 18,472 14,817 Net profit 17,999 15,996
Average number Average number Average number of
of FTEs 0 0 of FTEs 0 0 FTEs 0 0
State support 0 0 State support 0 0 State support 0 0

* CAS: Czech Accounting Standards, not audited.

Contact:

VN 42 s.r.o.

Vaclavské namésti 796/42,
Prague 1, 110 00 Nové Mésto
ID: 02022818

| Strategy and results

* CAS: Czech Accounting Standards, not audited.

Contact:

KB Real Estate s.r.o.
Vaclavské namésti 796/42,
Prague 1, 110 00 Nové Mésto
ID: 24794015

* CAS: Czech Accounting Standards, not audited.

Contact:

STD2 s.r.o.

Vaclavské namésti 796/42,
Prague 1, 110 00 Nové Mésto
ID: 27629317
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Protos, uzavreny investicni fond a.s.

Komeréni banka’s ownership share in
Protos as of 31 December 2021 was
83.65% and that of Factoring KB was
16.35%.

Protos, uzavreny investi¢ni fond a.s.

(a closed-end investment fund) was
established in 2007 as a fund for
qualified investors. The company invests
predominantly in primary issues of
government bonds and other receivables
issued or guaranteed by governments

of European Union member states. The
company’s long-term intention is to
provide a regular and consistent dividend
that accords with the accrued revenues
and costs in the company’s accounts.
For this reason, the company prefers to
minimise purchases and sales into and
from the asset portfolio in such a way that
trading gains and losses do not create
additional dividend volatility.

Financial summary

KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o.

As of 31 December 2021, Komeréni banka
fully owned KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o.
(KBSS).

On 7 January 2019, KB SmartSolutions,
s.r.o. was established to facilitate the
preparation of some new KB Group
services. The company focuses on
supporting the financing and development
of external start-up companies, but it

also provides support to and for internal
innovative solutions.

Financial summary

31Dec  31.Dec 31 Dec
(CAS*, CZK thousand) 2021 2020** (CAS’, CZK thousand) 2021 2020
Total assets 6,333,369 6,303,972 Total assets 171,184 131,540
Shareholder’s equity 6,326,858 6,301,405 Shareholder’s equity 167,399 127,447
Net operating income 76,839 95,456 Net operating income 11,926 9,580
Tax (8,774) (4,736) Tax 0 0
Net profit 71,699 89,987 Net profit (6,548) (45,727)
Average number Average number
of FTEs 0 0 of FTEs 8 6
State suport 0 0 State support 0 0

* CAS: Czech Accounting Standards, not audited.
** Based on the amendment to Decree No. 501/2002
Coll. the company has been complying with
international financial reporting standards since 1
January 2021 for the purpose of reporting financial
instruments.

Contact:

Protos, uzavreny investi¢ni fond a.s.
Rohanské nabrezi 693/10,

Prague 8, 186 00 Karlin

ID: 27919871

* CAS: Czech Accounting Standards, not audited.

Contact:

KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o.
Vaclavské namésti 796/42,
Prague 1, 110 00 Nové Mésto

ID: 02021161

Phone: +420 605 204 618
Internet: https:/www.kbsmart.cz/

My Smart Living, s.r.o.

KB SmartSolutions fully owned My Smart
Living, s.r.o. as of 31 December 2021.

At the beginning of July 2020, it was
decided to discontinue further financing
of the Cincink real estate portal, which is
operated by My Smart Living, s.r.o. The
Bank will use the experience which it has
gained within its Housing tribe.

Contact:

My Smart Living, s.r.o.
Vaclavské namésti 796/42,
Prague 1, 110 00 Nové Mésto
ID: 02021161

Phone: +420 211 155 154
E-mail: cink@cincink.cz
internet: https://www.cincink.cz

KB Advisory, s. r. o.

KB SmartSolutions fully owned the
company KB Advisory as of 31 December
2021.

KB Advisory, s. r. 0. was established on
16 September 2019 as a consultancy for
small and medium-sized enterprises and
municipalities.

Contact:

KB Advisory, s. r. 0.
Vaclavské namésti 796/42,
Prague 1, 110 00 Nové Mésto
ID: 02021161

upvest s.r.o.

KB SmartSolutions owned a 31.06% share
in upvest s.r.o. as of 31 December 2021.

KB SmartSolutions first invested in
upvest, s.r.o. in July 2020. Upvest s.r.o.
is a fintech company that provides real
estate crowdfunding investments in the
form of participation in debt financing of
development projects. Upvest s.r.o. fully
owns five subsidiaries: (i) upvest equity
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s.r.o., (i) upvest equity | s.r.o., (jii) upvest
equity Il s.r.o0., (iv) upvest equity lll s.r.o.,
and (v) (v) upvest equity IV s.r.o

Contact:

upvest s.r.o.

Italska 2581/67, Vinohrady,
120 00 Prague 2

ID: 05835526

Phone: +420 773 633 925
E-mail: info@upvest.cz
Internet: www.upvest.cz

MonkeyData s.r.o.

KB SmartSolutions owned an 11% share
in MonkeyData s.r.o. as of 31 December
2021.

KB SmartSolutions invested in
MonkeyData s.r.o. in October 2020.
MonkeyData fully owns a subsidiary,
Lemonero, s.r.0., which provides financing
to e-shops utilising an Al-powered scoring
model.

Contact:

MonkeyData s.r.o.

Hladnovska 1255/23,

710 00 Ostrava — Slezska Ostrava
ID: 02731452

E-mail: support@monkeydata.com
Internet: www.monkeydata.com

Lemonero s.r.o.

Hladnovska 1255/23,

710 00 Ostrava — Slezska Ostrava
ID: 08795860

Phone: +420 732 560 130
E-mail: info@lemonero.cz
Internet: www.lemonero.cz

| Strategy and results

Platebni instituce Roger a.s.

KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o. owned a 24.83%
share in Platebni instituce Roger a.s. as of
31 December 2021.

KB SmartSolutions invested in Platebni
instituce Roger a.s. in December 2020.
Platebni instituce Roger fully owns two
subsidiaries: (i) Invoice Financing s.r.o.,
and (ii) Roger Finance s.r.o. Platebni
instituce Roger connects investors with
companies which seek fast financing of
their long due date receivables. It also
provides a supply chain financing platform
for large customers.

Contact:

Platebni instituce Roger a.s.
Kopecna 940/14,

602 00 Brno — Staré Brno
ID: 01729462

Phone: +420 545 217 434
E-mail: info@roger.cz
Internet: www.roger.cz

Bankovni identita, a.s.

Komeréni banka owned a 17% share in
Bankovni identita, a.s. as of 31 December
2021.

Established on 15 September 2020, the
goal of Bankovni identita, a.s. was to
make usage of client banking identification
available to other online service providers
in the Czech Republic. The company was
established by the three largest Czech
banks, namely Ceska spotitelna, CSOB,
and Komer¢ni banka.

Contact:

Bankovni identita, a.s.

Smrcékova 2485/4,

180 00 Prague 8 - Liben

ID: 09513817

E-mail: info@bankovni-identita.cz
Internet: www.bankovni-identita.cz
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| Corporate governance

The Bank, as an issuer of shares admitted to trading on a
European regulated market, is obliged pursuant to Act No.
256/2004 Coll., on Capital Market Undertakings, as amended,
to prepare an annual report. A separate part of the annual report
pursuant to § 118 (4) (c), (d), (e), (j), () and (5) (a)—(k) and (6) of this
Act contains information on the corporate governance.

Komeréni banka acceded to and upholds all the principal
standards of the Corporate Governance Code of the Czech
Republic (2018) issued by the Institute of Administrative Bodies
on the basis of international standards of corporate governance
(in particular, G20 / OECD Principles of Corporate Governance
from 2015). Its full text in Czech is available at https://www.mfcr.
cz/cs/o-ministerstvu/odborne-studie-a-vyzkumy/2019/kodex-
spravy-a-rizeni-spolecnosti-cr-201-34812 (hereinafter referred to
as the “Code”).

Komeréni banka’s Board of Directors applies and develops the
aforementioned principles of corporate governance in a spirit of
transparency, accountability, and long-term prospects, and it
translates these best practices into its internal procedures and
regulations.

Compliance with the Code is maintained through the Bank’s
open approach to disclosing information on material matters

of the Bank, in particular concerning its financial position,
dividend policy, performance, ownership, corporate governance,
and company management. The financial reports provide a

true and fair view of the Bank’s accounting and financial position.
Shareholders are informed in a timely manner as to the date,
location, and agenda of the General Meeting, the proposals

of the individual resolutions and their rationale, including
information on the proposal for paying out the share in profit

and the method of this payment. Shareholders are informed of
their rights relating to their participation in the General Meeting,
including a description of how to participate in the General
Meeting, whether in person or on the basis of a power of attorney,
and have at their disposal in advance materials concerning

the agenda of the General Meeting. The invitation to the

General Meeting also explains the rules and voting procedures
governing the General Meeting. Shareholders are able to vote

on motions for resolutions before the general meeting is held via
the electronic platform for remote communication and to take
decisions outside the General Meeting in the form of a per rollam.
All this information is available on the Bank’s website and in the
press, and press releases are issued regularly.

Furthermore, the Code is fulfilled by the chosen management
system. The Bank has a two-tier management system that
entails a separation of the executive and control functions.

The Board of Directors performs all key functions of the Bank’s
management. Operational management is divided among the
individual members of the Board, and each member of the Board

has competence over a certain area of the Bank’s activities
(functional division). The Board of Directors nevertheless decides
collectively at its meetings, which are held regularly at two-week
intervals. Under the Bank’s Articles of Association, members of
the Board are subject to rules and regulations over conflicts of
interest even stricter than as defined by Act No. 90/2012 Coll.,

on Business Corporations, as amended. They are obliged to
inform the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board of any
existing or even potential conflicts of interest relating to functions
they perform in any other legal entity and are obliged to abstain
from voting on all matters concerning the Bank’s relationship to
any such legal entity. The Bank’s governance and management
system provides members of the Board of Directors and
Supervisory Board with timely and relevant information important
for the performance of their functions. The Board of Directors
and Supervisory Board apply proper and effective procedures
relating to their conduct, while keeping and retaining records of
the decisions taken.

The Supervisory Board is a control body supervising the
activities of the Board of Directors and of the entire Bank. Two
of the Supervisory Board’s nine members are independent

(Petr Dvorak and Petra Wendelova) and three are employee
representatives. Both independent members of the Supervisory
Board meet the independence criteria according to the General
Guidelines for Assessment of Suitability EBA/ GL / 2021/06.

The Supervisory Board is to establish Audit, Risk, Nominations,
and Remunerations committees. Members of the Audit
Committee are appointed by the General Meeting. The majority
of members of the Audit Committee, including the Chairperson,
are independent and professionally qualified. The Audit
Committee plays an important role in supervising the Bank’s
proper management, the independence and objectivity of the
external auditor, the auditor’s conduct of the mandatory audit,
effectiveness of the risk management systems (together with the
Risk Committee), and mechanisms of internal management and
control. The Risk Committee monitors the Bank’s approach to
risk, its strategy in the risk area, acceptable levels of risk, and risk
management. The Nomination Committee has recently expanded
its scope to include ethical matters and should provide its
independent view of compliance with ethical principles and rules
within the Bank.

The Bank applies a policy of diversity. As a signatory to the
Diversity Charter, it is committed to the principles of diversity,
flexibility, and inclusion. The Supervisory Board endeavours
within the scope of its competence to ensure that the Board

of Directors and Supervisory Board consist of persons with
appropriate professional, time-related, and other requirements for
the performance of their duties, that both bodies are balanced in
terms of professional competence and experience, and that the
composition of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board
as a whole is diverse by taking into account the requirements of
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the Bank for the specifics of its business. For this purpose, the
Nominations Committee of the Supervisory Board of Komeréni
banka has adopted the Principles of Suitability for the Supervisory
Board and the Board of Directors. These principles reflect the
tenets of corporate governance, EBA guidelines for assessing
suitability of senior management and key management personnel,
requirements of the Act on Business Corporations, the Banking
Act, CNB Decree No. 163/2014 Coll., and Stock Exchange
Standards.

The Bank has also implemented tools to assess the collective and
individual suitability of the members of both bodies. In nominating
candidates for open positions on the Supervisory Board and
Board of Directors, the Nominations Committee follows the
stated principles and instructions and assesses first the balance
of professional competence and experience and the diversity of
the Supervisory Board’s and Board of Directors’ composition as
a whole (diversity is assessed in terms of experience, education,
qualifications, profession, social position, gender, nationality,

and age), the profile of the current members of the Supervisory
Board and Board of Directors and their specific knowledge, the
candidate’s professional competence, experience, professional
achievements, understanding of the Bank’s activities and its

main risks on the candidate’s side and, last but not least, his

or her moral profile and integrity. The age of a candidate for
membership of the Supervisory Board should not exceed 70
years and a member of the Supervisory Board should not be a
member of the supervisory board of the same company for more
than 12 years. The Nominations Committee also considers the
target representation of the less-represented gender according
to the accepted principles and the candidate’s time availability
considering the time requirements of the obligations connected
with performing the membership function. In nominating
candidates, if candidate profiles are equal, the less-represented
sex will be preferred. The Bank takes diversity into account
when selecting new members in accordance with EBA/ GL /
2021/06. According to the accepted principles of suitability, the
composition of the Supervisory Board should take into account
experience, education, nationality, cultural environment and

age. By 2024, the Supervisory Board should consist of at least
40% women, with preference given to the under-represented
gender in the case of an equal profile of candidates. Currently,
three out of nine members of the Supervisory Board are women.
In 2021, Petra Wendelova, an independent member, was elected
Vice-Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board, thus representing
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board in his responsibility for
the overall effective functioning of the Supervisory Board. Since
2020, a woman (Jitka Haubova) has been elected a member of
the six-member Board of Directors on the basis of a proposal
from the Nomination Committee. Candidates undergo assessment
and evaluation as to their fulfilling the trustworthiness, knowledge,
experience, management, and independence requirements and
respond to questions prepared for evaluating their suitability for
the Bank’s bodies. They submit a professional CV, an extract from
the criminal record, and references. Once a year, the Nominations
Committee evaluates the trustworthiness, professional
competence, and experience of the individual members of the
Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors and of the two
bodies as a whole and submits reports on this evaluation to

the Supervisory Board. These evaluations form the basis for
seeking candidates for open positions and for ensuring that the
two Boards as a whole as well as their members individually

are suitably professional, have sufficient time, and meet other

| Corporate governance

requirements for performing their activities. In terms of diversity,
the members of the two bodies differ with regard to, for example,
their age, gender, geographical origin, education and professional
experience, thus allowing for various views within the governing
body and meeting the requirements of the EBA Guidelines.

Based upon the Act on Business Corporations, one-third

of the Supervisory Board’s members consist of employees’
representatives, thus ensuring the proper and effective

exercise of the Bank’s employees’ rights to elect one-third

of the Supervisory Board members and the possibility to be
elected as a Supervisory Board member. Two members of

the Supervisory Board, Petr Dvorak and Petra Wendelova, are
independent. Independent members sign an affidavit confirming
their independence. The assessment of independence is based
on the profile of independent members of the Supervisory Board
set out in Commission Recommendation 2005/162 / EC of 15
February 2005, in particular in Annex Il. EBA’s requirements for
independence of the members of the Supervisory Board are
implemented in KB. The Nomination Committee ensures that all
members of the Supervisory Board are able to make their own
objective and independent judgements and decisions when
selecting and regularly evaluating candidates.

The Board of Directors and Supervisory Board co-ordinate with
one another the main strategies and changes in the management
direction of the Bank. The Board of Directors shall periodically
provide the Supervisory Board with information on the state of
implementing these changes and all relevant facts concerning the
Bank and its controlled companies.

There were no fundamental changes during 2021 that would
adversely influence the aforementioned standards for the Bank’s
corporate governance. Komeréni banka will continue to respect
the principles of corporate governance, inasmuch as these best
correspond to the Bank’s business model as well as the interests
of the Bank and its shareholders and employees.

Shareholders and the General Meeting

Komeréni banka’s share capital totals CZK 19,004,926,000 and
is divided into 190,049,260 ordinary listed shares admitted to
trading on the European regulated market, each with a nominal
value of CZK 100. All the Bank’s shares carry the same rights.

Major shareholders of Komeréni banka owning more
than 1% of the share capital as of 31 December 2021
(per the extract from the issuers register taken from the Central
Securities Depository)

Shareholder Proportion of share capital

Société Générale S.A. 60.353%
CHASE NOMINEES LIMITED 4.234%
NORTRUST NOMINEES LIMITED 3.737%
CLEARSTREAM BANKING S.A. 2.358%
Other shareholders 29.318%
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Shareholder structure of Komeréni banka

as of 31 December 2021

(per the extract from the issuers register taken from the Central
Securities Depository)

Number of

Proportion

sharehold- in number of Proportion of

ers shareholders share capital

Number of shareholders 58,444 100 % 100%

of which: legal entities 737 1.26% 91.34%

private individuals 57,707 98.74% 8.66%

Legal entities 737 1.26% 91.34%
of which: from the Czech

Republic 292 0.50% 2.15%

from other countries 445 0.76% 89.19%

Private individuals 57,707 98.74% 8.66%
of which: from the Czech

Republic 52,823 90.38% 8.28%

from other countries 4,884 8.36% 0.38%

The Bank has no requirements for ownership of the Bank’s
shares by members of the Board of Directors.

The General Meeting is the supreme body of the Bank. The
Regular General Meeting is convened at least once per year,

and in no case later than 4 months from the last day of each
accounting period. A quorum of the General Meeting shall be
constituted if the attending shareholders hold shares the total
nominal value of which exceeds 30% of the Bank’s registered
capital and are entitled to vote. The quorum is confirmed at the
time of convening the General Meeting and always before each
vote. The General Meeting shall approve resolutions by a majority
of votes of the attending shareholders unless legal regulations or
the Articles of Association require a qualified majority of votes.
The General Meeting’s order of business is governed by the
agenda stated in the invitation to the General Meeting, which
contains proposed resolutions and their justification and further
information about the conditions of shareholders’ participation,
execution of shareholder rights, and the main information from
the financial statements. At least 30 days prior to the General
Meeting, the General Meeting shall be convened by means

of a public notice calling the General Meeting, which shall be
posted on the Bank’s website www.kb.cz and published in the
Mlada Fronta DNES daily newspaper. All documents relating

to corporate governance are published on the Bank’s website.
Issues not included in the proposed agenda for the General
Meeting are decided upon only with the attendance and consent
of all the Bank’s shareholders. The General Meeting shall be
opened by a member of the Board of Directors authorised for
this purpose by the Board of Directors or a person designated
by the Board of Directors. This member of the Board of Directors
shall also conduct the General Meeting until a Chairperson of the
General Meeting is elected.

Unless otherwise stipulated by law or the Articles of Association,
all persons registered in the list of attending shareholders and
present at the General Meeting at the time of calling a vote are
entitled to vote. The sequence of voting corresponds to the order
on the General Meeting’s agenda. The casting of votes shall be
carried out using an electronic voting system. Each CZK 100 of

nominal share value represents one vote. Any proposal presented
by the Board of Directors shall be voted upon first. Should such
proposal of the Board of Directors be accepted by the required
majority, other proposals or counter-proposals to this point shall
not be voted upon. Other proposals or counter-proposals shall be
voted upon in the sequence in which they have been presented.
Should such a proposal or counter-proposal be approved in

a vote by the General Meeting, other proposals or counter-
proposals shall not be voted upon.

The Articles of Association allow the possibility of correspondent
voting before the general meeting if the Bank’s Board of Directors
so decides and while thus voting under the conditions specified
in the invitation to the General Meeting and the possibility of
deciding the General Meeting per rollam.

The General Meeting has within its powers to:

a) decide upon changes to the Articles of Association, with the
exception of a change in consequence of an increase in the
registered capital by the authorised Board of Directors or
a change made on the basis of other legal circumstances;

b) decide upon a change in the amount of the registered
capital, except that, unless it is reduced to cover a loss, the
registered capital may be reduced only upon prior approval
of the Czech National Bank;

c) elect and remove two-thirds of members of the Supervisory
Board; elect and remove members of the Audit Committee;

d) decide upon the possibility of setting off a monetary claim of
the Bank against a claim to be used for payment of the issue
price, including the draft of the relevant contract for set-off;

e) decide upon a change in the class or type of the shares,
on the change of shares with a nominal value into ordinary
shares or on the change of ordinary shares into shares with
a nominal value or on the division of shares or the merging of
several shares into one share;

f)  decide to issue convertible or priority bonds of the Bank;

g) decide to modify the rights attached to individual classes of
the shares;

h) approve the regular financial statements, extraordinary
financial statements, consolidated financial statements, and,
as established by law, interim financial statements;

i)  decide upon distribution of profit or other funds of the Bank
or coverage of a loss;

i) approve the service contracts with the members of the
Supervisory Board and of the Audit Committee;

k) decide on transformation of the Bank, unless the act
regulating transformations of companies and co-operatives
establishes otherwise, provided that prior consent of the
Czech National Bank has been given where so required by
law;

I)  decide to wind up the Bank with the prior consent of the
Czech National Bank;

m) approve the final report on progress of liquidation and
proposal for use of the liquidation balance of the Bank’s
assets;

n) decide to file for admitting the participation securities of
the Bank to trading in the European regulated market or
for excluding these securities from trading in the European
regulated market;

o) approve the transfer or pledging of a facility or such part of
property entailing a substantial change to the real business
activities of the Bank;
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charge the Board of Directors to decide upon an increase in
the registered capital under the conditions specified by law;
decide to acquire the Bank’s shares into treasury in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Act on
Business Corporations;

decide upon elimination or restriction of the pre-emptive
right to acquire convertible or priority bonds, elimination

or restriction of the pre-emptive right to subscribe for

new shares in accordance with the Act on Business
Corporations;

approve the acquisition or disposal of assets, when the law
SO requires;

decide upon appointment of the auditor to make the
statutory audit or to verify other documents if such
appointment is required by legal regulations;

convey principles and instructions to the Board of Directors
of the Bank (with the exception of instructions regarding the
business management of the Bank unless provided to the
Board of Directors upon its request); and approve principles
and convey instructions to the Supervisory Board (with the
exception of instructions regarding the statutory duty to
check the competence of the Board of Directors);

provide its consent regarding a contract for settlement of

a loss caused by a breach of the duty of due care on the
part of a member of a body of the Bank;

decide upon suspending the performance of the function

of a member of the Bank’s elected body in the event of

a conflict of interests pursuant to the Act on Business
Corporations, or prohibit a member of the Bank’s body from
entering into a contract not in the interest of the Bank or with
a person or entity who is influential or controlling and/or with
a person or entity who is controlled by the same controlling
person or entity that is not in the interest of the Bank. This
does not apply if the relevant person or entity with whom the
Bank should conclude a contract is a person managing the
Bank or another person or entity forming a group with the
Bank;

decide that the amount of variable remuneration for
persons whose work activities have a material impact on
the risk profile of the Bank may be higher than the fixed
remuneration component but not more than twice the fixed
component of the remuneration;

approve the remuneration policy and report on remuneration
of the members of the Board of Directors and the
Supervisory Board;

approve significant transactions with related parties in cases
where required by Act No. 256/2004 Coll. on Capital Market
Undertakings, as amended; and

decide on other issues which according to the generally
binding legal regulation or the Articles of Association are
entrusted to the competence of the General Meeting.

The results and information from the General Meeting are
available on Komeréni banka’s website www.kb.cz.

| Corporate governance

Principle resolutions of Komercni banka’s Annual
General Meetings held in 2021

The General Meeting, held on 21 April 2021, approved the Board
of Directors’ report on the Bank’s business activities and the
state of its property for the year 2020 as well as the annual
financial statements and consolidated financial statements of
Komeréni banka for the year 2020, and decided on the profit
distribution by keeping the entire profit in the total amount of
CZK 6,928,610,374.90 in retained earnings from previous years.
The Annual General Meeting also:

e decided to amend the Articles of Association

e approved the Remuneration Report

e elected Mr Petr Dvorak as an independent member of the
Supervisory Board, and further Mr Alvaro Huete Gomez, Mr
Giovania Luca Soma, and Ms Jarmila ép&rové as members
of the Supervisory Board. Ms Jarmila Splirova replaced Ms
Maylis Coupet. The General Meeting also elected Mr Giovania
Luca Soma as a member of the Audit Committee.

e appointed the company Deloitte Audit s.r.o., having its
registered office at ltalska 2581/67, Vinohrady, 120 00 Praque
2, Company ID No. 49620592, as the external auditor of
Komeréni banka for 2021 and the company Deloitte Audit s.r.o.
having its registered office at Digital Park Il, Einsteinova 23,
Bratislava 851 01, Company ID No. 31343414, as the auditor of
KB’s foreign branch in Slovakia.

On 2 November 2021, the General Meeting held per rollam
approved the distribution of retained earnings of Komer&ni
banka, a. s., in the amount of CZK 4,534,575,343.60 such that the
amount of retained earnings converted to one share is CZK 23.86
before tax.
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Additional information in accordance with
§ 118 (5), (i), (j), and (k) of the Act on Capital
Market Undertakings

Komeréni banka is not aware of any contracts made between

its shareholders as a result of which the transferability of shares
or of voting rights would become more complicated. The Bank
has entered into no significant contracts which take effect, are
altered, or terminate if the person or entity in control of Komeréni
banka changes as a consequence of a takeover bid. Komeréni
banka has entered into no contract with a member of its Board of
Directors or any employee stipulating an obligation for Komeréni
banka to perform in the event that such person would cease

to serve as a member of the Board of Directors or cease to be
employed in connection with a takeover bid. The Bank has not
established any programmes enabling the members of the Board
of Directors and employees of the Bank to acquire the Bank’s
securities, options on these securities, or other rights under
preferential conditions.

Information about special rules on the revision of the
Bank’s Articles of Association

According to the Bank’s Articles of Association, decisions on
amendments to the Articles of Association are within the powers
of the General Meeting. Proposed resolutions for amendments
to the Articles of Association and their justification are either
provided in the invitation to the General Meeting or the invitation
contains a brief and concise description and justification. The
complete draft amendment to the Articles of Association is
published together with the invitation on the Bank’s website.
Proposed changes in the Articles of Association are available for
shareholders’ inspection at no charge at the Bank’s headquarters
and on its website for the period established for convening of the
General Meeting. The Bank shall notify its shareholders of these
rights in the invitation to the General Meeting.

If a shareholder wishes to raise counter-proposals to the
proposed changes to the Articles of Association at the General
Meeting, the shareholder is obliged to deliver the written wording
of such proposal or counter-proposal to the Bank no later than
five business days prior to the day of the General Meeting. The
Board of Directors shall notify its shareholders of the wording of
the counter-proposal along with its viewpoint with regard to it in
the manner specified for the convening of the General Meeting.

Decisions on changes in the Articles of Association are made

by the General Meeting and carried by two-thirds of those

votes of the attending shareholders upon a proposal of the

Board of Directors, of the Supervisory Board, or of one or

more shareholders in accordance with the Act on Business
Corporations and the Articles of Association. Decisions on
changes in the Articles of Association must be recorded by
notarial deed containing the approved text of the wording of
changes in the Articles of Association. Komer&ni banka is
obliged to report to the Czech National Bank its intention to make
changes in the Articles of Association relating to those particulars
which must be stated in the Articles of Association based on

a requirement set forth by law.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is the corporate body which manages the
Bank’s activities. The Board of Directors is charged with business
management, including to ensure the proper keeping of the
Bank’s accounting records, integration of the accounting system
and financial reporting, reliability of financial and operating
control, smooth conduct of activities and the Bank’s operations
on the financial market in compliance with the object and plan

of its activities. The Board ensures consistent and effective
implementation of the risk management, compliance, and internal
audit functions. The Board of Directors further ensures the
creation of a comprehensive and adequate management and
control system, ensures its compliance with legal regulations, and
is responsible for its continuous functioning and effectiveness.
During the year, the Board of Directors completes various
educational programmes and trainings, for example in the area of
risk management and sustainability.

The Board of Directors ensures establishment and maintenance
of the management and control system so as to ensure the
adequacy of information and communication in conducting the
Bank’s operations. The Board of Directors shall decide upon all
matters concerning the Bank unless assigned to the competence
of the General Meeting, the Supervisory Board, or the Audit
Committee by law or by the Articles of Association. The Board of
Directors consists of six members, natural persons, who satisfy
the conditions established in legal regulations for serving as

a member of the Bank’s Board of Directors and who are elected
for 4-year terms by an absolute majority of all Supervisory Board
members at the recommendation of the Nominations Committee.
The Nominations Committee ensures the trustworthiness,
adequate professional qualifications, and experience of the
members of the Board of Directors, and that the expertise

of the members of the Board of Directors encompasses the
requirements demanded of the Board of Directors as a whole for
managing the Bank’s activities. The professional qualifications,
trustworthiness, and experience of the members of the Bank’s
Board of Directors are assessed by the Czech National Bank.

In accordance with the requirement of the Czech National
Bank, Komeréni banka declares that the members of the Board
of Directors of Komeréni banka have not in the past 5 years
been convicted of any criminal offence and that no charges,
accusations, or other sanctions have been brought against
them by any regulatory body. No bankruptcy, receivership, or
liquidation has been declared in relation to the stated persons
during the past 5 years.

In relation to his or her work in the Bank, no person with
executive power has any conflict of interests between the duties
of a person with executive power in the Bank and that person’s
private interests or other duties. Didier Colin has concluded an
employment contract with Société Générale S.A., and he was
delegated to serve as a director of the Bank.

Method of performing acts in law on the Bank’s behalf
The Board of Directors, as the Bank’s authorised body, shall act

on behalf of the Bank in all matters, either by all members of the
Board of Directors jointly or by any two members jointly.
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Composition of the Board of Directors in 2021

Jan Juchelka

Chairman of the Board of Directors since 3 August 2017
(previously a member of the Board of Directors from 1 July
2006, re-elected on 2 July 2010, membership terminated as of
31 July 2012, re-elected on 4 August 2021)

Didier Colin

Member of the Board of Directors since 1 October 2017
(previously a member of the Board of Directors from 9 October
2004, re-elected on 10 October 2008, membership terminated as
of 31 December 2010, re-elected on 2 October 2021)

David Formanek
Member of the Board of Directors since 1 August 2018

Jitka Haubova
Member of the Board of Directors since 4 June 2020

Miroslav Hirsl
Member of the Board of Directors since 1 August 2018

Margus Simson
Member of the Board of Directors since 14 January 2019

Jan Juchelka

A graduate of the Silesian University in Opava, he worked in
the National Property Fund of the Czech Republic from 1995,
and during 2002 to 2005 he was Chairman of its Executive
Committee. From 1999 to 2006, he was a member of the
Supervisory Board of Komeréni banka. He joined Komeréni
banka in 2006, first as head of Prague’s Corporate Banking
Business Division and later that year he became a member of the
Board of Directors responsible for managing Top Corporations
and Investment Banking. From 2012, he worked in the Société
Générale headquarters in Corporate and Investment Banking
as Managing Director, Head of Coverage with responsibility for
corporate clients in the Central and Eastern European Region,
Middle East, and Africa. He also worked as Senior Banker for
the Central and Eastern European Region. Since April 2020, Mr.
Juchelka has been a member of the National Economic Council
of the Government (NERV) and is also a member of CCEF
(Conseiller du Commerce Exterieur de la France). KB’s Board
of Directors elected Mr Juchelka as Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Komeréni banka with
effect from 3 August 2017.

Didier Colin

A graduate in finance from Dauphine University in Paris and

also City University of New York (MBA), he has many years’
experience within Société Générale Group, where he started
working during the early 1990s in the Inspection arm. In 2000, he
was promoted to Deputy Country Manager and subsequently to
Country Manager for Canada. From this position, he moved into
Komeréni banka in 2004 as Member of the Board of Directors
responsible for Risk Management. In 2011, he became Director
for the European Region; as part of this function, he supervised
Société Générale’s activities in the Central and Eastern European
Region. From 2013, he was deputy to the CEO of BRD Romania
responsible for managing the bank’s risk management. With
effect from 1 October 2017, he was elected by the Supervisory
Board as a member of the Board of Directors of Komeréni banka
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in charge of Risk Management. He also holds the position of
Chief Compliance Officer.

David Formanek

A graduate of the University of Economics in Prague in the field
of foreign trade economics. From 1993 to 2001, he worked within
the branch of Deutsche Bank AG in Prague. Between 2001 and
2014, he worked at Komer¢ni banka, first as Deputy Director and
subsequently as Director of the Prague Business Division, then
as Deputy Director for Human Resources and Executive Director
for Human Resources. Between 2014 and 2018, he worked as
CEO and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Modra pyramida.
Since August 2018, he has been a member of the Board of
Directors of Komeréni banka, responsible for corporate and
investment banking.

Jitka Haubova

She graduated from the University of Economics in Prague,
majoring in finance and accounting, graduated in Financial
Management from Galilee College in Israel, obtained a Certificate
of Structural Funds Specialist from the European Commission
and is a certified international auditor for quality processes.

At the beginning of her professional career, she joined the
government agency CzechTrade, where she also held the position
of CEO. For several years she co-owned a family cafe and
restaurant. Jitka Haubova joined KB in 2006 in the Trade Finance
Department. Since 2012, she has held various managerial roles
in Corporate and Municipal Banking, which she has managed

for the last 4 years. Today, she is responsible for operations of
the Bank, support services, and the payment system and is also
responsible for the sustainability agenda and its co-ordination
within KB, innovation in the payment system and management of
client accounts, and is the chairwoman of the Supervisory Board
of the charity Nadace Jistota. She was ranked among the TOP
25 women according to Economy and among the most influential
women according to Forbes. She also was named a Manager of
the Year finalist by the Czech Management Association. Since
June 2020, she has been a member of the Board of Directors of
Komercéni banka, a.s.

Miroslav Hirsl

A graduate from the University of Economics in Prague with

a focus on foreign trade and banking and postgraduate studies
at the Graduate School of Banking in Boulder, Colorado, United
States of America. From 1996 to 2006, he worked in various
positions within Komeréni banka, first at a branch and a regional
branch in Hradec Kralové, then at a regional branch and at
headquarters in Prague. From 2006 to 2014, he worked for
Modra pyramida, first as a director for business synergy, then

as a member of the Board of Directors, Deputy Chief Executive
Officer, Executive Director of Sales and Marketing, and finally as
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors, First Deputy CEO,
and Executive Director of Sales and Marketing. Between 2014 and
2018, he served as CEO and member of the Board of Directors
of Société Générale Montenegro Bank, a.d. in Montenegro. Since
August 2018, he has been a member of the Board of Directors of
Komeréni banka, responsible for retail banking.

Margus Simson

An economics graduate of Tallinn University of Technology. From
2000 to 2006, he worked as a director of the Web Environment
Department at SEB. From 2006 to 2009, he served as Director
of Electronic Channels at Swedbank. From 2009 to 2013, he
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held various IT positions within Eesti Energia, the largest energy
producer and supplier in Estonia. In 2014, he was Deputy Director
of the Estonian Information Systems Authority Riigi infoslisteem
Amet. From 2009 to 2017, he worked as a digital strategy expert and
CEO at Ziraff, the largest digital services company in Estonia. From
2017 to 2019, he held the position of CDO and Digitalisation Director
at Luminor Bank. Effective from 14 January 2019, he was elected
a member of the Board of Directors of Komeréni banka by the
Supervisory Board with responsibility for information technology.

Concurrent membership of Board of Directors members

Members Position Company
Jan JUCHELKA Chairman of the ESSOX
Supervisory Board
Chairman of the ESSOX
Supervisory Board FINANCE (Slovakia)
Chairman of the KB SmartSolutions (until
Supervisory Board 7 April 2021)
Chairman of the Modra pyramida
Supervisory Board stavebni spofitelna
Member of the ALD Automotive
Supervisory Board
Member of the ALD Automotive Slovakia
Supervisory Board
Member of the Komer¢ni pojiStovna
Supervisory Board (until 31 December 2021)
Member of the SG Equipment Finance
Supervisory Board Czech Republic
(until 31 December 2021)
1st Vice-President Ceska bankovni asociace
Member CCEF (Conseiller du
Commerce Exterieur de
la France)
Member National Economic
Council of the
Government (NERV)
Didier COLIN Member of the ESSOX

Supervisory Board

Member of the
Supervisory Board

SG Equipment Finance
Czech Republic
(until 31 December 2021)

David FORMANEK Member of the
Supervisory Board

Modra pyramida
stavebni spofitelna

Jitka HAUBOVA Member of the

Supervisory Board

Factoring KB (until
7 April 2021)

Miroslav HIRSL Chairman of the

Supervisory Board

KB Penzijni spole¢nost

Vice-chairman of the
Supervisory Board
Member of the
Supervisory Board
Member of the
Supervisory Board
Member of the
Supervisory Board

Member of the
Supervisory Board

Modra pyramida
stavebni spofitelna

Amundi Czech Republic
Asset Management

Amundi Czech Republic,
investi¢ni spole¢nost

ESSOX

KB SmartSolutions

Member of the Komeréni pojistovna
Supervisory Board
Margus SIMSON Member of the Bankovni identita

Supervisory Board

Member of the Teeme Ara SA

Supervisory Board

Activity report of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors convenes at its regular, periodic meetings,
usually once every two weeks. Meetings are convened and
presided over by the Chairman of the Board of Directors or,

in his or her absence, by a member of the Board of Directors
authorised to do so by the Board of Directors. Should it not be
possible to hold a Board of Directors’ meeting, a decision may
be adopted by voting remotely in accordance with the Articles of
Association.

In 2021, the Board of Directors met at 23 regular and 2
extraordinary meetings. The average attendance at board
meetings was 92.1%. The Board of Directors is able to pass a
resolution if an absolute majority of the members of the Board
of Directors attend the meeting. Resolutions of the Board of
Directors shall be adopted by an absolute majority of those
members of the Board of Directors present, with the exception
that election of the Chairman of the Board of Directors must be
by an absolute majority of all members of the Board of Directors.

Committees established by the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors establishes specialised committees to
which it delegates authority for making decisions in the various
activity areas assigned to them. It authorises them to co-
ordinate selected activities and to exchange information and
opinions. The Board of Directors approves the statutes of these
committees, while their members are appointed by the CEO.
These committees include the following:

Strategy and Executive Committee of the Board of
Directors (SEC)

The Committee defines, decides, and monitors KB’s business
strategy and business activities, including pricing within business
segments, except for Investment Banking. The Committee also
decides on the Bank’s transformation and future direction;
expresses its opinions on the content of changes, their
compliance with KB’s strategy, and their interdependencies; and
approves the amounts of financial and non-financial resources
required for their implementation, including subsequent regular
monitoring. Decisions are taken by consensus of all participants.
If an agreement fails to be reached, each member has one vote
and decisions are adopted by the absolute majority; if the votes
are evenly divided, the chairman shall cast the deciding vote.
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Members Position

Jan JUCHELKA Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Officer
Didier COLIN Member of the Board of Directors, Senior

Executive Director, CRO & COO

Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director, Corporate and
Investment Banking

Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director and Chief Operations Officer

Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director, Retail Banking

Member of the Board, Senior Executive Director
and Chief Digital Officer

Executive Director, Brand Strategy and
Communication

David FORMANEK

Jitka HAUBOVA
Miroslav HIRSL
Margus SIMSON
Hana KOVAROVA
Ctirad LOLEK

Jifi SPERL

Michal VYTISKA Strategic Business Development Manager

Secretary of the Committee: Jakub ONDRUSKA
Average meeting length 3 hours

Executive Director, Human Resources
Executive Director, Strategy and Finance

Watch Provision List Committee (WPLC)

The Watch Provision List Committee makes and proposes
decisions regarding provisions. The Committee is responsible

for clients’ inclusion into or removal from the Watch Provision

List used for rating clients according to the IFRS Stage system
and for determining the appropriate amount of provisions.

The Committee decides on three levels. Each member of the
WPLC expresses an opinion on proposals regarding each case
discussed. A consensus of all regular members at the respective
level is sought so that the final decision assumed by that level
reflects the joint position of the risk management and business
units. If a consensus is not reached (i.e. at least one of the regular
members does not concur), then the case is moved up to the next
WPLC level. If within WPLC Level 3 a consensus is not reached,
then the final decision is made by the Chief Executive Officer.

A higher level WPLC is entitled to review and change any decision
of a lower level WPLC.

Members - LEVEL 3 Position

Jan JUCHELKA Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Officer
Didier COLIN Member of the Board of Directors, Senior

Executive Director, CRO & COO

Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director, Corporate and Investment
Banking

David FORMANEK

Miroslav HIRSL Member of the Board of Directors, Senior

Executive Director, Retail Banking
Jifi SPERL Executive Director, Strategy and Finance
Secretary of the Committee: Pavel FIKAR
Average meeting length 0 hour (was not held in 2021)

| Corporate governance

Members - LEVEL 2 Position

Didier COLIN Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director, CRO & COO

Jiti CABRADA Credit Risk Assessment Manager

Jitka HAUBOVA Member of the Board, Senior Executive Director
and Chief Operations Officer (COO)

Lukas HORACEK Head of Loan Consulting

Radek TRACHTA Executive Director, Global Banking

Secretary of the Committee: Pavel FIKAR
Average meeting length 1 hour

Members - LEVEL 1

Pilsen Position

Alena VACIKOVA Manager of Regional Credit Risk Assessment
Martin CERNY Head of Loan Portfolio Management — Corporate
Dana HNOJSKA Head of Loan Portfolio Management — Retail

Secretary of the Committee: Svatava PELNAROVA
Average meeting length 1 hour

Members - LEVEL 1

Ostrava Position

Lubomir ANDRLA Manager of Regional Credit Risk Assessment
llona JARUSKOVA  Head of Loan Portfolio Management - Retail
Petr LUKASEK Head of Loan Portfolio Management - Corporate

Miroslav SKLENAR  Head of Loan Portfolio Management — Corporate
Secretary of the Committee: Tomasz NIEDOBA
Average meeting length 1 hour

Members - LEVEL 1
Prague

Petr PLASIL
Vladislav BARES
Stanislav CHALUPA Head of Loan Portfolio Management — Corporate
Lenka KALINOVA
Vlastimil DVORAK Head of Loan Portfolio Management — Retail
Secretary of the Committee: Pavel FIKAR

Average meeting length 1 hour

Position
Regional Credit Risk Assessment Manager
Head of Loan Portfolio Management - Corporate

Head of Loan Portfolio Management - Retail

Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO)

The Assets and Liabilities Committee makes and proposes
decisions regarding asset and liability management in KB. Each
member of the committee has one vote. If a consensus is not
reached, the committee acts based upon a simple majority of
those members present.
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Members Position

Jan JUCHELKA Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Officer

Tomas Executive Director, Investment Banking

HOCHMEISTER

Jifi SPERL Executive Director, Strategy and Finance

Milan ZIARAN COO Risk Management

Marek DOTLACIL ALM Manager

Tomas FUCHS Manager of Treasury

Tomas KROUTIL Markets and Structural Risk Manager

Dalimil VYSKOVSKY  Trading Manager
Secretary of the Committee: Marek DOTLACIL
Average meeting length 2 hours

Credit Risk Management Committee (CRMC)

The Credit Risk Management Committee makes and proposes
decisions regarding credit risk management principles and their
implementation. A decision may be taken if at least 50% of all
members are present. A consensus of all members is sought.

If a consensus is not reached, the committee acts based upon

a simple majority of those members present having voting rights.
If a majority is not reached, the decision is moved up to the Board
of Directors.

Members Position

Didier COLIN Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director, CRO & COO

Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director, Corporate and Investment
Banking

David FORMANEK

Miroslav HIRSL Member of the Board of Directors, Senior

Executive Director, Retail Banking

Jifi SPERL Executive Director, Strategy and Finance
Milan ZIARAN Chief Operating Officer, Risk Management
Petr TROJEK Supervision and Measurement Manager

Secretary of the Committee: Barbora RIEGELOVA
Average meeting length 1 hour

Investment Banking New Product Committee (IB NPC)
The Investment Banking New Product Committee makes and
proposes decisions on new investment banking products,
depository services, custody, and investment products for
private banking. In accordance with its statutes, its activities
include assessing the risks related to new or significantly altered
products, establishing the conditions for launching products, and
monitoring that these conditions are fulfilled. A consensus of all
members is sought. If a consensus is not reached, the decision is
made by the Board of Directors.

Members Position

Didier COLIN Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director, CRO & COO

Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director, Corporate and Investment
Banking

David FORMANEK

Alan Johan COQ Chief Operating Officer — Investment Banking
/ Chapter Lead of Product Owners — Markets

Technology Tribe

Ida BALUSKOVA Manager of Accounting and Reporting

Jifi CABRADA Manager of Credit Risk Assessment
Jakub DOSTALEK Manager of Tax

Marek DOTLACIL Manager of ALM

Tomas FUCHS Manager of Treasury

Tomas HORA Head of Legal — Investment Products

Tomas DOLEZAL Manager of Compliance

Tomas KROUTIL Manager of Markets and Structural Risks
Du$an PAMETICKY  Operational Risk Manager

Ivana OPOVA Head of Steering and Quality

Secretary of the Committee: Anna VYMETALOVA

Average meeting length 1 hour

Corporate and Retail Banking New Product Committee
(CRB NPC)

The Corporate and Retail Banking New Product Committee
makes and proposes decisions on new products other than
investment banking products in accordance with its statutes.

Its activities include assessing the risks related to new or
significantly altered products, establishing the conditions for
launching products, and monitoring that these conditions are
met. A consensus of all members is sought. If a consensus is not
reached, the decision is made by the Chief Executive Officer.

Members Position

Didier COLIN Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director, CRO & COO

Jitka HAUBOVA Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director and Chief Operations Officer

Marek VOSATKA Executive Director, Retail Banking

Jan KUBALEK Retail Segment Tribe leader
Blanka SVOBODOVA Corporate Segment Tribe leader
Martin BERDYCH Legal Services Manager

Thomas Management Accounting Manager
JARSAILLON

Dusgan PAMETICKY  Operational Risk Manager

Jan SEIFERT Fraud Prevention and Detection Manager
Petr TROJEK Supervision and Measurement Manager
Tomas CHOUTKA Head of Regulatory Compliance

Ivana OPOVA Head of Steering and Quality

Pavel POLAK Head of Security Center of Expertise, CISO
Jifif OBRUCA Enterprise Architect

Michal VERNER Data Engineer
Secretary of the Committee: Marcela KRALOVA
Average meeting length 1 hour
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Operational Risk Committee (ORC)

The Operational Risk Committee makes and proposes decisions
regarding operational risks and safety. For a decision to be taken,
at least 50% of all members must be present. A decision must
be adopted by a majority of votes of those members present.

If a consensus is not reached, the decision is adopted at the
Board of Directors level.

Members Position

Didier COLIN Member of the Board of Directors, Senior
Executive Director, CRO & COO

Chief Operating Officer — Investment Banking
/ Chapter Lead of Product Owners — Markets
Technology Tribe

Alan Johan COQ

Martin BERDYCH Manager of Legal Services

_ Manager of Support Services and Facility
Roman DOLANSKY  Management

Tomas DOLEZAL Manager of Compliance

Thomas Management Accounting Manager
JARSAILLON

Dusgan PAMETICKY  Operational Risk Manager

Petr TROJEK Supervision and Measurement Manager
Pavel POLAK Head of Security Center of Expertise, CISO
Jan KRATOCHVIL Head Auditor

Secretary of the Committee: Jan KOFRON

Average meeting length 1.5 hours

Information about special rules for the election and
recall of members of the Board of Directors

Members of the Board of Directors of Komeréni banka are
elected by the Supervisory Board upon nomination by its
Nominations Committee. A nominee must receive an absolute
majority of votes of all Supervisory Board members. Members
of the Board of Directors are elected to terms of 4 years. Only
persons fulfilling the conditions for serving as a member of

a Board of Directors as specified by the Civil Code, Act on
Business Corporations, and Banking Act may become members
of the Board of Directors. The Nominations Committee ensures
the trustworthiness, adequate professional qualifications,

and experience of the members of the Board of Directors.

The Nominations Committee also assesses the balance

of competences and experience as well as diversity in the
Board’s overall composition. The professional qualifications,
trustworthiness, and experience of the members of the Board of
Directors are assessed by the Czech National Bank.

A member of the Board of Directors may be removed at any time
during the 4-year term without giving a reason. The Supervisory
Board decides at any time to recall a member of the Board of
Directors. Such decision is carried if approved by an absolute
majority of its members. The Supervisory Board’s decision is
based on a proposal from the Supervisory Board’s Nominations
Committee.

| Corporate governance

Information about special competences of the Board
of Directors under the law regulating legal relations of
corporations and co-operatives

The Board of Directors of Komeréni banka is the corporate
body that decides upon all matters concerning the Bank with
the exception of those matters falling within the powers of the
General Meeting or of the Supervisory Board.

It is within the Board of Directors’ exclusive

competences to:

a) convene the General Meeting and implement its resolutions;

b) submit to the General Meeting for its approval the annual,
extraordinary, and consolidated financial statements or the
interim financial statements if the law requires its approval
by the highest body, as well as a proposal for the distribution
of profit (which must be available to the shareholders for
inspection at least 30 days prior to the date of the General
Meeting) and other own resources, including a proposal for
coverage of a loss;

c) submit to the General Meeting proposals for amendments
to and changes of the Articles of Association as well as
proposals for increasing or decreasing the Bank’s registered
capital;

d) submit to the General Meeting the annual report;

e) decide upon granting and revoking powers of procuration;

f)  decide upon the appointment, removal, and remuneration of
selected managers of the Bank;

g) approve acts in connection with the realisation of security
instruments for the Bank’s claims whose price exceeded
CZK 100,000,000 as of the date of a claim’s origin if the
presumed realisation price thereof is lower than 50% of the
security instrument’s price ascertained upon entering into
the loan agreement;

h)  submit to the Supervisory Board for its information quarterly
and half-yearly financial statements;

i)  decide upon acts which are beyond the scope of the Bank’s
usual business relationships;

i) define and periodically evaluate the Bank’s overall strategy,
including the setting of the principles and targets for its
fulfilment and ensuring the continued and effective operation
of the internal control system;

k) approve the Bank’s annual plans and budgets;

I)  enter into a contract with an auditor for performing the
statutory audit or, as the case may be, for the provision of
additional services;

m) inform the Supervisory Board of the General Meeting
date no later than within the period specified by the Act
on Business Corporations for the General Meeting to be
convened;

n) decide upon the issue of bonds of the Bank with the
exception of decisions on the issue of bonds for which the
decision of the General Meeting is required by law;

o) decide upon an increase in the registered capital if so
authorised by the General Meeting;

p) enter into collective agreements;

q) decide upon providing loans or securing debts to persons or
entities having a special relationship to the Bank pursuant to
the Banking Act;

r)  approve the charter and subject of the risk management
functions, compliance functions, and internal audit
functions, as well as the strategic and periodic plan of
internal audit;
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za)

zb)
ZC)

zd)

decide about paying out a share in profit and other own
resources based upon fulfilment of conditions established
by generally binding legal regulations;

approve and regularly evaluate the security principles of
the Bank, including the security principles for information
systems;

decide upon establishing other funds and the rules
governing the creation and usage thereof;

prepare the report on relations among related entities
pursuant to the Act on Business Corporations;

approve and regularly evaluate the Bank’s organisational
structure so that it is functional and efficient, including
segregation of duties and preventing potential conflicts of
interest;

approve the principles of the personnel and remuneration
policy;

evaluate the overall functioning and effectiveness of the
management and control system at least once annually;
approve and regularly evaluate the risk management
strategy, the strategy relating to the capital and to capital
ratios, the strategy for the information and communication
system’s development, and the strategy for human
resources management;

approve and regularly evaluate the principles of the internal
control system, including principles aiming to prevent the

occurrence of any possible conflict of interest and principles

related to compliance and internal audit and security
policies;

discuss the audit report with the auditor;

after discussing with the trade unions operating in the Bank,
to approve the Bank’s voting rules governing the manner
and rules for the election and dismissal of members of the
Supervisory Board elected by employees of the Bank; and
declare and organise elections and recall of members of
the Supervisory Board elected by employees of the Bank
and inform the Supervisory Board of the results of these
elections.

In addition to the aforementioned, the Board of Directors

shall in particular:

a) manage the activities of the Bank and conduct its business
affairs;

b) ensure proper conduct of the Bank’s accounting, including
the proper administrative and accounting processes;

c) exercise employer’s rights;

d) exercise rights in respect to the Bank’s property interests
flowing from the Bank’s ownership holdings;

e) approve the acquisition or disposal of the Bank’s fixed
assets exceeding CZK 30,000,000 in value as a single case
or as a total of related cases; and

f)  approve the business continuity plan.

The Board of Directors was not instructed to make a decision

on increasing registered capital. Based on the consent of the
General Meeting held on 25 April 2017, Komeréni banka was
authorised to acquire its ordinary shares into treasury. The
conditions and information on the acquisition of its own shares
are provided in the Acquisition of Treasury Shares chapter of this
annual report.
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Organisational chart of Komeréni banka
(as of 31 December 2021)
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Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board is the supervisory authority of the Bank.

It oversees exercise of the Board of Directors’ powers, the Bank’s
activities, and the effectiveness and efficiency of the Bank’s
management and control system as a whole. The Supervisory
Board consists of nine members, who are individuals meeting

the statutory requirements for becoming a member of the

Bank’s Supervisory Board. Two-thirds of the Supervisory Board
members are elected and removed by the General Meeting, one-
third of the Supervisory Board members are elected and removed
by the Bank’s employees. A member of the Supervisory Board’s
term of office is 4 years. A member of the Supervisory Board may
be removed by the General Meeting at any time during the 4-year
term of office.

In accordance with Czech National Bank requirements, Komeréni
banka declares that the members of its Supervisory Board have
not in the past 5 years been convicted of any criminal offence
and that no charges, accusations, or other sanctions have been
filed against them by any regulatory authority. No bankruptcy,
receivership, or liquidation was declared in relation to these
individuals in the past 5 years.

Composition of the Supervisory Board

Giovanni Luca Soma

Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 3 May 2021 (member
since 1 May 2013 and re-elected from 2 May 2017 and from

3 May 2021)

Petra Wendelova

Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 3 May 2021
Independent member of the Supervisory Board (elected
from 25 April 2019)

Cécile Camilli
Member of the Supervisory Board (appointed as a substitute
member from 15 January 2019; elected from 25 April 2019)

Petr Dvoiak

Independent member of the Supervisory Board

(since 2 June 2017, re-elected by the General Meeting from
3 June 2021)

Alvaro Huete Gomez
Member of the Supervisory Board (elected from 3 May 2021)

OndFej Kudrna
Member of the Supervisory Board, employee representative
(elected from 14 January 2019)

Sylva Kynychova
Member of the Supervisory Board, employee representative
(elected from 14 January 2019)

Vojtéch Smajer
Member of the Supervisory Board, employee representative
(elected from 14 January 2019)

Jarmila Sparova
(elected from 21 April 2021)

Jean-Luc André Joseph Parer
(Chairman and member of the Supervisory Board until 2 May 2021)

Giovanni Luca Soma

An MBA graduate of the University of Turin, Italy, and a graduate
of LUISS University with a degree in business economics, he also
holds qualifications to work as a certified auditor and certified
public accountant. From 1984 to 1989, he was the manager

of Arthur Young Consulting in Rome, ltaly. From 1989 to 1994,

he worked with Deloitte & Touche Consulting in Milan, Italy.
During 1994-1997, he served as Sales and International Services
Director of Hyperion Software Inc. Between 1997 and 1998,

he served as managing director of GE Capital Insurance and
subsequently, during 1998-1999, as Corporate Sales Director

for Italy in GE Capital. From 1999 to 2000, he served as CEO

of Dial ltalia (Barclays Group). During 2000-2005, he served

as CEO of ALD Automotive Italy; 2005-2007 as Chairman of
ANIASA, the ltalian Association of Automotive Leasing and
Services Providers; 2006-2008 as Group Regional Director and
Deputy CEO of ALD International Paris; and 2008-2011 as CEO
of ALD International Paris in France. In these positions he also
gained knowledge in the field of risk management. Between
December 2012 and September 2013, he was Deputy Head of the
International Retail Banking Department and became a member
of the Group Management Committee of Société Générale. He
served as CEO of SG Consumer Finance, France (from 2010)

and Deputy Head of IBFS, International Banking and Financial
Services (from December 2012). Since October 2017, he has been
a manager of the Business Unit Europe within SG International
Retail Banking.

Petra Wendelova

She graduated from the University of Economics in Prague,
where she earned the title Ing. in economic statistics and a CSc.
in economic sciences. From 1984 to 1990, she worked as an
internal candidate and assistant professor at the Department of
Statistics of the University of Economics in Prague. From 1990

to 1992, she was a member of the Board of Directors and Vice
President of HC&C (privatization fund administration). From 1992
to 1994, she worked as a member of the Board of Directors

and President of HBS, a. s. (securities dealer, member of the
Prague Stock Exchange). From 1995 to 2000, she served as Vice
President of the multinational investment bank Credit Suisse First
Boston, where she also dealt with the area of risk management.
From 1996 to 2001, she was a member of the Prague Stock
Exchange Chamber. From 2001 to 2005, she was a member of
the Supervisory Board of the Prague Stock Exchange. From 2002
to 2005, she worked as a member of the Supervisory Board of
UNIVYC (Central Securities Depository). Between 2000 and 2014,
she was a partner at Ernst & Young (Ernst & Young s.r.o., EY
Valuations s.r.o., expert institute), as well as managing director of
the expert institute and a leading partner in the area of mergers
and acquisitions. She is currently a member of the Supervisory
Board of the multinational company LINET Group SE.

Cécile Camilli

A graduate of Paris IX-Dauphine, where she earned a bachelor’s
degree in business management, and City University of New
York, where she earned an MA in business administration in
finance. From 1998 to 1999, she worked for the Bondholder
Communication Group in New York. Since 1999, she has held
various positions within Société Générale (Global Banking &
Investor Solutions). Between 1999 and 2001, she worked as an
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associate banker for a group of European and Asian companies
in New York. Between 2002 and 2004, she served as Vice
President of Credit Sales in Paris. From 2005 to 2007, she worked
as Director of the Credit Syndicate for Central and Eastern
Europe, the Middle East and Africa (CEEMEA) in Paris. From
2007 to 2010, she was Director of Loan Sales for Corporate and
Structured Finance in London. Between 2010 and 2013, she was
Head of Debt Capital Markets for CEEMEA in London. From 2013
to 2019, she was Executive Director and Head of Debt Capital
Markets for CEEMEA in London / Paris.

Petr Dvorak

A graduate of the University of Economics in Prague (VSE),
where he completed his PhD in 2003 and was named associate
professor of finance in 2005. He has been active at VSE
throughout his entire professional career, in 1984-1990 within the
Finance and Credit Department, and from 1990 to the present
within the Banking and Insurance Department, which he headed
during 1994-1998. From 2006-2014, he was also Dean of the
Faculty of Finance and Accounting, and, since 2014, he was Vice
Rector for Academic Affairs. On 8 November 2021, the Academic
Senate elected Mr Dvorak Rector of the VSE with effect from

1 April 2022. He is a member of several scientific and editorial
boards and an author of numerous publications.

Alvaro Huete Gomez

A graduate of the Colegio Universitario de Estudios Financieros
with a bachelor’s degree in economics and a focus on finance
and graduate of the Instituto de Estudios Superiores de la
Empresa with a master’s degree in business administration. From
1987 to 1994, he worked for the Banco de Progreso - Banco
Urquijo, Grupo March. From 1994 to 1996, he held the position
of Director of Investment Banking for the Iberian Peninsula at
Nomura Espana Sociedad de Valores in Madrid. Subsequently,
in 1996 and 1997, he served as Director of the Corporate Finance
Group within Nomura International plc. in London. In 1997, he
joined Société Générale. From 1997 to 2006, he worked for
Société Générale Corporate and Investment Banking in Madrid,
first as Director and Team Leader of one of the two structured
finance groups, then as Director of Corporate Banking for Spain
and Portugal and one of the Heads of Debt Capital Markets,

as Director of Corporate Clients and Institutions for Spain

and Portugal, and one of the Heads of Debt Financing. During
2007-2019, he worked for Société Générale Corporate and
Investment Banking in London, first as Deputy Global Director for
Debt Syndications (Bonds and Loans), next as one of the Global
Syndicate Directors, then as Global Debt Syndicate Director, and
finally as Deputy Global Funding. In 2016, he was appointed a
member of the SG Group’s Steering Committee.

OndFej Kudrna

A graduate of the Business Academy Lobkovice, branch of
economics and accounting. After graduating from secondary
school and completing military service, he joined Komeréni
banka in 2000 as a processing specialist, then a trader, and bank
advisor for Small Business. In these positions, he learned all
activities and skills in the area of communication with customers
and products of Komeréni banka. In May 2006, he accepted

the offer to be director of the Roztoky branch, where he was
responsible for the training and development of new colleagues,
including the promotion of a new business location. In May
2007, he accepted another challenge and became director of
the Neratovice branch, where he is responsible for development
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of subordinates, business and financial results of the entrusted
team, and compliance with the procedures of the cash and sales
department. He currently holds the position in Komeréni banka
of Branch Director. He has been a member of the Trade Union of
Komeréni banka since joining KB.

Sylva Kynychova

A graduate of the Banking Institute College of Banking,

majoring in Banking Management. She joined KB in 1990 at the
Wenceslas Square branch, where she worked in various sales
and managerial positions. In 2004, she moved to CKB, where she
dealt with both project and operational-administrative activities
in the area of product and service implementation into banking
systems. Since 2012, she has held senior positions in TPS -
Operations Services, where she first specialised in KBI (core
banking system), and since 2015 also in support of payments
and prevention of payment fraud. Since April 2018, she has been
involved in the administration of products and systems and in

the agenda of mortgage bond coverage, currently the Enterprise
Service Tribe. She has been a member of the trade union since
joining KB, and from April 2018 she has been partially released
from her employment duties to serve as chairwoman of the Trade
Union KB Union Committee, chairwoman of the basic trade union
CKB Prague, and member of the Committee and Board of the
Trade Union of Financial and Insurance Workers. Since February
2019, she has been a member of the Supervisory Board of the
Branch Health Insurance Company for employees of banks,
insurance companies, and the construction industry.

Vojtéch Smajer

A graduate of the Faculty of Law and the Faculty of Economics
and Administration of Masaryk University in Brno (majoring in
Finance). Before joining Komeréni banka, he worked in sales
positions at Sberbank CZ, a.s. and in BNP Paribas Personal
Finance, S.A. Since 2015, he has been working at Komeréni
banka, first as an investment specialist and since 1 August 2018
as a bank advisor for very wealthy clientele at a branch in Brno.
Since 2018, he is also chairman of the basic organisation Brno-
venkov and a member of the group for collective bargaining with
the employer.

Jarmila Sparova

A graduate of the University of Economics in Prague , with a
CEMS Master from the Community of European Management
Schools and a Master in Public Administration from the Ecole
Nationale d’Administration in France. During 2002-2004, she
worked as Director of the Office of the CEO and Secretary of
the Board of Directors of Komeréni banka within the Société
Générale Group in Prague. From 2004 to 2008, she worked as
a project manager for business development at the Société
Générale Group’s international banking headquarters in Paris.
During 2008, she worked as director of the integration project
within the Human Resources Department of Société Générale
(Paris, Moscow). In 2009, she was Deputy Director of Corporate
Banking and Director of Retail Banking at Société Générale
France, Business Distribution Networks, Paris-Bercy. During
2010-2012, she worked as the Corporate Banking Director of
Société Générale Cameroon (Douala, Cameroon) and from 2013
to 2017 as Deputy General Manager and Corporate Banking
Director of Société Générale French Antilles / Guyana. In 2017,
she became CEO of SG Equipment Finance lberia, EFC, S.A., in
Spain. In 2020, she was named Executive Director for Western
Europe Hub and a member of the SGEF Executive Committee.
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Membership of members of the Supervisory Board

in bodies

Members Company

Giovanni Luca
SOMA

Chairman of the Board
Directors

Chairman of the Board
Directors

Chairman of the Board
Directors

Chairman of the Board
Directors

Chairman of the
Supervisory Board

Member of the Board
Directors

BRD - GROUPE
SOCIETE

GENERALE SA, Romania
COMPAGNIE
GENERALE

DE LOCATION
D'EQUIPEMENTS CGL,
Italy

FIDITALIA S.P.A, Italy
PJSC ROSBANK, Russia

Hanseatic Bank GmbH &
Co KG, Germany

ALD AUTOMOTIVE
ITALIA S.R.L., Italy

Petra ] Member of the LINET Group SE, the
WENDELOVA Supervisory Board Netherlands
Member of the Nadace Narodni galerie
Supervisory Board v Praze
Member of the Board Spolek historie
Directors Suchdola, z.s.
Petr DVORAK Chairman of the Unie studentl Vysoké
Supervisory Board $koly ekonomické v
Praze, z.s
Chairman of the Audit Modra pyramida
Committee stavebni spofitelna
Member of the Modra pyramida
Nomination and stavebni spofitelna
Remuneration committee
Sylva ) Member of the Oborova zdravotni
KYNYCHOVA Supervisory Board pojistovna zaméstnanct

bank, pojistoven a
stavebnictvi

Jean-Luc PARER"

Member of the Board
Directors

Member of the Board
Directors

Member of the
Supervisory Board

PJSC ROSBANK, Russia

Société Générale de
Banques Céte d'lvoire,
Céte d'lvoire

Société Générale
Marocaine de Banques,
Morocco

" Termination of the Chairman of the KB Supervisory Board's function on

2 May 2021.

Activity report of the Supervisory Board

Regular meetings of the Supervisory Board shall be held once
per calendar quarter and with the possibility of remote voting.

A quorum of the Supervisory Board shall be constituted if at
least five members of the Supervisory Board are present at the
meeting. Resolutions of the Supervisory Board are adopted by an
absolute majority of all its members.

In 2021, the Supervisory Board held four regular meetings and one
remote vote in accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association.
The average attendance rate at the meetings of the Supervisory
Board was 95.7%.

The Supervisory Board’s committees

The has Supervisory Board established within its competences
the Audit Committee, the Risk Committee, the Nominations
Committee, and the Remuneration Committee as its advisory and
initiative bodies. Committees of the Supervisory Board provide
the Supervisory Board with regular reports on their activities

and, within the areas entrusted to their jurisdiction, submit to

the Supervisory Board recommendations directed to preparing
resolutions for adoption by the Supervisory Board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is a committee of the Supervisory Board
and was established in accordance with Act No. 93/2009 Coll.,
on Auditors, as amended. Its powers are stipulated by that act
and the statutes of the committee.

The Audit Committee consists of three individual members
who meet the requirements for performing duties of a member
of an audit committee set forth by legal regulations and by the
statutes of the committee. Audit Committee members shall be
appointed by the General Meeting from the members of the
Supervisory Board for terms of 4 years. The major members of
the Audit Committee, including its Chairman, are independent
and professionally qualified.

Composition of the Audit Committee

Petra Wendelova
Chairperson and independent member of the Audit Committee
(since 25 April 2019)

Giovanni Luca Soma

Vice-Chairman of the Audit Committee (since 3 May 2016),
Member of the Audit Committee (since 25 April 2013, re-elected
on 26 April 2017 and 27 April 2021)

Petr Dvorak
Independent member of the Audit Committee
(since 26 April 2018)

The Audit Committee meets as a rule once per quarter, but

at least four times in a calendar year. A quorum of the Audit
Committee shall be constituted if a simple majority of all Audit
Committee members attend the meeting. Decisions on all
matters discussed by the Audit Committee must receive an
absolute majority of votes to be carried. If the votes are equal,
the chairperson shall cast the deciding vote. The person in
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question shall not vote in the proceedings with respect to the
election and removal of the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson of
the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held seven regular meetings in 2021 and
twice took remote votes. The committee performs its monitoring
activities and works closely within the Bank, especially with
Internal Audit, Strategy and Finance, Risk Management, and
Compliance departments, and also with the external auditor, who
keeps it informed about the ongoing audit of the Bank.

Risk Committee

The Risk Committee has three members, one of whom is
independent. The committee meets according to need, but at
least twice per year. A quorum is constituted if a simple majority
of all members of the committee is present at the meeting.
Resolutions shall be adopted by agreement of an absolute majority
of all its members. Consensus should be reached in the event of
disagreement by the independent member of the Committee.

Composition of the Risk Committee

Petra Wendelova
Independent Member and Chairperson of the Risk Committee
(member from 25 April 2019, Chairperson from 18 September 2019)

Alvaro Huete Gomez
Member of the Risk Committee (since 3 May 2021)

Giovanni Luca Soma
Member of the Risk Committee (from 25 September 2014,
re-elected from 3 October 2018)

Jean-Luc Parer

Member of the Risk Committee (from 25 September 2014,
re-elected from 3 October 2018, membership terminated as of
2 May 2021)

The committee held two regular meetings in 2021. The committee
discusses all issues of the Bank’s risk management system

and its efficiency (including the Bank’s credit risk profile and
remuneration principles). It considers the acceptable risk appetite
and the Bank’s strategy in the risk area.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has four members, one of whom
is independent and one is an employee representative. The
committee meets according to need, but usually twice per year.
A quorum is constituted if a simple majority of all members of
the committee is present at the meeting. Resolutions shall be
adopted by agreement of an absolute majority of all its members.
Consensus should be reached in the event of disagreement by
the independent member of the Committee.

Composition of the Remuneration Committee
Petr Dvorak
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee (since 24 april 2019)

Independent Member (from 15 March 2019, re-elected from
3 June 2021)

| Corporate governance

Sylva Kynychova
Member of the Remuneration Committee, employee
representative (from 15 March 2019)

Giovanni Luca Soma
Member of the Remuneration Committee (from 25 September
2014, re-elected from 3 October 2018)

Alvaro Huete Gomez
Member of the Remuneration Committee (since 3 May 2021)

Jean-Luc Parer
Member of the Remuneration Committee (until 2 May 2021)

The committee held two regular meetings in 2021.
Nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee has four members, one of whom

is independent and one of whom is an employee representative.
The committee meets according to need, but usually twice per
year. A quorum is constituted if a simple majority of all members
of the committee is present at the meeting. Resolutions shall be
adopted by agreement of an absolute majority of all its members.
Consensus should be reached in the event of disagreement by
the independent member of the Committee.

Composition of the Nominations Committee

Petr Dvorak

Chairman of the Nominations Committee (since 24 April 2019),
independent Member (Member from 15 March 2019, re-elected
from 3 June 2021)

Alvaro Huete Gomez
Member of the Nominations Committee (since 3 May 2021)

Sylva Kynychova
Member of the Nominations Committee, employee representative
(from 15 March 2019)

Giovanni Luca Soma
Member of the Nominations Committee (from 25 September
2014, re-elected from 3 October 2018 and from 3 May 2021)

Jean-Luc Parer
Member of the Nominations Committee (until 2 May 2021)

In 2021, the Committee held two regular meetings and one
remote meeting per rollam.
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Number of employees

Key data on KB employees

2021 2020 2019
KB Group 7,687 8,061 8,167 Age structure of employees (KB, Czechia, year end (%))
Komeréni banka 6,736 7,104 7,210 <30 16 18 17
- of which in Slovakia 42 42 42 31-40 24 24 26
- of which in Czech Republic 6,694 7,062 7,168 41-50 34 33 33
- of which at headquarters 4,044 4173 4,050 51+ 26 25 25
— of which in distribution network 2,650 2,889 3,118 Employees by type of employment (%)
— Full-time 93 94 94
* The increase in the num_ber_ of employee_s at hegdquar@ers in 2020 was due, among — Part-time 7 6 6
other reasons, to organisational change in Retail Banking. Some of the specialists
previously included in the sales network were separated into a separate department Employees by contract type (%)
that now is included under headquarters. — Permanent employment 84 81 81
— Other employment 16 19 19
Key data on KB Group employees Employees’ qualifications (%)
0 ~ University 50 45 4
Age structure of employees — Secondary school 48 52 52
(KB, Czechia, year end (%)) - Other education 2 3 3
<30 16 Proportions of men and women (%)
31-40 = - Men 38 36 36
41-50 = - Women 62 64 64
51+ 25 Share of women in management positions (%)
Employees by type of employment (%) — In all management positions 44 46 48
- Full-time 93 - In top management positions
- Part-time 7 (maximum two levels below Board) 27 26 26
Employees by contract type (%) Number of employees on maternal and
— Permanent employment 84 parental leave 676 706 733
— Other employment 16 Number of employees with disabilities 147 135 146
Employees’ qualifications (%) lliness rate (%) 3.0 3.4 29
— University 50 Employee turnover rate (%)
- Secondary school 48 - total 16.7 15.0 15.8
— Other education 2 - voluntary? 8.8 6.4 7.8
Proportions of men and women (%) - involuntary? 3.9 5.1 4.6
— Men 38 — directed® 2.6 2.0 1.9
— Women 62 - natural¥ 1.4 1.6 1.5
Number of employees on maternal and ) )
parental leave 789 Note: If?;:ntaz rounding, some totals may not correspond with the sum of the separate
Number of employees with disabilities 163 * The increas-e in the number of employees at the headquarters is due, among other

Note: Due to rounding, some totals may not correspond with
the sum of the separate figures.

things, to the organizational change in Retail Banking. Some of the specialists who
were previously included in the sales network have been separated into a separate
department, which we are now registering as headquarters.

" Employee termination.

2 KB termination.

3 For example, fixed term contract expiration, switches within KB group.

4 For example, retirement, health issues, or death of employee.
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HR vision, corporate culture and values

KB’s strategic vision in managing human resources is to build
professional relationships with employees based on trust,
respect, mutual communication, equal opportunities, and the
offer of interesting professional and career growth. KB strives

to create an inspiring and supportive environment where people
want to work, succeed, and become ambassadors of the KB
brand. Mutual co-operation among employees is then based on
four basic values or principles of behaviour, which are team spirit,
innovation, commitment, and responsibility. Together, these form
the basis of the corporate culture upon which KB is building its
future. Values are also integral to KB’s mission, which expresses
the meaning of the Bank’s existence and how it wants to be
perceived on the market.

Team spirit
KB’s clients want a bank that will be their responsible,

trustworthy, and accommodating partner. KB’s employees meet
the needs of their clients as a team. This is supported by a willing
approach as well as by their expertise. KB is and wants to be a
client-focused bank. It is important for everyone at KB to listen to
other viewpoints, make a joint effort, appreciate mutual benefits,
and experience individual successes and failures together.

Innovation

Employees are constantly striving to improve the customer
experience. Together, they adapt to future requirements, mainly
through the use of technological innovations. They maintain
entrepreneurial thinking and at the same time can change in the
ways they work. KB employees support the sharing of ideas,
experimentation, and non-traditional thinking. At the same time,
they learn from their successes as well as from failures.

Commitment
KB employees are committed to pursuing clients’ satisfaction,

which they associate with pride in their profession and the Group.

Together, they strive every day to contribute to the success of
the clients’ projects and their own. They care about relationships
based on trust and mutual respect, both inside and outside the
Bank.

Responsibility
Our bankers contribute to the economic, social, and

environmentally sustainable development of the two countries
and economies where Komeréni banka operates. We want to
help clients fulfil the potential of their projects, and at the same
time we are attentive to risks in all their forms. Meeting the needs
of our clients as well as acting in the long-term interest of all
investors, strictly in accordance with the rules of our profession,
is a duty of the employees and a part of the Code of Conduct.
No one at the Bank should hesitate to take responsibility for

his or her actions and decisions or to express one’s opinions
unambiguously. The Bank shall devote equal attention to its
results and to the manner in which those results are achieved.

Legal framework for doing business

KB Group companies are subject to the standard employment
regulations applicable in the Czech Republic as a member state
of the European Union. Certain specific regulations, such as in
relation to employee education and remuneration, are imposed
by the Czech National Bank as regulatory body for the financial
services industry. KB also accedes to certain rules of Société

| Employee relationships

Générale and international standards. Compliance with all
applicable regulations is subject to regular or random checks,
and failure to uphold these standards can be sanctioned in
accordance with the applicable regulations.

Komeréni banka upholds the Czech Republic’s laws and
regulations, including binding regulations of the European Union
as well as all international agreements ratified by the Czech
Republic that are a part of the Czech Republic’s legal order.
These include, in particular, the conventions of the International
Labour Organisation. In case of overlap into international
employment, it follows in particular Regulation (EC) No 593/2008
of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 June 2008 on
the law applicable to contractual obligations (Rome ).

Work safety and working conditions

To the full extent of its legal obligations, KB Group ensures

its employees’ occupational safety as well as health and fire
protection against possible risks that would endanger their

lives and health when performing their work. The Bank provides
its employees with sufficient and adequate information and
instructions on safety standards and on providing first aid. The
Bank also ensures respect for the prohibition on smoking and
consumption of alcoholic beverages in the workplace. Managers
at all levels are responsible that the employer’s obligations in this
area be honoured. These tasks are an equal and integral part of
their work obligations.

Individual KB Group subsidiaries provide work-related medical
services through a supplier company. They also provide regular
employee training in safety, health, and fire protection standards
and regularly organise checks and employee training in these
areas while documenting and recording the results. All subsidiaries
have identified the health risks associated with each job position
and have assigned employees to the first or second category of
work conditions classification. Moreover, duly contracted supplier
companies regularly review all the work spaces to ensure that
they comply with health and hygiene standards.

In addition, selected workplaces are inspected by an
independent body in the Bank, namely the Union of Banking
and Insurance Workers. An official record reporting conclusions
of the inspection along with written recommendations is made
from each inspection. In the past 5 years the trade union has
found no major shortcomings that could not be remedied within
a short time.

While modernising the environment in its workplaces, KB Group
respects both safety and health requirements. It aims also to
improve the social environment and effectively introduce state-of-
the-art technologies.

KB subsidiaries stipulate working hours, breaks for food and

rest, overtime work, and other mandatory requirements in the
Collective Agreement and the Rules of Procedure, and, where

the trade union operates, also in the Collective Bargaining
Agreement. All parameters are in accordance with Czech

law. Compliance with all duties is supervised by managers of

the individual teams. In order to make better use of working

hours and to balance work with employees’ personal needs,

the employer allows flexible working hours to be applied in
departments where operating conditions allow. In companies with
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trade union representation, regular or flexible working hours are
properly discussed. Furthermore, if operating conditions allow,

employees can voluntarily take advantage of the opportunity to
work from home.

Overtime work can be required only in exceptional cases, if there
are serious operational reasons for doing so, always in agreement
with the employee, in compliance with applicable regulations,

and if properly documented. KB Group’s management receives

a regular report on overtime work and the entire process is duly
inspected.

In accordance with applicable laws, and with the Labour Code in
particular, the employer has stipulated internal rules of work as
well as procedures and sanctions in the case of their violation.
For certain professions, there are additional or more detailed
rules prescribed in specific internal regulations, and particularly in
the Code of Ethics and the Rules of Procedure. The aggregate of
legal rules and internal regulations provides a framework for their
possible enforcement and, in cases of breaches of employees’
obligations as ensue from labour relations law, a process for their
resolution and recording.

Right to information and to social negotiation

The right of KB Group employees to social bargaining is fully
enabled. In KB and MPSS, it is exercised by a trade union.
Managements of KB and MPSS are in regular contact with
representatives of the trade union, and collective bargaining
takes place every year.

In accordance with the Labour Code and the Collective
Agreement, KB allows all employees to be unionised. In 2021,
there were 29 basic units of the Trade Union Organisation

of Komeréni banka. Relations between a trade union and an
employer are governed, inter alia, by the Charter of Fundamental
Rights and Freedoms, the Citizens’ Associations Act, the
Collective Bargaining Act, and International Labour Organisation
conventions (the Trade Union Freedom Convention, the Trade
Union and Collective Bargaining Convention, the Convention on
Human Rights and Freedoms).

The right to information is based in the Collective Agreement.
That agreement has been concluded for the period 2017-2021.
The results of negotiations between KB and the trade union

are fully available to all employees, including the full text of the
Collective Agreement. The benefits of the Collective Agreement
are valid for all employees of all respective KB Group companies,
including those not organised into unions. In companies where
there are no unions, similar advantages and benefits are
addressed by internal regulations.

Information designated for employees is shared openly by the
Group in numerous and various ways. For each employee, the
main source of information is his or her superior. Another source of
information consists in the intranet pages of individual companies.
KB has a separate Employee section on its intranet site dedicated
to providing relevant employment-related information. Furthermore,
employees can call the My HR telephone line, submit inquiries by
e-mail, or contact HR Business Partners and consultants. Chatbot
KUBA answers questions from employees who have joined the
Bank just recently.

Employee satisfaction survey

Employee care is one of the highest priorities of human resources
management and KB’s top management. The Bank regularly
reviews the opinions, satisfaction, and engagement of employees
and takes follow-up action. KB monitors employee engagement
in the form of an Employee Barometer, which is announced
throughout the Société Générale Group and is carried out by

an independent research agency. The barometer examines

10 categories of indicators covering the area of satisfaction,
motivation, recommendations, trust and strategy, including the
overall direction of the SG group. Komeréni banka’s own Puls
survey seeks opinions in the areas of effective team co-operation,
sense of importance, motivation, recognition, and leadership.

In 2021, the Employee Barometer was conducted at the level

of the entire SG group, and a KB Puls survey was conducted in
three waves at the level of the Bank. Employees had opportunity
to comment on all the above topics and generally evaluated
their current mood and atmosphere in the company. They also
had the opportunity to comment on the Bank’s responsible and
sustainable approach and diversity issues.

The engagement score within the group-wide SG Barometer
survey rose by 1 percentage point from the previous year

to 73%. Employees commented positively on activities in

the area of diversity and inclusion, and satisfaction with the
atmosphere in the company and co-operation with superiors
(93%) and colleagues (97 %) also increased. Engagement within
KB Pulse reached 77%. Compared to last year, this meant a
slight decrease due to the pandemic situation. On the contrary,
there was an improvement in teamwork, where the rating rose
from 72% to 74%. For 43% of employees, their opinion on
distance working improved and a high score was achieved in
terms of responsible behaviour of the Bank. As many as 82%
of employees consider the Bank to be a sustainable, as well as
environmentally and socially responsible company.

Employee health and well-being
Komeréni banka has been systematically attentive to the health of
its employees, but in 2021 the implementation of related activities
was also affected by the pandemic.

As part of the Mojevitalita.cz programme, which supports a
healthy lifestyle, new e-learning courses on the topics of a smart
office, home office, and the coronavirus situation have been
published. Throughout the year, a number of online professional
workshops and webinars on healthy eating and mindedness took
place. Through a contribution in the benefit system provided to
employees, KB supported the sports activities of its employees
or the purchase of products for a healthy lifestyle. The Bank
organised a sports day for all employees. KB has also continued
to operate a counselling programme providing psychological,
legal, and Covid-related counselling to employees.

KB respects all its employees’ human and social rights. It long
has been accommodating in relation to its employees who find
themselves in difficult life situations. This support is effected in
various ways, and it considers the life situation a given employee
is facing (for example, through flexibly adjusting work time,
reducing working hours, home office, financial support, unpaid
time off). Every situation is assessed and resolved individually.
Support of employees in difficult life situations is based on the
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Collective Agreement and corresponding implementation rules.
Any drawing of financial aid is recorded by the employer.

Measures to support employees during the pandemic
During the continuing Covid-19 pandemic, KB Group took
measures to protect the health of its employees to the maximum
extent possible, and especially those most vulnerable, such as
the chronically ill, pregnant women, single parents, or employees
over the age of 60.

The individual KB Group companies supported its employees
with the following measures:

e distribution of face masks and respirators within the entire
Group, and especially in the branch network;

e regular refilling of disinfectants at all workplaces;
regular and thorough disinfection of the premises where an
infected employee and/or client had been present;

e safety measures in canteens, meeting rooms, and lifts
(rotation system, spacing, limiting number of people);

® regular and transparent communication between the Board of
Directors and the Executive Director for Human Resources;

® operating of an employee information phone line providing
conselling on topics related to Covid-19,

e continuation of the Counselling Programme, which includes
a specialised counselling centre focused directly on
Covid-19-related issues;

¢ introduction of rotations in workplaces in times of high
pandemic waves;

e permanent provision of work from home wherever operating
conditions allow, including the provision of related technical
equipment for employees

e continuation of the online portal Studovna (Study room) 24/7,
which offers webinars and online training focused on working
from home;

e continuation of training courses in an online environment in
times of stricter anti-epidemic measures;

e antigen testing for employees directly at the
Group’s workplaces; and

* providing the possibility for vaccination directly on the
Bank’s premises.

Diversity and inclusion

Diversity and inclusion are integral to KB’s corporate culture

and among the strategic priorities of the entire Société Générale
Group. The Bank perceives diversity and individuality as sources
of strength, whether these are differences in age, ethnic origin,
nationality, gender, sexual orientation, political opinion, religion,
or other minorities.

The Bank promotes diversity especially in its teams. KB employs
experts from various fields, expatriate colleagues from countries
of the SG Group, students who are just starting their careers at
KB, as well as experienced employees who have been working in
the Bank for many years.

For a year now, the Bank has been a gold signatory to European
CharterDiversity — a project under auspices of the European
Commission since 2010. In signing the Diversity Charter, it
became a member of a strong group of companies that actively
open up and contribute to solving societal issues. As part of this
initiative, the Bank is committed to creating a non-discriminatory,

| Employee relationships

supportive and inspiring environment in which employees can
best develop and implement.

KB’s overall strategy as a responsible employer is based on four
pillars: gender balance, equal pay, support for social inclusion,
and raising awareness of diversity and inclusion among both
employees and the general public. Within the framework

of gender balance, the Bank strives for a more balanced
representation of men and women in senior management
positions, including at the level of the Board of Directors. One of
the most significant actions in this direction was the appointment
of Jitka Haubova to the position of Chief Operations Officer and
the appointment of four women to executive directorate positions,
which almost brought to equal the shares of men and women at
this managerial level.

Another pillar is equal pay for men and women, which the Bank
has been working on for a long time. Relative to the market, that
gap is small and KB continues to narrow it. In 2021 it was 4.2%.

In the area of inclusion, the Bank focuses on supporting people
from socially disadvantaged groups, such as single mothers or
gifted Roma university students. As part of this support, it also
co-operates with relevant foundations. The Bank then openly
reports on all topics, publishes its activities and results, and also
shares its experience, either internally or externally, in the form of
mentoring and networking or other sharing platforms.

KB pays special attention to employees on maternity and
parental leave. In case of mutual interest and need, co-operation
is set during that leave. Employees regularly receive the internal
KB Journal to keep abreast of what’s new at KB. After returning
from maternity or parental leave, KB assists these employees
with reintegration into the work process, for example through
shorter and/or flexible working hours, the possibility of working
from home and/or their combinations, if the type of operation
and nature of the work so permit. Parents who return earlier from
parental/maternity leave are provided with a financial contribution
in excess of the legal requirement.

Komeréni banka also remains in contact with retiring employees.
KB values their many years of knowledge and experience and, if a
need arises, turns to these former employees with the possibility
of occasional work in order to meet temporarily increased need
for capacity of some professional activities or to train newcomers
and junior colleagues.

KB also pays special attention to handicapped colleagues. In
2021, the Bank employed 147 people with disabilities. The most
common positions held at KB include Transaction Processing
Specialist, Banking Advisor, Mortgage Loan Advisor, or Cash
Processing Specialist.

Prevention and punishment of all forms of undesirable
behaviour

KB has long strived to prevent and counter any behaviour that
would be in conflict with KB’s values or principles contained

in its Code of Ethics, internationally applicable standards of

the SG Group, and local regulations. As part of this effort, KB
implemented into its internal rules the SG Group policy on
prevention and punishment of unwanted behaviour in all its forms,
including psychological and sexual harassment, as well as sexist,
racist, or homophobic behaviour.
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In the event that an employee witnesses or experiences any
undesirable behaviour, he or she may report this to his or her
line manager, human resources consultants, or the Compliance
Department. One also can use a secure web application for
whistleblowing that is available across the whole SG Group.

In accordance with global SG Group rules, KB provides
whistleblowers with protection against sanctions of any nature,
termination of employment, or discrimination. It also ensures

the anonymity of whistleblowers. Together with others in SG
Group, KB has reinforced processes for notification of improper
behaviour. To this end, it has set up an international group of
experts that is available to employees anywhere in the world. This
group consists of employees in human resources and business
departments, including from KB, who are specially trained to
handle alerts of unwanted behaviour. The members of this group
adhere to strict principles of impartiality and confidentiality.

All these initiatives aim to apply a zero-tolerance policy and

to ensure that no employees are exposed to inappropriate
behaviour.

Talent search and acquisition

Komeréni banka consistently searches for young and more
experienced talent and is adapting all its recruitment activities
accordingly. These are also based on the strategy of the New
Digital Bank (NDB) and their requirements for new competencies
and knowledge, which will be absolutely essential for the Bank

in future. As in 2020 and the previous year, it was necessary to
adapt recruitment activities to the current health situation and to
implement a combination of full-time and online activities, always
according to the valid anti-epidemic measures.

The Bank has traditionally co-operated with universities and
student organisations throughout the Czech Republic, including
follow-up sponsorship activities. During the spring season virtual
meetings took place, with the Bank participating in the online
trade fairs Cofit at Czech Technical University (CTU), Chances at
the University of Economics, iCareers and the Czechitas trade
fair. In the autumn, the Bank personally met with students as
well as senior talents at Webexp fair in Lucerna, Datafestival

and Chance at the University of Economics, Cofit at CTU and
again the Czechitas trade fair. One online trade fair took place

in the autumn, namely Business Day Zlin. For the IT community,
the Bank implemented three Meetups on technological topics.
KB also presented itself at the TechnicDays organised by the
Association of Students and Alumni (ASA) on the topic of “How
we are testing a new digital bank in Komercka”. Digital Bank of
the Future podcast also continued with another seven episodes.

KB launched the second year of the trainee programme for
university students in 2021. A total of 50 students found
employment in the agile part of the bank, both in Tribes and in
expert teams, as well as in teams at headquarters and in the
sales division. For the first time, the Bank also involved four
Roma students in the trainee programme through the Albatros
Foundation and their scholarship programmes for gifted Roma
university students.

The Bank also regularly participates in employee competitions.
In the TOP Employer of the Year competition, where students
and graduates vote, KB defended its first place in the Banking
and Investments category. In the Sodexo Employer of the Year
competition, which assesses the company’s overall approach to

its employees, it placed second in the Prague region and third on
the national level.

Employee education and career development

The Bank prepares a wide range of trainings and programmes
for KB employees and the entire Group, thus providing space for
their education while emphasising people’s own responsibility for
career growth.

In 2021, the Bank further deepened the knowledge and skills

of its employees in the field of digitisation and teleworking in all
parts of the Bank, including the branch network. Furthermore,
the development of employees in direct contact with clients
continued (including to obtain mandatory certifications and
continuing education), and it focused on the development of
specifically identified competencies. A goal was also to develop
leadership skills, human resources development, accountability,
innovation, and a pro-client approach. The form of educational
activities always corresponded to the current pandemic situation,
and often these events took place online or in hybrid form.

Komer¢ni banka co-operates on development programmes with
Société Générale. Thus, KB employees have an opportunity to
develop their skills and capabilities in an international environment.

Total time of studies (sum for all employees):
¢ digital training 63,830 h
e attendance training 154,434 h
e mandatory digital + attendance training
71,663.5 h
e voluntary digital + attendance training
146,600.5 h

Average time of studies per employee in hours
e digital 8.43h

e attendance 28.23h

¢ mandatory digital + attendance training
e voluntary digital + attendance training

9.55h
23.65h

Compared to 2020, there was an increase of SG training in
MyLearning and an increase in full-time training, which had not
been implemented in 2020 due to Covid-19.

In order to better identify training needs and target development,
the Bank began to implement a competency model and
continued to prepare thematic modules, through which, in co-
operation with internal professional guarantors, it offered specific
content for various positions or roles within the Bank. KB has
launched an online training platform for the technological part of
the Bank, where professional topics in specific areas are shared
on a regular basis among experts.

In the retail part of the Bank, the education followed the newly
introduced Financial Guide, deepening the knowledge of advice
and client care. Another important area was remote client
service, including training in remote and digital processes and
dealing with clients over the phone or via video calls. Regarding
professional topics, bank advisers were educated most in the
field of insurance. The training in the retail part of the Bank was
based on strong internal know-how and took place mainly in

a hybrid form combining self-study and online training with a
coach.
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A long-term development programme focused on acquisitions
and other identified competencies was launched for employees
in the corporate part of the Bank. The continuing change in
corporate culture in education during 2021 was supported by
gradual implementation of the principles of learning organisation,
which were the main topics of the KB Sense programme

for senior talented employees and supported by other tools

for individual and team development (e.g. co-development,
peer learning, internal/external coaching and mentoring). The
SPIRIT talent programme for young talents was completed by
handing over the outputs of 6 projects focused on corporate
culture. Other topics that resonated at the Bank in 2021 were
sustainability, diversity, and inclusion, for which we offered
employees e-learning and webinars.

Performance evaluation and feedback

Annual performance evaluation and feedback comprise a

regular part of communication with employees. Thanks to agile
transformation, this process now better supports a new way of
working. The standard evaluation as to the fulfilment of goals and
competence requirements was supplemented throughout the
company by the process of evaluating the potential of employees.
The outputs are to be further used for succession planning,
identification of senior talents or talent programmes, and to
establish development plans for individual employees. Other
tools used for feedback were, for example, 360° evaluation, skills
assessment, or personality and talent tests.

Remuneration in KB
The remuneration in KB is based on four principles:

* Principle of Internal justice ensures that the same
remuneration is paid for the same work and same performance
under the same transparent circumstances. That remuneration
must not be affected by gender, age, religion, membership
in trade unions or political parties, or other personal
characteristics of an employee that are not directly related to
his or her work performance or competencies. Equal pay is a
basic pillar of KB'’s diversity strategy. Its goal is a zero gender
wage gap in 2025, down from 4.2% in 2021.

* Principle of external competitiveness is ensured through
regular market surveys, taking into account the intended
market position and significant differences in the remuneration
market. These surveys then lead to determination of the
aforementioned basic wages.

e Principle of Individual contribution is taken into account
in the wage and bonus. Wages may reasonably differ from
the target level to take into account all aspects such as
individual contribution or potential. A bonus is determined,
inter alia, based upon an assessment of goals achievement
and performance. A long-term incentive programme
(LTI) is designed for employees and strategic talents with
extraordinary value to the Group. It is described below in part
of Shareholding programmes.

* Principle of risk-taking ensures that remuneration is aligned
with sound and effective risk management and supports such
management; remuneration does not encourage the taking
of risks going beyond the risk tolerance of the Bank. KB also
takes sustainability risks into account in its remuneration

policy.

| Employee relationships

The structure of remuneration is based on three basic pillars:

1. Basic wage for work performed (fixed component)

Wages of all employees are determined in accordance with

the sophistication of their positions, particularly in terms of the
required knowledge, experience and skills, and the resulting
responsibilities. During the regular annual review of KB’s wages,
an equitable approach in the implementation of wage increases is
observed.

2. Flexible performance-dependent remuneration
component

In addition to the basic wage, employees have a variable

remuneration scheme for the quality of meeting corporate, team,

and individual goals. The amount of the variable component

is expressed as a percentage of the annual basic wage and is

different for different groups of employees. The maximum level of

the moving component is set in the collective agreement, and for

legal reasons it cannot exceed 200% of the basic wage.

Objectives following the variable component of remuneration
The remuneration principles take into account the interest of
shareholders in the value of KB by linking the amount of the
variable component for employees with the economic results of
KB and the fulfilment of strategic priorities, including sustainable
growth. In 2020, a new strategic programme was launched.

Its priorities, described in the Strategy and Results chapter of
this annual report, have been implemented in the employee
motivation system for 2021 through the Company Objectives
and Key Results (COKR) measurement system. The area of
sustainable development is also a part of the Strategic Priorities
which also includes climate change reduction targets. For 2021,
the goals related to sustainable development measured through
COKR accounted for 10% of the goals of the board member
responsible for sustainable development, 5% of the CEO goals,
5% of the goals of another board member, and 5-40% of the
goals of another 16 employees in the Bank’s top management.

Regulatory risk management principles in remuneration

Taking into account risks is part of the basic remuneration

principles. It includes in particular the following measures:

i. The overall system of flexible performance-dependent
components is set up in a way not to limit the Bank’s ability to
strengthen its capital. Payment of the flexible performance-
dependent component of the remuneration is based on
the Bank’s performance. Therefore, the size of the flexible
performance-dependent component is in no way guaranteed,
even when the individual employee achieves his or her
individual goals. The criteria used in calculating the aggregate
amount of flexible performance-dependent component
to be paid include corrections for both current and future
risk. The same criteria will be used when setting the flexible
performance-dependent remuneration budget in order to take
into account any current and future risks.

ii. Itis notthe Bank’s policy to provide any reward from previous
employment. If necessary, such a component would always
be a variable remuneration according to these Remuneration
Principles.

iii. Inthe case of an employee’s termination of employment,
“golden parachute” bonuses are forbidden.

iv. On condition of full compliance with applicable laws and
contracts, KB will at all times make every effort in its power
to recover all flexible performance-dependent remuneration
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that has been paid but the payout of which has been found to
be unjustified. The entire variable remuneration can also be
clawed back for employees who have significant impact on
the risk profile of the Bank (Identified staff). Claw-back may
be exercised for the entire vesting and retention periods. The
claw-back principle applies in particular when an Identified
employee has contributed significantly to the Bank’s negative
financial performance, in cases of fraud or serious negligence,
thus resulting in significant losses. Claw-back applies for up
to six years from award of the variable component.

v. Employees with significant influence on the Bank’s risk
profile (hereinafter referred to as Identified staff [IS]) are
identified in accordance with the relevant regulation and their
list is regularly reviewed. The variable remuneration of SG
expatriates identified as IS is assessed in accordance with the
Bank’s rules.

vi. In order to restrict taking on of inappropriate risk, the variable

remuneration component for an IS always is performance-

linked and risk-adjusted. Non-financial criteria (such as
employee ethics, complaints, and mistakes) are taken into
account when assessing employee performance. Compliance
with regulatory requirements is also taken into account in the
evaluation. At the same time, some ISs are independently
rated from a Risk and Compliance perspective.

For the IS group, which most strongly affects the Bank’s risk

profile, specific rules are adopted: the KB Deferred Bonus

Scheme. These rules consist in postponing payment of part

of the variable component, the use of non-cash instruments

(phantom shares of KB), and the Remuneration Committee’s

approval regime.

viii. The decision on remuneration of the members of the Board
of Directors is taken by the Supervisory Board in view of any
findings of control functions (Risk Management, Compliance,
and Internal Audit).

ix. Appraisals of internal control staff (in particular Risk
Management, Compliance, and Internal Audit) are tied
to achieving the goals associated with their functions,
independently of the performance of those areas of activity of
the Bank they control.

X. The principles of remuneration of employees who have a
significant impact on the Bank’s risk profile are reviewed and
evaluated annually by the Internal Audit staff. Through the
Remuneration Committee, KB’s Supervisory Board oversees,
evaluates, and controls compliance with remuneration policies
and procedures whose activities have a material impact on
the Bank’s overall risk profile.

xi. Remuneration policy and practice must be evidenced and
reviewable for at least 5 years.

Vii.

3. Employee benefits and advantages supporting employees’
loyalty within Komeréni banka Group

The cost-effective structure of benefits reflects the Bank’s
targets to be a responsible employer while providing employees
with choices. The structure and level of benefits are subject to
collective bargaining agreements each year.

For the year 2021, the structure agreed was as follows:
a) Daily meal vouchers worth CZK 100 without the employee’s
financial participation;

b) CZK 6,720/employee/year for recreation, sports, health, culture,
and personal development provided via the Cafeteria system;

c) CZK 5,000/year for employees within the category of people
with disabilities and CZK 600/year for employees 55 years of
age and older via the Cafeteria system;

d) Contribution to supplementary pension insurance and
supplementary pension savings at 3% of the wage;

e) Premium conditions for retail banking products and services
provided by Komeréni banka to employees;

f) Financial support during long-term illness;

g) Two working days off with wage compensation and
1 additional working day off with wage compensation for
employees who work for Komeréni banka for a continuous
period of 5 years and longer;

h) 1 birthday day off;

Risk life insurance;

Extraordinary social assistance;

Career sabbatical;

1 day off with wage compensation for corporate volunteering

in areas supported by KB and the Jistota Foundation;

m) 24/7 counselling programme for help and consultation in
various life situations (e.g. in the field of family and civil law,
in the field of healthy lifestyle, and also for consultation with a
psychologist). It includes crisis financial advice for resolving
distraint or personal bankruptcy, as well as advice related to
the Covid-19 pandemic; and

n) Allowance for parents returning earlier from parental/maternity
leave;

=xo==
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Share programmes for employees

All KB employees can participate in the Global Employee Share
Ownership Programme (GESOP). The plan aims, among other
things, to strengthen long-term loyalty to the employer and
motivate employees to participate as shareholders in the Group’s
success. Under this programme, SG Group employees can
subscribe for Société Générale shares at a discounted price with
an employer’s contribution to the purchase of shares.

SG shares have been blocked for 5 years and by subscribing
them, the employee acquires the right to vote at the Ordinary
General Meeting of SG and to receive dividends if it is decided
that these will be paid.

The Board of Directors of SG decides on the date and frequency
of the increase of SG’s capital in the form of subscription of
employee shares. In 2021, the GESOP programme did not
materialise.

To increase loyalty and motivation to contribute to long-term
value growth, the Société Générale Group provides some of

its key employees with free shares of SG under the Long Term
Incentives programme. The rights to the shares in the programme
are subject to blocking for a period of 3 years and subject to
positive results of the Société Générale Group. In 2021, the
programme included 11% of KB Group employees.
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Risk governance
Main principles of risk management in KB Group

Risk management at Komeréni banka is based upon an
integrated concept that takes into account the advanced risk
management standards of the Société Générale Group together
with the statutory and regulatory norms as defined and required
by the Czech National Bank and other regulatory bodies.

Komeréni banka’s corporate governance standards assure that
the risk management function is independent of commercial and
operational functions, as well as from the internal audit function.

The credit risk, market risk, and operational risks management
activities are carried out under the Risk Management
organisational structure, which also

¢ includes the production of risk software and data solutions
in close co-ordination with the Information Technology
organisational structure of the Bank, and

® ensures supervision of risk management activities of KB’s
subsidiaries.

Compliance risk management activities, data protection, and,
since 2021, also fraud detection and prevention activities, are
managed within a dedicated organisational structure under
ultimate responsibility of the KB Chief Risk and Compliance
Officer and ensure also supervision of these activities in KB’s
subsidiaries.

The structural risk management activities (interest rate risk and
liquidity risk, including funding risk and foreign exchange risk

in KB’s banking book) are managed within the Strategy and
Finance organisational structure. The second line of defence
(LoD2) function covering structural risk (including validation of
reports, limits, and methodology; review of the Risk Appetite
Statement, contingency funding plan, Internal Liquidity Adequacy
Assessment process, etc.) is carried out within the Risk
Management organisational structure.

Legal risk management activities are managed within an
organisational structure that is the responsibility of the KB Chief
Operating Officer.

Overall risk management strategy

Through its risk management strategy, KB Group continues to
pursue a prudent and balanced approach to all types of risks
assumed. At the same time, it aims to support development of
the Group’s business activities, including sustainable growth of
its lending activities and reinforcing the Group’s market positions.

| Risk management

The objective is to ensure profitable credit and market activities
across the business cycle and, at the same time, to preserve a
sound balance sheet with strong capital and liquidity ratios. To
this end, advanced risk management tools, including statistical
tools, are continuously enhanced and analytical and risk
management skills are maintained at high levels for both risk
management and business staff.

A general target of Komeréni banka’s risk management is to
harmonise risk management processes and tools throughout
the Group. The Group enables shared access to selected tools
within the credit risk system for designated subsidiaries, thereby
providing a unified credit risk view and harmonising the credit
risk approach.

Risk appetite

KB Group risk appetite is outlined in the KB Group Risk Appetite
Statement, which since 2015 has been prepared in compliance
with Financial Stability Board recommendations. It defines at an
aggregated level all risks that KB Group is ready to accept or
intends to avoid and defines a prudent and balanced approach
to them.

The KB Group Risk Appetite Statement is elaborated with the
aim of ensuring consistency among risk-taking capacity, capital
adequacy, and the business and financial targets. The level of
the Group’s risk appetite and its risk management strategy are
fully aligned and within the boundaries of SG Group Strategy &
Risk Appetite.

The Risk Appetite Statement is revised semi-annually or,
according to need, more frequently.

The 2021 revisions of the KB Group Risk Appetite Statement
included assessment of Covid-19 impacts, newly introduced
assessment as to consistency of credit risk appetite with long-
term risk and financial targets, incorporation of main principles
from EBA guideline on origination and monitoring, and updating
of quantitative thresholds and limits and their alignment with
semi-annual ICAAP (Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process) results.

Stress testing

Stress-testing exercises provide a forward-looking simulation of
bank results and key characteristics in various adverse scenarios
that may occur in the economic or business environment.
Projected macroeconomic variables are translated to the
development of risk parameters and relevant exposures and/or
positions and impacts on profit or loss, own funding requirements
(capital adequacy), and other variables.
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During 2021, KB Group performed several stress-testing
activities: (i) semi-annual Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process (ICAAP), (ii) annual Internal Liquidity Adequacy
Assessment Process (ILAAP), and (iii) stress testing required

by CNB. KB Group, as part of the SG Group, also participated

in the EU-wide stress test conducted by EBA. The aim of such
tests is to assess the resilience of financial institutions to adverse
market developments. The Covid-19 impacts were assessed
within both runs of the ICAAP.

In all stress tests, KB Group proved itself solidly resilient

to unfavourable conditions of the economic and business
environment. KB Group has a strong capital base consisting
mostly of the highest quality common equity Tier 1 capital.
KB Group is able to maintain its capital adequacy ratio above
the Overall Capital Requirement even under conditions of a
severe stress test scenario.

Covid impacts and risks

The Group is continuously monitoring and evaluating the lasting
impacts and risks of the Covid pandemic crisis. In current
circumstances, as the most severe restrictions associated with
successive waves of the Covid-19 pandemic are being eased and
the world is adapting to a new post-Covid “normal”, the following
challenges to risk management stand out:

e Credit risk: Among the main challenges are (i) steep increase
in inflation and interest rates, (ii) supply chain disruptions,
and (iii) delayed risks (e.g. “zombie companies”) due to
massive state support within 2020 and 2021. Nevertheless,

KB assesses all these risks as limited and has created

provisions in accordance with IFRS 9.

e Market risk: Due to improving liquidity during 2021 after the
crisis in early 2020, the outlook for market risks in 2022 is in
the territory of business as usual.

e Operational risks: New challenges have arisen in relation to
managing the post-pandemic environment from an operational
point of view and in terms of ensuring business continuity of
operations (heightened risks of cyberattacks, and particularly
linked with ransomware, cybersecurity risks related to remote
work from home offices, etc.)

¢ Financial risks: No material adverse impacts of Covid-19 have
been observed:
¢ Liquidity and funding risk — No stress behaviour was

identified within the client deposits and loans portfolios.
Loan repayment moratoria had negligible effect. KB does
not rely on wholesale funding.

¢ Interest rate risk in the banking book — KB has only a limited
open interest rate position. Net interest margin was affected
by the usual cyclical effects associated with a low interest
rate environment.

e FXrisk in the banking book — Because KB keeps only an
immaterial open FX position, it is not materially affected by
currency fluctuations.

In the post-Covid environment, the behaviour of clients altered

by Covid-19 is being monitored closely, as it is unclear to what

extent they will revert to their pre-Covid patterns. The main
focus is on deposit balances held in current accounts and
prepayment rates of mortgage loans.

¢ No material impact in the post-Covid environment has been
identified on other types of risks (compliance, reputation, etc.).

Specifically, business risk in the post-Covid environment is
being evaluated by the Strategy and Finance arm and taken into
account as a part of financial planning.

War in Ukraine

The Group is aware that the sharply deteriorating geopolitical
situation will have a significant impact on the economies of
European countries. Nevertheless, due to the heightened global
uncertainty and turbulent development, it is impossible to fully
assess and quantify the impacts at the current stage. The Group
is continuously monitoring and evaluating the potential impacts of
the current crisis on its activities and on its clients. The Group’s
direct exposure to Russia and Ukraine is limited, but the Group
is also evaluating indirect impacts (dependency on raw materials,
supply chain disruption, etc.). As necessary and appropriate,

the Group will respond to the changing situation by adjusting its
policies (risk, operational, accounting, etc.), including possible
adjustments to its provisioning methodology in accordance with
the IFRS9 standard.

Credit risk
Credit risk management tools

Credit risk assessment and monitoring

Client credit risk is managed on the basis of comprehensively
assessing clients’ risk profiles from quantitative (financial) and
qualitative viewpoints using advanced scoring and rating models
along with individual approval by competent risk or business
managers. The system of approval authorities is set up to

reflect the risk profiles of the counterparties and the levels of
competencies required for their assessment.

No credit exposure can be originated until internal credit limits
for the client and transaction have been first duly established.

The Bank has a strong monitoring process for clients financed
and exposures granted that allows for triggering corrective
actions in case deterioration is evidenced. Monitoring of non-
retail clients has been enhanced via advanced models based
on Al (artificial intelligence) algorithms.

All KB scoring, rating, and Basel (e.g., Loss Given Default,
Probability of Default, or Credit Conversion Factor) models are
back-tested at least annually and adjusted whenever needed.

Credit fraud prevention

Komeréni banka uses an automated system for detecting credit
frauds and for co-ordinated reactions to credit fraud attacks.
The system is fully integrated into KB’s main applications. Anti-
fraud tools and processes are continuously adjusted according
to the market situation. In 2021, KB implemented the automated
antifraud system for non-retail clients and it has been working to
enhance an automated antifraud solution for private individuals
that relies upon an advanced statistical model.

Staging

Komeréni banka allocates its receivables arising from financial
activities into three categories (Stages 1, 2, and 3) in accordance
with the IFRS 9 standard. Stages 1 and 2 constitute non-default
(performing) while Stage 3 comprises default (non-performing)
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receivables. The staging reflects both quantitative criteria
(payment discipline, financial data) and qualitative criteria (e.g.
in-depth client knowledge).

Model Risk Management

Due to the growing dependence on models, Komer¢ni Banka
established in 2018 an expert team (Model Risk Management).
The team is focused on risks originating from the models

usage. This MRM team provides initial review of a model’s
design, checks its correct usage and implementation, controls
appropriate lifecycle governance, and provides annual model
re-validation). KB’s MRM team is covering all credit risk, ALM,
and compliance models. Models shared within the SG group are
reviewed in co-operation with a central SG MRM team. Moreover,
the team ensures regulatory compliance for regulated models
(IRB, IFRS 9, ALM) for KB Group. With ongoing digitalisation of
bank services the team will gradually extend its scope to control
other KB Group model families (e.g. stress testing models,
marketing, and others).

Real estate valuation

In compliance with Czech and EU regulations, the valuation and
monitoring of real estate collaterals accepted by the Bank as
security for corporate and retail loan exposures are delegated
to a dedicated independent unit. This unit is a part of the Risk
Management Arm and co-operates with a broad group of
external valuation experts.

Komeréni banka continuously monitors both residential and
commercial real estate markets and regularly revaluates

the real estate collaterals. The Bank utilises appropriate
techniques (individual or statistical) for this purpose in order

to react adequately to market developments. Komeréni banka
uses statistical monitoring of residential real estate market
developments and applies an adjustment for pertinent residential
real estate appraised values if residential real estate market
values significantly decrease in relevant regions and periods.
Moreover, Komeréni banka monitors the development of
commercial rents and performs individual revaluation of pertinent
commercial real estates if rents significantly decrease in relevant
regions and commercial real estate segments. In addition,

real estates securing exposures exceeding EUR 3 million are
individually revaluated every 3 years.

Since November 2019, Komeréni banka has been using online
statistical real estate collateral evaluation for a part of the low-risk
production of mortgages as one of the steps in digitalising the
mortgage loan granting process. The evaluation is provided by
the company Lux Property Index, s.r.0, which is contractually
authorised to use the database of expert prices and attributes of
residential real estate into which leading mortgage providers on
the Czech market contribute.

Recovery activities

In 2021, the Bank continued to adapt its collection processes

to the Covid-19 pandemic environment in order to be able to
respond progressively to the deteriorating situation of clients
affected by this pandemic. Increased inflow of clients, which was
noticed in the second half of 2020, proved to be only a temporary
impact consequent to the end of the state moratorium (loan
repayments postponement). In 2021, KB observed a gradual
return to pre-Covid-19 client inflow values.

| Risk management

The Bank continues to increase the efficiency of processes by
digitising and automating activities in out-of-court collection so
that it is able to absorb increased inflow of clients caused by a
possibly deteriorating economic situation in the Czech Republic
due to rising prices (especially for energy) and the CNB’s base
repo rate. These activities also involve the use of external
recovery capacities, both in out-of-court and court recovery,
which were further extended in 2021.

During 2021, the Bank continued in regular sales of
uncollateralised and collateralised retail non-performing loans
and receivables to selected qualified investors so that the
maximum achievable recovery rate is obtained. The Bank has
not realised any mass sales of non-performing loans secured
by real estate collateral.

The Group continuously responded to the changing legal
environment and its impact on the recovery of loans and
receivables. The Group was increasingly attentive to utilising
the Insolvency Act in the collection process for loans and
receivables from both retail and corporate clients. The Group
plays an active role in the insolvency process, from the position
of a secured creditor, member of the creditors’ committee, or
representative of creditors, whether in bankruptcy proceedings
or in reorganisations, both of which are used by the Bank
depending on a given debtor’s circumstances and the attitudes
of other creditors.

In 2021, the Group joined the “Merciful Summer” initiative to offer
its support to clients who had found themselves in difficulty with
repaying their debts and were no longer able to resolve their
debt in the execution phase, thereby demonstrating the Bank’s
responsibility in relation to society.

Provisioning

Main principles of provisioning

The Bank uses the IFRS 9 standard in the area of allowances
for receivables and, with a few local adjustments, the SG Group
IFRS 9 methodology. Depending on the client segment,
materiality, risk profile, and characteristics of the receivables,
allowances are created either (i) individually (for defaulted or
exceptionally for performing clients) while taking into account the
present value of expected future cash flows and considering all
available information, including the estimated value of collateral
foreclosure and the expected duration of the recovery process;
or (ii) using expected credit loss statistical models based on the
observed history of defaults and losses and forward-looking
adjustments.

Allowances calculation in accordance with IFRS 9 is consistent
with the risk-weighted assets calculation (IFRS 9 statistical
models are based on the IRBA regulatory models) the same
statistical models being used in both calculations) and with the
regular stress-testing approach (forward-looking predictions in
the IFRS 9 calculations are the same as those used in the regular
stress testing). In 2021, the Group updated its IFRS 9 models for
the performing portfolio (Stage 1 and Stage 2) and for the retail
non-performing portfolio (Stage 3). This is further detailed in the
next chapter.
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Credit risk development in 2021

Granting policy

After the Covid-19 outbreak, KB decided not to dramatically
change its credit risk appetite in order to continue providing
high-quality service to the clients and supporting them as well as
the economy as a whole. Instead, KB decided to apply a series
of targeted measures, including private and public payment
moratoria, participation in proactive governmental measures
(under the umbrella of the state institutions CMZRB and EGAP),
and limitation of credit risk appetite for clients from sensitive
sectors vulnerable to Covid-19 impact.

After almost 2 years, this approach has been confirmed as an
appropriate one. The portfolio quality remains at very good level
(as measured via CoR level or default intensity). Because the
epidemiological situation improved significantly in spring and
summer 2021 and the state support programmes have been
gradually closed, KB returned almost fully to pre-Covid granting
rules. Nevertheless, the approach for financing of clients and
sectors hit by such negative (post)-Covid impacts as supply chain
issues, steep increase in prices of construction materials prices,
and rising inflation or interest rates remains cautious.

2021 Cost of risk

The Group’s cost of risk decreased to 10 basis points (net
allowances creation) in 2021, which was significantly lower
compared to 68 basis points (net creation) in 2020. The total
volume of allowances created for amounts due from customers
came to CZK 14.4 billion as of 31 December 2021, which
compares to CZK 14.3 billion as of 31 December 2020.
Overall, 2.5% of loans (on-balance) were classified in Stage 3
(non-performing) as of 31 December 2021, which compares
t0 2.6% in 2020. The NPL share was gradually decreasing
after the 2.9% peak recorded in the first quarter 2021 thanks
to gradually diminishing default intensity of the terminated
moratoria portfolio.

In 2021, KB Group updated its IFRS 9 models for the performing
portfolio (Stage 1 and Stage 2) and for the retail non-performing
portfolio (Stage 3) while considering (i) new macroeconomic
forecasts in accordance with the IFRS 9 forward-looking
approach, (ii) the new definition of default in accordance with

the EBA Regulation (EBA / GL / 2016/07 to apply the definition

of default under Article 178 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013), (iii)
the new data history covering defaults and recoveries since the
last model update, and (iv) other aspects, mainly future expected
development of the real estate market and legal standards and
their impacts on recovery performance. This update of IFRS 9
models led to release of allowances for the performing portfolio in
the amount of CZK 135 million and release of allowances for the
non-performing portfolio totalling CZK 201 million. In accordance
with the IFRS 9 methodology, the update was based on the multi-
scenario approach, which, as of the end of 2021, was founded
upon four scenarios: a baseline scenario with probability of 51%,
a scenario of prolonged negative development with probability of
10%, a scenario of severe negative development with probability
of 29%, and an optimistic scenario with probability of 10%. The
baseline scenario anticipates increase in GDP of 3.5% in 2022
and GDP growth of 3% in 2023 and unemployment at 2.87%

in 2022 and at 2.69% in 2023. The scenario of severe negative
development expects a 2.3% decrease in GDP in 2022 and GDP

growth of 0.3% in 2023 and unemployment at 4.44% in 2022 and
6.39% in 2023. The Group takes into account in IFRS 9 models
the fact that credit risk is affected by government programmes
that delay materialisation of that risk.

Furthermore, in accordance with the forward-looking approach,
the Group applied a specific approach as of 31 December 2021
for the following portfolios with deteriorating credit profile:

() Exposures in retail segments of Individuals and Small
Business that the Group identified as negatively hit by the
combination of accelerating inflation and interest rates.

For this portfolio, the Group decided to create specific
allowances in the fourth quarter of 2021, whose amount as of
31 December 2021 was CZK 358 million. As of 31 December
2021, the exposure of this portfolio totalled CZK 69 billion.

(i) Exposures within the office and retail sub-segments
(belonging to the real estate developers and investors
segments), which the Group considers to be highly sensitive
in connection with effects of the Covid-19 crisis, mainly due
to (i) growing office vacancy connected with the increasing
use of home offices, and (ii) growing transition to electronic
commerce at the expense of traditional retail. On this
portfolio, the Group decided to create specific allowances
in the second quarter of 2021, which totalled as of 31
December 2021 to CZK 209 million. As of 31 December 2021,
the exposure of this portfolio amounted to CZK 22.3 billion.

(iliy Exposures of clients in the hotels, restaurants, and catering
sectors (i.e., sectors with significantly negative impact of
the Covid-19 crisis, mainly due to state-imposed closures
and ongoing restrictions). The exposures of these sectors in
Stage 1 were moved to Stage 2 in the second quarter of 2021
and specific allowances were created, which amounted to
CZK 17 million as of 31 December 2021. As of 31 December
2021, this portfolio’s exposure totalled CZK 1.6 billion.

The Group also adjusted its approach to the following portfolio
originally identified with deteriorated credit profile:

As of 30 November 2021, the Group released all additional
allowances of CZK 362 million for retail exposures that were

in the payment moratorium at the end of September 2020 and
that the Bank had originally identified on the basis of an expert
approach or model approach as exposures with potentially
deteriorating credit profile after the end of the moratorium and to
which the Bank had allocated additional allowances since third
quarter 2020. The remaining allowances have been released as
riskiness of this portfolio is gradually approaching that of the
retail portfolio generally and therefore a specific approach for this
portfolio in accordance with the forward-looking approach is no
longer necessary.

In accordance with the SG Group methodology, a new relative
criterion was introduced in the fourth quarter of 2021 to
determine classification of the exposure into the relevant staging
grades. The rule is applied that in cases where the current 1-year
PD (probability of default) deteriorates three times compared to
the PD at the time the exposure was granted, the exposure is
transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2. Due to implementation of
this rule, exposures totalling CZK 9.9 billion were transferred from
Stage 1 to Stage 2 in the fourth quarter of 2021 with impact on
creation of allowances in the amount of CZK 95 million.
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Further details on implementation of the IFRS 9 model update are
provided in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Principal activities in 2021

KB Group concentrated during 2021 especially on the following
activities in the credit risk area:

(i) Appropriate reaction to the Covid-19 pandemic, as described
above.

(i) Delivering on regulatory requirements (ongoing complete
upgrade of regulatory IRBA models reflecting EBA Guidelines
and the new default definition), several stress test exercises
as described above, extension of AnaCredit reporting to the
segment of entrepreneurs (to be launched in fourth quarter of
2022), preparation for its contribution (as a part of SG Group)
to an environmental stress-testing exercise launched in
ECB for 2022, and incorporation of ESG principles and EBA
guidelines on loan origination and monitoring in its activities).

(iii) Implementing the Bank’s digital risk strategy (e.g. ongoing
implementation of upgraded KB Group risk engine, redesign
of origination processes for all segments, strengthening
digital fraud prevention, strengthening monitoring capacity
for the non-retail segment, adjustment of collection
strategies).

(iv) Continued implementation of the optimised risk management
function in KB Group with a focus on aligning and
interconnecting subsidiaries’ risk management processes
with those of the Bank.

Capital markets risks
Capital markets risks management

Market risk and counterparty risk on market transactions

within KB Group’s financial markets activities are managed by
a dedicated Markets and Structural Risks Department. This
department reports directly to the Bank’s Chief Risk Officer
and is fully independent of business units. It operates within the
framework of Société Générale Group’s Market Risk Division.
Methodologies for measuring risks and control procedures are
thus aligned with the best practices of Société Générale.

Market risk of the trading portfolio

Several types of measures are used for assessing risks in
Komeréni banka'’s trading portfolio:

e Value-at-Risk (VaR) is calculated using historical scenarios
with a 99% confidence level and 1-day time horizon. As of
31 December 2021, the VaR amounted to CZK -84 million.
Reliability of the VaR model’s results is back-tested while
checking the daily P&L against the VaR. KB’s Board of Directors
is regularly informed about the results of the back-testing.

e The impacts of low-probability events not covered by VaR are
assessed using various stress-testing methods and scenarios.

¢ Volume and sensitivity metrics are used to measure exposure
to all relevant risk factors (e.g. FX, interest rate, basis, flight to
quality, and credit spread risks).

| Risk management

Market risk limits are approved by two members of KB’s
Board of Directors (the Member of the Board in charge of Risk
Management and the Member in charge of Corporate and
Investment Banking) after being validated by SG’s Market Risk
Division.

The Bank uses enhanced valuation techniques for derivatives
while taking into account whether a given derivative is concluded
with or without collateral agreement and thus reflecting the cost
of the Bank’s liquidity.

Komeréni banka’s exposure to the risk of change in volatility on
its market book is limited to asymmetry effect stemming from the
different collateral arrangements between client transactions and
their hedges.

Counterparty risk on financial markets activities

A market transaction may be concluded with a counterparty

only on validated products and if approved limits exist for that
counterparty. Counterparty limits for financial markets operations
are monitored on a daily basis. Any breach of such limits is
immediately reported to the relevant management level within the
Bank.

The measurement of counterparty risk arising from derivative
products is based on the Credit Value at Risk (CVaR) indicator.
This indicator is calculated using Monte Carlo simulation

while taking into account netting and collateral effect. With

a 99% confidence level, CVaR quantifies the potential future
replacement costs of a transaction with a client in case of such
client’s default.

As of 31 December 2021, the KB Group was exposed to a

credit exposure of CZK 221,910 million on financial derivative
instruments and repo operations, including those with the

central banks (expressed in CVaR). This amount represents the
replacement costs at market rates as of 31 December 2021 for all
outstanding agreements. The netting agreements and parameters
of collateral agreements are taken into account where applicable.

Financial risks

In addition to credit and non-financial risks, the Group is exposed
to risks related to changes in interest and exchange rates and
liquidity of assets (financial risks). The process of managing
financial risks aims to hold risks undertaken to a minimum while
also facilitating the Group’s organic development. The methods
for identifying, measuring, and managing risks in the areas of
foreign exchange and interest rates are typically based on the
requirement to minimise the impact on earnings. Supervision

of the financial risk management process is by the Assets and
Liabilities Committee (ALCO), which includes, among others,
members of Komeréni banka’s senior management. The ALCO
also oversees the levels of risk taken on and the proposed
hedging transactions that the Bank executes in managing

risk. KB’s Asset and Liability Management (ALM) department
defines methodologies for identifying and measuring these risks,
subject to approval by the ALCO. The ALM department also
measures the risk indicators and reports them regularly to the
ALCO and Board of Directors. The methodology of identification
and measurement of financial risks is reviewed by the Risk

Profile of KB

Strategy and results

Corporate governance

Corporate social responsibility

-
c
Q
£
Q
(=
©
c
]
£

x

°

o




Management Arm, specifically by the Market and Structural Risk
Department. This department is also responsible for managing
the limits for individual risk categories. KB’s Treasury Department
proposes and implements investment and hedging operations
for managing the Bank’s risk profile. Treasury is also in charge

of setting up appropriate economic benchmarks for price

setting, again subject to ALCO approval. Mirroring the regulatory
developments in France and the USA, liquidity risk management
has been centralised into the Treasury Department.

The ALCO, as well as the ALM, Treasury, and Market and
Structural Risk departments, supervise the processes of asset
and liabilities management also in other KB Group entities. All
financial risk management activities fully comply with the rules
of Czech regulatory authorities and with relevant international
banking regulations.

Price setting

The process of product price setting is organised on two levels.
The first involves the economic principle of determining a proper
benchmark in terms of current market conditions and at the level
of Komeréni banka’s portfolios (by the ALCO). The second is to
determine the price for the customer in view of a combination

of marketing objectives and product parameters from the client
perspective (by the Commercial Committee). Treasury provides
tools and supports the Bank’s business network in valuing
transactions, setting client rates, and determining exchange rate
spreads. The price-setting strategy is to offer clients products
bearing competitive interest rates while always taking into
account those costs connected with the price of liquidity and
hedging against interest rate risk. In that manner, margins and
financial stability are preserved even despite possible changes in
market conditions.

Interest rate risk in the banking book

Interest rate risk constitutes the risk of possible financial loss

or negative changes in the Group’s net interest income due to
movements in market interest rates. KB Group has divided its
business activities according to their nature into the banking book
and market book. Transactions executed with clients through

the branch network typically fall within the banking book while
operations with instruments acquired with intention of further
trading belong in the market book. Interest rate risk is measured
and managed separately for the banking and market books.

With regard to interest rate risk in the banking book, the parent
company (i.e. Komeréni banka) and Modra pyramida are the
most significant members of the Group. The Group manages its
banking book interest rate risk using such standard methods as
gap analysis and interest rate sensitivity analysis. The aim of the
Group is to minimise banking book risk and not at all to speculate
on interest rate changes. To this end, the Group has established
prudential limits.

KB uses such standard market instruments for hedging against
interest rate risk as interest rate swaps and forward rate
agreements, as well as investing in securities. All hedging and
investment transactions are immediately entered into the Bank’s
front office system, where they are recorded and priced.

As from 2018, the Group classifies financial assets pursuant

to the IFRS 9 Financial Instruments into the following business
models: for the banking book — Hold to Collect contractual

cash flows (HTC portfolio) and Hold to Collect and Sale (HTCS
portfolio) contractual cash flows, and for the trading book — Hold
to Sale. The choice of portfolio for holding an investment in the
banking book is defined by accounting requirements and the
associated internal rules (for classification of securities, the Bank
considers the business model and the nature of the cash flows).
Revaluation of the HTCS portfolio to fair value impacts upon
regulatory capital through changes in Other Comprehensive
Income (OCI). The volume of regulatory capital could be impacted
mainly by a worsening in the credit quality of bonds, whereas an
impact from movements of market interest rates is substantially
limited due to the bonds’ interest payments being hedged.
Selection of the HTC or HTCS portfolio allows for hedging an
investment against interest rate risk.

Interest rate derivatives (for hedging risk in the banking book) are
recognised pursuant to valid accounting rules (including IAS 39)
so as to achieve the most precise accounting recognition.

KB has prepared a detailed strategy for managing interest
rate risks that includes descriptions of permitted derivatives,
instructions on using them, and methods for their accounting
valuation.

Foreign exchange risk in the banking book of
KB Group

Foreign exchange risk is defined as the risk of potential loss

to the Group due to fluctuations in currency exchange rates.
The Group’s foreign exchange risk is measured and managed
on a daily basis, and its position is controlled by a system

of limits. The strategy is to minimise the impact of foreign
exchange risk in the banking book, which means essentially to
achieve neutral foreign exchange positions. For the purposes

of hedging these, the Bank uses such standard instruments as
FX spot and FX forward operations. Within the Group, foreign
exchange risk is concentrated especially in Komeréni banka
itself. The maximum open foreign exchange position of the
Group’s banking book in 2021 was less than 0.2% of the Group’s
capital, and thus it was essentially negligible. Part of foreign
exchange risk management also involves KB'’s ability to respond
quickly to market developments so as to prevent the conclusion
of economically disadvantageous transactions. Komer&ni
banka uses an automatic system for continuously monitoring
the development of market rates, and it changes those rates
used in client transactions once the market movement reaches
a predetermined threshold.

Operational risk

The overall strategy for operational risk management is
determined by the Operational Risk Committee, which also
adopts appropriate steps in case of any negative development
in the operational risk area and approves principal changes

in the insurance programme utilised for mitigating impacts of
operational risk events.
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KB has been applying the Advanced Measurement Approach
(AMA\) to operational risk management and capital requirement
calculation since 2008. Capital requirement calculation is
performed using a central model of Société Générale. In addition
to the standard tools utilised within the AMA approach, such as
collecting data on actual operational risk losses, risk control self-
assessment, key risk indicators, and scenario analysis, KB also
has implemented a system of permanent supervision composed
of daily and formalised controls. The headquarters departments
use the SG Group tool GPS (Group Permanent Supervision) to
manage and report on these formalised controls. In 2021, the
concept of “second-level controls” based on SG Group principles
was further developed, aiming at an independent review of
control setup and appropriate performance of formalised

and operational controls. The Bank continuously enhances

the effectiveness of individual operational risk management
processes, including the collection of information about internal
events. In 2021, Komeréni banka Group recorded 274 operational
risk events in a final amount of CZK 51.8 million. In a year-on-year
comparison, this represents a 31% decrease in the number of
losses and a 75% decrease of total loss volumes. Regarding net
loss volumes, fraud and other criminal acts constitute the most
significant long-term risk category.

KB participated in the SG Permanent Control Transformation
Program, which aims to further streamline operational risk
management procedures and strengthen the control environment
throughout the SG Group. As part of that programme, the Risk
Control Self-Assessment methodology was updated to even
further promote a “process” approach to risk assessment. To
reflect recent regulatory challenges on the SG Group level and

in order to mitigate the most significant risks of the Group, new
formalised controls were implemented and several controls were
updated in order to strengthen the unified approach to controls
execution within the SG Group.

To strengthen KB’s holistic approach to risk management,

the Operational Risk Department was transferred under the
Risk Management Arm in 2019 and thus the department is
currently being supervised directly by the Chief Risk Officer,

a member of KB’s Board of Directors. Co-operation within KB
Group companies in the area of operational risk management
has been ensured through the regular exchange of information
and participation of KB representatives on Operational Risk
Committees organised by major Group companies. Within

KB Group, the AMA approach is already used in four Group
companies. In addition to the Bank itself, these include Modra
pyramida, as well as two non-banking entities, SGEF and ESSOX.

KB devotes considerable effort and resources to the fight
against fraud. In order to strengthen the Bank’s ability to detect
and prevent fraudulent behaviour in the current environment,
fraud prevention units in charge of prevention and detection of
payment, credit and internal frauds were joined into a unified
department that is being supervised directly by the Chief Risk
Officer. In relation to the growth in cashless transactions, KB
noticed an increase in fraudulent attempts, especially in the
payments area. Due to effective system measures, the vast
majority of these attempts was identified and therefore no
significant material harm was caused either to KB itself or to
KB’s clients.

| Risk management

Business continuity

Business continuity management consists in developing
Komeréni banka’s structures, procedures, and resources
intended to cope with extraordinary situations in order to reduce
the potential damaging impacts these may have on the Bank;
protect the entity’s employees, clients, assets, and activities;
and enable it to continue providing basic services and thus

to protect KB'’s reputation, brands, products, processes, and
know-how while limiting the impact on KB’s financial position.
KB has developed business continuity plans for all main vital and
critical processes. These plans are regularly assessed, updated,
and tested. The system is subject to regular reviews by internal
auditors as well as regulatory authorities. KB is a part of CZ
Critical Infrastructure of Financial Sector (KIFT). The extraordinary
situation linked with Covid-19 well tested and confirmed the
robustness and efficiency of the business continuity and crisis
management setup.

Covid-19 impacts

The situation linked with Covid-19 measures brought numerous
changes across the whole organisation, and particularly in
relation to business continuity and crisis management.

Crisis management’s organisation was established at the
executive level to efficiently direct and manage all the changes
and measures. Protecting the Bank’s employees and clients was
one of the key and essential priorities.

The Bank significantly transformed its working capacity towards
remote working and remote client servicing.

To maximise protection of employees, the Bank’s staff was at
times of pandemic waves’ culminations split into four groups
with weekly rotations. In the exposed times, the Bank as well
performed regular weekly antigen testing of employees and
offered employees the possibility of being vaccinated directly in
the Bank’s premises.

All changes connected to Covid-19 measures were closely
monitored and validated by the Risk Management Arm, either
via standard validation processes involving the New Products
Committees or the Credit Risk Management Committee or in a
strict bypass management procedure that involved temporary
exemptions from standard procedures.

In response to security risks associated with remote working and
client servicing, the Bank strengthened its security measures by
(i) implementing two-factor authentication for employees using
KB Key, (ii) enhancing DLP (data leakage prevention) capabilities,
and (iii) enhancing security operating centre detection
capabilities.

Cyber and information security

Cyber and information security in Komeréni banka is technically
managed under the Chief Digital Officer, a member of the Board
of Directors. Since transformation to agile@scale delivery, the
Bank has centralised cyber security expertise in the Security
Center of Expertise, from where the overall cyber and information
security governance is managed and disseminated across

the entire organisation. A key principle followed is that every
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asset owner is responsible for the security of the owned asset
and every employee is responsible for his or her own secure
behaviour. Control over achieving defined security levels is
organised and validated by the Security Center of Expertise.

Security aspects of KB’s running services and new development
work have to be addressed in a fundamentally proper way

so that execution of workflow and its outcomes well protects

the Bank’s business, including interactions with the clients,
against foreseeable threats originating from the continually
evolving digital environment. Security aspects are considered

as fundamental features within all new developments. Komeréni
banka’s approach to protecting the digital environment is

based on an ISO/IEC 27000 methodology in order to have
end-to-end defences coverage and ensure that the key pillars

of information security — confidentiality, integrity, availability,

and non-repudiation — are properly maintained. The most

severe risks originate from the external environment and

include the likes of fraud risks, risks of attacks on our clients,
risks of penetrating the Bank’s information systems, risks of
electronic services availability loss, and risks of illegitimate

data exfiltration. The Bank does not underestimate threats that
originate from inside of the bank organisation, either, such as
internal fraud, misuse of access rights, or potential leakage of
the Bank’s confidential information. Komeréni banka employs

a broad set of preventive and detective measures as security
defences. The Bank continually monitors the external and internal
environments and assesses risks associated with changes in the
internal environment. It also continually implements regulatory
requirements for a prudent security setup that contributes to high
preventative and control standards. The adherence to internal
policies and external requirements is checked by the internal
audit department, which conducts approximately five missions
yearly on different cyber and information security topics.

Following the change in working practice with adoption of remote
working during the Covid-19 situation, the Bank continued to
support secure work of KB’s employees and partners from

their homes. This was assured through Komeréni banka’s VPN
solution, complemented by a virtual desktop solution with two-
factor authentication using the KB Key application (KB KIi¢).

The Bank faced a usual small number of phishing attempts

in 2021. These did not cause any significant interruption of
services or detriment to the internal environment. The number
of serious, publicly announced cyber security threats grew and
these were addressed immediately as they inherently brought
about heightened risk for breach of the Bank’s cyber and
information security. Those threats were quickly investigated and
mitigated by applying incident response plans or implementing
recommended fixes or patches. Strict attention was specifically
given to risk mitigations associated with critical Log4shell
vulnerability that was announced shortly before Christmas.
Komeréni banka responded instantly in line with best practice
recommendations and established monitoring has not revealed
any penetration into the internal environment. KB continued to
monitor its external perimeter security posture on an ongoing
basis through an external service provided by BitSight company,
and KB managed to sustain the high rankings achieved in 2020.

KB’s cyber and information security policies are based on Czech
as well as EU law and regulations, internal Société Générale
policies, and a family of ISO/IEC 2700x norms. For improved
transparency, they are organised in line with ISO 2700x chapters.

Security policies and standards requirements are embedded into
agile@scale development methodology and practice. Adherence
to them is validated by dedicated security resources allocated to
individual development Tribes via security assessments. Findings
and gaps are consistently recorded within IT risk management
and prioritised for mitigations with the help of IT risk dashboards
and embedded strong management attention. KB’s digital
environment is constantly monitored from a security perspective
by SOC (security operations centre). Consistent execution of key
secure practices is controlled by a set of automated controls

or periodical manual first-level controls. Organisation of the
overall security setup of KB’s internal information environment

is regularly assessed by Gartner. lts findings are utilised in
further development and adjustments. In 2021, KB continued

to pursue the wing-to-wing security improvement programme
driven by Société Générale with focus on processes and a setup
of preventative and detection measures. KB also launched

its Cyber Security Improvement initiative aimed at improved
security of the internal environment against vectors of intrusion
and lateral movements inside KB’s internal environment.

Dozens of adjustments to preventative and detection solutions
were implemented. The focus also turned to the Bank’s ability

to recover after potential loss of key applications production
data. Security as a part of the applications development

cycle remained another key area of focus in 2021. More than

30 senior developers went through dedicated cyber security
training. Developers’ outcomes started to be checked through
mandatory security gates on new digital developments, thus
making mandatory secure development techniques that had
been adopted earlier. Penetration testing practice was gradually
adjusted so it is effectively utilised as part of continuous
integration and of applications deployment. Moreover, additional
applications were integrated into centralised access management
and security monitoring systems. KB continued to address data
leakage prevention and reduced risks originating from opened
connections with co-operating partners and suppliers.

The secure behaviour of employees was promoted via continual
delivery of KB’s information security awareness programme,
including annual information security training complemented by
internal communication on actual security topics. The employees
were also kept alerted via simulated phishing attacks (at least
three times per year) and via a piloted phishing campaign.

With the aim to further mitigate risks associated with client
security, Komer&ni banka further expanded its KB Key secure
authentication method together with a new central client access
management solution. Secure two-factor authentication via KB
Key has become a dominant authentication method used by
clients. The Bank completed withdrawal from use of a solution
based on client certificates. The number of clients with active KB
Key has already risen to around 950,000. As an early adopter,
the Bank has employed BANK_ID as an additional identification
and authentication means. For bank-to-client communication,
KB started to adopt higher standards of data protection in
e-mail communication. Komeréni banka supports clients in
addressing security aspects of digital banking through its
continually updated dedicated security website (https:/www.
kb.cz/en/security). The site communicates key secure behaviour
practices and features that should help clients to stay safe in
cyberspace. It includes recommendations on how to protect
client devices and information about current threats and active
fraud schemes. Komeréni banka continues to promote use of
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IBM’s protective client security tool Trusteer Rapport for internet
and mobile banking solutions. Trusteer is focused on protection
from specific threats, such as fake, harmful websites (phishing)
and malware, and on preventing attempts to detect passwords
(e.g., keylogging). KB’s anti-fraud detection system helped to
save the money of a number of clients by detecting and blocking
suspicious payments that were made by impacted clients but on
the basis of fraudulent requests.

Komeréni banka continually monitored a defined set of key risk
indicators (KRI), such as number of security exceptions, number
and criticality of open vulnerabilities, and number of security
incidents. None of the monitored KRIs deviated from long-term
approved levels in 2021. The Bank neither recorded nor reported
during 2021 any cybersecurity incident as defined by the Cyber
Security Act No. 181/2014 Coll.

Compliance risk

Compliance risk arises from possible breaches of regulatory
rules, standards, principles of ethical conduct, and KB’s internal
regulations based on general ethical and corporate social
responsibility principles that are obligatory for all employees. Any
materialisation of this risk means the possibility of bringing KB
into conflict with regulatory authorities, institutions, or its clients.
KB could face financial penalties, reimbursement for damages
and costs for corrective measures, as well as loss of reputation
and goodwill with clients and the general public.

To manage compliance risk, KB has established a set of rules
and processes within the control and management system. KB
is scrupulously attentive to their observance. The Compliance
Department is an important part of KB’s management and control
system. It has clearly defined functions and powers to identify
these risks. Risk management rules and processes are vested in
KB’s internal regulations. Those internal regulations are regularly
communicated to all employees, and compliance with them is
regularly controlled. Senior employees are responsible for the
continuous education of their colleagues to ensure compliance
with the rules.

KB conducts a series of activities for the purposes of compliance
risk management. The first step is systematically to monitor
outputs of the relevant regulatory bodies as well as to monitor
new regulations. The next activity is continuously to co-ordinate
the implementation of the regulations within KB by creating
internal policies and procedures. Finally, there is a follow-up that
involves inspection and consulting.

KB has developed a broad basis of internal regulations within
risk management focused primarily on preventing the violation

of regulatory and ethical rules and minimising the associated
risks. The main areas relevant for KB include in particular
preventing money laundering and financing of terrorism, rules
for preventing corruption and accepting gifts, managing conflicts
of interest, rules for providing financial market services, rules

for handling insider information, distribution and advertising

of products, payment operations, protecting banking secrecy,
consumer protection, client data protection, competition, and
rules regulating advertisement. Within these areas, KB provides
training to relevant employees and informs them about new
regulatory developments. The purpose of the training is to ensure

| Risk management

understanding and compliance with regulatory requirements
while maintaining general awareness of the main principles and
rules of conduct that both KB and its employees must observe.
KB provides advice and support in the aforementioned areas
across all KB Group companies.

In the context of compliance risk management, KB strictly insists
on a zero tolerance for fraudulent and dishonest conduct of any
kind, as well as for any infringement of the pertinent regulatory
and ethical rules, whether consciously or through negligence.
Special attention is given also to reputation risks that must be
taken into account within the context of KB’s activities.

A number of mechanisms have been put into place to minimise
the risks of regulatory non-compliance by KB and its employees.
There is continuous monitoring of compliance with the rules
and subsequent controls. The results of particular controls are
regularly reviewed. KB records the findings and conclusions
from inspections carried out by regulatory institutions and
internal audit. Special attention is paid to corrective measures.
Furthermore, individual regulatory discrepancies identified
through normal banking operations are recorded and carefully
evaluated. The process of improvement is constantly being
reported to KB’s Board of Directors.

Compliance incidents are governed according to a formalised
process adopted on the basis of SG Group rules. All employees
are encouraged to avoid such incidents. In case of any
compliance failure, however, the resolution process is in
accordance with the regulatory duties and also serves as a
basis for continuous improvement. The process of compliance
incidents management comprises six key steps:

. Incident detection

. Incident qualification

. Incident investigation

. Analysis and assessment of the compliance incident
. Incident reporting

. Governance framework of the compliance incidents

OO WN =

All compliance incidents are registered and archived.
Rules of conduct

KB is aware that the professional behaviour and conduct

of its employees are basic preconditions for the successful
development of the Bank and Group. Such behaviour and
conduct are based on building open relationships with the

clients and deepening trust between KB, its employees, and

its clients and partners. KB Group has created rules for ethical
behaviour and conduct of its employees that are based on
general obligations as defined both by regulatory provisions and
by standards of professional conduct applicable to the banking
industry. These obligations consist of particular rules preventing
conflicts of interest and corruption, rules for accepting gifts,

rules preventing abuse of position, and rules against misuse of
confidential information. The principles of ethical conduct and the
necessity for upholding these rules are effective for all employees
and are defined in KB’s internal policies. A Société Générale

and KB training programme raises the awareness of ethical
conduct among KB employees. It is designed for all employees
of the Group and focuses on principles of conduct and values

for individuals and the Group as a whole. From 2022, oversight
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and assessment of issues related to ethical conduct, including
identified compliance incidents, is conducted on a regular basis
by the Appointment Committee of the Supervisory Board.

On a local level, KB has internal policies such as its Code of
Ethics, Explanatory Notes to the Code of Ethics, and other
internal policies (non-public and intended only for KB employees)
encompassing, among others, such areas as anti-discrimination
rules, conflict of interest, whistleblowing, anti-corruption and
anti-bribery, confidentiality of information, banking secrecy,
anti-competitive practices, anti-money laundering, and insider
dealing, as well as compliance with local, EU, and international
regulations regarding above all environment, health, and safety.”

KB has zero tolerance for any kind of fraudulent behaviour,
corruption and bribery, antitrust/anti-competitive business
practices, as well as discrimination or harassment in any form.
KB is fully in line with the SG Code governing the fight against
corruption and influence peddling.?

On the SG Group level, KB is bound by SG’s Code of Conduct,
which encompasses all those areas wherein SG has obligations.
It refers, among other things, to the prevention of discrimination,
confidentiality of information, conflict of interest, insider trading,
and whistleblowing. In addition, Société Générale has a specific
code dealing with tax issues®. These publicly available principles
guide the work of the Group across the globe. Therefore, they
are applied and promoted also in KB, whose website contains
information regarding corporate culture applicable to KB and
external partners®.

All employees, including those who work part-time, receive
training on the rules of conduct at the beginning of their work
relationship, after which they are trained every 2 years. In
addition, there are dedicated KB or group training courses (from
SG) that are tailored for exposed staff and conducted more
frequently or on an ad hoc basis. Only employees on maternity
leave or in long-term absence receive no new training.

Since 2020, new employees are required to sign off a document
confirming that they have read and understood the latest version
of the Code of Conduct. In addition, all applicants are informed
at an early application stage about the existence of the Code of
Conduct and SG Code governing the fight against corruption and
influence peddling, and they are asked to act according to the
rules encompassed in these two documents.

Effective implementation of the Code of Conduct is assured

by responsibilities, accountabilities, and reporting lines
systematically defined in the internal policies of KB and its
subsidiaries. The relevant contacts are available on the website
(www.kb.cz/en/about-the-bank/contacts). All employees are
encouraged to follow the rules in the Code of Conduct and SG
Code, which are linked to the remuneration principles. Internal

" Further information is available at https://www.kb.cz/en/about-the-bank/everything-
about-kb/we-do-business-br-sustainably

2 https://www.societegenerale.com/en/societe-generale-group/ethics-and-
compliance/code-of-conduct

3 https://www.societegenerale.com/en/societe-generale-group/ethics-and-
compliance/code-of-conduct

4 www.kb.cz/en/suppliers and to www.kb.cz/en/o-bance/vse-o-kb/spolecenska-
odpovednost/sest-strategickych-priorit/etika-a-odpovedne-podnikani

policy covers breaches of compliance risk by enabling the Bank
to issue warnings or a dismissal.

Efficiency of the conduct rules is continuously assessed by the
system of internal controls (First Level Controls, Second Level
Controls), regular evaluation of key risk indicators, promotion and
assessment of the whistleblowing system, regular risk mapping
of the most exposed risk areas (including anti-bribery and
corruption, conflict of interest), and training programmes followed
by tests.

The compliance system is verified on a regular basis by internal
audit, SG supervision, and the Czech National Bank. The Czech
National Bank is the supervisory authority for banks in the
Czech Republic. This supervision comprises on-site and off-site
inspections.

Generally, KB does not disclose breaches, except for systemic
breaches or serious breaches which must be disclosed according
to mandatory disclosure requirements. KB reports on breaches
to SG via intragroup reporting pool. The qualified breaches are
always reported to the CNB or other relevant authority. Following
investigations, the actual breaches would be published by such
authority on their web sites. No such breach in the area of rules of
conduct occurred in 2021.

Anti-corruption measures

The adoption and upholding of clear rules against corruption
and KB'’s zero tolerance towards any kind of corruption constitute
basic standards and a foundation for responsible business.
These are prerequisites for maintaining and strengthening the
position of the Group and its place in the competitive market.
KB’s anti-corruption measures are targeted at KB itself and its
business activities, employees of KB, as well as third parties,
including clients, suppliers, and financial service providers. The
rules and principles adopted to fight corruption and bribery, are
anchored in the internal policies and are elements of mandatory
training for all employees.

KB has implemented rules for how to indicate bribery and
corruption risks related to a client. The assessment includes
geographical indicators (based on the level of corruption in

a country involved), features of the transaction, and relevant
news flow. An increased level of risk may trigger a need for an
enhanced due diligence (EDD) process.

To comply with the rules on combating corruption, suppliers and
others of KB’s business partners also are bound by obligatory
contractual clauses. KB has a procedure for establishing a
business relationship with a new business partner. KB always
requires the execution of due diligence by checking adverse
information relating to a natural person or legal entity, such as
information on conducting administrative or criminal proceedings
relating to money laundering or financing of terrorism, corruption,
fraud, tax evasion, sanctions, or negative experience of KB.
There is a scoring model for the risk rating of the new business
partner determining low, medium-low, medium-high, and high
risk. Risk factors are evaluated on the basis of geography (with
separate ratings for bribery and corruption and for money-
laundering risks), industry, reputation (negative news, corruption,
bribery, fraud), sanctions, and politically exposed persons (PEP)
screening data. Business partners with red flags on such factors
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are rated as high risk. High-risk business partners must be
approved by KB and SG compliance departments.

Upon establishing a new relationship with an intermediary
(financial service provider), KB always conducts due diligence
according to the regulatory requirements in relation to financial
crime. The risk rating model for financial service providers is
similar to that for clients, including the requirement for two-
level approvals. The contract contains anti-corruption clauses
compliant with internal policy.

To date, KB has no knowledge of any external investigation of
breaches of anti-corruption or anti-bribery rules in relation to it.

The Compliance Department is responsible for establishing the
rules against corruption. As a result of SG Group emphasis in
this area, KB has implemented numerous measures, such as
by amending its internal policy on anti-corruption, establishing
stricter rules for offering and accepting gifts and invitations

to employees, launching a database tool for recording such
gifts and invitations, and setting up monitoring and control of
adherence to the rules. In addition, all respective managers
have received face-to-face training from the Compliance
Department.

The Compliance Department is also responsible to establish

the rules on prevention of bribery. These rules comply with SG’s
group-wide policies and its anti-bribery code. The respective
rulebook is updated on a continuous basis and covers mainly
areas regarding whistleblowing, gifts, refreshments, external
events, procedures for third-party assessments, rules for sports
donations, rules for charity donations, mergers and acquisitions,
and lobbying.

There were no substantiated cases of corruption and bribery
in the last four fiscal years. There are no ongoing external
investigations by local or international authorities.

Policy influence

KB and its employees strictly follow the rules for asserting the
Bank’s interests with public authorities (lobbying). Employees
of KB who will carry out advocacy activities must comply with
the rules and provisions relating to the fight against corruption
and influence peddling, as described in the SG Code governing
the fight against corruption and influence peddling and the
anti-bribery rules, as well as KB’s internal Advocacy policy.

In addition, they must undergo mandatory training specific

to the fight against corruption relating to the identification of
staff exposed to corruption, and they may report any situation
that could constitute a violation of internal, legal, or regulatory
standards via whistleblowing.

KB employees may represent the views and standpoints of KB

in professional associations and other bodies of which KB is a
member (e.g. the Czech Banking Association). A KB employee
can enter into a negotiation with a public/state representative,

but in such case he or she must act in his or her capacity as a
representative of a professional association. In principle, the views
of KB employees are taken as those of the association and not of
the Bank and therefore are not regarded to constitute lobbying.

| Risk management

Contributions to political campaigns or organisations or other
groups whose role is to influence political campaigns or public
policy and legislation are prohibited by internal policies. KB
strictly follows a course of political neutrality and refrains from
supporting any political organisations or activities through
donations or subsidies, even where local law so permits. The
only contributions — in the form of standard membership fees —
were made in 2021 to industry or trade associations (such as the
Czech Banking Association) in the amount of CZK 9.5 million.

Proactive identification and reporting of potential
risks, whistleblowing

A system for proactive identification and effective reporting of
potential risks (whistleblowing) is regarded as one of the main
tools for managing compliance risks within KB.

Rules for the right to blow the whistle and rules for investigation
of received alerts were completely updated in KB during

2021, and this area is newly defined in separate internal
instructions reflecting Société Générale Group requirements and
requirements of the EU Directive on protection of whistleblowers.

The right to blow the whistle provides an opportunity for everyone
to notify (‘speak up’) without fear of retaliation or sanctions when
they believe there has been a breach of internal policy, laws,

or regulations that a received instruction, a transaction under
consideration, or more generally a particular situation of which
they become aware does not comply with the rules governing

the conduct of the Group’s activities or the ethical standards
expected or that they believe may be in breach of laws and
regulations.

A whistleblower can be any employee, external and temporary
staff, and, as part of the duty of care, any service provider with
whom an established commercial relationship is maintained
(suppliers or subcontractors). Whistleblowers may exercise their
whistleblowing right through their supervisors or the Compliance
Department in any possible way. It is also possible to use a
dedicated e-mail box (whistleblowing@kb.cz). A whistleblowing
alert also may be submitted to Société Générale via a secured
anonymous whistleblowing web tool.”

Focused training of employees

KB has a training system for the employees. Training courses
are allocated to employees according to their work duties,
putting emphasis on mandatory training courses applicable to all
employees (all staff) and those applicable to specific positions
(targeted population).

All employees are obliged to complete the training courses
regarding workplace safety, fire safety, compliance and ethical
code, risk management culture, safety minimum, reputation
risk, e-starting, internal policies, anti-money laundering, and tax
transparency (including FATCA).

Employees selected according to their work positions must

complete special certifications and training courses on special
regulation or training courses for certain positions, such as

" https://report.whistleb.com/en/societegenerale
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managers and team leaders. Workers participating in sales of
selected products, such as consumer loans, insurance policies,
pension policies, or investment instruments, must achieve
professional qualifications as prescribed by the regulation.

All employees receive training at the beginning of their work
relationship and then it is regularly renewed every other year. In
addition, there are dedicated training courses that are tailored for
exposed staff and conducted more frequently. Only employees
on maternity leave or in long-term absence receive no new
training.

The completion of mandatory training courses is monitored. In
case mandatory training is not completed, the employees and
their managers are automatically notified by the system on a
monthly basis. The administrator of the training is notified on a
quarterly basis.

Product development and offer

KB is continuously developing a number of new products with
the objective of satisfying the needs of clients from various
segments. Their parameters, processes, and related risks are
analysed in advance and approved by the responsible units,
including oversight units (the Risk Management, Legal, and
Compliance departments). This ensures compliance with
laws and regulations. When offering products to clients in the
distribution network, the suitability of a given product for a
specific client is evaluated, and the client’s needs are taken into
consideration. KB follows the principle of responsible lending
and provides the clients with all information regarding its
products in a clear and transparent manner.

All new products and significant changes of current products
must be evaluated by a dedicated New Product Committee which
assesses also all risks relevant to the product or its change,
including potential risks for the clients.

Product sales and advertisement
Sales of all products comply with the applicable regulations.

Remuneration of staff in retail as well as corporate banking
always takes into consideration also qualitative compliance
criteria, which are based on the regulatory requirements, such as
the EBA guidelines on remuneration. The distribution network is
bound by the rules of responsible banking and obligation to act
in the best interest of the customer when offering a product (with
additional requirements stipulated for selected products, such as
insurance policies and investment instruments). KB’s motivational
system ensures that customer satisfaction is taken into account
as part of performance assessment and when assessing the
variable remuneration payout, and infringement of a compliance
rule may result in its decrease by 10% to 100%.

All advertisements and communication with the clients are
approved in advance by the Compliance Department with regard
to consumer protection rules and the other rules concerning
financial products.

Environmental and social risks

Komeréni banka has implemented a system for identifying and
managing environmental and social risks (ESRM) in the provision
of financing to the Bank’s corporate clients from the viewpoint
of potential damage or negative effects on environment, health
and safety, human rights, and basic freedoms. These factors
may lead to a potential non-compliance with KB’s rules and
commitments, with obligations from applicable regulations or
with environmental and social commitments of Société Générale
Group, as well as to negative impact on KB’s reputation or even
giving rise to a credit risk exposure, including from physical
damage to a client’s assets due to such environmental or social
factors as climate change or industrial accidents.

Jitka Haubova, member of the Board of Directors, is in charge

of overseeing the processes of ESG risks management and the
whole sustainability approach in KB. Within KB Group, besides

at KB, the ESRM rulebooks are fully applicable at Factoring KB
and SGEF. The ESRM system will be implemented at ESSOX in
2022. In each subsidiary, there is an environmental and social risk
co-ordinator in charge of ESRM implementation and supervision
over compliance with the Group’s ESRM regulations. Their
approaches are co-ordinated with ESRM experts of the Bank.

Implementation of this system is a condition for long-term
successful development of KB’s business and it relates also

to SG Group’s commitments. In 2007, SG Group committed to
adopting the Equator Principles, a voluntary framework of rules
for evaluating environmental and social risks when financing
projects. SG Group also is a founding member of UNEP-FI (the
United Nations Environmental Programme Financial Initiative)
and of the Equator Principles. In 2019, SG became a signatory
to the so-called Principles of Responsible Banking, thereby
committing to considering principles of sustainable banking in
all its activities, including to adopt its own goals for supporting
the Paris Climate Agreement.

KB respects business restrictions related to the provision of
banking services and products for trading in certain types of
weapons, ammunition, or other military goods and technologies.
KB does not finance transaction related to export of weapons
and military equipment to countries involved in wars and armed
conflicts and to undemocratic and authoritarian regimes. These
restrictions also cover individual private or state entities or
business groups whose activities are considered within the
weapons industry to be non-transparent.

In the area of environmental and social responsibility, KB is also
guided by specific sector policies of the SG financial group
governing the provisions of financial products in areas that can
have fundamental impact on the natural or social environment.
These specific sector policies cover areas of mining and
utilisation of steam coal, heating, armaments and defence
industry, nuclear power and plants, dams and water plants,
agriculture, food industry, forestry, oil, gas and petrochemicals,
mining of raw materials, processing of palm oil, shipping. The
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sector policies are available on KB’s website" (as well as that of
SG2).

The ESRM system stipulates procedures for assessment of these
risks during onboarding of new clients, annual review of limits,
providing of financing to clients in corporate segments, and for
transactions covered by the Equator Principles.

The main aims of the ESRM system are to make sure that the
Bank does not finance entities participating in excluded activities
(by listing such entity in the SG Exclusion List shared across the
whole Société Générale Group); that the Bank carefully assesses
the environmental and social risk when servicing clients in
sensitive sectors; that all servicing of clients and transactions
are in accordance with the applicable environmental, labour, and
social regulations; and that a client or transaction is not linked

to a significant reputation or credit risk due to environmental or
social factors.

In co-operation with the SG Group, KB commenced in 2021
implementation of EBA guidelines on loan origination and on
EBA standards on Pillar 3 for physical and transition climate
risks. The climate transition risks already have been considered
during assessment of credit risks of transactions in four sensitive
sectors (metallurgy, mining, transport, and automotive) according
to a specifically defined Climate Vulnerability Indicator of the
client. This tool evaluates financial capacities of the clients for
transition of their business activities potentially induced by the
changing regulations, market demand, externalities, and new
technologies.

The process of environmental and social (E&S) risk assessment
is closely linked with the KYC process. E&S risk assessment

of new clients is regularly conducted along with the renewal of

a credit line. Besides when accepting a new client or during a
regular review, need for assessment may be also triggered by
the client’s application for a new product or a service, or even
during a review or adjustment of the assessment procedure itself.
Other important changes relevant to the client, such as a change
of ownership, reputational or legal controversy, or a change of
applicable laws, may also lead to a need for a new assessment.
Acceptance of the business relationship with the client may be
subject to an agreement on a programme of resolving the risk
identified during the assessment.

In 2021, the policies for mining, oil and gas extraction and
processing, agriculture and forestry, as well as for protection
of biodiversity were amended. From 2022, evaluation of E&S
aspects will also involve corporate clients' approach to ESG
strategy, reduction of greenhouse gases emissions, energy
savings and circular economy. At the same time, KB will
incentivise and support activities of clients addressing these
issues.

" https://www.kb.cz/en/about-the-bank/everything-about-kb/we-do-business-br-
sustainably/economic-br-sustainability

2 https://www.societegenerale.com/en/publications-documents?search=&theme=rse
&category=politiques-sectorielles&year=&op=Filter
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Crime prevention, measures against money laundering
(AML), financing of terrorism, and circumvention of
international sanctions

KB exerts maximum efforts to prevent the abuse of its services
for any purposes relating to money laundering and the financing
of terrorism or circumvention of international sanctions. It applies
rules, methods, and verification procedures in compliance with
the corresponding legal regulations, norms, and rules of the

SG financial group. In the area of preventing money laundering
and financing of terrorism, the Compliance Department focused
during 2021 on adjusting the internal control system following
adoption of an amendment to Act No. 253/2008 Coll., on Certain
Measures against the Legalisation of Proceeds from Criminal
Activity and the Financing of Terrorism (AML Act) and Decree

of the Czech National Bank No. 67/2018 Coll. on Selected
Requirements for the System of Internal Rules, Procedures and
Control Measures Against Legitimisation of Proceeds of Crime
and Financing of Terrorism and Act No. 37/2021 Coll. on the
Registration of Beneficial Owners. It also created conditions

for updating internal processes and rules in accordance with
programmes of Société Générale Group.

KB’s internal prevention system is periodically verified and
updated. Information in this area is periodically shared with the
employees in the forms of, for example, operational reports and
training classes and/or e-learning courses. KB has an established
system for monitoring all transactions and business relationships.
Publicly available policies or procedures cover mainly know-
your-customer standards, such as customer identification, due
diligence, terrorist financing, and politically exposed persons.?

KB has publicly available procedures in place to ensure the
effective establishment and implementation of a company culture
opposing money laundering and terrorism financing.?

These documents refer to the information requested from

clients regarding customer due diligence. Formal policies

and procedures include customer verification based on

reliable, independent source documents, data, or information;
identification of beneficial owner; and conducting ongoing due
diligence on business relationships. In line with regulations, KB
conducts screenings against applicable lists of sanctions and
embargoes issued by competent authorities having jurisdiction
over the relevant financial institutions and SG Group as a whole
on a daily basis as well as lists of politically exposed persons
(PEP) at the beginning of a relationship, then quarterly on the
whole client portfolio. In 2020, KB prohibited opening accounts
for clients without prior screening against the lists of sanctions,
PEP, and exclusions (black list). In the case of PEP, each client is
requested during an onboarding process to provide a declaration
as to source of wealth, which is then recorded in a special
database. Subsequently, clients are screened on a regular basis.
The power to approve PEP is delegated to the head of the Anti-
Money Laundering Unit (or his or her deputy) and the head of the
relevant business unit.

3 https://www.kb.cz/en/about-the-bank/documents

4 https://www.kb.cz/getmedia/650c8072-d4e2-481d-9d0a-6545f9a968ff/Summary-
of-AML-policies-and-procedures-or-AML-and-KYC-data-2020.pdf.aspx; https://
www.kb.cz/getmedia/cc2f6688-3855-4a4f-9f4f-6047e2d654f/kb-identification-
and-verification-of-clients.pdf.aspx
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In all business relationships with its clients and other commercial
partners, KB diligently applies the “know-your-client” (KYC),
“know-your-supplier” (KYS), and “know-your-financial service
provider” (KYP) rules as defined by both local laws and
regulations and internal policy. KYC rules are applied according
to client types, including natural person, professional, and legal
entity (and specifically corporations, banks, asset managers,
retail and limited member funds, other financial institutions,
non-profit organisations, and governments). Based on the client
type and existence of defined riskiness criteria updated as per
the new AML Act, including country-based risk, identification
risk, reputational risk, and dynamic product and transaction data
(e.g. date of the entity’s establishment, date of its onboarding,
identification of the ultimate beneficial owner, legal form of

the entity, non-face-to-face onboarding, entity size, negative
news, corruption risk, sanctions incident or sanction hit, PEP
identification, suspicious activity report, transactions with
high-risk or medium high-risk countries, suspicious behaviour

of a client, source of wealth, source of funds), each client is
expected to submit a pertinent set of documents when opening
an account. A natural person is required to submit mainly
documents proving identity and address, tax return, and FATCA
questionnaire. In addition to the requirement to submit the same
documents as natural persons, entrepreneurs are required to
submit the statement of activities and business licence and to
complete a sanctions questionnaire. Legal entities must always
submit documents proving their existence, the identity of the
executive directors, copy of identity card for management/control
structures and ownership, including an extract from the evidence
of ultimate beneficial owners, as well as documents showing the
income and business activity of the client, tax return or annual
report, sanction questionnaire, and a declaration of business
activities. If explicit or very specific knowledge regarding clients’
activities is needed, some other documents are required during
the onboarding KYC procedure or during regular verification of
KYC validity and accuracy (i.e. AML policy or similar document,
license, status of the company). A new onboarding process,
developed in co-operation with Société Générale, was stipulated
for banks.

There are two possibilities for how to proceed with non-face-
to-face identification while ensuring the same standard of KYC:
by online application or by courier. Both require the client to
submit two documents proving identity and other documents
relevant for a legal entity. Online onboarding is offered only for
Czech citizens. The information requirements and requested
documentation are available at https://www.kb.cz/online/
welcome/muj-ucet-plus.

In 2021, KB concluded successfully a dedicated KYC project
that had begun in 2019, its principal goal being to improve
efficiency of the whole KYC process. Further development and
automatisation of KYC processes comprised, for example,
digital onboarding of clients, periodic reviews, and monitoring
of trigger events. Development in digitalisation is ongoing via
the development of an application for AML client risk rating
categorisation (kAMiLa) in line with SG rules and the AML Act.
The binding rules cover all recognised international standards
on AML/CFT, as well as reputation and business ethics risk
viewpoints. KB progressively is improving and adjusting the
processes to reflect the quickly changing regulatory environment,
lessons learned from issues of the world’s banking players, and

constantly changing consequences of the sanctions to which
KB must react.

During 2021, a total 8,791 business cases or applications to
establish business relationships were further analysed by the
Compliance Department. Consequently, 728 client relationships
were recommended for termination and 426 clients were refused
for onboarding.

Records are kept for 10 years from the end of a relationship with
the client. An annual independent assessment of monitoring
procedures is conducted.

All employees, including senior management, are requested on
an annual basis to complete training courses and/or e-learning
with final tests in the areas of anti-money laundering and
countering the financing of terrorism, know-your-customer, anti-
bribery, and anti-corruption. The intranet-based training includes
case studies and computer-based training with self-assessment.
Face-to-face training by the Compliance Department is
mandatory for selected employees.

Tools used for monitoring transactions in relation to money
laundering include the following:

a) Siron AML, an application used on a daily basis that
automatically detects non-standard/risk transactions of
clients in the AML/Countering Financing Terrorism area
(generating AML alerts). Altogether, 37 indicators/scenarios of
risk behaviour/type of transactions are set up.

b) AML application is a system providing mutual communication
between the AML unit and responsible employees (i.e.
evaluation and recording of feedback, reporting suspicious
transactions, etc.).

In 2021, the AML unit:

* investigated 60,577 cases received from different KB units
(in 2020: 48,439; in 2019: 775; in 2018: 815; the year-on-year
increase in the number was caused by adopting of new rules
for acceptance of clients and transactions and setting up of
seven new risk scenarios);

¢ notified 593 suspicious transactions to the Financial Analysis
Unit by the Czech Ministry of Finance (FAU) (in 2020: 444; in
2019: 248; in 2018: 212);

e processed 1,288 inquiries from the FAU (in 2020: 1,135; in
2019: 1,469; in 2018: 1,503);

e in 225 cases followed orders (of which 150 requested by
a bank and 75 cases requested by the FAU) for execution
deferrals or account/client blocking (in 2020: 687; in 2019: 165;
in 2018: 293); and

e in 337 cases initiated termination of existing contractual
relationships (in 2020: 351; in 2019: 532; in 2018: 559).

c) AMLCOM is an application for correspondent banking
screening of transactions implemented in February 2020.
Evaluation of alerts is under the control of the KB Compliance
Department.
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From different KB units, 1,393 cases received were investigated
(in 2020: 1,373), 59 of which were subject to enhanced due
diligence (in 2020: 46). KB reported to the FAU 14 transactions to
which KB acted as a correspondent bank.

KB has developed sophisticated measures against circumvention
of international sanctions, including to check on a daily basis
KB’s entire client portfolio against sanctions lists, check all
foreign transactions for potential violations of sanctions, as well
as check the products and services, especially those involving
foreign trade and export.

In 2021, KB evaluated 14,743 hits (2020: 59,094) on KB clients
with potential risk of breach of sanctions. The vast majority
of these hits was evaluated as false. No significant breach

of sanctions was detected. Nevertheless, several business
relationships with clients did have to be terminated.

In 2021, KB performed a deeper analysis of 7,511 foreign
transactions (2020: 5,980) in order to eliminate the risk of breach
of international sanctions (EU and USD-related sanctions in
particular). Of these transactions, 7,149 were held by SG Paris
and 362 transactions were held by a correspondent bank of

SG New York. In total, 347 transactions were blocked and not
executed as a result of this control.

All these transactions are checked online in real time. They
require mainly (but not solely) detailed analyses of clients’
activities, the rationale for the transactions, and relationships with
counterparties.

Client data protection

KB respects protection of clients’ personal data and data
covered by banking secrecy. Transparent handling of data and
its maximum security are considered essential to fulfilling KB’s
regulatory obligations and maintaining responsible business
operations and long-term relationships with clients.

The Bank has a set of internal rules and policies to ensure
personal data protection for all data subjects — clients,
employees, and suppliers. All information on processing of client
data is provided in a set of documents that is available on KB’s
website", including the document Information on Processing of
Personal Data for Clients. This document provides the clients

or third parties whose data are or may be processed with
relevant information regarding the legal basis for personal data
processing, the purpose, what personal data are processed,
where the personal data is obtained, who are the processors
and receivers of the personal data, for how long the data is
stored, what legal rights the clients have, and what legal acts are
binding upon the Bank regarding personal data protection. All
relevant information referred to in the GDPR is covered. A set of
documents with related information relevant for data protection
(consents, debt registers, etc.) is also available there.

There is also information provided on processing personal data

of employees, job candidates, contractors ,and employees of
external partners.?

" https://www.kb.cz/en/protection-of-personal-data
2 https://www.kb.cz/en/protection-of-personal-data#informationforemployees

| Risk management

The suppliers (data processors) must also meet all standards for
protection of clients’ personal data and data covered by banking
secrecy. These requirements are defined in GDPR clauses
included in the contract and in other requirements assigned to
suppliers. These requirements are transparently communicated
on KB’s website.?

GDPR governance is systematically defined and set up in KB

and the Group entities. Breaches of the privacy policy are
independently evaluated by the data privacy officer (DPO),

who recommends actions to be taken. In addition, the DPO is
responsible for consultations with the Office for Personal Data
Protection. Breaches of GDPR by an employee might result in
disciplinary procedures. The privacy policy is a part of the regular
internal audit plan. No issues related to data protection were
raised during 2021.

During 2021, KB Group companies received in total 60 inquiries
or complaints from outside parties concerning customer
privacy, 4 of which were received via the regulator. No penalty or
corrective action was incurred.

Supplier relationships

In relationships with its suppliers, Komeréni banka is committed
to honouring all legal regulations as well as to protection of the
environment, social and human rights, and the principles of
sustainable development. KB has implemented the common
sourcing principles of Société Générale, which it perceives also
as a prudent risk management approach.

The sourcing rules include, among others, rules for assessing
risks and obtaining adequate information before making a
decision on concluding or maintaining a business relationship
with a supplier — so-called know-your-supplier (KYS) rules.

These rules enable the Group to identify those suppliers exposed to
a risk of bribery or corruption and to manage such risks, to prevent
co-operation with suppliers in breach of applicable regulations in
the areas of taxes, anti-money laundering and financing of terrorism,
and corruption or who might be involved in an illegal activity. The
Bank verifies, in accordance with applicable conditions, statutory
representatives of the suppliers, their beneficial owners, and
politically exposed persons linked to the suppliers.

The KYS principles are included in KB’s internal rulebook. The
KYS policy also stipulates limits for the value of purchases. The
rules apply to the suppliers of non-financial services as well as for
the suppliers of goods and other products. Several units within
KB and Group are involved in KYS activities.

Before concluding a new business relationship with a supplier,
KB checks that the supplier’s consideration does not generate
a risk of corruption. It conducts identification of the supplier and
its statutory representatives and verifies that these persons are
not recorded in the lists of information held in order to prevent
money laundering and financing of terrorism. The suppliers are
also checked against registers such as the EU Sanctions List,
sanctions and embargoes of the USA, and lists of the United
Nations Security Council. The KYS rules include also processes

3 https://www.kb.cz/en/suppliers
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for establishing relationships with suppliers from sectors sensitive
from the perspective of sustainability (e.g. the energy sector).

KB Group will not enter into a business relationship unless all
required information is provided and all conditions are met.

More stringent requirements are applied to a supplier with
higher level of risk, identified according to pre-determined
indicators (e.g. PEP, link to a high-risk country). These stringent
requirements must be satisfied before entering into the business
relationship as well as during the regular review of suppliers and
daily screening of the list of suppliers.

According to the risk assessment of suppliers, KB determines
frequency of the reviews and it may require to conduct an
enhanced due diligence. Enhanced due diligence must be
conducted in particular when riskiness of the supplier has
been assessed as medium-high or high, or if the supplier has
a representation agreement and a connection to government,
or if there is a PEP. In enhanced due diligence, KB researches
via public sources the ethical framework of the supplier
(measures against corruption, code of conduct, etc.), possibly
to include screening of the supplier’s reputation, its statutory
representatives and other executives, identification of beneficial
owners and their records on the lists of sanctions, PEPs or
negative information.

In case that the KB Group’s employee notices a risk indicator
during the due diligence process or at any time when pursuing
the business relationship, he or she must inform the Compliance
Department. A non-exhaustive list of risk indicators is a part

of KB’s internal instruction. The signature authorisation for
conclusion of a business relationship as well as escalation
procedures are based on results of the supplier’s risk
assessment.

Every contract with a supplier must include clauses on international
sanctions and against corruption and it may include also clauses
related to corporate social responsibility or other clauses required
by law or KB’s rules. Old contracts which do not include relevant
clauses must be adapted upon the next renewal. KB informs all
suppliers before signing a contract on applicability of the SG Code
of Conduct and SG Code governing the fight against corruption
and influence peddling. All contracts with a link to information and
information technologies contain IT security clauses.

No payment to a supplier may be executed without relevant
substantiation and the consideration provided to any supplier
must be commensurate with market prices. KYS documentation
is archived for at least 5 years from the date of the business
relationship’s termination.

Efficacy of the KYS process is measured against a set of Key
Performance Indicators, including specific indicators for purchases
with more stringent KYS requirements. First Level Controls (FLC)
are set for making sure that the KYS process is always correctly
followed. The FLCs are independently reviewed by Second Level
Controls. Remedial steps must be implemented each time a
shortcoming or an deficiency is identified in the KYS process.

In 2021, KB reviewed fulfiiment of KYS requirements on the
portfolio of suppliers selected upon pre-determined criteria. This
KYS remediation involved detailed reviews at 64 suppliers. No
need for termination of a business relationship was identified at

any of the suppliers, but some clauses, typically anti-corruption,
were updated or added to several contracts.

Protecting economic competition

KB had previously introduced an internal directive covering
protection of competition based upon both general obligations as
established by regulatory provisions and on the standards of SG
Group. This regulation describes the regulatory framework, risk
areas concerning the banking sector, and behaviour of individual
employees in negotiating with third parties and with the regulator
so that the employees are sufficiently informed regarding risks
and methods for avoiding them. Selected employees also are
subject to internal training in this area. Employees negotiating on
the Bank’s behalf at the level of the Czech Banking Association
also undertake to uphold the rules of the Czech Banking
Association in this area.

KB did not incur any fines or settlements related to anti-
competitive business practices in the past four fiscal years, nor is
it currently involved in any ongoing investigations related to anti-
competitive practices.

Governing law

As an issuer of publicly traded securities, during 2019 Komeréni
banka was governed in its activities particularly by the following
laws:

e Act No. 21/1992 Coll., the Banking Act;

e Act No. 256/2004 Coll., on Capital Market Undertakings;

e Act No. 90/2012 Coll., on Business Corporations and
Co-operatives;

e Act No. 257/2016 Coll., on Consumer Credit;

e Act No. 284/2009 Coll., the Payment Systems Act;

e Act No. 170/2018 Coll., on Distribution of Insurance and
Reinsurance;

e Act No. 253/2008 Coll., on Selected Measures against the
Legitimisation of Proceeds from Criminal Activity and the
Financing of Terrorism (AML Act);

e Act No. 69/2006 Coll., on Implementation of International

Sanctions;

Act No. 300/2016 Coll., on the Central Register of Accounts;

Act No. 563/1991 Coll., on Accounting;

Act No. 37/2021 Coll., on the Registration of Beneficial Owners;

Act No. 101/2000 Coll., on Personal Data Protection;

Act No. 143/2001 Coll., on Protection of Economic

Competition;

e Act No. 136/2011 Coll., on the Circulation of Banknotes and
Coins;

e Act No. 190/2004 Coll., on Bonds;

Act No. 240/2013 Coll., on Investment Companies and

Investment Funds;

Act No. 89/2012 Coll., the Civil Code;

Act No. 277/2013 Coll., on Foreign Exchange Activities;

Act No. 634/1992 Coll., on Consumer Protection;

General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (GDPR);

Regulation (EU) No. 596/2014, on Market Abuse;

Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 on Prudential Requirements

for Credit Institutions and Investment Firms and Related

Implementing Regulations of the European Commission; and

e Regulation (EU) No. 648/2012 on OTC Derivatives, Central
Counterparties and Trade Repositories (EMIR).
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These regulations entail the main legal basis for the Bank’s
operations. In addition to what is stated above, the Bank’s
activities must also comply with a number of other regulations,
government decrees, implementing regulations, guidelines and
other documents issued by European bodies.

Penalty incurred

KB Group companies did not incur any financial or non-
financial penalties or regulatory sanctions, except that Modra
pyramida was fined by the Czech National Bank in the amount
of CZK 500,000 on 31 November 2021 for shortcomings in its
internal control system and in communication with clients during
provision of consumer loans, insurance policies, and investment
instruments. Modra pyramida has adopted corrective measures
in response to these findings and informed the CNB about those
measures. Furthermore, the CNB conducted legal proceedings
with KB and with Modra pyramida regarding alleged violation of
Art. 117(1) of the Consumer Credit Act stipulating the right of a
consumer to repay early its consumer loans and conditions for
such early repayment.

Legal risk

Managing legal risk consists in minimising uncertainty associated
with enforcement and interpretation of legal acts, contracts,
regulations, and laws. KB Group applies a variety of techniques,
procedures, and tools, including regular monitoring of proposed
and adopted legislation, close co-operation among the legal
teams within KB Group, a system of continuous education of

and specialisation among lawyers, detailed documentation,

and evaluation of outputs, and, last but not least, a set of
corresponding control mechanisms to manage legal risks.

In addition to standard legal functions within such various areas
as contracts, banking, and corporate law, the main tasks of KB’s
lawyers during 2021 involved support of KB’s main strategic
goals, including preparation of the new digital bank, support of
banking identity services, co-operation in preparing the National
Development Fund, and continuous digitisation of meetings

of statutory bodies of KB and other KB Group companies. KB
lawyers also supported implementation of the legislation adopted
in connection with the pandemic situation in the Czech Republic.

Significant legal disputes

With respect to its overall financial situation, Komeréni banka
considers as significant all litigations involving principal amounts
exceeding CZK 10 million and any bankruptcy proceeding

in which the Bank is a creditor with a claim exceeding

CZK 50 million.

As of 31 December 2021, KB Group was a party to 9 significant
legal proceedings as a plaintiff. The principal that was the subject
of these legal proceedings totalled CZK 425 million. KB Group
was a bankruptcy creditor with a claim exceeding CZK 50 million
in 17 bankruptcy proceedings. The total of claims filed in relation
to these proceedings was CZK 2.7 billion. As of 31 December
2021, KB Group was a party to a total of 4 significant legal
proceedings as a defendant. The principal that was the subject
of these legal proceedings totalled CZK 493 million.

| Risk management

Information concerning the provisions created for litigations

in which the Group is a defendant is stated in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements according to IFRS, Note 37 —
“Commitments and contingent liabilities”.

Internal audit

The internal audit function in KB Group is organisationally
supervised by the Chief Executive Officer of KB and regularly
reports about its activities to the Audit Committee of the Bank.

The main tasks of KB Internal Audit include assessing the
functionality and effectiveness of risk management, control
processes, and the Bank’s corporate governance, as well as
contributing to improving the organisation’s overall operational
effectiveness.

KB Internal Audit is integrated into the organisation of the

global division of Internal Audit within SG Group. In addition to
conducting audits at KB, it also provided coverage for KB Group
subsidiaries and SG Group entities in the Central European
region. The strategic goals of Internal Audit are primarily focused
on covering major risks and the most important activities of

the Group, including fulfilment of all regulatory requirements.
Internal Audit’s engagements are driven by the annual Audit Plan
prepared mainly based on assessments of the risks and priority
areas. In 2021, 51 audit missions were carried out, of which 15
were performed in KB Group subsidiaries and 1 was conducted
across the KB Group, including the Bank itself. Thirty-five audits
performed within the Bank covered both the distribution network
and head office units. In total, 171 recommendations addressing
issues identified by audit engagements were implemented

within KB Group during 2021. Out of these, 29 were given
significant priority. The Bank maintained a low number of long-
term unresolved recommendations. As of 31 December 2021, 9

recommendations had been outstanding for more than 18 months.

A review of the remuneration system in KB, which focused mainly
on the fulfilment of CRD IV requirements, was carried out. That
review identified no significant shortcomings.

In its regular report to KB’s Board of Directors, the Audit
Committee, and the Supervisory Board, Internal Audit evaluated
the Bank’s internal control system and declared it effective.

Using a methodology shared across the entire SG Group, the
plan for 2022 draws upon outcomes from a risk assessment, the
5-year audit cycle, and regulatory requirements.

Internal control and approach to risks in the
process of accounting and preparing financial
statements

The Bank uses a number of tools in several areas to ensure true
and accurate presentation of facts in the accounting and proper
compilation of financial statements. These begin with tools

for proper recording of individual transactions, include various
controls, and finally involve preparing the statements and their
control.
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The tools used for proper recording of transactions, events,
trades, and the like in the accounting include, in particular, the
selection of appropriate systems (applications) for their recording
and processing, thorough testing during their implementation,
maximum automation of all repetitive processes, and managing
of access rights to individual systems. Setting up systems,
processes, and controls is always formally governed by the
Bank’s internal regulations.

Compliance of those accounting methods employed with IFRS
in particular is ensured by an independent department that
regularly monitors developments in these standards and

other regulatory rules, analyses effects ensuing therefrom,

and implements the standards in co-operation with relevant
departments. For more information on the rules used, see
Notes to the Separate Financial Statements, Note 3 — “Principal
accounting policies” and Note 43 - “Risk management and
financial instruments”.

The Bank utilises a system of defining responsibilities for
individual ledger accounts (the so-called ownership system)
under which a particular employee authorised to transact with
the account and an employee responsible for account analysis
are assigned to each account of the general ledger. The control
over account analysis includes, in particular, the duty to specify
at any time the account balance and to monitor its balance and
movements, as well as responsibility for documentary stock
taking of accounts. The control over account analysis also
involves the reconciliation of data in supporting systems relating
to the data in the general ledger at specified regular intervals.

The area of control tools may be divided into two parts: control
as to the accuracy of input data and follow-up control over the
consistency and integrity of the functioning and accounting of
the individual systems. Control over the accuracy of input data
is performed especially in the Retail Banking, Corporate and
Municipal Banking, and Transaction and Payment Services arms
within the First Level Control system, which constitutes the basis
of the Bank’s internal control system. The First Level Control
system establishes the control activities of the management
employees so that there occurs oversight over operational risks
arising from the activities of the relevant departments; monitoring
of the quality, effectiveness, and reliability of the established
work procedures; verification of the employees’ compliance with
the applicable regulations and procedures; and determination of
corrective measures in cases when deficiencies are identified.

Follow-up control is carried out in particular by the Accounting
and Reporting Department, which expressly checks the data

in the accounting by means of analytical procedures. The main
analytical procedures may be classified as control over data
consistency as of the current date with the development in the
past, consistency between financial and non-financial data
(numbers of transactions, trades, etc.), and consistency between
the changes in the balance sheet and income statement. The
changes in the development of individual items of the financial
statements or directly in the general ledger accounts are regularly
analysed, and these changes are subsequently reconciled to the
changes in trades, prices for services provided, and market data,
or to changes attributable to one-off items.

An automated system is used to process most financial
statements. In most cases, detailed data from source systems is
used for their creation and this data is reconciled with the general
ledger while at the same time the accuracy of the data in the
general ledger is checked.

The effectiveness of internal controls is evaluated by an
independent Second Level Control system that examines design
and operating effectiveness of both First Level Controls and
operational controls. Key risk indicators (such as the number of
manually processed transactions or the number and volume of
various reconciliation gaps) are also regularly followed up and
evaluated. Their values within the Bank have long been held to
levels indicating a very low risk. The internal control system in the
financial reporting area is also regularly evaluated by Internal Audit.

Statutory audit

As a public-interest entity, the Bank is obliged and committed
to comply with European and local regulation governing the
selection process and mandatory rotation of statutory auditors.
The initial engagement period for a statutory auditor should not
exceed 10 years. Re-appointment for a maximum of another 10
years is possible only based on a tendering process with close
involvement of the entity’s audit committee, Moreover, the key
audit partner has to be rotated after 7 years.

As the Bank is consolidated by Société Générale Group, itself a
public-interest entity, the tendering process for statutory auditors is
held on the level of the Société Générale holding. Two audit firms are
appointed at the same time and rotate as statutory auditors of the
individual entities of the holding during their mandates.

The Bank has been audited by its current statutory auditor for
7 years, 2023 being the last year of its mandate. The key audit
partner has been managing the engagement since 2018.
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| Capital and liquidity

Regulatory framework

Komeréni banka is subject to supervision by the Czech National
Bank (CNB), and since November 2014 the Société Générale
Group has been supervised by the European Central Bank. The
regulatory requirements in the European Union are established
within the Basel 3 capital framework, continuously amended,
through Regulation No. 575/2013 on prudential requirements for
credit institutions and investment firms (the Capital Requirements
Regulation, or “CRR”), and by Directive 2013/36/EU on access
to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision
of credit institutions and investment firms (Capital Requirements
Directive, or “CRD”).

According to the valid Basel 3 capital rules, an additional Pillar 2
buffer of 2.2% over the minimum required capital ratio of 8.0%
was applied to the Bank in 2021. This brought the required TSCR
(i.e. total SREP) capital ratio to 10.2%. The combined capital
buffer of 6.0% was applied on top of the TSCR capital ratio. That
consisted of the capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, the systemic
risk buffer of 3.0%, and a required countercyclical capital buffer
of 0.5% for exposures in the Czech Republic. The required overall
capital ratio (OCR) thus reached approximately 16.2% as from

1 January 2021.

During the year 2021, the required overall capital ratio decreased
due to implementation of the amendment to the Capital
Requirement Directive (CRD V) when the CNB imposed a capital
buffer for other systemically important institutions (O-Sll) for
banks instead of the systemic risk buffer in order to limit the risks
related to the systemic importance. Thus, the combined capital
buffer of 5.0% was applied on top of the TSCR capital ratio from
October 2021. That consisted of the capital conservation buffer
of 2.5%, capital buffer for O-SlII of 2.0% applied for the first time
(the systemic risk buffer of 3.0% was withdrawn at the same
time), and a required countercyclical capital buffer of 0.5% for
exposures in the Czech Republic. The required overall capital
ratio thus reached approximately 15.2% from October 2021 and
it was also valid at this level as of December 31, 2021 (lower by
1.0 percentage point compared to the previous year).

Komeréni banka’s overall capital requirements remained
unchanged at approximately 15.2% on 1 January 2022. However,
the Bank expects that the required overall capital ratio will
increase to approximately 16.6% in 2022 due to a rise in the
countercyclical capital buffer (the CNB has already announced
a gradual increase of the countercyclical capital buffer for
exposures in the Czech Republic to the rate of 1.0% from 1 July
2022 and 1.5% from 1 October 2022, which is an increase of 1.0
percentage point for the year 2022) and increase of additional
Pillar 2 buffer to the level of 2.6% (higher by 0.4 percentage
point).

| Risk management

The Bank and Group meet the overall capital ratio requirement
with significant reserve, because their respective capital ratios
stand well above the minimum required level.

In addition to the aforementioned capital requirements, the
Bank is also required to comply with a minimum requirement for
own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) equal to 20.4% of the
consolidated total risk exposure and 5.91% of the consolidated
total exposure effective as of 31 December 2023 and 14.4%

of the consolidated total risk exposure and 4.46% of the
consolidated total exposure effective as of 1 January 2022.

The MREL requirement is defined as a sum of the amount of
loss absorption and recapitalisation. In addition to the MREL,
expressed as a percentage of risk-weighted assets, the Group
must also fulfil the combined capital buffer in accordance

with the CNB’s general approach. The Group fulfils the interim
target level valid from the beginning of 2022 because of its
large capital surplus, but, in future, the Bank expects to satisfy
the recapitalisation requirement also with senior non-preferred
instruments provided by the parent company (i.e. in accordance
with the Group resolution plan).

Capital and risk-weighted assets

Total shareholders’ equity comprises the following main items:
share capital, reserve funds, and retained earnings. As of

31 December 2021, total equity grew year over year by 8.3% to
CZK 126.8 billion. The growth reflected mainly the creation of
net profit while payment of dividends was made in amount of
CZK 4.5 billion according to the limit set by the CNB due to the
CNB’s counter-crisis measures. The value of non-controlling
interests reached CZK 3.3 billion. As of 31 December 2021, KB
held in treasury 1,193,360 of its own shares constituting 0.63%
of the registered capital. These shares had been acquired in
previous years at a cost of CZK 726 million. The Bank did not
acquire its own shares during 2021. The acquisition of its own
shares had been authorised by the General Meeting, particularly
for purposes of managing KB’s capital adequacy.

As of 31 December 2021, Komerc¢ni banka held a Tier 2
subordinated loan in the amount of EUR 100 million

(CZK 2.5 billion), with 10-year maturity from the issuance in
October 2017, a call option for the benefit of the Bank after

5 years from issuance, and interest rate of 3-month EURIBOR
plus 1.26%. The subordinated loan is denominated in EUR in
order to better align the currency structure of KB’s regulatory
capital with that of its assets. The loan was accepted from
Société Générale after the Bank assessed other opportunities
available on the market and concluded that the loan from SG
provides the most effective option for the Bank. The Bank may
in coming years continue gradually to increase the volume of
Tier 2 instruments, which, according to the regulation and CNB
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decision, may cover up to 2.65 percentage points of Komeréni
banka’s risk-weighted assets in order to optimise the structure of
its regulatory capital. Actual decisions on potential further Tier 2
reinforcement will reflect the required level of regulatory capital
as well as prevailing market conditions.

Consolidated regulatory capital for the capital adequacy
calculation stood at CZK 103.2 billion as of 31 December 2021,
which is 2.5% higher compared to 31 December 2020.

As of 31 December 2021, total capital adequacy stood at 21.3%.
Tier 1 capital stood at CZK 101.1 billion (increased by 3.2% since
the end of 2020 after regulatory adjustment for the foreseeable
dividend ) and the Tier 1 ratio reached 20.9%. Tier 2 capital came
to CZK 2.1 billion, or 0.4% of risk-weighted assets.

KB uses the following approaches for calculating capital
requirements related to individual types of risk:

Capital requirement calculation approaches for KB Group
Companies

Capital requirement calculation approach

KB Group entity Credit risk Market risk Operational risk
KB* AMA
BASTION

Protes | AIRB TSA
KB Penzijni
spole¢nost STA
Modra pyramida
SGEF AMA
ESSOX STA
other entities TSA

of the residential mortgages portfolio (for this portfolio, the risk
weight declined slightly to 18.5% as of 31 December 2021 from
19.3% as of 31 December 2020, reflecting the prudent granting
policy along with a positive effect of stable unemployment levels
on retail credit risk). Other impacts on risk weights were minor
and concentrated on regulatory impacts (mainly new SA-CCR
methodology).

Information on consolidated capital, risk-weighted assets for
calculation of capital adequacy, and capital requirements
(in CZK million)

Reconciliation of accounting and regulatory capital
(consolidated)

(CZK million) 31 Dec 2021 | 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Items from Statement of
Financial Position - Total

AIRB: Advanced Internal Rating-Based Approach.
AMA: Advanced Measurement Approach.
STA/TSA: Standardised Approach.

* KB Slovakia uses the STA approach for calculating the requirement for credit risk.

The volume of the Group’s risk-weighted assets (RWA) stood
at CZK 484.4 billion as of 31 December 2021, compared to
CZK 450.6 billion as of 31 December 2020. RWA for credit
risk (including credit valuation adjustments) constituted 84%,
operational risk 9%, and market risk 7% of the total RWA.
The increase in RWA during 2021 was driven by the growth in
the exposure for both corporate and retail portfolios, further
strengthened by regulatory adjustments (mainly by the new
SA-CCR methodology for the calculation of counterparty credit
risk for market deals) and increase of market risks RWA (with
general interest rate risk as the main contributor).

During 2021, in the post-Covid environment, abrupt changes

in macroeconomic environment happened, namely sharp
increase of inflation and interest rates or continuing supply chain
distrubtions. However, these changes did not have a significant
impact on RWA development in 2021.

Subsequently the average risk weight for credit risk stood at
28.8% as of 31 December 2021, only negligibly down by 20 bps
from the 29.0% as of 31 December 2020. Risk weights for main
portfolios remained stable and the negligible decrease by 20 bps
was driven by growing exposure and slightly improved risk weight

shareholders’ equity 126,782 117,058 108,635
Share capital 19,005 19,005 19,005
Share premium 149 149 149
Other equity 546 526 506
Accumulated Other
comprehensive income 2,387 447 682
Retained earnings from
previous periods 84,210 81,047 65,812
Reserve funds 5,211 5,211 5,211
Own shares (726) (726) (726)
Net profit for the period 12,727 8,157 14,901
Minority interests 3,273 3,242 3,095

Total adjustments to CET1 (25,710) (19,152) (24,573)
Gains/(losses) on
hedging instruments
(cash flow hedging) (1,248) 90 82
Additional value adjustment (140) (149) (354)
Goodwill (8,752) (3,752) (3,752)
Other intangible assets,
net of tax (4,562) (3,942) (5,681)
Insufficient coverage of
expected credit losses
(lack of provisions) 0 0 (746)
Unusable profit (12,727) (8,157) (11,027)
Minority interests (3,273) (8,242) (3,095)
Insufficient coverage for
non-performing exposures (8) N/A N/A
Other transitional
adjustments to CET 1 0 0 0

Tier 2 capital 2,137 2,784 2,546
Subordinated debt received 2,490 2,629 2,546
Provided subordinated debt (446) (446) 0
Surplus coverage of
expected credit losses
(Excess of provisions) 93 601 0

Total capital 103,209 100,690 86,608

Tier 1 capital 101,072 97,906 84,062

Core Tier 1 (CET1) capital 101,072 97,906 84,062
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Consolidated risk-weighted assets

(CZK million) 31 Dec 2021 | 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Capital requirements (consolidated)

(CZK million) 31 Dec 2021 | 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Total risk-weighted assets 484,372 450,628 439,237 Total capital requirements 38,750 36,050 35,139
for credit risk 400,209 375,851 367,550 for credit risk pursuant to
for credit risk pursuant to the Standardised Approach
the Standardised Approach in IRB 5,583 5,587 5,522
in IRB 69,788 69,839 69,030 Exposures to central
for credit risk pursuant to governments or central
the IRB Approach 330,421 306,012 298,520 banks 1 0 0
for settlement risk - 16 15 Exposures to regional
— . governments or local
for position, foreign ] authorities 0 0 0
exchange, and commodity .
risks 34,680 26,378 23,630 Exposures to publlc sector
titi 2 3 15
for operational risk 43,988 45,551 45,142 entities . .
for credit valuation Exposures to international
development banks 0 0 0
adjustment 5,495 2,832 2,900 velopment ,
Exposure to international
organisations 0 0 0
Exposures to institutions 22 13 26
Exposures to corporates 4,101 4,082 4,019
Retail exposures 1,035 948 1,047
Exposures secured by real
estate 0 0 0
Exposures in default 149 145 80
Exposure associated with
particularly high risks 0 0 0
Exposure to covered bonds 0 0 0
ltems representing
securitisation positions 0 0 0
Exposures to institutions
and businesses with short-
term credit rating 0 0 0
Exposures in the form of
units of shares or shares
in collective investment
undertakings 0 0 0
Equity exposure 149 306 247
Other items 124 90 88
for credit risk pursuant to
the IRB Approach 26,434 24,481 23,882
Exposures to central
governments or central
banks 118 128 255
Exposures to institutions 1,510 1,247 1,284
Exposures to corporates 15,666 14,486 14,101
Retail exposures 7,708 7,025 6,867
Equity exposure 25 66 120
Items representing
securitisation positions 0 0 0
Other assets that are non-
credit obligation 1,407 1,529 1,255
for position risk 2,774 2,110 1,812
for large exposures
exceeding the limits 0 0 0
to currency risk 0 0 0
to settlement risk 0 1 1
to commodity risk 0 0 78
to operation risk 3,519 3,644 3,612
for credit valuation
adjustment 440 227 232

Risk management
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Information in accordance with Decree 163/2014 Coll. Risk-weighted assets (on an individual basis)

on an individual basis (CZK million) 31 Dec 2021 | 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Reconciliation of accounting and regulatory capital Total risk-weighted assets 431,973 403,622 395,628
(on an individual basis) for credit risk 353,143 334,330 329,787
- for credit risk pursuant to
Items from Statement of in IRB 37,889 39,449 39,531
Financial Position - Total P
shareholders’ equity 115,418 105,194 98,217 Iﬁ;?&egigzl:op;iﬁuant to 315254 294 881 290,256
Share capital 19,005 19,005 19,005 for settlement risk B 16 15
Share premium 134 134 134 for position, foreign
Other equity 491 473 454 exchange, and commodity
Accumulated Other risks 34,679 26,378 23,630
comprehensive income 2,494 501 781 for operational risk 38,655 40,066 39,495
Reserve funds 4,189 4,189 4,189 for credit valuation
Retained earnings from adjustment 5,496 2,832 2,901
previous periods 77,478 74,689 59,564
Own shares (726) (726) (726)
Net profit for the period 12,353 6,929 14,816
Total adjustments to CET1 (18,235) (11,834) (17,235)

Gains/(losses) on hedging
instruments (cash flow

hedging) (1,264) 85 45
Additional value adjustment (140) (149) (354)
Other intangible assets,

net of tax (4,100) (3,614) (5,187)

Insufficient coverage of
expected credit losses

(lack of provisions) 0 0 (712)

Unusable profit (12,726) (8,156) (11,027)

Insufficient coverage for

non-performing exposures 5) N/A N/A

Other transitional

adjustments to CET 1 0 0 0
Tier 2 capital 2,236 2,775 2,546

Subordinated debt 2,490 2,629 2,546

Provided subordinated debt (446) (446) 0

Surplus coverage of
expected credit losses

(Excess of provisions) 192 592 0
Total capital 99,419 96,135 83,528
Tier 1 capital 97,182 93,360 80,982
Core Tier 1 (CET1) capital 97,182 93,360 80,982
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Capital requirements (individual)

(CZK million) 31 Dec 2021 | 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Total capital requirements 34,558 32,290 31,666
for credit risk pursuant to
the Standardised Approach
in IRB 3,031 3,156 3,162
Exposures to central
governments or central
banks 1 0 0
Exposures to regional
governments or local
authorities 0 0 0
Exposures to public sector
entities 2 3 15
Exposures to international
development banks 0 0 0
Exposure to international
organisations 0 0 0
Exposures to institutions 15 5 15
Exposures to corporates 1,860 2,022 2,014
Retail exposures 0 0 0
Exposures secured by
real estate 0 0 0
Exposures in default 26 0 0
Exposure associated with
particularly high risks 0 0
Exposure to covered bonds 0 0
ltems representing
securitisation positions 0 0 0
Exposures to institutions
and businesses with
short-term credit rating 0 0 0
Exposures in the form of
units of shares or shares
in collective investment
undertakings 0 0 0
Equity exposure 1,127 1,126 1,118
Other items 0 0 0
for credit risk pursuant to
the IRB Approach 25,221 23,590 23,221
Exposures to central
governments or central
banks 118 128 255
Exposures to institutions 1,882 1,483 1,449
Exposures to corporates 16,103 14,873 14,459
Retail exposures 6,027 5,897 6,030
Equity exposure 9 65 119
Iltems representing
securitisation positions 0 0 0
Other assets that are
non-credit obligation 1,082 1,144 909
for position risk 2,774 2,110 1,812
for large exposures
exceeding the limits 0 0 0
to currency risk 0 0 0
to settlement risk 0 1 1
to commodity risk 0 0 78
to operation risk 3,092 3,205 3,160
for credit valuation
adjustment 440 227 232

| Risk management

Capital ratios and ratios in % (on an individual basis)

(%) 31 Dec 2021 | 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

Capital ratio for common

equity tier 1 22.50 23.13 20.46
Capital ratio of Tier 1 capital 22.50 23.13 20.46
Capital ratio for total capital 23.02 23.82 21.10
Return on average assets

(ROAA) 1.03 0.61 1.38
Return on average equity

Tier 1 (ROAE) 12.73 7.74 18.42
Assets per employee

in CZK thousand 172,212 154,145 137,809
Administrative costs per

employee in CZK thousand 1,466 1,414 1,521
Profit or loss after tax per

employee in CZK thousand 1,820 977 2,019

Note: The calculation methodology according to the Decree 163/2014 Coll. differs
from the methodology specified in the section Definitions of the mentioned Alternative
Performance Measures.

Capital management

The Bank manages its capital adequacy to ensure its sufficient
level in the environment of changing regulatory requirements
while allowing for organic business growth and for potentially
adverse macroeconomic developments. Under the applicable
Basel 3 regulation of capital adequacy, in addition to the usual
reporting of the capital adequacy ratio (so-called Pillar 1),
regulatory demands comprise also fulfilling conditions for
evaluating required economic capital, stress testing, and capital
planning (so-called Pillar 2, or the internal capital adequacy
assessment process, ICAAP). To determine the required
economic capital, the Bank has substantially selected methods
close to the regulatory procedures applied for Pillar 1. That has
resulted in there being very similar levels of nhecessary economic
and regulatory capital.

Given the fact that Basel 3 capital requirements are still being
developed (and in the future they will transform into regulation
termed Basel 4), the Bank is continuously assessing the

impact of their changes in the process of capital planning.

As the national regulatory authority, the CNB oversees KB'’s
compliance with capital adequacy requirements on standalone
and consolidated bases. During 2021, the Bank met all regulatory
requirements. On a regular basis, KB also compiles and reports
to the CNB mandatory information regarding its ICAAP.

Stress testing

As an essential part of its risk management under Pillar 2, KB
regularly simulates hypothetical macroeconomic scenarios
involving potential adverse external macroeconomic conditions.
In 2021, the scenarios factored in the effects of the Covid-19
pandemic. On this basis, the Bank estimates impacts upon

its financial result and the risk profile of its business in

a medium-term horizon. It subsequently generates expectations
for the development of RWA (i.e. capital requirements) and
financial results. The results of stress testing are among the
inputs considered in determining the Bank’s dividend policy.

In the liquidity risk area, client behaviour and its effect on the
deposit base are modelled on the basis of stress scenarios such
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that any possible outflow of liquidity would be very securely
covered.

The results of stress testing in 2021 confirmed that KB is resistant
to impacts from potential unexpected adverse developments in
the Czech economy.

Liquidity and funding

KB Group’s strong liquidity position is founded upon the various
types of customer deposits that it holds and the fact that the
Group does not substantially use secondary financing. Thanks to
the stability of its large deposit base, the Group had no need to
modify the structure of its balance sheet in response to external
economic developments by reducing certain types of exposures
or seeking to obtain other types of funding. KB Group’s strong
creditworthiness is supported by its stable financial results, as
well as the level of capital adequacy it has achieved. As a result,
as of 31 December 2021, it had an excellent net loan-to-deposit
ratio of 76%." KB also meets by a large margin the 3% required
minimum level of leverage ratio that has been binding since mid-
2021. This indicator confirms Komeréni banka’s solid position and
its adequate room for further business growth.

Funding of KB Group

Client deposits in the volume of CZK 949 billion? comprise a
crucial part (approximately 76%) of the Group’s total liabilities
and shareholders’ equity. Current accounts made up the largest
proportion of client deposits within the Group (76%). In addition
to its broad and stable base of client deposits, KB Group has
other possible funding sources, including debt securities issues
and loans taken. In order to enhance currency diversification

of its funding sources, the Bank issued as of 20 January 2021
its inaugural issue of mortgage covered bonds denominated

in euros, in the volume of EUR 500 million (CZK 12,430 million
equivalent). The bond was rated AAA by Fitch Ratings as of

20 January 2021 and was admitted for trading on the regulated
market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. Except for this
inaugural issue of mortgage covered bonds Komeréni banka did
not increase in 2021 the volume of issued debt securities. As of
the end of 2021, the total nominal amount of mortgage bonds
and other debt securities placed outside KB Group reached CZK
equivalent 13.6 billion.

Liquidity management

Liquidity risk management focuses primarily on the ability of the
Bank and entire Group to meet their payment obligations at all
times. This includes maintaining adequate cash volumes as well
as balances on nostro accounts and the mandatory minimum
reserves account while not unnecessarily adding to the Bank’s
costs or restraining its business activities. Liquidity is maintained
by rigorous cash flow management. A liquidity snapshot broken
down by currency (CZK and foreign) is monitored based on
indicators measuring the incoming and outgoing cash flows
within particular time horizons.

" Excluding repo operations with clients.

2 Excluding volatile repo operations with clients. The total volume of ‘Amounts due to
customers’ reached CZK 957 billion.

Behaviour of the client deposit base and clients’ use of financing
are modelled (including under stress scenarios) in order to
maintain a very high certainty of covering possible outflows of
funds. Sufficient liquidity is managed using a system of limits.

To achieve these, KB uses on- and off-balance sheet transactions
on the interbank market. The Group is prudent in its strategy

and uses medium- and long-term instruments which allow it to
stabilise both volumes and associated costs while at the same
time reflecting changes in costs when setting prices.

The Group maintains high liquidity at all times. It covered all

its liabilities during 2021 from its internal sources without any
problems, and the use of additional secondary funding remained
limited. As of 31 December 2021, the Group was not drawing
liquidity from central banks. The Group’s liquidity cushion is a
combination of investments in government bonds and reverse
repo operations with the CNB.

As part of the Basel 3 regulation, the Bank follows the Liquidity
Coverage Ratio (LCR) and the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR).
Both these regulatory indicators are simplified versions similar
to those used by KB Group to measure its liquidity. Since the
beginning of 2012, KB Group’s LCR ratio has been consolidated
into SG Group reporting and simultaneously it is reported to the
CNB, the local regulator. The estimated levels of LCR and NSFR
indicators have long been well above the required 100%.
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| Comments on the IFRS consolidated financial results

Komeréni banka Group recorded a consolidated and

audited net profit attributable to the Group’s equity holders

of CZK 12,727 million for 2021 under International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). This represents a 56.0% increase
in comparison with 2020.

Statement of Income

Komeréni banka Group’s revenues (net operating income)

for the year 2021 increased by 5.7% year on year to reach

CZK 31,346 million. Net profit from financial operations
contributed the most to this growth, while net fees and
commissions and net interest income contributed positively, too.

Net interest income for the full year was higher by 2.0%, at

CZK 21,795 million, thus rising less than the volumes of loans and
deposits, although the trend in interest income did take a pretty
sharp turn during the year. It had been declining in the first half
of the year as a consequence of the extremely low interest rate
environment, but interest income turned dynamically upward

in the second half, supported both by growth in volumes and
quickly rising market interest rates that underpinned yields from
reinvesting deposits and the Bank’s own funds. The net interest
margin for the full year 2021, computed as the ratio of net interest
income to interest-earning assets reported on the balance sheet,
reached 1.9%. That compares to 2.0% a year earlier.

Net fee and commission income rose by 9.6% to

CZK 5,711 million, supported by a broad combination of
contributing factors. The clients stepped up their investments
into mutual funds and were switching from fixed income to
equity-linked and balanced products. The clients were also
embracing account packages comprising a wider selection of
services, in particular the MdjUg&et Plus bundle. The number of
transactions executed by cards and by digital channels climbed
strongly, partly offset by continuing drop in cash and in-branch
transactions. The higher income for specialised financial services
to corporate clients was mainly due to strong activity in issuance
of debt instruments for clients, loan syndications, and advisory
activities, as well as issuing of bank guarantees. The net fee
income for loan services decreased due to lower fees from credit
cards and loans to small businesses.

Net profit from financial operations improved by 25.9% to

CZK 3,630 million. Demand for hedging of FX risks was strong
throughout 2021, while already in the last months of 2021
interest rate risk hedging activity was affected by the sharp rate
increases, which made the available options less attractive.
Mainly during the first three quarters, the Bank also played
leading roles in several important capital market deals of its
corporate clients and often provided financial hedging to such
transactions. Clients even from among small and medium-sized
businesses increasingly were using the eTrading online platform

| Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2021

as well as value-added hedging solutions based on financial
derivatives. A partial recovery in travel and related currency
conversions supported FX gains from payments compared to
2020’s low base.

Dividend and other income remained stable (0.0%) at
CZK 210 million. This line item primarily comprises revenues from
property rental and ancillary services.

Operating expenses rose by a slight 0.7% to CZK 15,099 million.
Personnel expenses declined by (1.5%) to CZK 7,539 million,
reflecting decrease in the number of employees by (4.6%) to
7,687. KB had also agreed with the trade unions on maintaining
stable base salaries in 2021. General and administrative
expenses (not including contributions to the regulatory funds)
were up by 1.1%, at CZK 3,716 million, as lower real estate and
telecommunications costs were offset by higher expenses related
to IT and marketing. The full-year cost of contributions to the
regulatory funds (Deposit Insurance Fund, Resolution Fund)
reached CZK 1,041 million, up 10.6% year on year. The CNB had
adjusted the target volume of the Resolution Fund for 2024 and
boosted the aggregate annual contribution from Czech banks by
15.1% year on year. Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment
of operating assets grew by 2.7% to CZK 2,803 million, driven
mainly by new and upgraded software and IT equipment acquired
in pursuit of KB’s digitalisation strategy, partly offset by lower
depreciation and rights-of-use of buildings.

The profit before allowances for loan losses, provisions for other
risk, profit on subsidiaries, and income tax (operating profit)
increased by 10.8% to CZK 16,247 million.

Cost of risk reached CZK 731 million, lower by (84.0%) in
comparison with the full year 2020". It was influenced by update
of staging rules. The provisions creation related to corporate
portfolios, where it was concentrated in a small number of client
situations, and it also reflected updates to certain provisioning
models and adjustments of buffers for certain credit exposures,
such as terminated moratorium portfolios and loans provided
under Covid guarantee schemes or for selected Covid-sensitive
sectors. The Group was able to slightly reduce the volume of
provisions related to the retail portfolio. That was in accord

with the good repayment discipline of clients and successful
recovery performance. The Group recorded limited net releases
of reserves reflecting statutory recalibration of models in
accordance with IFRS 9. The cost of risk in relative terms and as
measured against the average volume of the lending portfolio
during 2021 came to 10 basis points. That compares with 68
basis points for the previous year.

" Detailed information is mainly in Notes 13 and 43 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements as of 31 December 2021
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Income from shares in associated undertakings (i.e. Komeréni
pojistovna) was down (10.9%) year on year, at CZK 221 million,
influenced by the development of yields.

Profit attributable to exclusion of companies from consolidation
totalled CZK 25 million, and it included KB’s decreased
participation in Bankovni identita, a.s.

Net profits on other assets reached CZK 258 million, which result
was mainly due to a release of provisions for buildings in the
held-for-sale portfolio and sales of buildings and finished leases
of premises. In the previous year, this result had been CZK (15)
million.

Income tax was higher by 52.5%, at CZK 3,028 million.

Current tax per country

(CZK million) Czechia Slovakia Belgium
(branch
of KB and
SGEF,
ESSOX
FINANCE) (BASTION)
Net operating income 30,688 657 1.037
Profit before income tax 15,651 369 0.010
Current tax 3,014 95 0.003
State support 0 0 0

KB Group’s consolidated net profit for 2021 reached

CZK 12,992 million, up by 56.5% in comparison with the year
earlier. Of this total, CZK 265 million was profit attributable to the
non-controlling owners of minority stakes in KB’s subsidiaries
(versus CZK 143 million a year earlier).

Reported net profit attributable to the Group’s equity holders
totalled CZK 12,727 million, which is 56.0% more year on year.

Other comprehensive income, which derives mainly from
revaluations and remeasurements of some hedging, foreign
exchange, and securities positions, reached CZK 1,078 million,
driven by effects of changed interest rates on revaluation of cash
flow hedging instruments and on the value of securities held by
an associated company. Consolidated comprehensive income for
2021 totalled CZK 14,070 million, of which CZK 259 million was
attributable to owners of non-controlling stakes.

Statement of financial position

Assets
As of 31 December 2021, KB Group’s total assets had grown by
6.6% year on year to CZK 1,244.4 billion.

Cash and current balances with central banks were up

27.2%, at CZK 29.9 billion. This line item is volatile because

it is influenced by liquidity management and fulfilment of the
mandatory minimum reserves requirement. Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (trading securities and derivatives)
increased by 60.7% to CZK 41.1 billion. The fair value of hedging
financial derivatives gained 7.5% to reach CZK 14.3 billion.

Year on year, there was an (11.5%) decline in financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income totalling
CZK 35.6 billion. This item consisted mainly of public debt
securities.

Financial assets at amortised cost grew by 5.8% to

CZK 1,095.9 billion. The largest portion of this item consisted of
(net) loans and advances to customers, which grew year on year
by 6.6% to CZK 724.6 billion. A 97.5% share in the gross amount
of client loans was classified in Stage 1 or Stage 2, while 2.5% of
the loans were classified in Stage 3 (non-performing). The volume
of loss allowances created for amounts due from customers
came to CZK 13.3 billion. Loans and advances to banks
decreased by (2.1%) to CZK 257.2 billion. The majority of this item
consists in reverse repos with the central bank. The value held in
debt securities was up by 22.9% and reached CZK 114.1 billion at
the end of 2021.

Revaluation differences on portfolio hedge items totalled a
negative CZK (0.6) billion. Current and deferred tax assets stood
at CZK 0.1 billion. Other assets and accrued accounts, which
include receivables from securities trading and settlement
balances, increased overall by 13.8% to CZK 5.8 billion. Assets
held for sale rose by 375.3% to CZK 0.7 billion, due to a transfer
of buildings from operating assets and mainly due to a release of
allowances for certain buildings.

Investments in subsidiaries and associates declined by (50.5%)
to CZK 0.8 billion, reflecting decreased equity of Komeréni
pojistovna due to revaluation of the bond portfolio and deferred
taxes.

The net book value of tangible assets fell by (7.9%) to

CZK 9.0 billion. Due to software development and acquisition,
intangible assets grew by 14.2% to reach CZK 7.9 billion.
Goodwill, which primarily derives from the acquisitions of
Modra pyramida, SGEF, and ESSOX, remained unchanged at
CZK 3.8 billion.

Liabilities
Total liabilities were 6.4% higher in comparison to the end of 2020
and stood at CZK 1,117.6 billion.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost went up by 6.0% to

CZK 1,056.5 billion. Amounts due to customers comprise the
largest proportion of this total, and these grew by 5.6% to

CZK 956.9 billion. This sum included CZK 8.3 billion of liabilities
from repo operations with clients and CZK 6.2 billion of other
payables to customers. Amounts due to banks decreased year on
year by (3.7%) to CZK 83.4 billion.

The volume of outstanding securities issued expanded
significantly to CZK 13.7 billion. That reflected the successful
EUR 500 million placement of a first tranche of euro-denominated
mortgage covered bonds under the EUR covered bond
programme newly opened in the first quarter of 2021.

Revaluation differences on portfolios hedge items were negative
CZK (31.7) billion. Current and deferred tax liabilities rose to
CZK 1.6 billion. Other liabilities and accruals, which include
payables from securities trading and settlement balances,
increased by 9.6% to CZK 12.5 billion.
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The provisions balance was lower by (33.8%), at CZK 1.3 billion.
Provisions for other credit commitments are held to cover credit
risks associated with credit commitments issued. The provisions
for contracted commitments principally comprise those for
ongoing contracted contingent commitments, legal disputes,
self-insurance, and the retirement benefits plan.

Subordinated debt, at CZK 2.5 billion, was down (5.3%) year on
year. Because that debt is issued in euro, the change reflects
appreciation of the Czech crown over the same period.

Equity

Total equity grew year on year by 8.3% to CZK 126.8 billion due
to profit generated and because the volume of dividends paid
was limited by CNB restrictions. The value of non-controlling
interests reached CZK 3.3 billion. As of 31 December 2021, KB
held in treasury 1,193,360 of its own shares constituting 0.63% of
the registered capital.

Expenses on research and development

In 2021, Komer¢ni banka had outlays through operating expenses
of CZK 145 million for research and development. Most of

these outlays were related to development studies and the
implementation of individual projects, particularly in the area of
information technologies and systems, including the development
of internet applications.

Financial investments made by the Group
(balance as of the end of the year)

(IFRS, CZK million) 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Bonds and treasury bills 158,283 136,332
Shares 59 47
Emissions allowances 0 0
Equity investments in subsidiary

and associated undertakings® 786 1,587
Total 159,128 137,966

* Including investment in Held for sale portfolio.

Main investments made by the Group - excluding
financial investments (balance as of the end of the year)

(IFRS, CZK million) 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Tangible fixed assets* 8,983 9,758
Intangible fixed assets* 7,878 6,898
Total tangible and intangible

fixed assets 16,861 16,656

* Both tangible and intangible fixed assets also include the Right-of-use asset; See
also Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements according to IFRS, notes 25 —
Intangible fixed assets and 26 — Tangible fixed assets.

Main ongoing investments - excluding financial
investments

In 2021, the Bank made non-financial investments totalling

CZK 2.8 billion. Most of this amount was invested in the area of
information technologies (almost CZK 2.6 billion), especially for
acquisition and development of software and hardware. This
move accelerated the adoption of digital customer offerings and
distribution across all of KB’s markets. All of the non-financial

| Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2021

investments were made in the Czech Republic and Slovakia and
were financed from internal resources.

Main investments planned by the Bank - excluding
financial investments

Komeréni banka plans investments for 2022 at the level

of CZK 3.3 billion. The Bank will increase its investment in
digitisation in relation to the strategic plan KB Change 2025
based upon mastering digital interaction with our customers for
acquisition, sales and servicing, as well as increasing operational
efficiency. The Bank’s investment plans may be adjusted in
accordance with developments in the economic environment.

Description of real estate owned by KB Group

Komeréni banka Group uses the real estate to conduct its
business activities. The operation of owned or leased buildings
by KB Group does not generate an excessive burden on the
environment. More information regarding environmental impact is
provided in the 2021 Sustainability Report.

Summary of real estate managed by the Group:

Of which

Of which subleased

As of 31 December 2021 Number owned by KB by KB
Buildings in Czechia 472 73 399
Buildings in Slovakia 2 0 2
Total 474 73 401

Note: The decrease in the number of buildings reflects a reduction in the number of
branches during 2020 and the resolution of property rights relating to these
buildings in 2021.

)
2
c
@
£
2
©
)
(2]
K
3]
=
5]
=
ic
]
5]
2
©
S
=
@
c
<)
(6]

Separate Financial Statements

Securities issued by KB

Report on relations

Affidavits



Komeréni banka Group uses the following significant properties
with useful floor area in excess of 5,000 square metres.

Overview of important pieces of real estate managed by
KB Group:

Land Regis-  Useful floor
(611, Street try Number EICE]
Brno namésti Svobody 92 13,869
nameésti Starosty
Kladno Pavla 14 5,072
Ostrava Nadrazni 1,698 7,637
Pilsen Goethova 2,704 11,421
Prague 1 Véclavské namésti 796 50,811
Prague 2 Bélehradska 222 7,924
Prague 5 Stefanikova 267 7,568
Prague 5 namesti Junkovych 2,772 27,529
Prague 5 namesti Junkovych 2,921 20,754
Prague 8 Zenklova 351 6,236
nameésti Organizace
Prague 9 spojenych narodl 844 12,092
Usti nad Labem Bilinska 175 6,910

Note: See also the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS, Note 26 — Tangible assets and Note 28 — Assets held
for sale.

Trademarks, licences and sub-licences

In 2021, Komer¢ni banka used trademarks for labelling its
products and services both in the Czech Republic and the Slovak
Republic. The new trademarks used were registered with the
Industrial Property Office in the Czech Republic.

Komeréni banka registered with the Czech Industrial Property
Office a total number of 185 trademarks. In the cases of 3 more
trademarks, a registration process had been initiated in 2021. In
the case of 1 trademark, a registration process had been initiated
in 2019. The processes have not yet been completed in these four
instances. In the Slovak Republic, 6 trademarks are registered
with the Industrial Property Office of the Slovak Republic.

Within KB Group, Komeréni banka provides some of its
subsidiaries with licences for its trademarks. In some cases,
Komeréni banka is also a licensee and sub-licensee, typically
from providers of IT services.

Definitions of the mentioned Alternative
Performance Measures

This annual report uses the following alternative performance
measures in order to reflect the underlying financial or business
performance and to enhance the comparability of information
between reporting periods.

Earnings per share: ‘Net profit attributable to the Group’s equity
holders’ divided by the quantity average number of shares issued
without own shares in treasury;

Return on average equity (ROAE, in consolidated
statements): ‘Net profit attributable to the Group’s equity
holders’ divided by the quantity average ‘Total equity’ less
‘Non-controlling interest’;

Average ‘Total equity’ less ‘Non-controlling interest’: ((‘Total
equity’ less ‘Non-controlling interest’ as of the year end X) plus
(‘Total equity’ less ‘Non-controlling interest’ as of the year end
X-1)) divided by 2;

Return on average equity (ROAE, in separate statements):
‘Net profit for the period’ divided by the quantity average ‘Total
equity’;

Average ‘Total equity’: (‘Total equity’ as of the year end X plus
‘Total equity’ as of the year end X-1) divided by 2;

Return on average assets (ROAA, in consolidated
statements):" ‘Net profit attributable to the Group’s equity
holders’ divided by average ‘Total assets’;

Average total assets: (‘Total assets’ as of the year end X plus
‘Total assets’ as of the year end X-1) divided by 2;

Return on average assets (ROAA, in separate statements):"
‘Net profit for the period’ divided by average ‘Total assets’;

Net interest margin (NIM): ‘Net interest income’ divided by
average interest-earning assets (IEA);

Average interest-earning assets: (‘Total interest-earning
assets’ as of the year end X plus ‘Total interest-earning assets’ as
of the year end X-1) divided by 2;

Interest-earning assets (IEA) comprise ‘Cash and current
balances with central banks’ (‘Current balances with central
banks’ only), ‘Loans and advances to banks’, ‘Loans and
advances to customers’, ‘Financial assets held for trading at fair
value through profit or loss’ [debt securities only], ‘Non-trading
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ [debt securities
only], ‘Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income’ [debt securities only], and ‘Debt securities’);

" With effect from 1 January 2019, Komer¢ni banka has applied the new accounting
standard IFRS 16 Leases, which replaces the previous standard IAS 17. Particularly
as a lessee under operating lease of office buildings and branches, the Bank
must recognise those leases on its balance sheet. That increases both the assets
(right-of-use assets) and the liabilities (lease liabilities) by CZK 2,638 million. The
corresponding impact on return on average assets ratio was immaterial.
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Reconciliation of ‘Net interest margin’ calculation,
(CZK million, consolidated):
(source: Profit and Loss State-

Restated
ment) 2021 2020*

Net interest income income,

year-to-date 21,795 21,360
Of which:
Loans and advances at
amortised cost 20,713 19,501
Debt securities at amortised
cost 2,065 1,706
Other debt securities 681 683
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost (2,288) (2,276)
Hedging financial
derivatives — income 11,698 14,241
Hedging financial
derivatives — expense (11,074) (12,495)

(source: Balance Sheet) 31.12.2021  31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Cash and current balances
with central banks/ Current

balances with central banks 21,455 15,050 7,737
Loans and advances to banks 257,196 262,606 244,561
Loans and advances to

customers 724,587 679,956 647,259

Financial assets held for
trading at fair value through
profit or loss/ Debt securities 8,696 3,342 4,112

Non-trading financial assets
at fair value through profit or
loss/ Debt securities 135 279 0

Financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive
income (FV OCI)/ Debt

securities 35,509 40,151 35,682
Debt securities 114,078 92,839 71,581
Interest-bearing assets (end

of period) 1,161,656 1,094,223 1,010,932
Average interest-bearing

assets, year-to-date 1,127,939 1,052,578

NIM year-to-date,

annualised 1.93% 2.03%

* Figures for 2020 have been recalculated due to a change in the manner of
displaying negative interest. Net interest income from ‘Loans and advances at
amortised cost’ was decreased by CZK 354 million and net interest income from
‘Financial liabilities at amortised cost’ were increased by CZK 354 million.

| Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2021

Cost to income ratio: ‘Total operating expenses’ divided by
‘Net operating income’;

Cost of risk in relative terms: ‘Cost of risk’ divided by the
average of ‘Gross amount of client loans and advances’;

Average of Gross amount of client loans and advances:
(‘Gross amount of client loans and advances’ as of the quarter
end X-1 plus ‘Gross amount of client loans and advances’ as

of the quarter end X-2 plus ‘Gross amount of client loans and
advances’ as of the quarter end X-3 plus ‘Gross amount of client
loans and advances’ as of the quarter end X-4) divided by 4;

Gross amount of client loans and advances: ‘Total loans and
advances to customers, gross’ minus ‘Other amounts due from
customers’;

Net loans to deposits: (‘Loans and advances to customers’ (net)
less ‘reverse repo operations with clients’) divided by the quantity
(total ‘Amounts due to customers’ less ‘repo operations with
clients’).
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Consolidated Financial Statements

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union as of 31 December 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Income and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended 31 December 2021

(CZKm) Note 200 20
Interest income 5 35,558 36,485
Interest expense 5 (13,763) (15,125)
Net interest income 21,795 21,360
Net fee and commission income 6 5,711 5,210
Net profit/(loss) on financial operations 7 3,630 2,884
Dividend income 8 2 6
Other income 9 208 204
Net operating income 31,346 29,664
Personnel expenses 10 (7,539) (7,650)
General and administrative expenses 11 (4,757) (4,615)
Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment of operating assets 12 (2,803) (2,730)
Total operating expenses (15,099) (14,995)
Operating profit 16,247 14,669
Impairment losses 13 (775) (4,701)
Net gain from loans and advances transferred and written off 13 44 123
Cost of risk (731) (4,578)
Income from share in associated undertakings 221 248
Profit/(loss) attributable to exclusion of companies from consolidation 25 (40)
Gain on a bargain purchase 0 0
Net profits on other assets 14 258 (15)
Profit before income tax 16,020 10,284
Income tax 15 (3,028) (1,985)
Net profit for the period 16 12,992 8,299
Profit attributable to the Non-controlling owners 265 143
Profit attributable to the Group’s equity holders 12,727 8,156
Earnings per share/diluted earnings per share (in CZK) 16 67.39 43.19

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2021

)
2
c
@
£
2
©
)
(2]
K
3]
=
5]
=
ic
]
5]
2
©
S
=
@
c
<)
(6]

Report on relations Securities issued by KB Separate Financial Statements

Affidavits



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2021

(czkm) Note 200 2020]

Net profit for the period 16 12,992 8,299
Items that will not be reclassified to the Statement of Income

Remeasurement of retirement benefits plan, net of tax 39 6 (15)
Revaluation of equity securities at FVOCI option*, net of tax 40 0 (284)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the Statement of Income

Cash flow hedging

— Net fair value gain/(loss), net of tax 41 900 247

- Transfer to net profit/(loss), net of tax 41 438 (255)
Hedge of a foreign net investment 36 (24)
Foreign exchange difference on translation of a foreign net investment (45) 26
Revaluation of debt securities at FVOCI™, net of tax 42 598 73
Revaluation of debt securities at FVOCI** (associated undertakings), net of tax 24 (855) 24
Other income from associated undertakings 0 0
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 1,078 (208)
Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 14,070 8,091
Comprehensive income attributable to the Non-controlling owners 259 146
Comprehensive income attributable to the Group’s equity holders 13,811 7,945

* Revaluation of equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income option.
** Revaluation of debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of 31 December 2021

2
(CZKm) Note 31 Dec 2021 :
ASSETS 5
Cash and current balances with central banks 18 29,947 23,547 g
Financial assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss 19 41,142 25,600 §
Other assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss 19 0 0 %
Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 135 279 §
Positive fair value of hedging financial derivatives 43 14,315 18,317 %
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 21 35,568 40,198 °
Financial assets at amortised cost 22 1,095,861 1,035,401
Revaluation differences on portfolios hedge items (629) 283
Current tax assets 18 1,183 "
Deferred tax assets 33 91 78 é
Prepayments, accrued income, and other assets 23 5,806 5,103 f;
Investments in associates 24 786 1,587 %
Intangible assets 25 7,878 6,898 é
Tangible assets 26 8,983 9,758 '-;E;
Goodwill 27 3,752 3,752 §
Assets held for sale 28 700 147 §
Total assets 1,244,353 1,167,131

((674,Gy)] Note 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY g
Amounts due to central banks 0 0 f
Financial liabilities held for trading at fair value through profit or loss 29 39,933 25,170 %
Negative fair value of hedging financial derivatives 43 34,957 8,760 g
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 30 1,056,483 996,594 g
Revaluation differences on portfolios hedge items (31,716) 2,721 @
Current tax liabilities 395 50
Deferred tax liabilities 33 1,175 708
Accruals and other liabilities 31 12,513 11,415
Provisions 32 1,341 2,026
Subordinated debt 34 2,490 2,629
Total liabilities 1,117,571 1,050,073 @
Share capital 35 19,005 19,005 %
Share premium, funds, retained earnings, revaluation, and net profit for the period 104,504 94,811 E—’
Non-controlling interest 3,273 3,242 g
Total equity 126,782 117,058 2
Total liabilities and equity 1,244,353 1,167,131

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Affidavits
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2021

Remea- Revalu- Total
surement ation of equity,
Capital of equity Revaluation including

funds and Share retirement securities Cash Hedge of a of debt Share- Non- non-
Share Own retained based benefits at FVOCI flow foreign net securities  holders controlling controlling
(74, G))] capital shares earnings* payment plan option hedging investment at FVOCI equity interest interest

Balance as of

31 Dec 2019 19,005 (577) 85,924 505 (215) 288 (82) (8) 700 105,540 3,095 108,635
Treasury shares,

other 0 0 310 21 0 0 0 0 0 331 1 332
Payment of

dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transactions

with owners 0 0 310 21 0 0 0 0 0 331 1 332
Profit for the

period 0 0 8,156 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,156 143 8,299
Other

comprehensive

income for the

period, net of

tax*™ 0 0 24 0 (15) (284) 8) (1) 73 211) 3 (208)
Comprehensive

income for the

period 0 0 8,180 0 (15) (284) (8) 1) 73 7,945 146 8,091

Balance as of
31 Dec 2020 19,005 (577) 94,414 526 (230) 4 (90) 9) 773 113,816 3,242 117,058

Changes in

accounting

policies (refer to

Note 3.6.3) 0 0 328 0 0 0 0 0 0 328 0 328

Balance as of
1 January 2021 19,005 (577) 94,742 526 (230) 4 (90) 9) 773 114,144 3,242 117,386

Treasury shares,
other 0 0 69 20 0 0 0 0 0 89 1 90

Payment of
dividends 0 0 (4,535) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4,539 (229) (4,764)

Transactions
with owners 0 0 (4,466) 20 0 0 0 0 0 (4,446) (228) (4,674)

Profit for the
period 0 0 12,727 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,727 265 12,992

Other

comprehensive

income for the

period, net of

tax** 0 0 (855) 0 6 0 1,338 (©)] 598 1,084 6) 1,078

Comprehensive
income for the

period 0 0 11,872 0 6 0 1,338 (3) 598 13,811 259 14,070
Balance as of
31 Dec 2021 19,005 (677) 102,148 546 (224) 4 1,248 (12) 1,371 123,509 3,273 126,782

* 'Capital funds and retained earnings' consist of other funds created from profit in the amount of CZK 5,211 million (2020: CZK 5,211 million), net profit from the period
in the amount of CZK 12,727 million (2020: CZK 8,156 million), and retained earnings in the amount of CZK 84,210 million (2020: CZK 81,047 million).

** Amounts in the column 'Capital funds and retained earnings' represent gain from the revaluation of debt securities due to consolidation of an associated company using
the equity method.

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2021

(CZKm) 2021 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before income tax 16,020 10,284
Non-cash and other adjustments

Movement of allowances/provisions (including impact of loans and advances transferred and written

off) 670 4,624
Depreciation and amortisation expense on tangible and intangible fixed assets 2,833 2,706
Net profits on other assets (258) 15
Revaluation of derivatives 4,863 (2,130)
Accrued interest, amortisation of discount and premium (349) 1,515
Profit/(loss) on subsidiaries and associates (248) (214)
Foreign exchange differences (159) (361)
Other changes (976) 119
Operating profit before change in operating assets and liabilities 22,396 16,558
Changes in assets and liabilities from operating activities after non-cash adjustments

Amounts due from banks (received/paid) 1,464 (15,871)
Loans and advances to customers (47,277) (37,010)
Debt securities at amortised cost (26,111) (17,683)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (86) (4,974)
Financial assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss (5,202) 773
Other assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss 0 494
Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 155 312
Other assets (574) 132
Amounts due to banks (received/paid) 1,268 (8,561)
Amounts due to customers 52,977 83,536
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 3,078 (411)
Other liabilities 1,532 (1,223)
Net cash flow from operating assets and liabilities (18,776) (486)
Net cash flow from operating activities before tax 3,620 16,072
Income tax paid (1,597) (8,597)
Net cash flow from operating activities 2,023 12,475
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Dividends received (including associated undertakings) 197 6
Purchase of tangible and intangible assets (3,085) (2,834)
Sale of tangible and intangible assets 100 41
Purchase of investments in subsidiaries and associates 42) (101)
Sale/decrease of investments in subsidiaries and associates 26 0
Net cash flow from investment activities (2,804) (2,888)

| Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2021
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(CZKm) 2021 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid to shareholders (4,488) 0
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (229) 0
Securities issued 13,236 105
Securities redeemed (46) (2,594)
Lease liabilities (450) 474)
Subordinated debt (140) 83
Net cash flow from financing activities 7,883 (2,880)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,102 6,707
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 20,512 13,518
Foreign exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (265) 287
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer to Note 36) 27,349 20,512
Interest received 35,722 37,258
Interest paid (14,276) (14,383)

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

These Consolidated Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 February 2022.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors:

e

Jan Juchelka m. p. Jitka Haubova m. p.

Chairman of the Board of Directors Member of the Board of Directors

and Chief Executive Officer and Senior Executive Director, Chief Operations Officer
Komeréni banka, a.s. Komeréni banka, a.s.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2021
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1 Principal activities

The Financial Group of Komeréni banka, a.s. (henceforth the “Group”) consists of Komeréni banka, a.s. (the “Bank”) along with
14 subsidiaries and 5 associated undertakings. The parent company of the Group is the Bank, which is incorporated in the Czech
Republic as a joint-stock company. The principal activities of the Bank are financial services as follow:

I Providing loans, advances, and guarantees in Czech crowns and foreign currencies;
Il Acceptance and placement of deposits in Czech crowns and foreign currencies;
M. Providing current and term deposit accounts in Czech crowns and foreign currencies;

IV. Providing banking services through an extensive branch network in the Czech Republic;
V. Treasury operations in the interbank market;

VI. Servicing foreign trade transactions; and

VII. Investment banking.

The Bank generates the preponderant proportion of the Group’s income and represents substantially all of the assets and liabilities of
the Group.

The address of the Bank’s registered office is Na Pfikopé 33/969, 114 07 Prague 1.
In addition to its operations in the Czech Republic, the Group has operations in Slovakia through its foreign branch
(Komeréni banka, a.s., pobocka zahrani¢nej banky) and its subsidiary ESSOX FINANCE, s.r.o0., as well as in Belgium through its

subsidiary BASTION EUROPEAN INVESTMENTS S.A.

The Bank’s ordinary shares are publicly traded on the Prague Stock Exchange. Société Générale S.A. is the Bank’s majority
shareholder, holding 60.35% (2020: 60.35%) of the Bank’s issued share capital, and the ultimate parent company.

The main activities of the Bank’s subsidiary companies as of 31 December 2021:

Company’s name Direct holding (%) Group holding (%) Principal activity Registered office
KB penzijni spole¢nost, a.s. 100.00 100.00 Retirement pension Prague
Modra pyramida stavebni spofitelna, a.s. 100.00 100.00 Building society Prague
Protos, uzavreny investi¢ni fond, a.s. 83.65 100.00 Investments Prague
Factoring KB, a.s. 100.00 100.00 Factoring Prague
BASTION EUROPEAN INVESTMENTS S.A. 99.98 99.98 Financial services Brussels
KB Real Estate, s.r.o. 100.00 100.00 Support services Prague
STD2, s.r.o. 100.00 100.00 Support services Prague
VN 42, s.r.0. 100.00 100.00 Support services Prague
KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o. 100.00 100.00 Support services Prague
KB Advisory, s. r. 0.* 0.00 100.00 Support services Prague
My Smart Living, s.r.0.* 0.00 100.00 Support services Prague

Development and
implementation of

Finbricks, s. r. 0.* 0.00 100.00 payment solutions Prague
SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o. 50.10 50.10 Industry financing Prague
ESSOX s.r.o. 50.93 50.93 Consumer loans, leasing Ceské Budéjovice
ESSOX FINANCE, s.r.o. 0.00 50.93 Consumer loans, leasing Bratislava

* The company is not consolidated due to its insignificant impact on the financial statements.
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The main activities of the Bank’s associated undertakings as of 31 December 2021:

Company’s name Direct holding (%) Group holding (%) Principal activity Registered office

Komeréni pojistovna, a.s. 49.00 49.00 Insurance Prague
Data collection for credit

CBCB - Czech Banking Credit Bureau, a.s. 20.00 20.00 risk assessments Prague

Worldline Czech Republic s.r.o0.* 1.00 1.00 Financial services Prague
Crowdfunding real

upvest s.r.0.** 0.00 31.06 estate investments Brno
Providing of payment

Platebni instituce Roger a.s.* 0.00 24.83 services Brno

* This is a share in the company’s equity. The Group has 40% of the voting rights and a share in the profit of 0.1%.
**The company is not consolidated due to its insignificant impact on the financial statements.

2 Events for the year ended 31 December 2021
Dividends declared during 2021

At the General Meeting held on 2 November 2021, the shareholders approved a dividend from retained earnings of CZK 23.86 per
share before tax. The dividend was declared in the aggregate amount of CZK 4,535 million. The dividends were paid out in Czech
crowns. Moreover, the Group paid out CZK 229 million in dividends to non-controlling owners of ESSOX s.r.o. (2020: CZK 0 million) and
CZK 0 million to non-controlling owners of SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o. (2020: CZK 0 million).

Changes in the Bank’s financial group

In March, the Bank increased shareholder’s equity of Bankovni identita, a.s. by CZK 16 million through a financial contribution into
other capital funds.

In March 2021, KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o. established the fully owned company Finbricks, s.r.o., funding it with CZK 2 million of equity.
The company develops payment solutions based on PSD2. During 2021, KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o. increased shareholder’s equity of
Finbricks by CZK 10 million through a financial contribution into other capital funds. Finbricks, s.r.o. is currently not consolidated due to
its insignificant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In April, the Bank sold 490 shares of Bankovni identita, a.s. to seven other banks (Air Bank a.s., Equa bank a.s., Fio banka, a.s., mBank
S.A., MONETA Money Bank, a.s., Raiffeisenbank a.s., and UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, a.s.). The Bank currently holds
a 17% share in Bankovni identita, a.s.

In June, KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o. increased shareholders’ equity of upvest s.r.o. by CZK 14 million and increased its share from the
previous 18.9% to the current 31.06%. Upvest s.r.o. is presently not consolidated due to its insignificant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

In July, the Bank decreased shareholders’ equity of BASTION EUROPEAN INVESTMENTS S.A. by EUR 750 thousand (equivalent to
CZK 21 million).

During 2021, the Bank increased the equity of KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o. by CZK 46 million through a financial contribution into other
capital funds. KB SmartSolutions, s.r.o. is a fully consolidated unit of KB Group.

Issue of mortgage covered bonds in euros
The Bank issued its inaugural EUR Mortgage Covered Bond (mortgage bonds, ISIN XS2289128162) in the nominal volume of EUR
500 million on the issue date of 20 January 2021. The bond bears a fixed rate of interest, paid annually, until its redemption on maturity

date 20 January 2026. The bond’s maturity is extendable by 1 year according to the terms and conditions of the bond (a so-called soft
bullet) and the bond received an AAA rating from the rating agency Fitch.
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3 Principal accounting policies
The principal accounting policies followed in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements are set out below.
3.1 Statement of compliance with IFRS

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared pursuant to and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards
(hereafter only “IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union, on the basis of Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 on the application of
international accounting standards, and effective for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2021.

The Consolidated Financial Statements presented for the year ended 31 December 2021 are prepared on the basis of current best
estimates. The management of the Group believes that these present a true and fair view of the Group’s financial results and financial
position using all relevant and available information as of the financial statements date.

3.2 Underlying assumptions of the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2.1 Accrual basis
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on an accrual accounting basis (i.e. the effects of transactions and other events
are recognised when they occur and are reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements for the period to which they relate).

An exception is the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, which is prepared on a cash basis (i.e. it presents cash inflows and
outflows during the reporting period without regard to the period to which each transaction relates).

3.2.2 Going concern

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on the assumption that the Group is a going concern and will continue in
operation for the foreseeable future. The Group has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or materially curtail the scale of its
operations.

3.2.3 Reporting period
The Group reports for a 12-month period which is identical to the calendar year.

3.3 Basis of preparation

3.3.1 Presentation currency
The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Czech crowns (hereafter only “CZK”), which constitute the Group’s
presentation currency. The balances shown are stated in CZK million unless indicated otherwise.

3.3.2 Historical cost

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for items measured at fair value
comprising financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, hedging derivatives, and hedged items in fair value hedge accounting.

Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their (i) fair value less cost to sell, or (ii) carrying amount just prior to reclassification
into ‘Assets held for sale’.

3.3.3 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

In applying the accounting policies for the purpose of preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS,

it is necessary for the Group’s management to use professional judgement and make estimates and assumptions. These impact
upon reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the financial statements date,
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates and judgements are based on the
information available as of the financial statements date and they relate especially to the determination of:

e Fair values in the Statement of Financial Position of financial instruments not quoted in an active market which are classified as
financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
or hedging derivatives (refer to Note 3.5.5);

The value of intangible assets, except goodwill (refer to Note 3.5.10);

The amount of impairment of assets (refer to Notes 3.5.10 and 3.5.11);

Provisions recognised under liabilities (refer to Note 3.5.12);

The initial value of goodwill for each business combination (refer to Note 3.5.11);

The amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, together
with future tax planning strategies (refer to Note 3.5.8);

e Assessment of the substance of participation interest in Group entities (refer to Note 3.3.4);
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e The amount of impairment and provisions for credit risk related to financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, loan commitments and financial guarantees granted as measured using models or internal
assumptions based on historical, current, and prospective data (refer to Note 3.5.5);

e Business model and SPPI assessment of financial assets (refer to Note 3.5.5); and
Lease term for leases of an indefinite time period.

Information about the key judgements and assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty as of
the financial statements date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying values of assets and liabilities
are disclosed in individual notes as appropriate.

Covid-19 Pandemic

The continuation of the Covid-19 pandemic causes the current economic environment to remain subject to increased volatility and
uncertainty, thus requiring particularly complex judgements and estimates in certain areas. The Covid-19 pandemic has significant
implications especially in the area of credit risk management, as described in Note 43(A). The Group uses in particular its own
behavioural models to evaluate the impact of Covid-19. Specifically, business risk related to the Covid-19 situation is being evaluated
by the Strategy and Finance arm and is taken into account in the context of financial planning.

3.3.4 Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and of its subsidiaries whose financial
statements are significant relative to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, particularly regarding Group consolidated total
assets and gross operating income. A subsidiary is an entity in which the Bank has control, i.e. the Bank is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
When assessing control, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances while taking into account particularly voting rights,
potential voting rights, and contractual arrangements. This assessment may require the use of accounting judgements. Subsidiaries
are consolidated using the full method of consolidation from the date when the Bank obtains control to the date when the Bank ceases
to exercise control over such entity.

The financial statements of the consolidated subsidiaries used to prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared as

of the Bank’s financial statements date and using consistent accounting policies. The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries and
branches are translated into the Bank’s presentation currency at the rate of exchange as of the Bank’s financial statements date, and
their items of income and expense are translated at the monthly average exchange rates for the respective month of a given transaction.
Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity. The consolidation principles are
unchanged as against the previous year. All intragroup transactions, balances, income, and expenses were eliminated in full.

Investments in associates are presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements using the equity method if their financial statements
are significant relative to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, particularly regarding Group consolidated total assets and
gross operating income, or if they are strategic investments. An associate is an entity in which the Bank has significant influence, i.e.
directly or indirectly owns 20% to 50% of voting rights but it does not exercise control. Equity accounting involves recognising in the
Consolidated Statement of Income and in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income the Group’s share of the associates’
profit or loss for the period and comprehensive income for the period. The Group’s interest in an associate is initially recognised at cost
in the Statement of Financial Position and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the investor’s share in the investee’s
net assets.

3.4 Application of new and revised IFRS
3.4.1 Standards and interpretations newly applied by the Group in the current period

The following standards, interpretations, and amendments were newly applied by the Group as from 1 January 2021. Unless otherwise
described below, their application has no significant impact in the current period (and/or prior period).

Standard Impact/Comments

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — The Phase 2 amendments complement those effective from 1 January 2020 (Phase 1 pre-replacement issues)
Phase 2 and focus on the effects of the IBOR reform on financial reporting that arise when, for example, an existing
(Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative one.

IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16)
The amendments include especially a practical expedient for particular changes in the basis for determining
contractual cash flows as a result of the IBOR reform, relief from discontinuing hedging relationships for changes
required by the IBOR reform, and additional disclosure requirements.

See Note 3.6.1 for further information.

Extension of the Temporary In parallel with the amendment to IFRS 17, an amendment to IFRS 4 has also been published to extend
Exemption from Applying IFRS 9 until 1 January 2023 the ability for entities whose primary activity is insurance to delay the application of IFRS
(Amendments to IFRS 4) 9. The extension maintains the alignment between the expiry date of the temporary exemption from IFRS 9 and

the effective date of IFRS 17, which replaces IFRS 4.
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Standard Impact/Comments

Covid-19 — Related Rent In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions to provide relief to
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 lessees from applying the IFRS 16 requirements on lease modifications for rent concessions arising as a direct
(Amendments to IFRS 16) consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. The amendment was originally intended to apply for payments due on

or before 30 June 2021.

These second amendments, published by the IASB in March 2021, extend by 1 year the availability of the
practical expedient, applicable to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments due on or before 30 June 2022.

In 2021, as in 2020, the Group did not benefit from any Covid-19 related rent reliefs.

3.4.2 Issued standards and interpretations not applied for the current period

Although the following standards, interpretations, and amendments had been issued by IASB, they are not yet effective for the
reporting period beginning on 1 January 2021 and/or they have not yet been approved by the European Commission (highlighted in the
table below). The Group has decided not to apply them earlier.

Currently, the Group does not anticipate that their application will significantly impact the Group’s financial position and financial
performance for the reporting period, unless otherwise described below.

Effective for reporting

Standard Summarised content period beginning on or after
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling The amendments clarify the costs to be considered when assessing whether a 1 January 2022
a Contract contract is onerous.

(Amendments to IAS 37)
The amendments specify that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the costs
that relate directly to the contract. Such costs include both the incremental costs of
fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour, materials) and an allocation of other costs
directly related to fulfilling contracts (e.g. allocation of the depreciation charge of
equipment used to fulfil the contract).

References to the Conceptual The amendments replace in IFRS 3 an outdated reference to the Conceptual 1 January 2022
Framework Framework with a reference to the current revised version issued in March 2018

(Amendments to IFRS 3) without significantly changing the requirements in the standard.

Annual Improvements to IFRS As part of the Annual Improvements to IFRS, the IASB has issued minor 1 January 2022
2018-2020 Cycle amendments to four standards (IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS, IFRS 9 Financial

Instruments, lllustrative Examples to IFRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 Agriculture).

The adjustment of the illustrative example to IFRS 16 Leases was not subject to EU
endorsement process.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts — new IFRS 17 replaces the current standard for insurance contracts, IFRS 4, and provides 1 January 2023

standard, issued in May 2017 new rules for recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of insurance
contracts within the scope of the standard (insurance contracts issued, reinsurance

Amendments to IFRS 17, issued contracts, life and non-life). Similar principles shall also be applied to investment

in June 2020 contracts issued with discretionary participation features.

To make differences in profitability among insurance contracts visible, IFRS 17
requires entities to divide each portfolio of insurance contracts into a minimum

of three groups: (i) loss-making (onerous) contracts at initial recognition, (ii) contracts
that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming onerous
subsequently, and (iii) remaining contracts.

The groups of insurance contracts will be measured at current values using updated
estimates and assumptions about cash flows, discount rates, and risks relating

to insurance contracts. Entities will recognise profit allocated to periods when the
insurance services are provided. For a loss-making group of contracts, the loss will
be recognised immediately.

In the Statement of Income, the insurance service result (comprising insurance
revenue and insurance service expenses) will be presented separately from the
insurance finance income or expenses.

In June 2020, IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 17, including deferral of the
effective date by two years to 1 January 2023.

Initial Application of IFRS 17 and The amendment is a transitional provision relating to comparative information about 1 January 2023
IFRS 9 — Comparative Information financial assets presented on the initial application of IFRS 17. The amendment EU not yet endorsed
(Amendment to IFRS 17) permits entities that first apply IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 at the same time to disclose

comparative information about a financial asset as if the classification and
measurement requirements of IFRS 9 had been applied to that financial asset before.
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Effective for reporting

Standard Summarised content period beginning on or after
Classification of Liabilities The amendments clarify in IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements one of 1 January 2023

as Current or Non-current the criteria for classifying a liability as non-current, specifically the requirement EU not yet endorsed
(Amendments to IAS 1) for an entity to have the right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the reporting period. That right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period and the classification is unaffected by the likelihood or expectations about
exercising the right.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies The aim of the IASB project was to develop guidance and examples to help entities 1 January 2023
(Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosure. The amendments to EU not yet endorsed
Practice Statement 2) IAS 1 require entities to disclose material accounting policy information rather than
significant accounting policies in their financial statements.
Definition of Accounting Estimates The amendments introduce the definition of accounting estimates and include other 1 January 2023
(Amendments to IAS 8) amendments to help entities distinguish changes in accounting estimates from EU not yet endorsed
changes in accounting policies.
Deferred Tax related to Assets The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax on transactions such 1 January 2023
and Liabilities arising from a Single as leases and decommissioning obligations. Under the amendments, the initial EU not yet endorsed
Transaction recognition exemption does not apply to transactions that, on initial recognition, give
(Amendments to IAS 12) rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
3.5 Principal accounting policies

3.5.1 Transactions in foreign currencies

3.5.1.1  Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of the Group’s entities operating in the Czech Repubilic (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment
within which the Group operates) is the Czech crown.

The Group has a branch and a subsidiary, ESSOX FINANCE, s.r.o., in the Slovak Republic and a subsidiary, BASTION EUROPEAN
INVESTMENTS S.A., in Belgium. These both have the euro as their functional currency and are considered as foreign operations from
a financial reporting point of view.

3.5.1.2 Transactions and balances translation

Transactions realised in foreign currency (i.e. in a currency other than the functional currency) are translated into the functional
currency at the date of initial recognition using the spot foreign exchange rate announced by the bank authority (hereafter only the
“BA”) for the respective foreign currency. Depending on the functional currency, the BA means the Czech National Bank (hereafter only
the “CNB”) for the Czech crown and the European Central Bank (hereafter only the “ECB”) for the euro.

At the end of the reporting period, all statement of financial position line items denominated in foreign currency are translated into the

functional currency, depending upon their nature, as follows:

I. Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate (foreign exchange rate announced by the BA at the end of the
reporting period);

Il. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost are translated using the BA’s foreign exchange rate at the date of the
transaction; and

Ill. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the BA’s foreign exchange rate at the
date when the fair value was determined.

Gains and losses arising from the translation of foreign currency items at the end of the reporting period as well as those related to
their settlement are recognised as gains or losses for the period in which they occur and are presented in the line ‘Net profit/(loss) on
financial operations’.

Where a gain or loss from a fair value change in a non-monetary item denominated in foreign currency is recognised directly in Other
Comprehensive Income, however, related foreign exchange rate differences are recognised in the same way. These non-monetary
items include equity instruments for which the Group has decided at initial recognition to use the irrevocable election to measure these
at fair value with changes recognised in Other Comprehensive Income without subsequent recycling into profit or loss on realisation.
Also recognised in Other Comprehensive Income are foreign exchange rate differences related to the fair value revaluation of debt
instruments held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets (excluding the effective portion of their fair value hedges and excluding foreign exchange rate differences related to changes in
their amortised cost) and non-derivative financial liabilities (current accounts, deposits) used as hedging items for the cash flow hedge
of foreign currency risk and the hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation.
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For consolidation purposes, the results and financial position of consolidated entities whose functional currency is different from the

Group’s presentation currency are translated into this currency using the following procedures:

I. Assets and liabilities are translated using the closing rate (exchange rate announced by the CNB at the end of the reporting period);

Il. Income and expenses recognised in profit or loss are translated using the average rate for the period (monthly average of exchange
rates announced by the CNB during the period);

lll. All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the line ‘Share premium, funds,
retained earnings, revaluation, and net profit for the period’.

3.5.2 Recognition of income and expenses

3.56.2.1 Net interest income

Interest income and expense related to interest-bearing instruments, except for instruments classified as financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and interest hedging derivatives, are recognised on an accrual basis in the Statement

of Income in the lines ‘Interest income’ and ‘Interest expense’ using the effective interest rate (refer to 3.5.5.7 Effective interest rate
method). For credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the asset (i.e. an amount adjusted for expected credit losses over the life of the asset). Interest income and expense related
to interest rate hedging derivatives are recognised in the lines described on an accrual basis using the contractual interest rate of the
corresponding derivative. Late-fee income is recognised at the date of its payment and presented in the line ‘Interest income’.

3.56.2.2 Net fee and commission income

The recognition of income from fees and commissions depends on the purpose for which a fee was assessed and the basis of

accounting for any associated financial instrument. In accordance with the substance of fees and nature of services for which they are

assessed, the Group distinguishes the following categories of fees:

e Fees and commissions that comprise an integral component of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument are recognised in
the line ‘Interest income’;

e Fees and commissions for services provided and for the execution of an act, such as deposit service fees, loan service fees, fees
income for transaction services provided, commissions income for cross-selling of third-party products (such as insurance and
investment products for which the Group is acting as an agent while not taking over control of the products provided and therefore
in connection with the net approach for revenues presentation), and specialised financial services fees. Income is recognised as
revenue at the point in time when the services are provided or the act has been completed. If related to a longer period, the fees
are recognised over time on a straight-line basis. These fees and commissions are presented in the line ‘Net fee and commission
income’.

3.56.2.3 Net profit/(loss) on financial operations

This line includes net profit/loss on financial operations, which means realised and unrealised gains and losses on securities held for
trading; security derivatives; currency, interest rate, and trading commodity derivatives; foreign exchange transactions; foreign assets
and liabilities retranslation to the functional currency; and realised gains and losses on financial assets held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.

This line also includes interest income and expense related to interest-bearing instruments classified as financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

3.5.3 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and cash in transit.

Cash equivalents are short-term (with a maturity of 3 months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes. This item also includes obligatory minimum reserves.
The Group can freely transact with the amount of these reserves under the assumption that average obligatory minimum reserves are
maintained within the given maintenance period established by the CNB.

3.5.4 Fair value and hierarchy of fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received in selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making
the measurements of assets or liabilities measured at fair value. The hierarchy of fair values has the following three levels:
e [evel 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at
the measurement date;
e [evel 2: inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and
e [evel 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

The fair value is included in the hierarchy according to the lowest classified significant input used in its determination. Significant input
information consists of information that has a significant impact on the total fair value of the asset or liability.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis (i.e. those for which
measurement at fair value is required or permitted in the Statement of Financial Position at the end of each reporting period), the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing the categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer.

3.5.5 Financial instruments

3.56.5.1 Dates of recognition and derecognition
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised using settlement date accounting. The settlement (collection) date
is the day on which the financial instrument is delivered (cash payment).

When settlement date accounting is applied, the financial asset is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position on the day of
receipt of a financial instrument (sending of cash) and derecognised on the day of its delivery (collection of cash).

For financial assets measured at fair value, however, the acquired financial asset is measured to reflect changes in its fair value from
the purchase trade date to the purchase settlement date. Gains and losses from changes in fair value are recognised depending upon
the type of financial instrument and taking into account the classification based on both the business model and contractual cash flow
characteristics (i.e. either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income).

All purchases and sales of financial instruments that do not meet the “regular way” settlement criterion in the marketplace concerned
are treated as financial derivatives. The Group recognises financial derivatives in the Statement of Financial Position at the trade date.
Financial derivatives are derecognised at their maturity.

The Group recognises a financial liability in the Statement of Financial Position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument and it is removed from the Statement of Financial Position when it is extinguished (i.e. in circumstances where
a contractually defined obligation is fulfilled, cancelled, or expires).

3.5.5.2 Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

When a financial asset or financial liability is initially recognised, the Group measures it at its fair value plus or minus, in the case
of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of that instrument.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of
the consideration given or received).

The transaction costs mainly include fees and commissions paid to brokers, dealers, and agents.

Also, financial guarantee contracts issued are initially recognised at fair value, being the premium received, in the Statement of
Financial Position in the line ‘Accruals and other liabilities’. The guarantees are subsequently measured as of the financial statements
date at the higher of the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation of revenues recognised in the
Statement of Income in accordance with IFRS 15 (in the Statement of Financial Position in the line ‘Accruals and other liabilities’) or the
impairment for expected credit losses from any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee (in the Statement of Financial
Position in the line ‘Provisions’). The premium received is recognised in the Statement of Income in the line ‘Net fee and commission
income’ on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. The creation of provisions is recognised in the Statement of Income

in the line ‘Impairment losses’.
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3.6.5.3 “Day 1” profit or loss
In determining whether the fair value at initial recognition equals the transaction price, the Group takes into account factors specific to
the transaction and to the asset or liability.

The Group trades no financial instruments on an inactive market. On active markets, the Group trades financial instruments only for
the quoted price in the active market. For this reason, there is no difference between the transaction price and the fair value of the
financial asset or financial liability that is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or based on
a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets (a “Day 1” profit or loss).

3.5.5.4 Financial assets and liabilities classification and subsequent measurement
The classification of the Group’s financial instruments is determined at the date of initial recognition and is unchanged throughout the
period of holding the financial instrument, except for rare situations listed in 3.5.5.5 Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities.

Depending on the nature of the financial instrument and the evaluation of both the business model for managing the financial asset
and the asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics, financial instruments held by the Group are after initial recognition subsequently
measured at:

. Amortised costs;

Il. Fair value through other comprehensive income; or

Ill. Fair value through profit or loss.

The Group does not make use of an option to designate a financial asset or liability upon initial recognition as a financial instrument at
fair value through profit or loss (the “Fair Value Option”). For some investments in equity instruments not held for trading purposes the
Group uses the irrevocable election to measure these at fair value with changes being recognised in other comprehensive income.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities — IBOR reform

In the context of the interest rate benchmark reform (hereinafter the “IBOR reform”), the basis for determining the contractual cash

flows of a financial asset or liability may be modified:

e by amending the contractual terms and conditions set during the initial recognition of the financial instrument (example:
the contractual terms and conditions are amended to replace the initial reference interest rate by an alternative one);

e by applying external dispositions without requiring a change in contractual terms and conditions (example: the method for
determining the reference interest rate is amended without any change in the contractual terms and conditions, e.g. the EONIA has
been quoted by reference to the €STR + 8.5 bps since October 2019);

e as aresult of the activation of an existing contractual term or condition (example: application of the contractual rate replacement
provision, or “Fallback?”).

If in the context of the IBOR reform there is a change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or
liability at amortised cost or of a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income, the modification is considered
a simple forward-looking update of the interest rate applied to determine the interest income or expense and does not generate

a modification gain or loss in the income statement.

This treatment depends on compliance with the following conditions:
e achange in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required and results directly from the IBOR reform; and
¢ the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the former basis used before the change.

Cases giving rise to a new basis for determining the contractual cash flows considered economically equivalent to the former basis are,

for example:

¢ the replacement of an existing reference interest rate used to determine the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or liability by
an alternative reference interest rate (or by changing the method used to determine the reference interest rate), with the addition of a
fixed spread necessary to compensate for the difference in the basis between the existing reference interest rate and the alternative
one;

¢ the addition of a “Fallback” provision to the contractual terms and conditions of a financial asset or liability to allow for
implementation of the changes described above;

e changes in the determination of the amount of interest resulting from the use of a new reference interest rate (rate revision
procedure, number of days between interest payment dates, etc.).

Changes to a financial asset or liability, other than those deriving directly from application of the IBOR reform, are treated as
a modification of financial instruments.

3.5.5.4.1 Loans and debt instruments

Loans and debt instruments are non-derivative financial assets with legally enforceable fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities.
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Classification and subsequent measurement of loans and debt instruments are determined based upon the evaluation of:
e The Group’s business model for managing financial assets; and
e The financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics.

Description of business models

The business model is determined on the level at which the financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business
objective. The business model does not depend upon management’s intentions for an individual instrument but reflects the way

a certain portfolio of financial assets is managed in order to generate cash flows under standard economic conditions. The Group
distinguishes the following business models:

(i) “Hold to collect contractual cash flows”;

(i) “Hold to collect contractual cash flows and sell”; or

(iii) “Held for trading”.

(i) “Hold to collect contractual cash flows” business model

Loans and debt instruments that fall into the business model “Hold to collect contractual cash flows” are held in order to collect
contractual cash flows over the life of the instrument. In determining whether cash flows are going to be realised by collecting the
financial assets’ contractual cash flows, the Group considers the frequency, value, and timing of sales in prior periods; the reasons for
those sales; and expectations about future sales activity for a given portfolio.

The Group admits the following sales that are consistent with the business model “Hold to collect contractual cash flows”:

e Sales due to an increase in the assets’ credit risk irrespective of their frequency and value;

e Sales made to manage credit risk concentration if those sales are infrequent (even if significant in value) or insignificant in value
(even if frequent);

e Sales made close to the maturity of the asset when the proceeds from the sales approximate the collection of the remaining
contractual cash flows; and

e Sales made based on a requirement imposed by a third party, such as regulatory bodies, if those sales are infrequent or
insignificant in value.

The financial assets that fall into the business model “Hold to collect contractual cash flows” are: (i) all loans and receivables; (ii) all
debt securities that are not part of the liquidity buffer and are not determined for trading; (iii) from 1 January 2018 until 25 March 2021,
all new investments in CZK-denominated bonds forming part of the liquidity buffer with residual maturity up to 10 years and partly up
to 12 years at the time of purchase; (iv) from 25 March 2021 until 23 September 2021, all new investments in CZK-denominated bonds
forming part of the liquidity buffer, with residual maturity up to 15 years at the time of purchase and according to the Group’s internal
rules; and (v) from 23 September 2021 onwards, all new investments in CZK or EUR-denominated bonds forming part of the liquidity
buffer, with residual maturity up to 15 years at the time of purchase and according to the Group’s internal rules.

(ii) “Hold to collect contractual cash flows and sell” business model

Loans and debt instruments that fall into the business model “Hold to collect contractual cash flows and sell” are held in order to
collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets. In this type of business model, both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets are integral to achieving the objective of the business model. The objective of this business model is to manage
the Group’s everyday liquidity needs. The Group expects that in case of a structural deficit of assets and liabilities, sales of these loans
and debt instruments will be realised to cover the lack of liquid assets.

As compared to the business model whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows, the Group expects
greater frequency and value of sales. Selling financial assets is not an incidental activity, but an integral part of achieving the business
model’s objective. There is no threshold for the frequency or value of sales that must occur in this business model, however, as both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets are integral to achieving its objective.

The financial assets that fall into the business model “Hold to collect contractual cash flows and sell” are: (i) from 1 January 2018 until
23 September 2021, all EUR-denominated bonds forming part of the liquidity buffer; (ii) from 1 January 2018 until 25 March 2021, all
new investments in CZK-denominated bonds forming part of the liquidity buffer and with residual maturity at the time of purchase
longer than 12 years or longer than 10 years, according to the Group’s internal rules; (iii) from 25 March 2021 until 23 September 2021,
all new investments in CZK-denominated bonds forming part of the liquidity buffer with residual maturity above 15 years at the time
of purchase; and (iv) from 23 September 2021 onwards, all new investments in CZK- or EUR-denominated bonds forming part of the
liquidity buffer with residual maturity above 15 years at the time of purchase.

(iii) “Held for trading” business model

Loans and debt instruments that fall into the business model “Held for trading” are held with the objective of realising cash flows
through the sale of those assets. The Group makes decisions based on the assets’ fair values and manages the assets to realise those
fair values.

The financial assets that fall into the business model “Held for trading” include all other loans and debt instruments that are not part of
the business model “Hold to collect contractual cash flows” or “Hold to collect contractual cash flows and sell”.
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Contractual cash flows characteristics test

Based on an assessment of the contractual cash flow characteristics, the Group ascertains whether the contractual cash flows on
loans and debt instruments are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI test). Principal is
the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. Interest consists in particular of consideration for the time value of money and
credit risk. It can also include consideration for liquidity risk, administrative costs, or profit margin that is consistent with the basic
lending arrangement.

Measurement at amortised costs

After initial recognition, loans and debt instruments are subsequently measured at amortised costs if both the following conditions are
met: the financial asset is held within the business model “Hold to collect contractual cash flows” and the contractual cash flows meet
the characteristics of payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial instruments are measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments

and using the effective interest method plus or minus the fees that are an integral part of the financial asset, and amortisation of the
premium or discount (i.e. any difference between the initial amount and the amount at maturity), and further reduced by any loss
allowance for expected credit losses. Interest income is recognised in the line ‘Interest income’ in the Statement of Income. Impairment
losses are recognised in the Statement of Income in the line ‘impairment losses’.

Measurement at fair value through other comprehensive income

After initial recognition, loans and debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with changes being recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income if both the following conditions are met: the financial asset is held within the business model “Hold to collect
contractual cash flows and sell” and the contractual cash flows meet the characteristics of payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Unrealised gains or losses from fair value changes, as well as gains or losses from changes in fair value resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates are, until their derecognition or reclassification, recognised within Other Comprehensive Income in the line
‘Revaluation of debt securities, net of tax’.

When holding a financial asset, loss allowances are recognised. Unlike in the case of financial assets measured at amortised costs,
however, the loss allowances are not presented separately in the Statement of Financial Position and do not reduce the carrying
amount of the financial asset. The loss allowances are recognised directly in Other Comprehensive Income and in the Statement of
Income in the line ‘Impairment losses’.

Gains or losses from changes in foreign exchange rates on loans and debt instruments are recognised in the Statement of Income in
the line ‘Net profit/(loss) on financial operations’, with the exception of exchange rate gains or losses related to fair value revaluation
that are recognised within Other Comprehensive Income. Accrued interest income is recognised in the Statement of Income in the line
‘Interest income’.

When a financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in Other Comprehensive Income is
recognised in the Statement of Income in the line ‘Net profit/(loss) on financial operations’.

Measurement at fair value through profit or loss

After initial recognition, loans and debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with changes being recognised in
profit or loss if the financial asset falls within the business model “Held for trading” or if the contractual cash flows do not meet the
characteristics of payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The category of fair value through profit or loss is a residual category. The Group classifies loans and debt instruments into this
category if they do not meet the criteria for measurement at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Unrealised gains and losses, as well as realised gains or losses arising from the revaluation of these financial assets, interest, and
foreign exchange rate differences, are recognised in the Statement of Income in the line ‘Net profit/(loss) on financial operations’. These
financial assets are outside the scope of the IFRS 9 impairment requirements, and therefore impairment losses are not recognised.

3.5.5.4.2 Equity instruments
Equity instruments are non-derivative financial assets with the entitlement to participate in the exercise of ownership rights without
a defined maturity and without legally enforceable fixed or determinable payments.

Equity instruments are outside the scope of the IFRS 9 impairment requirements, and therefore impairment losses are not recognised.
Equity instruments are measured at fair value with changes being recognised in profit or loss, except for when making the election at
initial recognition to measure the equity instrument at fair value with changes being recognised in other comprehensive income and
without subsequent recycling into profit or loss on disposal. This election is irrevocable and is made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

@ Komer¢ni banka, a.s. | Annual Report 2021



The Group may use the option only for instruments that are not held for trading. When using the option, the disposal will not
result in realisation and recognition of the disposal’s result in the Statement of Income. Instead, it will remain in the Group’s Other
Comprehensive Income and, following approval by the General Meeting, will eventually be transferred to retained earnings.
Dividend income arising from equity instruments is recognised when the right to dividends is established and presented in the
Statement of Income in the line ‘Dividend income”.

The Group applies the option (measurement of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income) for investments
of a strategic nature and with an equity interest of less than 20%. This approach is based on the Group’s intention to continue holding
these investments in the long term or on the existence of a long-term restriction against selling these investments.

3.5.5.4.3 Derivatives and hedge accounting

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract having all three of the following characteristics:

* |ts value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign
exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, market prices of securities, or another market variable;

* |t requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that
would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors; and

e |tis settled at a future date.

At the inception of a financial derivative contract, the Group designates the derivative instrument as either held for trading or hedging.

Held for trading derivatives are classified into a portfolio of ‘Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading at fair value through
profit or loss’ based on whether the fair value is positive or negative.

Hedging derivatives are derivatives that the Group uses to hedge interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks to which it is exposed

as a result of its financial market transactions. In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Group has elected to apply

IAS 39 hedge accounting methods. The Group designates a derivative as hedging only if the criteria set out under IFRS are met at the

designation date, i.e. if, and only if, all of the following conditions are met:

e It is compliant with the Group’s risk management objective and strategy;

* At the inception of the hedge, the hedging relationship is formally documented, which includes identification of the hedging
instrument and hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged, and how the entity will assess the hedging
instrument’s effectiveness;

* The hedge is expected to be highly effective at inception and throughout the period;

* The effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured; and

e Changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument and hedged item or transaction are almost fully offset (within
arange of 80% to 125%).

Hedging derivatives are accounted for according to the type of hedging relationship, which can be one of the following:

I. Hedging of an exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, or an
identified portion of such an asset, liability, or firm commitment that is attributable to a particular risk and that could affect profit or
loss (fair value hedge); or

Il. Hedging of an exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or
liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and that could affect profit or loss (cash flow hedge); or

Ill. Hedging of a net investment in a foreign operation.

Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is designated and qualified as a fair value hedge are recognised in the Statement of
Income in the line ‘Net profit/(loss) on financial operations’. Changes in the fair value of a hedged item are recognised in the Statement
of Financial Position as a component of the carrying amount of the hedged item and in the Statement of Income in the line

‘Net profit/(loss) on financial operations’.

It is on this basis that the Group hedges the interest rate risk and foreign currency risk of financial assets (loans and debt instruments
with fixed interest rates) and interest rate risk of deposits, repos, mortgage bonds issued, as well as selected portfolios of building
savings. The effectiveness of a hedge is regularly tested through prospective and retrospective tests on a quarterly basis.

If a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised,
then the entity revokes the designation and an adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged interest-bearing financial instrument is
amortised to profit or loss over the period until the maturity of the hedged item.

The Group also accounts for portfolio fair value hedges (hedging transactions concerning portfolios of financial assets or liabilities),
for which interest rate swaps are used. When accounting for these transactions, the Group applies the IAS 39 “carve-out” as adopted
by the European Union. The accounting treatment of financial derivatives designated as portfolio fair value hedges is similar to that of
other fair value hedging derivatives.
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Changes in the fair values of hedging derivatives classified as cash flow hedges that prove to be highly effective in relation to the
hedged risks are recognised in the line ‘Cash flow hedging’ in Other Comprehensive Income and are transferred to the Statement
of Income and classified as income or expense in the periods during which the hedged items affect the Statement of Income. The
ineffective portion of a hedge is charged directly to the Statement of Income in the line ‘Net profit/(loss) on financial operations’.

It is on this basis that the Group hedges the interest rate risk and currency risk associated with the cash flows of selected portfolios of
assets or liabilities or individually significant assets or liabilities. The effectiveness of a hedge is regularly tested through prospective
and retrospective tests on a quarterly basis.

If a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised,
then the entity revokes the designation and the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income for the period when the hedge was effective remains in equity until the forecast transaction occurs.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated as other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss.

Using foreign currency deposits as the hedging instrument, the Group additionally hedges the foreign exchange rate risk arising from
the net investment in the subsidiaries BASTION EUROPEAN INVESTMENTS S.A. and ESSOX FINANCE, s.r.o. Foreign exchange rate
differences arising from its retranslation are included in Other Comprehensive Income.

Financial derivatives constituting economic hedges under the Group’s risk management positions but not qualifying for hedge
accounting under the specific rules of IAS 39 are treated as derivatives held for trading.

The fair values of derivative instruments held for trading and hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 43(C).

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of the components of a hedging relationship — IBOR reform
Continuation of the hedging relationships

The documentation of the existing hedging relationships is regularly updated in order to reflect the changes brought about by the IBOR
reform in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of the hedged item/hedging instrument.

These updates resulting from the IBOR reform do not result in discontinuation of the hedging relationship nor designation of a new

accounting hedge when they meet the following conditions:

e the change made to the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required and results directly from the IBOR reform; and

¢ the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the former determination basis used before
the change.

When these conditions are met, updating the hedging documentation may consist solely in:

designating the alternative benchmark rate (contractually or non-contractually specified) as a hedged risk;

updating the description of the hedged item, including a description of the hedged portion of cash flows or the fair value;
updating the description of the hedging instrument; or

updating the description of the method used to assess the effectiveness of the hedge.

These updates are performed as and when changes are made to the hedged items or the hedging instruments. An accounting hedge
may be updated several successive times.

Changes not directly resulting from application of the IBOR reform and impacting the basis used for determining the contractual cash
flows of the hedging relationship components or the hedging documentation are analysed beforehand in order to confirm compliance
with the criteria for the continued application of hedge accounting.

Specific accounting treatments

Regarding fair value hedges and cash flow hedges, the applicable accounting requirements remain unchanged for the recognition of
gains and losses resulting from reassessment of the hedged item and the hedging instrument while taking into account the changes
described above.

For the purpose of the retrospective effectiveness assessment, the cumulative fair value changes may be reset to zero on a case-by-
case basis for each hedging relationship modified.

The amounts of gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income for cash flow hedges that have been discontinued
prospectively, when the benchmark rate used as a basis for the future cash flows hedged is changed, are kept in other comprehensive
income until the hedged cash flows are recorded in the Statement of Income.

An alternative reference interest rate used as a risk component not specified by an agreement may be used, provided it is, as
reasonably expected, separately identifiable (i.e. quoted on a sufficiently liquid market) in the 24 months after its first use.
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3.5.5.4.4 Financial liabilities
The Group classifies financial liabilities into the categories ‘Financial liabilities at amortised cost’ and ‘Financial liabilities held for
trading at fair value through profit or loss’, depending on the methods of managing the performance of the financial liability.

When the performance of the financial liability is managed based on trading that mostly reflects active and frequent purchases and
sales (i.e. financial instruments held for trading are mostly used to generate profit from short-term fluctuations in the price or margin),
the Group classifies these financial liabilities after initial recognition as subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. Such
financial liabilities are only liabilities from disposed securities and trading derivatives with a negative value. They are recognised in the
Statement of Financial Position in the line ‘Financial liabilities held for trading at fair value through profit or loss’.

Unrealised as well as realised gains or losses arising from the revaluation of these financial liabilities, interest, and foreign exchange
rate differences are recognised in the Statement of Income in the line ‘Net profit/(loss) on financial operations’.

All other financial liabilities are subsequent to initial recognition measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments as subsequently measured at amortised
costs. These financial liabilities are recognised depending upon the type of counterparty in the lines ‘Amounts due to central banks’,
‘Financial liabilities at amortised cost’, and ‘Subordinated debt’.

Interest expense is recognised in the Statement of Income in the line ‘Interest expense’.

In the event of repurchasing its own debt securities, the Group derecognises these securities (i.e. the item ‘Securities issued’ is
decreased). Gains and losses arising as a result of repurchasing the Group’s own debt securities are recognised as of the date of their
repurchase in the Statement of Income in the line ‘Net interest income’ as an adjustment to the interest paid from its own bonds.

3.5.5.4.5 Embedded derivatives
In some cases, a derivative, such as an option for an earlier redemption of a bond, is a component of a hybrid (combined) financial
instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract.

Derivatives embedded in financial assets, loans, and debt instruments within the scope of IFRS 9 are not separated from the host
contract. Instead, the entire hybrid instrument is assessed for classification and measurement based on the Group’s business model
for managing the hybrid instrument and its contractual cash flow characteristics as disclosed in Note 3.5.5.4 Financial assets and
liabilities classification and subsequent measurement.

The embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if, and only if, all of the following conditions
are met:

e The host contract is not a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9;

e The embedded derivative as a separate instrument meets the definition of a derivative;

* The economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to those of the host contract; and

e The host contract is not measured at fair value with fair value changes recognised in the Statement of Income.

If the embedded derivative cannot be measured separately, the entire hybrid contract is designated as at fair value through profit or
loss.

3.5.5.5 Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

Reclassification of loans and debt instruments shall arise when, and only when, the objective of the business model changes for the
entire portfolio of financial instruments that are jointly managed with the objective “Hold to collect contractual cash flows”, “Hold to
collect contractual cash flows and sell”, and “Held for trading”.

Reclassification is not possible:

e If the Group uses the option to designate a financial asset at initial recognition as an instrument measured at fair value through profit
or loss (the “Fair Value Option”);

e For equity instruments (measured at fair value through profit or loss or through other comprehensive income); or

¢ For financial liabilities.

If the Group reclassifies loans and debt instruments, the change in classification is applied prospectively from the first day of the next
reporting period following the change in the business model.

Measurement of reclassified financial assets at the reclassification date and subsequently:

¢ When reclassifying a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss measurement category and into the fair value
through other comprehensive income measurement category, the financial asset continues to be measured at fair value and,
at the reclassification date, a new effective interest rate is determined. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. For the purpose of calculating expected credit losses from the reclassification date, the date of
reclassification is treated as the date of initial recognition of the asset;
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¢ When reclassifying a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss measurement category and into the amortised cost
measurement category, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount and a new effective interest
rate is determined. For the purpose of calculating expected credit losses from the reclassification date, the date of reclassification is
treated as the date of initial recognition of the asset;

¢ When reclassifying a financial asset out of the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement category and into the
fair value through profit or loss measurement category, the financial asset continues to be measured at fair value. The cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment at the reclassification date;

¢ When reclassifying a financial asset out of the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement category and into the
amortised cost measurement category, the financial asset is reclassified at its fair value at the reclassification date. The cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is removed from equity and adjusted against the fair value of the
financial asset at the reclassification date. As a result, the financial asset is measured at the reclassification date as if it had always
been measured at amortised cost. The effective interest rate and the measurement of expected credit losses are not adjusted as
a result of the reclassification;

¢ When reclassifying a financial asset out of the amortised cost measurement category and into the fair value through profit or loss
measurement category, its fair value is measured at the reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising from a difference between the
previous amortised cost of the financial asset and its fair value is recognised in profit or loss;

¢ When reclassifying a financial asset out of the amortised cost measurement category and into the fair value through other
comprehensive income measurement category, its fair value is measured at the reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising from
a difference between the previous amortised cost of the financial asset and its fair value is recognised in other comprehensive
income. The effective interest rate and the measurement of expected credit losses are not adjusted as a result of the
reclassification.

The Group did not reclassify any loans and debt instruments.

3.56.5.6 Determination of a financial instrument’s fair value and its hierarchy

For the determination and categorisation of a financial instrument’s fair value, the Group treats a security as quoted if quoted market
prices are readily and regularly available from a stock exchange, dealers, securities traders, industrial groups, valuation services, or
regulatory authorities and if these prices represent current and regular market transactions under ordinary conditions.

If there are no quoted prices in an active market for the financial asset, the Group uses other values that are observable, directly

or indirectly, from the markets for its measurement, such as:

I. Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;

Il. Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active (i.e. there are few recent transactions, prices
quotations are not based on current information, etc.);

lll. Inputs other than quoted prices (e.g. inputs based on interest rates, yield curves, implied volatilities, credit spreads, etc.); or

IV. Inputs derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data.

Where the inputs for the determination of a financial instrument’s fair value are not observable in a market due to the fact that there is
no or only minimal activity for that asset or liability, the Group uses for fair value measurement inputs that are available but not directly
observable within a market and which, in the Group’s view, reflect assumptions that market participants take into account when pricing
the financial instrument.

The fair value of debt securities for which an observable market price is not available is estimated using an income approach (the
present value technique taking into account the future cash flows that a market participant would expect to receive from holding the
instrument as an asset) and the fair value of unquoted equity instruments is estimated using an income approach or market approach
(using prices and other relevant information generated by a market). The fair values of financial derivatives are obtained from quoted
market prices, discounted cash flow models, or option pricing models and are adjusted for the credit risk of the counterparty (CVA) or
the Group’s own credit risk (DVA), as appropriate.

The existence of published price quotations in an active market is normally the best evidence of fair value. The appropriate quoted
market price for an asset held or liability to be issued is usually the current bid price and for an asset to be acquired or liability held the
ask price.

The Group manages a group of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of the entity’s net exposure to a particular market
risk. It uses mid-market prices as the basis for establishing the fair values of offsetting risk positions and applies the bid or asking price
to the net open position as appropriate.

3.5.5.7 Effective interest rate method

The effective interest rate is that rate which exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts throughout the expected
life of a financial instrument.
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When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument and includes any fees and incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and constitute an integral
component of the effective interest rate, but it does not take into consideration future credit losses.

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant period.

3.5.5.8 Forborne loans

Forborne exposures are debt contracts in respect of which forbearance measures have been granted to the debtor and for which the
discontinuation conditions are not met. Forbearance measures consist of concessions to a debtor facing or about to face difficulties in
meeting its financial commitments. The concession refers to either modification of terms and conditions (e.g. changes in the payment
schedule, interest rate reductions, penalty interest waivers) or refinancing. Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment

is measured using the original effective interest rate as calculated before the modification of terms. Forborne loans are continuously
reviewed by the Group to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The forborne loans continue to be
subject to impairment assessment, calculated based on their future cash flows as discounted by the loans’ original effective interest
rates.

Exposures under the Group’s private moratorium are also reported as forborne, but without automatic stage deterioration.

3.5.5.9 Modification of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or
otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the financial asset. When the modification occurs, the Group assesses
whether or not the new terms are substantially different from the original terms.

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new asset at fair value and
recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. Differences in the carrying amount are recognised in profit or loss as a gain or
loss on derecognition. The date of modification is considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes,
including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. If the terms are not substantially
different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition.

3.56.5.10 Derecognition of financial assets other than on modification

The Group derecognises all or part of a financial asset (or group of similar assets) when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire or when the Group has transferred the contractual rights to receive the cash flows and substantially all of the risks and
rewards linked to the ownership of the asset.

The Group also derecognises financial assets in respect of which it has retained the contractual rights to the associated cash flows but
is contractually obligated to pass these same cash flows through to a third party and for which it has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards.

Where the Group has transferred the cash flows of a financial asset but has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of its ownership and has effectively not retained control of the financial asset, the Group derecognises the financial asset
and, as appropriately, recognises a separate asset or liability to cover any rights and obligations created or retained as a result of

the asset’s transfer. If the Group has retained control of the asset, it continues to recognise it in the balance sheet to the extent of its
continuing involvement in that asset.

When a financial asset is derecognised in its entirety, a gain or loss on disposal is recorded in the Statement of Income for an amount
equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the consideration received. In respect of financial assets at

fair value through other comprehensive income, and with the exception of equity instruments, the cumulative gain or loss previously
reported in Other Comprehensive Income is recorded in the Statement of Income.

The Group only derecognises all or part of a financial liability when it is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled, or expired. A financial liability is also derecognised and recognised again in the event of a substantial
amendment to its contractual conditions or where an exchange is made with the lender for an instrument whose contractual conditions
are substantially different.

3.5.5.11 Impairment of financial assets
The impairment of financial assets is based on the expected credit loss model.

All of the following assets are subject to the Group’s impairment requirements:

e Financial assets measured at amortised cost;

e Financial assets duly measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) mentioned in 3.5.5.4.1 Loans and debt
instruments held in the business model “Hold to collect contractual cash flows and sell”;
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e | oan commitments if a present commitment to provide credit exists (except for loan commitments measured at fair value through
profit or loss);

e Financial guarantee contracts (to which IFRS 9 applies except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss); and

e Finance lease receivables and operating lease receivables in the scope of IFRS 16 Leases.

The Group does not assess impairment on non-client financial assets constituting insignificant credit risk, such as, in particular,
receivables from the CNB arising from obligatory minimum reserves, nostro accounts, contract assets within the scope of IFRS 15
Revenue from contracts with customers (i.e. rights to consideration after the transfer of goods or services), intragroup receivables, and
others.

In order to determine impairment, financial assets are classified into three stages depending upon the extent of credit deterioration

since initial recognition:

e Stage 1 - financial assets are initially recognised in Stage 1, unless they are purchased or originated credit-impaired (subject to
a specific treatment). Subsequently, this stage remains unchanged for financial assets for which the credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition or that have low credit risk at the reporting date;

e Stage 2 - financial assets with a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but in respect of which no objective
evidence of impairment exists; or

e Stage 3 - financial assets with objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

Transition between the risk stages is assessed on an individual basis by evaluating the risk characteristics specific for the given asset.
To this end, the Group uses in particular the relative criteria for an increase of the probability of default, supplemented by absolute
criteria, such as days past due and the client’s rating.

The Group implemented a new definition of default in the beginning of the second quarter of 2020 to be compliant with EBA Guidelines
in applying the definition of default under Article 178 of Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013. The new definition of default was implemented
also in subsidiaries at the end of 2020 with the exception of the subsidiary ESSOX, s.r.o., where the new definition of default was
implemented during the first quarter of 2021.

Significant increase in credit risk

Being a trigger for the transfer of an exposure into Stage 2, significant increase in credit risk (SICR) is one of the most important drivers
for the resulting ECL. It is evaluated by the Group at each reporting date in line with IFRS 9 requirements. In compliance with the SG
Group IFRS 9 methodology, SICR is assessed at facility level by comparing the observed increase in the lifetime probability of default
since the initial recognition with specific thresholds. The increase is measured in two ways: (i) absolute — by the difference between
the probabilities of default (current vs. at origination), or (ii) relative — by the ratio of these. For SICR recognition, the thresholds must be
breached in both ways — absolute and relative — for the given facility.

The lifetime probability of default is deduced from the result of the internal credit risk assessment (expressed by client’s rating) as well
as from the internal IFRS 9 PD curve models reflecting both the history of observed default rates within a given asset class and the
forward-looking (macro-) economic development. The lifetime PD is calculated from the corresponding PD curve over the remaining
maturity of the deal (annualised). For portfolios with a lack of data for regular statistical modelling (e.g., smaller KB subsidiaries), SICR
is expressed by deterioration of the ratings rather than by PD curves. The thresholds (both relative and absolute) have been assessed
by the Group to keep the prescribed performance criteria for Stage 2 (default capture rate, default rate in S2, exposure volume).

In addition to the aforementioned criteria, the Group supplements SICR rules with indicators reflecting the current deteriorated
situation of the client, such as delay in contractual payments of more than 30 days past due, a worsening financial situation of the
issuer or borrower (rating), and the 24-month trial period after loan restructuring. There are no additional probation periods for the
transfer back to Stage 1 other than those already established in regular credit risk rules for rating improvement.

The Group also closely monitors sectors most affected by the impacts of (post)-Covid-19 (real estate developers and investors,
hospitality and entertainment, transport, etc.). The Group believes that future expected credit risk in these sectors is included in the
forward-looking components and risk classification algorithm used in the IFRS 9 models, and therefore the Group does not apply any
additional portfolio adjustments for the selected sectors with the exception of those sectors and portfolios mentioned in Note 43(A).

Credit-impaired financial assets

The Group recognises financial assets as credit-impaired when one or more events have occurred that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows. Evidence of credit-impairment may include observable data concerning the following events:

e Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower;

A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event more than 90 days past due;

Situation indicating the probability of default as defined by a new regulation for evaluating financial assets in default;

Concession granted by the lender for reasons of the borrower’s financial difficulty that the lender would not otherwise consider;
Increased probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy;

Disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

Purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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Measurement of expected credit losses

With the exception of purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group recognises expected credit losses (hereafter

only “expected losses”) in an amount corresponding to:

e 12-month expected losses (expected losses resulting from default events on a financial instrument that may occur within 12 months
after the reporting date) — Stage 1; or

e Lifetime expected losses (expected losses resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument) —
Stages 2 and 3.

The Group recognises a loss allowance in an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses for credit exposures where there have
been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition.

If in subsequent reporting periods the credit quality of the financial instrument improves so that there has been no longer a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group reverts to recognising a loss allowance based on 12-month expected losses.
This does not apply to purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets.

Basis for estimating expected losses

Expected losses are measured in a way that reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating

a range of possible outcomes and takes into account the time value of money. The Group considers reasonable and supportable
information about past events, current conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions. When measuring the expected losses
and taking into account the time value of money, the expected cash flows are discounted as of the reporting date using the original
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition (or an approximation thereof).

The Group assesses expected losses for credit-impaired financial assets of significant exposures based on expected cash flows from
the client’s economic activity or realisation of collateral.

For estimating expected losses for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group applies the credit-adjusted
effective interest rate. Unlike the effective interest rate (calculated using the estimated future cash flows not taking into account
expected losses), the credit-adjusted effective interest rate incorporates the impact of expected losses of the financial asset.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are accounted for differently because the assets are already impaired at initial
recognition. For these assets, lifetime expected losses are incorporated into the expected cash flows used to calculate the credit-
adjusted effective interest rate at initial recognition. Subsequently, any changes in expected losses are recognised as a loss allowance
and as a gain or loss in the Statement of Income. The interest revenue is calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest
rate to the amortised cost.

Write-off of financial assets
The Group applies two approaches in writing off financial assets: individual/batch write-offs without further recovery and batch
write-offs with further recovery.

Write-offs without further recovery are preceded by a soft or hard collection process based upon an individual assessment of the
client’s situation. Write-offs are handled individually or for multiple clients in a batch based on approval by the relevant authority.

Batch write-offs with further recovery are managed by a regular semi-annual process involving only the hard collection portfolio.
Subject of write-offs are accounts fulfilling pre-defined criteria for batch write-offs. Recovery continues for those accounts even
though they have been written off.

3.56.5.12 Repurchase agreements
The Group accounts for contracts to sell and buy back financial instruments (“repos” or “reverse repos”) according to their substance
as the taking or granting of a loan with a corresponding transfer of financial instruments as collateral.

In the case of repurchase transactions (“repos”), the Group only provides debt instruments held in the business models “Hold to
collect contractual cash flows and sell” or “Held for sale” recognised as ‘Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income’ or ‘Financial assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss’. The corresponding liability arising from a loan taken is
recognised in the line ‘Financial liabilities at amortised cost’.

Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements (“reverse repos”) are recorded in the off-balance sheet, where they are
remeasured at fair value. The corresponding receivable arising from the provided loan is recognised as an asset in the Statement of
Financial Position in the line ‘Financial assets at amortised cost’.

The Group is entitled to provide those securities received in reverse repo transactions as collateral or sell them even in the
absence of default by their owner. These securities continue to be recorded in the off-balance sheet and measured at fair value.
The corresponding liability arising from the loan taken is recognised under ‘Financial liabilities at amortised cost’. The Group is
nevertheless obliged to return these securities to its counterparties.
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The differences between the sale and repurchase prices in respect of repo and reverse repo transactions are treated by the Group as
interest, and it is accrued evenly to expenses and income over the life of the repo agreement using the effective interest rate method.

If a security acquired as collateral under a reverse repo transaction is sold, the Group derecognises the security acquired under the reverse
repo transaction from the off-balance sheet records and recognises in the Statement of Financial Position an amount payable from a short
sale that is remeasured at its fair value. This payable is included in ‘Financial liabilities held for trading at fair value through profit or loss’.

3.5.6 Emission allowances

The Group is not considered a primary producer of greenhouse gas emissions. Trades with emission allowances are carried out
in the role of intermediary in order to generate profit based on market price fluctuations. The emission allowances are recognised
in the Statement of Financial Position in the line ‘Other assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss’.

3.5.7 Assets held for sale

The line ‘Assets held for sale’ represents assets for which the Group expects that their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through sale transactions rather than through continuing use. For this classification to apply, the assets must be available for
immediate sale in their present condition and their sale must be highly probable.

For this to be the case, the Group must be committed to a plan to sell the asset and an active programme to locate a buyer must have
been initiated. Furthermore, the assets must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to their current fair
value. The Group expects that the sale of assets will be completed, the market situation permitting, within 1 year from the date of the
assets’ classification as ‘Assets held for sale’.

Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of:

e The carrying amount of the respective asset at the date of its classification as ‘Assets held for sale’; or

e Fair value less estimated costs to sell (e.g. cost of expert valuation reports, legal or financial advisory services, the estimates of
which are based on historical experience, as well as real estate transfer tax for real estate).

Assets designated as ‘Assets held for sale’ are no longer depreciated.

The Group recognises an impairment loss on assets held for sale in the line ‘Net profits on other assets’ if their selling price less
estimated costs to sell is lower than their carrying amount. Any subsequent increase in the selling price less costs to sell is recognised
as a gain but not in excess of the cumulative impairment loss that has been recognised either during the time when the assets were
classified as held for sale or before their reclassification into the line ‘Assets held for sale’ (i.e. during the period when the asset had
been held for supplying the Group’s services or for administrative purposes).

3.5.8 Income tax

3.5.8.1 Current income tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amounts are those valid as of the Statement of Financial Position date.

Current income tax is recognised in the Statement of Income, or, as the case may be, in the Statement of Other Comprehensive
Income if it relates to an item directly taken into other comprehensive income.

The Group does not set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities unless it has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.5.8.2 Deferred income tax

Using the balance sheet liability method, deferred income tax is recorded for temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts presented in the Statement of Financial Position. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates valid or substantially enacted for the periods in which the Group expects to realise the deferred tax asset or to settle
the deferred tax liability. A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the tax asset can be used.

Deferred income tax is recognised in the Statement of Income, or, as the case may be, in the Statement of Other Comprehensive
Income if it relates to an item directly taken into other comprehensive income (such as deferred income tax related to changes in the
fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income or in relation to a cash flow hedge).

The Group offsets deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and if deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income tax levied by the
same taxation authority and relate to the same taxable entity.

The largest temporary differences relate to tangible and intangible assets, loans and advances, hedging derivatives, and financial
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
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3.5.9 Leases

The Group as lessor
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease (as lessee) and the sublease (as lessor) as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

Operating leases
The Group presents assets that are the subject of an operating lease in the appropriate lines within the Statement of Financial Position
according to the nature of those assets and uses for them the accounting policies applied to the relevant asset class.

Lease payments received from operating leases are recognised as the Group’s income on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease under ‘Other income’.

Finance leases

In respect of assets held under finance leases, the net investment in the lease is recognised as ‘Financial assets at amortised cost’
while the assets themselves (or their leased part) are not recognised. The difference between the gross receivable and the present
value of the receivable is recognised as deferred interest income.

Lease income is recognised over the lease term, reflecting a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the receivable, and it is presented in the line ‘Interest income’.

The Group as lessee

In accordance with IFRS 16, from the lessee’s point of view, a single on-balance sheet accounting model is used for leases with

the optional exceptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. The vast majority of lease contracts relates to leases of
office buildings and branches.

Initial measurement

At the commencement date of a lease, a right-of-use asset is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position within ‘Tangible assets’,
i.e. the line item within which the Group presents underlying assets of the same nature that it owns. Simultaneously, a lease liability is
recognised within ‘Financial liabilities at amortised cost’ in an amount equal to the present value of the lease payments to be paid over
the lease term, discounted at the incremental borrowing rate.

The lease payments considered for the measurement include fixed and variable lease payments based on an index or rate (e.g. inflation
indices), plus, where applicable, the funds that are expected to be payable to the lessor under residual value guarantees, purchase
options, or early termination penalties. The lease payments are considered net of value-added tax. The lease term determined
according to the standard lease contracts comprises the non-cancellable period of a lease, periods covered by an option to extend the
lease if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the Group

is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. For lease contracts with an indefinite period of time, the lease term is determined as
the expected lease term based on the estimated lease duration.

The contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components, such as supply of additional services. As a practical expedient,
IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components and instead account for lease and associated non-lease components
as a single lease component. For these contracts in general, the Group has elected not to use this practical expedient.

Subsequent measurement

For the right-of-use asset, the Group uses similar accounting policies as for its own assets of the same nature. The right-of-use asset
is measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurements of the lease liability.
The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term and the depreciation is reported in the Statement

of Income in the line ‘Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment of operating assets’. If the legal ownership of the asset held under

a lease is transferred to the lessee by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects the exercise price of

a purchase option, however, the asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the underlying asset.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The Group divides lease
payments between amortisation recognised as a reduction of the outstanding lease liability and a finance charge recognised
in the Statement of Income as ‘Interest expense’.

The amount of the lease liability may be adjusted if the lease is amended, the lease term is re-estimated, or to account for contractual
changes in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate. If the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or it is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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Exceptions

In cases of certain short-term leases and leases of low-value items, the lease payments are recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term and presented in the line ‘General and administrative expenses’. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of

12 months or less. Leases of low-value items relate to leases for which the underlying asset when new is of low value, defined by
the Group using a materiality threshold of CZK 100,000 per unit of the leased asset. The low-value exception is applied especially to
leases of printing devices.

The Group uses the option allowed by the standard to not apply the provisions of IFRS 16 to intangible assets leases.

3.5.10 Tangible and intangible assets (except goodwill)

Intangible assets principally include software and internally generated intangible assets (mainly software). Tangible assets include
plant, property, and equipment that are used by the Group in supplying its services and for administrative purposes and that are used
for longer than one reporting period.

Tangible and intangible assets are measured at the historical acquisition cost less accumulated impairment losses (allowances) and,
in the case of depreciated assets, less accumulated depreciation and increased by technical improvements, if any. The historical
acquisition cost comprises the purchase price and any costs directly attributable to asset acquisition, such as delivery and handling
costs, installation and assembly costs, advisory fees, and administrative charges. The acquisition cost of internally generated
intangible assets comprises external expenses and internal personnel expenses related to an internal project’s development phase.
The Group capitalises no expenses related to the research phase.

Tangible and intangible assets are depreciated from their acquisition costs on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. Cars acquired
under finance leases are depreciated from acquisition cost less estimated residual value, which is determined on the basis of the
purchase price following the expiration of the lease as established in the lease contract. The Group assumes no residual value for other
assets. Depreciation and amortisation are reported in the Statement of Income in the line ‘Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment
of operating assets’.

The Group does not depreciate land and works of art. Tangible and intangible assets under construction and technical improvements
are depreciated only once they have been brought into a condition fit for use.

During the reporting period, the Group used the following useful lives in years:

Machinery and equipment 4 4

Information technology — notebooks, servers 4/5 4/5

Information technology — desktop computers 6 6

Fixtures, fittings, and equipment 6 6

Vehicles 5/6 5/6

ATMs 10 10

Selected equipment of the Group 8 8

Energy machinery and equipment 12/15 12/15

Distribution equipment 20 20

Buildings and structures 40 40
Buildings and structures — selected components:

— Heating, air-conditioning, windows, doors 20 20

- Lifts, electrical installations 25 25

- Facades 30 30

- Roofs 20 20

— Other components 15 15

— Residual value of buildings and technical improvements without selected components 50 50

According to According to

Right-of-use assets (leases) the lease term the lease term

According to According to

Technical improvements on leasehold assets the lease term the lease term

Intangible results of development activities (assets generated internally as component of internal According to the According to the

projects) useful life, typically 5  useful life, typically 5

Licences - software 5 5

Other intangible assets According to contract According to contract
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At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there exists any indication that a tangible or intangible asset can

be impaired. Indicators of possible impairment include information about a significant decline in an asset’s market value; significant
changes within the technological, market, economic, or legal environment; obsolescence or physical damage to an asset; or change

in the manner in which the asset is used. Where any such indicator exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset
concerned (i.e. the higher amount of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use in comparison with the asset’s carrying value). If the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its recoverable amount, the Group reduces its carrying amount to its recoverable amount and
presents the recognised impairment loss in the line ‘Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment of operating assets’.

Repairs and maintenance are charged directly to the Statement of Income when they occur.

3.5.11 Goodwill

Recognised goodwill arises on the acquisition of a subsidiary. For subsidiaries acquired until 2010, it represents the excess of the
acquisition cost (including acquisition-related costs) for the interest acquired by the Group over the net fair value of the acquired
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the acquisition date. For subsidiaries acquired since 2010, it represents the difference
between the fair value of the transferred consideration and the amount of any non-controlling interest measured at the present
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the subsidiary’s identifiable net assets at fair value on one side and the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed both at fair value on the other side. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially recognised at the cost of acquisition and subsequently at cost net of possible impairment losses. Once recognised,
impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.

The Group tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis as of 30 September or more frequently if there is an indication that the
goodwill may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the tested cash-generating unit (typically the acquired enterprise taken as

a whole) is lower than its carrying value, the Group recognises impairment of the cash-generating unit that is primarily allocated against
the goodwill and subsequently against the value of other assets (against other impaired assets and/or on a pro-rata basis).

For the purpose of calculating the recoverable amount, the Group calculates value in use as the present value of the future cash flow
to be generated by a cash-generating unit from its continuing use in the business. The Group estimates future cash flow on the basis
of a 3-year financial plan for the cash-generating unit that is approved by management. Cash flows represent income after tax of
cash-generating units available for distribution to owners. The discount rate used is the cost of capital calculated using the capital
asset pricing model. This method is based on a risk-free interest rate grossed up by a risk premium determined according to the
underlying activities of the cash-generating unit. Inasmuch as all respective subsidiaries are located in the Czech Republic and their
functional currency is the Czech crown, no other premium is added. For the period beyond the 3-year financial plan, the projected cash
flows are calculated in perpetuity based on constant cash flows being the net operating income after taxes and including a steady
growth rate derived as an average from the 3-year financial plan. Key assumptions used in the preparation of the financial plan are
consistent with market estimations (GDP, interest rate, inflation) and with past experience.

Upon the sale of a subsidiary, the appropriate goodwill balance is reflected in the profit or loss on the sale.

Most acquisitions give rise to positive goodwill. However, occasionally the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed both at fair value may exceed the aggregate of the fair value of the transferred consideration and the amount of

any non-controlling interest measured at the present proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the subsidiary identifiable net
assets at fair value. The amount is then referred to as gain on bargain purchase (negative goodwill) and the resulting gain is recognised
in profit or loss at the acquisition date. Prior to recognising the gain, however, the Group reassess whether it has correctly identified all
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used for their measurement and the measurement of non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the consideration transferred.

3.5.12 Provisions
The Group recognises provisions for contracted commitments (principally comprising the provisions for ongoing contracted potential
commitments, legal disputes, self-insurance, and the retirement benefits plan) and for restructuring.

Provisions are recognised when and only when:

e The Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;

e |t is probable that settlement of the obligation will cause an outflow of resources causing a decrease of economic benefits; and

¢ Areliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions for legal disputes are estimated on the basis of the
amount sought by the plaintiff, including accrued interest and fees.

Provisions are measured as the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The discount rate is a pre-tax rate reflecting current market assessments and the risks
specific to the liability. Provision increases related to the passage of time are recognised as interest expense.
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A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed, formal plan for restructuring and the restructuring
has either commenced or the main features of the restructuring plan have been announced to those affected before the end of

the reporting period. The restructuring provision shall include only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring which are
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

The Group also recognises provisions for credit-related commitments into which the Group enters in the normal course of business.
These credit-related commitments do not meet the criteria for recognition in the Statement of Financial Position and are recorded in
the off-balance sheet. These commitments primarily include guarantees, avals, uncovered letters of credit, irrevocable commitments
to extend credit, undrawn loan commitments, and approved overdraft loans. The provisions represent impairment based on expected
losses from any potential financial liabilities arising from these credit-related commitments. Provisions for credit-related commitments
are created on the same basis as are loss allowances for financial assets.

3.5.13 Employee benefits

3.5.13.1 General

The Group provides its employees with retirement benefits and disability benefits. The employees are entitled to receive retirement or
disability benefits if they are employed by the Group until their retirement age or if they are entitled to receive a disability pension, but
only if they were employed within the Group for a minimum defined period.

Estimated benefit costs are recognised on an accrual basis through a provision over the employment term using an accounting
methodology that is similar to the methodology used in respect of defined benefit pension plans. In determining the parameters of

the model, the Group refers to the most recent employee data (the length of employment with the Group, age, gender, average salary)
and estimates made on the basis of monitored historical data about the Group’s employees (expected reduction of the current staffing
levels) and other estimates (the amounts of bonuses, anticipated increase in salaries, estimated amounts of social security and health
insurance contributions, discount rate).

These provisions are presented in the line ‘Provisions’. The changes in provisions are disaggregated into three components that are

presented as follows:

I. Service cost (i.e. additional liability that arises from employees providing service during the period) is presented in the line
‘Personnel expenses’;

Il. The interest expense on the net benefit liability is presented in the line ‘Personnel expenses’; and

lll. Other changes in the value of the defined benefit obligation, such as changes in estimates, are presented within Other
Comprehensive Income in the line ‘Remeasurement of retirement benefits plan, net of tax’.

The use of a provision is presented in the line ‘Personnel expenses’.

The Group additionally provides short-term benefits to its employees, such as contributions to retirement pension insurance and
capital life insurance schemes, and remuneration for years of service. The Group recognises the costs of these contributions on an
accrual basis in the line ‘Personnel expenses’ (refer to Note 10).

The Group has the following share plans and deferred compensation schemes:

3.5.13.2 Deferred bonus payments

For employees with material impact on the Group’s risk profile, performance-linked remuneration is split into two components:

(i) a non-deferred component that is paid in the following year, and (ii) a deferred component that is spread over the following years.
The amounts of the two components are further split into bonuses paid in cash and bonuses paid in cash equivalent of the
Komeréni banka, a.s. share price (indexed bonuses). Both bonuses are subject to presence and performance conditions.

Indexed bonuses qualify as cash-settled share-based transactions. The liability is measured at the end of each reporting period until
settled at the fair value of the shares of Komeréni banka, a.s. multiplied by the numbers of shares granted and it is spread over the
vesting period.

Deferred cash bonuses (i.e. bonuses paid to employees more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period in which the
employees render the related services) are considered as long-term employee benefits and the related expense is recognised over the
vesting period in the line ‘Personnel expenses’.

3.5.13.3 Free share plan

To enhance loyalty and motivation to contribute to long-term growth in the value of the Société Générale Group, the Group can award
some of its key employees free shares (deferred share plan). These free shares are subject to a vesting condition (i.e. presence in the
Group at the end of the vesting period) and for certain beneficiaries are also subject to the condition that Société Générale Group
records positive net income.
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Expenses related to the deferred share plan provided by Société Générale to the Group’s employees are recognised in the Group’s
financial statements as equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The fair value of these instruments, measured using the
arbitrage model at the granting date, is spread over the vesting period and recorded in the lines ‘Personnel expenses’ and ‘Share
premium, funds, retained earnings, revaluation, and net profit for the period’ under equity. At the end of each accounting period, the
number of these instruments is adjusted in order to take into account performance and service conditions and adjust the overall cost
of the plan as originally determined. Expenses recognised under the ‘Personnel expenses’ from the start of the plan are then adjusted
accordingly.

3.5.14 Equity

Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity at the time they are approved by the Bank’s
General Meeting.

Treasury shares

When the Group acquires its own equity instruments, the consideration paid, including any attributable transaction costs, is
recognised as a deduction from the line ‘Share premium, funds, retained earnings, revaluation, and net profit for the period’ under
equity. Gains and losses on sales of treasury shares are also recognised in equity and presented in the line ‘Share premium, funds,
retained earnings, revaluation, and net profit for the period’.

3.5.15 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities, and off-balance sheet items

In addition to transactions giving rise to the recognition of assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position, the Group enters
into transactions through which it generates contingent assets and liabilities. The Group maintains contingent assets and liabilities as
off-balance sheet items. The Group monitors these transactions inasmuch as they constitute a substantial proportion of its activities
and materially impact the level of risks to which the Group is exposed (they may increase or decrease other risks, for instance, by
hedging assets and liabilities reported in the Statement of Financial Position).

A contingent asset or liability is defined as a possible asset or liability that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly under the Group’s control.

A contingent liability also exists in the case of a present obligation where an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
probably will not be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities
include, for example, irrevocable loan commitments, commitments arising from bank guarantees, bank acceptances, letters of credit,
and warrants.

In addition to contingent assets and contingent liabilities, the off-balance sheet includes assets arising from valuables and securities
custody as well as from fiduciary activities and related obligations to return these to customers (e.g. assets under management).

Off-balance sheet items also include nominal values of interest and foreign currency instruments, such as forwards, swaps, options,
and futures. More information regarding derivative operations is presented in Note 3.5.5.4.3 Derivatives and hedge accounting.

3.5.16 Operating segments

Operating segments are reported in accordance with internal reports regularly prepared and presented to the Bank’s Board of
Directors, which is considered the “chief operating decision maker” (i.e. a person or group of persons that allocates resources and
assesses the performance of individual operating segments of the Group).

The Group has the following operating segments:

e Retail Banking: includes the provision of products and services to individuals (i.e. predominantly current and savings accounts, term
deposits, building savings, pension insurance, overdrafts, credit card loans, personal loans, and mortgages);

e Corporate Banking: includes the provision of products and services to corporate entities (i.e. current accounts, term deposits,
revolving loans, business loans, mortgages, leases, foreign currency and derivative products, syndicated and export financing, and
guarantee transactions);

* [nvestment Banking: involves trading in financial instruments; and
Other: consists of the head office of the Bank.

The Investment Banking segment does not reach quantitative limits for obligatory reporting. The management of the Group
nevertheless believes that the information concerning this segment is useful for users of the Financial Statements and thus reports this
segment separately.

As the principal activity of the Group is the provision of financial services, the Board of Directors of the Bank assesses the
performance of operating segments predominantly according to net interest income. For this reason, interest income and interest
expense of individual operating segments are reported not separately but on a net basis.
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In addition, the Group monitors net fee and commission income, net profit/(loss) on financial operations, and other income
predominantly including income from the lease of non-residential premises by segments. Other profit and loss items are not monitored
by operating segments.

The Group does not monitor total assets or total liabilities by segment.

The information on the items of net operating income is provided to the Board of Directors of the Bank using valuations identical to
those stated in the Group’s financial accounting records.

The Group has no client or group of related parties for which the income from transactions would account for more than 10% of the
Group’s total income.

3.5.17 Regulatory requirements

The Group is subject to regulatory requirements of the CNB and other institutions. These regulations include limits and other
restrictions pertaining to minimum capital adequacy requirements, classification of loans and off-balance sheet commitments, and
creation of allowances and provisions to cover credit risk associated with the Group’s clients, as well as with its liquidity, interest rate,
and foreign currency positions.

3.6 Changes in accounting policies
3.6.1 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 in the context of the IBOR reform

Interest rate benchmark reform

The reform of interbank interest rate benchmarks (IBOR: InterBank Offered Rates), initiated by the Financial Stability Board in 2014,
aims at replacing these benchmarks with alternative rates, in particular the Risk-Free Rates (RFR). This reform was accelerated on
5 March 2021, when the Financial Conduct Authority, which is in charge of supervising LIBOR, announced its end dates:

e USD LIBOR: The publication of the main settings should cease by the end of June 2023;

e GBP, CHF, JPY and EUR LIBOR: The publication of these benchmarks ceased at the end of 2021.

At the same time, regarding the major benchmarks of the euro area:

e EURIBOR: Although there was uncertainty regarding the prospective use and existence of EURIBOR in the beginning phase of
the reform, currently EMMI (the European Money Markets Institute), which administers the interest rate benchmarks, does not
contemplate discontinuing its publication. EURIBOR will thus continue to be used in the coming years;

e EONIA: Since 1 October 2019, EONIA has been calculated using a methodology based on €STR plus an adjustment spread of
8.5 bps. Its administrator, EMMI, ceased its publication at the end of 2021. The replacement reference rate recommended by the
working group on euro risk-free rates established by the European Central Bank is €STR/ESTER.

The IBOR reform currently does not include the CZK main interest rate benchmark — PRIBOR.

In preparation for the announced LIBOR end dates, the financial authorities and working groups set up by central banks have issued

recommendations to the market participants. These recommendations concern:

¢ on the one hand, the production of new transactions referencing LIBOR and EONIA (ceased on 31 December 2021); and

* on the other hand, the legacy transactions referencing these benchmarks to switch to alternative reference rates by 31 December
2021 at latest (except USD LIBOR: 30 June 2023 at latest).

Reflection of changes

Despite the fact that the main currencies and benchmarks in the Group’s financing and interest-rate hedging business remain
CZK/PRIBOR and EUR/EURIBOR, the Group has performed an upgrade of its tools and processes to be able to deal in RFR-based
products and, thereby, to ensure its post-LIBOR and post-EONIA business continuity.

In the area of Investment Banking:

e RFRs ESTER, SOFR, and SONIA were implemented in trading and risk management tools, relevant valuation curves were set up;

* new RFR-linked products and related processes and methodological guidelines were prepared and approved;

e the production of EONIA and LIBOR referencing products gradually ceased in spring 2021 and KB’s Investment Banking has been
providing its clients with alternate solutions;

e accession to the ISDA 2020 IBOR Fallbacks Protocol, which covers all ISDA Master Agreement and Credit Support Annex (CSA)
transactions;

e all legacy transactions referencing EONIA and LIBOR benchmarks (terminated as of the end of 2021) were renegotiated; the only
outstanding LIBOR transactions concern 1M and 3M USD LIBOR (i.e. benchmarks to be terminated on 30 June 2023);

e all concerned CSAs and CMAs, containing collateral management on terminated benchmarks, were either amended or agreed
with the counterparty on applying the fallback rates without a need for formal amendment of the contract; these changes were also
projected into instruments keeping the evidence of the provided/accepted collateral, so-called Call Accounts.
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In the area of Commercial Banking:

e the RFRs needed for the transitions from the ceased benchmarks were implemented in the Bank’s central system, namely: ESTER,
SOFR, SARON, TONAR, and SONIA;

¢ the contracts referencing ceased benchmarks were renegotiated for the use of RFRs or linked to RFRs based on the statutory or
fallback rules. As a result of this process, 98% of contracts linked to benchmarks in cessation were renegotiated and 2% were
treated using the statutory or fallback rules. Consequently, after 31 December 2021 there remained no such contracts using the
benchmarks ceased by 31 December 2021.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

In response to the interest rate benchmark reform (hereinafter the “IBOR reform”) currently being implemented, the accounting
standards applicable have been amended by the IASB in two phases to provide relief to entities impacted by the transition to
alternative rates.

The purpose of Phase 1 of these amendments, applied in advance by the Group since 31 December 2019, has been to enable

the continued application of hedge accounting treatments despite uncertainties regarding the timetable and specifics regarding

the transition from current interest rate benchmarks to new ones. These amendments will remain applicable until the uncertainties have
been resolved.

The notional amounts of hedging instruments to which the IAS 39 amendment is likely to be applied, thus permitting to use exceptions
to the hedge accounting requirement in the context of the interest rate benchmark reform, are CZK 1,756 million for instruments
identifying USD LIBOR.

Phase 2 of these amendments was adopted by the European Union on 13 January 2021, effective for the reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2021. The amendments address treatment of the changes to financial instruments in the context of the IBOR
reform. The Phase 2 amendments have provided as a practical expedient in particular for application of the following treatments:

(i) when measuring financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
and lessee’s lease liabilities, the changes brought about by the IBOR reform in the determination of the contractual cash flows, when
performed on an economically equivalent basis, are booked as the revision of a variable interest rate (refer to Note 3.5.5.4); and (ii)
continuation of the hedging relationship when changes are made, in the context of the IBOR reform, to the hedged item and/or the
hedging instrument and lead to the re-documentation of the hedge (refer to Note 3.5.5.4.3).

The table below provides information about the Group’s significant exposures to financial instruments referencing to benchmark
interest rates subject to the IBOR reform that have yet to transition to risk-free rates and maturing after 31 December 2021 for non-USD
LIBOR instruments and after 30 June 2023 for USD LIBOR instruments.

Financial assets, liabilities and derivatives impacted by the reform of interest rate benchmarks:

(CZKm) Exposure as of 31 December 2021

Financial assets Financial liabilities Derivatives

impacted by the reform - impacted by the reform - impacted by the reform -

Benchmark interest rate Quotation end date  Residual principal amount Residual principal amount Notional amount
EUR LIBOR 31 December 2021 1,417 0 0
USD LIBOR 30 June 2023* 3,707 0 26,870
Total 5,124 0 26,870

* Except USD LIBOR tenors of 1 week and 2 months that ceased on 31 December 2021.

3.6.2 Classification of financial assets according to risk stages

In accordance with the SG Group methodology, a new relative criterion was introduced in the fourth quarter of 2021 to determine the
classification of exposures into relevant staging grade. The rule is applied that in cases where the current 1-year PD (default probability)
deteriorates three times compared to the PD at the time the loan was granted, the loan is transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2. Due to
the implementation of this rule, an exposure of CZK 9.9 billion was transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2 and 2020 comparative figures
have been restated. An impact on the creation of allowances in the amount of CZK 95 million was booked in 2021.
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Restatement of Financial assets at amortised cost in 2020

Reported 2020 Restatement Restated 2020

(74, G))] Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2
Central banks 216,388 0 0 0 216,388 0
General governments 25,607 18 (35) 35 25,572 53
Credit institutions 45,687 533 (157) 157 45,530 690
Other financial corporations 35,953 26 (413) 413 35,540 439
Non-financial corporations 233,965 26,763 (1,043) 1,043 232,922 27,806
Households 335,197 17,201 (5,491) 5,491 329,706 22,692
Total loans 892,797 44,541 (7,139) 7,139 885,658 51,680
Reported 2020 Restatement Restated 2020

(74, G))] Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2
Central banks 0 0 0 0 0 0
General governments 17) 0 0 0 17) 0
Credit institutions 2 0 0 0 2 0
Other financial corporations (80) (1) 2 ) (78) 3)
Non-financial corporations (783) (1,556) 4 4) (779) (1,560)
Households (817) (1,074) 7 (7) (810) (1,081)
Total loans (1,199) (2,631) 13 (13) (1,186) (2,644)

Reported 2020 Restatement Restated 2020

Gross carrying value Gross carrying value Gross carrying value

(74, 4))] From Stage 1 to Stage 2 From Stage 1 to Stage 2 From Stage 1 to Stage 2
Central banks 0 0 0
General governments 3 35 38
Credit institutions 0 157 157
Other financial corporations 23 413 436
Non-financial corporations 13,134 1,043 14,177
Households 9,835 5,491 15,326
Total loans 22,995 7,139 30,134
Total guarantees and other credit-related

commitments 4,985 2,761 7,746

Complete data regarding financial assets at amortised cost as broken down by Staging are disclosed in Note 22.
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Restatement of commitments and contingencies in 2020

Reported 2020 Restatement Restated 2020

Carrying value Carrying value Carrying value
((o74,G))] Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1* Stage 2 Stage 1* Stage 2
Central banks 0 0 0 0 0 0
General governments*® 24,136 5 208 52 24 344 57
Credit institutions 4,734 8 -16 16 4718 24
Other financial corporations* 11,932 22 -261 1 11 671 23
Non-financial corporations 112,541 7,277 (1,096) 1,096 111,445 8,373
Households 41,319 855 (1,596) 1,596 39,723 2,451
Total commitments and contingencies 194,662 8,167 (2,761) 2,761 191,901 10,928

*This reflects specification as to changes in the categorisation of one counterparty in the amount of CZK 260 million.

Reported 2020 Restatement Restated 2020
(74,4 )] Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2
Central banks 0 0 0 0 0 0
General governments 10 0 0 0 10 0
Credit institutions 2 0 0 0 2 0
Other financial corporations 21 1 0 0 21 1
Non-financial corporations 146 264 4) 4 142 268
Households 42 35 ()] 3 39 38
Total commitments and contingencies 221 300 (7) 7 214 307

Complete data regarding commitments and contingencies as broken down by Staging are disclosed in Note 37.

3.6.3 Attributing benefit to periods of service

During its April 2021 meeting, the IFRS Interpretations Committee (hereinafter the “IFRS IC”) specified the method for determining

the vesting period of a defined post-employment benefit plan with the following characteristics: (i) employees are entitled to a lump-
sum benefit payment, depending on their length of employee service, when they reach retirement age; and (ii) this length is capped

at a specified number of consecutive years of service. The IFRS IC specified that, applying IAS 19, the vesting period should be

the period of employee service immediately before the retirement age, capped at the number of consecutive years of service specified
in the pension plan. Therefore, it is not possible to use as the vesting period the total length of service when the latter is greater than
the cap used to calculate the benefit. The decision not to place the issue on the IFRS IC agenda was validated by the IASB on 24 May
2021.

During the second half of 2021, the Group assessed the retirement benefits plan similar to the ones covered by the IFRS IC decision
and whose vesting period applied until now corresponded to the employees’ total length of service. In response to the IFRS IC
decision, the commitments relating to this plan have been reassessed based on a capped length of service, resulting in a release

of the provisions for employee benefits. As this change has no significant impact on the annual profit and loss, the comparative
information has not been restated and the change was reflected as an adjustment to the opening balance in 2021 of the provisions for
employee benefits in the amount of CZK 405 million and the retained earnings in the amount after tax of CZK 328 million.

| Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2021

)
2
c
@
£
2
©
)
(2]
K
3]
=
5]
=
ic
]
5]
2
©
S
=
@
c
<)
(6]

Report on relations Securities issued by KB Separate Financial Statements

Affidavits



4 Segment reporting

Retail Corporate Investment

banking banking banking Other Total
(74, 4))] 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Net interest income 13,130 13,364 6,841 6,291 1,049 659 775 1,046 21,795 21,360
Net fee and commission income 4,017 3,701 1,737 1,530 208 49 (251) (70) 5,711 5,210
Net profit/(loss) on financial operations 1,262 1,051 1,818 1,793 (44) (215) 594 255 3,630 2,884
Dividend income 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 6 2 6
Other income 130 133 (36) 47) 347 133 (233) (15) 208 204
Net operating income 18,639 18,249 10,360 9,567 1,560 626 887 1,222 31,346 29,664

Given the specifics of banking activities, the Board of Directors of the Bank (the chief operating decision maker) is provided with
information on income, recognition of allowances, write-offs, and income tax only for selected segments, rather than consistently for
all segments. For this reason, this information is not reported for segments.

As most of the income of segments arises from interest, and, in assessing the performance of segments and deciding on the allocation
of resources for segments, the Board of Directors primarily refers to net interest income, the interest for segments is reported on a net
basis (i.e. reduced by interest expense).

Transfer prices between operating segments are based on transfer interest rates representing actual market interest rate conditions,
including a liquidity component reflecting the existing opportunities to acquire and invest financial resources.

The Group’s income is primarily — more than 98% (2020: more than 98%) — generated on the territory of the Czech Repubilic.

5 Net interest income

Net interest income comprises the following:

Restated
(CZKm) 2021 2020

Interest income 35,558 36,485
Interest expense (18,763) (15,125)
Net interest income 21,795 21,360
Of which net interest income from
- Loans and advances at amortised cost * 20,713 19,501
— Debt securities at amortised cost 2,065 1,706
— Other debt securities 681 683
- Financial liabilities at amortised cost * (2,288) (2,276)
— Hedging financial derivatives — income 11,698 14,241
— Hedging financial derivatives — expense (11,074) (12,495)

*

Figures for 2020 have been recalculated due to a change in the manner of displaying negative interest. Net interest income from ‘Loans and advances at amortised cost’
was decreased by CZK 354 million and net interest income from ‘Financial liabilities at amortised cost’ was increased by CZK 354 million.

Note: Net interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate method, except that in the case of hedging derivatives the contractual interest rate of

the corresponding derivative is used.

‘Interest income’ includes interest on Stage 3 loans due from customers of CZK 406 million (2020: CZK 329 million).
In both 2021 and 2020, the Bank recorded as part of ‘Net interest income’ also negative interest income and expense from selected
clients’ deposits in selected currencies, from selected repo transactions, loro and nostro accounts, and margin accounts deposited

at banks. The total amount recognised is not material.

‘Interest income’ includes interest income on the sublease of right-of-use assets in the amount of CZK 0 million (2020: CZK 0 million).
‘Interest expense’ includes interest expense on lease liabilities in the amount of CZK 37 million (2020: CZK 43 million).

In 2021, the Group recorded a modification loss in the amount of CZK 0 million (2020: CZK 177 million) from the postponement of
instalment payments under the loan moratorium. This item will be amortised to the Bank’s profit or loss in the coming years.
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6 Net fee and commission income

Net fee and commission income comprises the following:

(CczKm) 200 20]

Deposit product fee and commission income 887 872
Loan fee and commission income 681 656
Transaction fee and commission income 2,108 2,134
Cross-selling fee income 1,972 1,623
Specialised financial services fee and commission income 1,170 923
Other fee and commission income 222 154
Total fee and commission income 7,040 6,362
Deposit product fee and commission expense 97) (104)
Loan fee and commission expense (232) (190)
Transaction fee and commission expense (503) 417)
Cross-selling fee expense (195) (147)
Specialised financial services fee and commission expense (200) (170)
Other fee and commission expense (102) (124)
Total fee and commission expenses (1,329) (1,152)
Total net fee and commission income 5,711 5,210

‘Net fee and commission income’ comprises fee income arising from trust and other fiduciary activities and depository services
in the amount of CZK 809 million (2020: CZK 706 million) and fee expense for these services in the amount of CZK 118 million
(2020: CZK 87 million).

7 Net profit/(loss) on financial operations

Net profit/(loss) on financial operations comprises the following:

(czKm) 200 20]

Net realised gains/(losses) on securities held for trading* 213 438
Net unrealised gains/(losses) on securities held for trading® (94) (51)
Net realised gains/(losses) on debt securities at fair value through OCI 0 0
Net realised gains/(losses) on disposal of debt securities at amortised cost 9) 0
Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on security derivatives** 8 (79)
Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on interest rate derivatives (2,455) 1,241
Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on trading commodity derivatives 0 0
Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on foreign exchange operations 5,120 538
Net realised gains/(losses) on foreign exchange from payments 847 797
Total net profit/(loss) on financial operations 3,630 2,884

*  This line also includes trading in emission allowances.
** This line also includes impacts of derivative trades in emission allowances.

A loss of CZK 21,686 million (2020: gain of CZK 4,835 million) on the fair value of interest rate swaps for interest rate risk hedging is
included in ‘Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on interest rate derivatives’. This amount matches the loss arising from the
revaluation of hedged loan receivables, debt securities, deposits or repos, and issued mortgage bonds reported in the same line.

8 Dividend income

‘Dividend income’ includes dividends received from other financial investments of CZK 2 million (2020: CZK 6 million).

9 Other income
The Group reports ‘Other income’ in the amount of CZK 208 million (2020: CZK 204 million). In both 2021 and 2020, ‘Other income’

was predominantly composed of income from services provided to the Société Générale Group entities as well as income from non-
banking activities.
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10 Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses comprise the following:

(CczKm) 200 2020]

Wages, salaries, and bonuses 5,405 5,471
Social costs 2,134 2,179
Total personnel expenses 7,539 7,650
Physical number of employees at the end of the period* 7,763 8,077
Average recalculated number of employees during the period* 7,687 8,061
Average cost per employee (CZK) 980,747 948,979

*  Calculation according to Czech Statistical Office methodology.

‘Social costs’ include costs of CZK 111 million (2020: CZK 113 million) paid by the Group to the employees’ retirement pension
insurance scheme and costs of CZK 31 million (2020: CZK 35 million) incurred in contributing to the employees’ capital life insurance
scheme.

‘Personnel expenses’ include net income of CZK 40 million (2020: CZK 3 million) related to provisions for restructuring. The change
in provisions in relation to the “KB Change” transformation project involves use in the amount of CZK 0 million (2020: CZK 28 million)
and release in the amount of CZK 0 million (2020: CZK 56 million). In 2021, the Bank adjusted provisions for restructuring related to
planned structural changes based on the Covid-19 experience. These provisions include a charge in the amount of CZK 41 million
(2020: CZK 136 million) and release and use in the amount of CZK 81 million (2020: CZK 55 million). Further information is presented
in Note 32.

Indexed bonuses

In 2021, the total amount relating to bonuses indexed on the Komeréni banka share price recognised in ‘Personnel expenses’ was
CZK 32 million (2020: CZK 42 million) and the total amount of CZK 93 million (2020: CZK 84 million) was recognised as a liability. These
amounts do not include the costs of social and health insurance and retirement pension insurance paid by the Group. Net profit from
hedging indexed bonuses by fair value hedge and cash flow hedge derivatives was CZK 31 million (2020: net loss of CZK 9 million).
The total number of Komeréni banka shares according to which bonuses indexed on the Komeréni banka share price are calculated is
180,404 shares (2020: 152,100 shares).

Changes in the numbers of Komeréni banka shares were as follow:

(in shares) 2021 m

Balance as of 1 January 152,100 137,090
Paid out during the period (28,866) (22,556)
Presumed number of newly guaranteed shares 57,170 37,566
Balance as of 31 December 180,404 152,100

Free shares and deferred share plans
For 2021, the total amount relating to the free shares programme and deferred share plans recognised in ‘Personnel expenses’ was
CZK 19 million (2020: CZK 22 million).

Changes in the numbers of Société Générale shares were as follow:

(in shares; EUR) Number of shares Average price Number of shares Average price
Balance as of 1 January 117,623 21.51 102,146 30.79
Granted during the year 55,775 18.74 42,887 11.26
Forfeited during the year (1,601) 21.51 (1,197) 30.79
Exercised during the year (24,854) 21.51 (26,213) 30.79
Balance as of 31 December 146,943 17.49 117,623 21.51
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11 General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses comprise the following:

(czKm) 200 202]

Insurance 85 75
Marketing and representation 545 505
Selling and banking products expenses 309 310
Other employees expenses and travelling 85 79
Real estate expenses 598 694
IT support 1,379 1,283
Equipment and supplies 82 100
Telecommunications, postage, and data transfer 184 220
External consultancy and other services 371 333
Resolution and similar funds 1,041 941
Other expenses 78 75
Total general and administrative expenses 4,757 4,615

‘General administrative expenses’ in 2020 included net expense of CZK 29 million due to provisions for restructuring created in relation
to the “KB Change” transformation project in the amount of CZK 1 million and use and release in the amount of CZK 30 million. In 2021,
the Bank did not account for provisions in relation to the “KB Change” project.

Further information is presented in Note 32.

‘General administrative expenses’ include the expenses related to leases for which the exemptions from IFRS 16 were applied and also
variable lease payment expenses which are not included in the lease liabilities.

Lease payment expenses were as follow:

(CZKm) Real estate Hardware Other Total Real estate Hardware Other Total
Short-term leases 23 0 6 29 25 0 6 31
Low-value assets 1 20 0 21 1 25 0 26
Variable lease payment expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12 Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment of operating assets

Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment of operating assets comprise the following:

(czKm) 200 200]

Tangible and intangible assets depreciation and amortisation (refer to Notes 25 and 26) 2,833 2,706
Impairment of operating assets (30) 24
Total depreciation, amortisation, and impairment of operating assets 2,803 2,730

The net gain from ‘Impairment of operating assets’ mainly includes a net gain from impairment reversal on internal projects (SW).

Depreciation of right-of-use assets according to the underlying asset:

(czKm) 200 20]

Real estate 386 439
Hardware 0 0
Other 24 24
Total depreciation of right-of-use assets 410 463
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13 Cost of risk

The net loss in ‘Cost of risk’ totalling CZK 731 million (2020: CZK 4,578 million) includes a net loss from allowances and provisions
in the amount of CZK 775 million (2020: CZK 4,701 million) and a net gain from loans and advances transferred and written off
in the amount of CZK 44 million (2020: CZK 123 million).

‘Cost of risk’ was influenced in 2021 by (i) update of staging rules (for change of methodology refer to Note 3.6.2); (ii) update of IFRS 9
models for allowances; and (jii) adjustments to provisions in allowances for particular portfolios with deteriorating credit risk profile
(for points (ii) and (iii) refer to Note 43(A)).

The balances and movements of allowances and provisions for loans and advances and for debt securities as of 31 December 2021
were as follow:

Decrease
Increase dueto Change of Change of Decrease
As of due to derecogni- creditrisk  estimation due to As of
(CZKm) 1 Jan 2021 origin tion* (net) (net)** write-off Other** 31 Dec 2021
Allowances for financial assets (Stage 1) (1,215) (666) 411 4) 0 0 20 (1,454)
— Debt securities (16) 0 1 (6) 0 0 0 21)
- Loans and advances (1,199) (666) 410 2 0 0 20 (1,433)
Allowances for financial assets (Stage 2) (2,631) (40) 250 0 (69) 1 26 (2,463)
— Debt securities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
- Loans and advances (2,631) (40) 250 0 (69) 1 26 (2,463)
Allowances for financial assets (Stage 3) (9,124) 0 805 (1,542) 0 337 115 (9,409)
— Debt securities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
- Loans and advances 9,124) 0 805 (1,542) 0 337 115 (9,409)
Total allowances for financial assets
(refer to Notes 22 and 42) (12,970) (706) 1,466 (1,546) (69) 338 161 (13,326)
Provisions for guarantees and other credit-
related commitments (Stage 1) (221) (260) 20 167 0 0 6 (288)
Provisions for guarantees and other credit-
related commitments (Stage 2) (300) 6) 22 103 (25) 0 3 (203)
Provisions for guarantees and other credit-
related commitments (Stage 3) (840) 0 1 199 0 0 14 (626)
Total provisions for guarantees and other
credit-related commitments (refer to Note 32) (1,361) (266) 43 469 (25) 0 23 (1,117)

This item includes changes in allowances due to full derecognition of financial assets for reasons other than write-offs (e.g. transfers to third parties or expiration of
contractual rights — only full repayments, partial repayments are presented in item Change of credit risk (net)). For off-balance sheet exposures, this item also includes
decreases in impairment due to an off-balance sheet item’s becoming an on-balance sheet asset.

This item includes mainly changes in allowances as a result of FX translation.

This item includes changes in allowances due to a change of methodology as described in Note 3.6.2.
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The balances and movements of allowances and provisions for loans and advances and for debt securities as of 31 December 2020
were as follow:

2
3
Decrease §
Increase dueto Change of Change of Decrease I
As of due to derecogni- credit risk estima- due to As of 2
(CZKm) 1 Jan 2020 origin tion* (net) tion (net) write-off Other** 31 Dec 2020 ©
Allowances for financial assets (Stage 1) (813) (630) 390 (163) 0 0 1 (1,215) g
- Debt securities (7) 0 0 9) 0 0 0 (16) 2
(]
- Loans and advances (806) (630) 390 (154) 0 0 1 (1,199) %
Allowances for financial assets (Stage 2) (1,142) 0 115 (1,515) (94) 0 5 (2,631) g
~ Debt securities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 °
- Loans and advances (1,142) 0 115 (1,515) (94) 0 5 (2,631)
Allowances for financial assets (Stage 3) (8,189) 0 708 (1,981) 27) 374 9) (9,124)
— Debt securities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 P
- Loans and advances (8,189) 0 708 (1,981) 27) 374 9) (9,124) g’
Total allowances for financial assets §
(refer to Notes 22 and 42) (10,144) (630) 1,213 (3,659) (121) 374 (3) (12,970) %
Provisions for guarantees and other credit- =
related commitments (Stage 1) (124) (167) 103 (32) 0 0 (1) (221) £
Provisions for guarantees and other credit- %
related commitments (Stage 2) 94) 0 5 (204) 2 0 5) (300) §
. . ()
Provisions for guarantees and other credit-
related commitments (Stage 3) (435) 0 64 (463) ()} 0 ()} (840)
Total provisions for guarantees and other
credit-related commitments (refer to Note 32) (653) (167) 172 (699) (5) 0 9) (1,361)

*  This item includes changes in allowances due to full derecognition of financial assets for reasons other than write-offs (e.g. transfers to third parties or expiration of

contractual rights — only full repayments, partial repayments are presented in item Change of credit risk (net)). For off-balance sheet exposures, this item also includes ;
decreases in impairment due to an off-balance sheet item’s becoming an on-balance sheet asset. 2z
**  This item includes mainly changes in allowances as a result of FX translation. g
14 Net profits on other assets 3
()
Net profits on other assets comprise the following:
oz 22 2020
Net profits/(losses) from sale of buildings 43 19
Net profits/(losses) from impairment on assets held for sale 244 0
Net profits/(losses) from sale-and-lease-back transactions 1) 4)
Net profits/(losses) from sale/disposal of other assets (28) (30) §
Total net profits on other assets 258 (15) §
5
15 Income tax =
The major components of corporate income tax expense are as follow:
oz 22 2020
Tax payable - current year, reported in profit or loss (3,125) (2,085)
Tax from previous years 17 19
Deferred tax (refer to Note 33) 80 81
Total income tax (3,028) (1,985)
.(‘%
i)
<
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The items explaining the difference between the Group’s theoretical and effective tax rates are as follow:

(i 2000 202]

Profit before income tax 16,020 10,284
Theoretical tax calculated at a tax rate of 19% (2020: 19%) 3,044 1,954
Tax on pre-tax profit adjustments 101 9
Non-taxable income (tax effect) (1,739) (1,320)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (tax effect) 1,762 1,484
Use of tax losses carried forward 4 5
Tax allowance 3) (©)]
Tax credit 0 0
Movement in deferred tax (80) (81)
Tax losses 1 9
Other (1) 7
Impact of various tax rates of subsidiary undertakings ) (13)
Tax effect of share of profits of associated undertakings 42) a7
Income tax expense 3,045 2,004
Tax from previous years (17) (19
Total income tax 3,028 1,985
Effective tax rate 18.90% 19.30%

Non-taxable income primarily includes tax-free dividends, tax-free government securities, and the release of tax non-deductible
allowances and provisions. Expenses not deductible for tax purposes include primarily the recognition of tax non-deductible
allowances and provisions and tax non-deductible operating expenses. Tax on pre-tax profit adjustments primarily represents an
adjustment of the IFRS result to Czech Accounting Standards (CAS).

The corporate tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2021 is 19% (2020: 19%). The Group’s tax liability is calculated based upon
the accounting profit while taking into account tax non-deductible expenses and tax-exempt income or income subject to a final
withholding tax rate.

In relation to the interpretation of IFRIC 23, the Group considers it probable that the relevant authority will accept each tax treatment
that the Group used or plans to use in its income tax filing.

Further information about deferred tax is presented in Note 33.

16 Distribution of net profit

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group generated a net profit of CZK 12,992 million (2020: CZK 8,299 million). Distribution of
the net profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 will be approved by the general meetings of Group companies.

The Bank’s Board of Directors will propose to the Supervisory Board, in accordance with the CNB’s recommendation, a dividend
payment for 2021 in the amount of CZK 43.80 per share (2020: CZK 23.86 per share), which means a total amount of CZK 8,324 million
(2020: CZK 4,535 million). The proposal is subject to the Supervisory Board’s approval and subsequently to approval of the General
Shareholders’ Meeting.

Net profit for the period ended 31 December 2020 was fully allocated to retained earnings. In accordance with a resolution of the
General Shareholders’ Meeting held on 2 November 2021, the Group distributed dividends in the amount of CZK 4,535 million of the
net profit of CZK 8,299 million for 2020.

Moreover, the Group paid out CZK 229 million in dividends to non-controlling owners of ESSOX s.r.0. (2020: CZK 0 million) and

CZK 0 million to non-controlling owners of SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o. (2020: CZK 0 million).

17 Earnings per share

Earnings per share of CZK 67.39 (2020: CZK 43.19 per share) have been calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the Group’s

equity holders of CZK 12,727 million (2020: CZK 8,156 million) by the number of shares in issue, that is, 190,049,260, decreased by
the average number of treasury shares held by the Group during the period, which was 1,193,360 (2020: 1,193,360 shares).
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18 Cash and current balances with central banks

Cash and current balances with central banks comprise the following:

((e74,Gy)] 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Cash and cash values 8,492 8,497
Current balances with central banks 21,455 15,050
Total cash and current balances with central banks (refer to Note 36) 29,947 23,547

Obligatory minimum reserves in the amount of CZK 20,493 million (2020: CZK 13,320 million) are included in ‘Current balances with
central banks’ and they bear interest. As of 31 December 2021, the interest rate was 3.75% (2020: 0.25%) in the Czech Republic and
0.00% (2020: 0.00%) in the Slovak Republic.

19 Financial assets and other assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss comprise the following:

((e74,Gy)] 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Trading equity securities 0 0
Trading debt securities 8,696 3,342
Trading derivatives 32,446 22,258
Total financial assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss 